THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN LONG-TERM ADHERENCE TO RECOMMENDED CLINICAL PROCEDURES AND HEALTH CARE UTILIZATION FOR ADULTS WITH DIAGNOSED TYPE 2 DIABETES

by

HANS KRUEGER

B.R.S., The Mennonite Brethren Bible College, 1981B.A. (Hons), The University of Winnipeg, 1982M.Sc., The University of British Columbia, 1988

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

(Health Care and Epidemiology)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

© Hans Krueger, 2006

ABSTRACT

Background: Diabetes is a common and serious chronic condition. If not well-managed, significant multi-system complications often arise, resulting in increased health care utilization and poor health outcomes. There is considerable evidence that people with diagnosed diabetes are not receiving recommended care. A comprehensive program aimed at improving adherence to recommended care can improve patient outcomes and result in cost-savings. The key aim of this study was to determine whether the long-term receipt of appropriate clinical procedures by patients with type 2 diabetes was associated with higher medical care costs.

Methodology: A cohort of 20,288 diagnosed type 2 diabetes patients was identified using physician and hospital records. An analytic file was created by linking information on patient characteristics with utilization of physician and acute care services during a five-year period (1996 to 2001). Adherence to recommended clinical procedures for the assessment of blood glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol levels, as well as retinopathy and nephropathy, were measured during this same five-year period. Subjects were assigned to both a categorical (low, medium and high) and a binary (low and high) adherence group. Physician and acute care resource use was converted to constant 2000 Canadian dollars. Multivariate logistic regression was used to assess the relationship between patient characteristics, including adherence as a categorical variable, and utilization of physician and acute care services.

Results: Long-term adherence was suboptimal, with patients receiving just 53% of recommended procedures. Adherence to recommended procedures, however, improved during the five year period. Patient characteristics associated with poor adherence include being male, younger, low socio-economic status, having no diabetes-specific complicating conditions and living in certain geographic areas. Patients with high long-term adherence (receiving 73% of

ii

recommended clinical procedures) were 59% *more* likely to use a high level of physician resources but 22% *less* likely to use a high level of acute care resources. On the other hand, patients with low adherence (receiving 31% of procedures) were 28% *less* likely to use a high level of physician resources but 17% *more* likely to use a high level of acute care resources. The utilization difference related to adherence was particularly noticeable in older adults with higher levels of morbidity. Elderly patients in this low adherence group were more likely to be hospitalized (64.3% vs. 55.8% over the five-year period) and, when they were hospitalized, tended to stay in hospital for longer periods of time (11.9 vs. 6.7 days) than patients in the high adherence group.

Conclusion: Improving long-term adherence may result in the avoidance of \$4 in acute care costs for every additional \$1 in physician costs. If all patients moved into the high adherence category, as much as \$3.1 million in annual costs might be avoided across the study sample. If this analysis is applied to all adults with diagnosed diabetes in the province of British Columbia, the annual costs avoided could reach the level of \$34.4 million. Systemic changes are required in the provision of primary care to promote long-term adherence to recommended diabetes care.

ABSTRACT	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viiii
LIST OF FIGURES	. xiv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xvii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSx	viiii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II: BACKGROUND	3
2.1 Diabetes	3
2.1.1 Diagnosed vs. Undiagnosed Cases	6
2.2 The Provision of Medical Care to Diabetic Populations	7
2.2.1 The Burden of Diabetes-Related Morbidity	7
2.2.2 The Effectiveness of Diabetes-Related Medical Care	14
2.2.3 The Economic Impact of Diabetes-Related Illness	18
2.3 Recommended Clinical Procedures	24
2.3.1 Clinical Practice Guidelines	24
2.3.2 Clinical Practice Guidelines for Diabetic Care	27
2.3.2.1 Guideline Development in Canada	27
2.3.2.2 Guideline Development in British Columbia	29
2.3.2.3 Diagnosis of Diabetes	29
2.3.2.4 Optimal Targets for the Control of Diabetes	31
2.3.2.5 Recommended Diagnostic Procedures to Assess the Ongoing Control of Diabete	s 33
2.3.3 Recommended Clinical Procedures	37
2.4 Adherence to Recommended Clinical Procedures	42
2.4.1 Compliance versus Adherence	42
2.4.2 Assessing Adherence to Recommended Clinical Procedures	43
2.4.3 Why is Adherence Generally Sub-Optimal?	49
2.4.3.1 Physician Factors	49
2.4.3.3 Organizational Factors	53
2.5 Improving Adherence to Recommended Clinical Procedures	59
2.6 Potential for Savings Associated with Improved Adherence	62
2.7 Summary	68
CHAPTER III: METHODS	71
3.1 Conceptual Framework	71
3.2 Study Design / Overview	74
3.3 Specific Aims and Hypothesis	75
3.4 Data Sources	77
3.4.1 British Columbia Linked Health Database	77
3.4.2 British Columbia Medical Services Plan Files	78
3.4.3 British Columbia Hospital Separations Files	82
3.4.4 British Columbia Vital Statistics Database	83
3.5 Study Population	84

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.5.1 Ascertaining Diabetic Cases	84
3.5.2 MSP Exclusions	87
3.5.3 Diagnostic Rule-Outs	88
3.5.4 Children	88
3.5.5 Gestational Diabetes	88
3.5.6 Incident Cases	89
3.5.7 Death	89
3.5.8 Temporary Residents	89
3.5.9 Temporary MSP Registration	90
3.5.10 Exclusion of Disease and Age-Specific Sub-Groups	90
3.5.11 Outliers	91
3.5.12 Summary	94
3.6 Variables and Measures	96
3.6.1 Adherence Variables	96
3.6.2 Patient Characteristics	99
3.6.3 Resource Use Variables	108
3.6.3.1 Acute Care	108
3.6.3.2 General Practitioner	112
3.6.3.3 Specialist Physician	116
3.6.3.4 Total Acute Care and MSP Costs	119
3.7 Analytic Methods	122
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	129
4.1 Description of the Study Population	129
4.1.1 Overview of Study Population	129
4.1.2 Age and Gender	131
4.1.3 Prevalence and Incidence Rates	133
4.1.4 False Negative Results in Diagnostic Rule-outs	136
4.1.5 Comparison of the Generic Morbidity and Disease-Specific Severity Indices	137
4.2 Description of Individual Adherence Variables	142
4.2.1 Overview	142
4.2.2 Trend Analysis	146
4.3 Description of Summary Adherence Variables	148
4.3.1 Adherence as a Continuous Variable	148
4.3.2 Adherence Analyzed as a Categorical Variable (Low, Med, High)	154
4.3.3 Adherence Analyzed as a Binary Variable (Low, High)	155
4.3.4 Adherence by Age, Morbidity and Gender	157
4.3.5 Irends in Adherence over Time for Low and High Adherence Groups	159
4.4 Univariate Logistic Regression Models for Adherence	160
4.5 Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for Adherence	163
4.5.1 Development of a Keduced Main Effects Model for Adherence	103
4.5.2 Development of a Final Fitted Model for Adherence	100
4.5.5 Interpretation of the Final Fitted Model for Adherence	170
4.0 Description of Resource Use Variables	1/2
4.0.1 Overview of Resource Use variables	1/2
4.0.2 Ivican Annual per Capita Cosis by Age, Morbiality and Gender	1/0

4.7 Univariate Logistic Regression Models for Average Annual Total Physician Costs	. 178
4.8 Multivariate Logistic Regression Model Average Annual Total Physician Costs	. 180
4.8.1 Development of a Reduced Main Effects Model for Physician Costs	. 180
4.8.2 Development of a Final Fitted Model for Physician Costs	. 183
4.8.3 Interpretation of the Final Fitted Model for Physician Costs	. 190
4.10 Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for Average Annual Total Acute Care Costs	. 197
4.10.1 Development of a Reduced Main Effects Model for Acute Care Costs	. 197
4.10.2 Development of a Final Fitted Model for Acute Care Costs	. 200
4.10.3 Interpretation of the Final Fitted Model for Acute Care Costs	. 200
4.11 Univariate Logistic Regression Models for Average Annual Total Costs	. 203
4.12 Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for Average Annual Total Costs	. 206
4.12.1 Development of a Reduced Main Effects Model for Total Costs	. 206
4.12.2 Development of a Final Fitted Model for Total Costs	. 210
4.12.3 Interpretation of the Final Fitted Model for Total Costs	. 215
4.13 Analysis of Mean Annual Per Capita Physician and Acute Care Costs	. 218
4.13.1 Comparison of Annual Costs by Adherence and Morbidity	. 218
4.13.2 Comparison of Annual Costs By Adherence, Morbidity and Gender	. 220
4.13.3 Comparison of Annual Costs By Adherence, Morbidity and Age	. 224
4.13.4 Utilization of Acute Care Services By Older Adults with High Morbidity	. 229
4.14 Summary of Key Results	. 232
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	. 242
5.1 Study Strengths	. 242
5.1.1 Administrative Data Set	. 242
5.1.2 Inclusion Criteria	. 246
5.2 Study Limitations	. 248
5.2.1 Potential Utilization Bias	. 248
5.2.2 Missing Drug Cost Variable	. 249
5.2.3 Issues of External Validity	. 250
5.3 Issues for Further Research	. 252
5.3.1 Development of Adherence Measures	. 252
5.3.2 Provider or System Variables	. 256
5.4 The Study Findings in Perspective	. 260
5.4.1 Adherence Rates	. 260
5.4.2 Patient Characteristics Associated with Low Adherence	. 264
5.4.3 Utilization of Health Care Resources	. 267
5.4.4 The Relationship between Long-Term Adherence and Use of Health Care Resource	es
	. 269
5.5 Policy Implications	. 270
	• • •
BIBLIOGRAPHY	. 279
	200
Appendix A: Allocation of ACGs Into Morbidity Levels	309
Appendix B: PROSSER's Algorithm	312
Appendix C: Description of Individual Adherence Variables	. 316
Appendix D: Description of Individual Resource Use Variables	. 321

Appendix E: Calculation of Change in Acute Care	Physician and Total Costs with Improved
Adherence	

LIST OF TABLES

Table

2.1	Diagnostic Criteria for Diabetes in Non-pregnant Adults Based on the Canadian Diabetes Clinical Practice Guidelines	30
2.2	Optimal Targets for the Control of Diabetes Based on the Canadian and British Columbia Diabetes Clinical Practice Guidelines	32
2.3	Recommended Diagnostic Procedures to Assess the Ongoing Control of Diabetes Based on the Canadian and British Columbia Diabetes Clinical Practice Guidelines	36
2.4	Percent of Patients Receiving Recommended Clinical Procedures	47
2.5	Comparison of Traditional and Collaborative Care in Chronic Illness	57
3.1	Excluded Non-Physician Specialties	87
3.2	Adherence Variables	99
3.3	Patient Characteristics	107
3.4	CHSPR Categorization Matrix for Personnel Funded Through MSP	117
3.5	Price Increases for Specialist Physician Services 1996/97 to 2000/01	119
3.6	Resource Use Variables	121
4.1	Study Population Characteristics	130
4.2	Frequency Distribution For Age (April 1, 1998) and Gender	132
4.3	People with Diagnosed Diabetes – Fraser Health and Ontario – 1998	134
4.4	People with Newly Diagnosed Diabetes – Fraser Health and Ontario – 1998	135
4.5	Diagnostic Rule-Outs – False Negatives	136
4.6	Disease Specific Severity Index By Age Group	138
4.7	Generic Morbidity Index (ACG) By Age Group	139

4.8	Comparison of Generic Morbidity Index (ACG) and Disease-Specific Severity Index
4.9	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Receiving the Following Recommended Services
4.10	Eye Exams by Physician Specialty and Fiscal Year145
4.11	Frequency Distribution For Adherence Scores
4.12	Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mean Adherence Scores
4.13	Relationship Between Individual Adherence Measures Fiscal 1998/99152
4.14	Relationship Between Individual Adherence Measures Fiscal 1999/00153
4.15	Relationship Between Individual Adherence Measures Fiscal 2000/01153
4.16	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes with Low, Medium or High Adherence
4.17	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes with Low or High Adherence
4.18	Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mean Adherence Scores by Age and Level of Morbidity
4.19	Females with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mean Adherence Scores by Age and Level of Morbidity
4.20	Males with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mean Adherence Scores by Age and Level of Morbidity
4.21	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Receiving the Following Recommended Services High Adherence Group
4.22	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Receiving the Following Recommended Services Low Adherence Group
4.23	Univariate Logistic Regression Models for High vs. Low Adherence161
4.24	Development and Testing of a Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Adherence
4.25	Main Effects Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Adherence

4.26	ACG by DSSI Cross Tab	167
4.27	Final Fitted Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Adherence	169
4.28	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes with High Utilization Of Average Annual GP, Specialist Physician, Acute Care and Total Costs	173
4.29	Per Capita Mean Utilization of Hospital and MSP Services By Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes	175
4.30	Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mean Annual Per Capita Costs By Age and Level of Morbidity	177
4.31	Females with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mean Annual Per Capita Costs By Age and Level of Morbidity	177
4.32	Males with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mean Annual Per Capita Costs By Age and Level of Morbidity	177
4.33	Univariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Physician Costs	179
4.34	Development and Testing of a Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Physician Costs	181
4.35	Main Effects Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Physician Costs	182
4.36	Age by Adherence Cross Tab	184
4.37	Age by DSSI Cross Tab	186
4.38	Final Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Physician Costs	189
4.39	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes – High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Physician Costs	191
4.40	Univariate Logistic Regression Models for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Acute Care Costs	196

4.41	Development and Testing of a Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Acute Care Costs	198
4.42	Main Effects Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Costs	199
4.43	Univariate Logistic Regression Models for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Costs	204
4.44	Development and Testing of a Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Costs	207
4.45	Main Effects Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Costs	209
4.46	Final Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Costs	214
4.47	Mean Annual Costs per Capita by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity	219
4.48	Mean Annual Costs per Capita For Females by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity	221
4.49	Mean Annual Costs per Capita For Males by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity	223
4.50	Mean Annual Costs per Capita For Ages 30 – 59 by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity	225
4.51	Mean Annual Costs per Capita For Ages 60 – 79 by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity	227
4.52	Utilization of Acute Care Services By Adults Aged 60 – 79 with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes In the High or Very High Morbidity Groups	230
4.53	Patient Characteristics Associated with High or Low Adherence	233
4.54	Summary of Odds Ratios for Adherence and High Average Annual Cost Categories	234
4.55	Patient Characteristics Associated with High or Low Use of Physician Costs	236

4.56	Patient Characteristics Associated with High or Low Use of Acute Care Costs	237
4.57	Patient Characteristics Associated with High or Low Use of Total Costs	239
5.1	Patient Characteristics of BC Health Authority Residents	251
5.2	Potential Annual Acute Care, Physician and Total Costs Based on Improving Adherence	272
5.3	Potential Annual per Capita Change in Acute Care, Physician and Total Costs Based on Improving Adherence	274
5.4	Comparison of Traditional and Collaborative Care in Chronic Illness	277
C-1	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Receiving 2 or More HbA1c Tests per Year	317
C-2	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Receiving At Least One Eye Exam per Year	318
C-3	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Receiving At Least One Microalbumin Test per Year	320
C-4	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Receiving At Least One Lipid Test Every Three Years	321
C-5	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes with At Least Four Blood Pressure Measurements per Year	323
C-6	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Receiving All Five Recommended Services	325
C-7	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Receiving None of the Five Recommended Services	326
D-1	Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes Utilization of Acute Care Days	328
D-2	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes High Utilization of Average Annual Acute Care Dollars	329
D-3	Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes Utilization of General Practitioner Visits	331
D-4	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes High Utilization of Average Annual General Practitioner Dollars	332

D-5	Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes Utilization of Specialist Physician Visits33	5
D-6	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes High Utilization of Average Annual Specialist Physician Dollars	6
D-7	Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes Mean Total Costs	9
D-8	Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes with Low or High Utilization of Average Annual Total Costs	0
E-1	Mean Annual Costs per Capita by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity	-2
E-2	Total Annual Costs by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity	-2
E-3	Total Annual Costs by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity if Low Adherence Groups Move to Medium Adherence	.3
E-4	Total Annual Costs by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity if Medium Adherence Groups Move to High Adherence	.3
E-5	Total Annual Costs by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity if Low Adherence Groups Move to High Adherence	.4
E-6	Total Annual Costs by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity if Low Adherence Groups Move to Medium Adherence and Medium Adherence Groups Move to High Adherence	-4
E-7	Total Annual Costs by Level of Adherence and Level of Morbidity if Low & Medium Adherence Groups Move to High Adherence	.5

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure

3.1	Conceptual Framework for Patients / Physicians with High Adherence to Recommended Medical Care	72
3.2	Study Overview	74
3.3	Identification of Outliers – Acute Care Utilization	92
3.4	Identification of Outliers – General Practitioner Utilization	93
3.5	Identification of Outliers – Specialist Physician Utilization	93
3.6	Selection of Study Population	95
4.1	Frequency Distribution By Age (April 1, 1998) and Gender	133
4.2	Proportion of Adults With Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Who Received Recommended Services	143
4.3	Proportion of Adults With Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Who Received Recommended Services	144
4.4	Frequency Distribution for Adherence Scores	149
4.5	Age by Sex Interaction	167
4.6	General By Disease-specific Morbidity Interaction	168
4.7	Age by Adherence Interaction	
4.8	Age by DSS Index Interaction	
4.9	Age by Adherence Interaction	211
4.10	Morbidity by Adherence Interaction	212
4.11	Socio-economic Status by Gender Interaction	
4.12	Mean Annual Cost per Capita – Low vs. High Adherence	
4.13	Mean Annual Cost per Capita – Females – Low vs. High Adherence	
4.14	Mean Annual Cost per Capita – Males – Low vs. High Adherence	

4.15	Mean Annual Cost per Capita for Ages 30 - 59 – Low vs. High Adherence	226
4.16	Mean Annual Cost per Capita for Ages 60 - 79 – Low vs. High Adherence	228
4.17	Adults Aged 60 – 79 with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes in the High or Very High Morbidity Groups Proportion Hospitalized and ALOS	231
5.1	Potential Annual Acute Care and Physician Costs Based on Improving Adherence	273
D-1	Frequency Distribution for Average Annual Acute Care Inpatient Days	327
D-2	Frequency Distribution for Average Annual General Practitioner Visits	330
D-3	Frequency Distribution for Average Annual Specialist Physician Visits	334
D-4	Frequency Distribution for Average Annual Total Costs	338

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACG	Adjusted Clinical Groups
ACE Inhibitor	Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme (ACE) Inhibitors
ARB	Angiotensin Receptor Blockers
ADA	American Diabetes Association
ADG	Aggregated Diagnostic Group
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
AHCPR	Agency for Health Care Policy and Research
AMI	acute myocardial infarction
APP	Alternate Payment Program
BCCDM	British Columbia Chronic Disease Management
BCLHD	British Columbia Linked Health Database
BCMA	British Columbia Medical Association
CDA	Canadian Diabetes Association
CHSPR	Centre for Health Services and Policy Research
CIHI	Canadian Institute for Health Information
CPG	clinical practice guidelines
CPI	Consumer Price Index
CVD	cardiovascular disease
DAD	discharge abstract database
DAN	diabetic autonomic neuropathy
DCCT	Diabetes Control and Complications Trial
DCA	Diabetic Care of America
DDMP	diabetes disease management program
DPN	distal symmetric polyneuropathy
DR	diabetic retinopathy
EA	enumeration area
EDC	expanded diagnostic cluster
ESRD	end-stage renal disease
FFS	fee-for-service

FHA	Fraser Health Authority
GP	General Practitioner
GPAC	Guidelines and Protocols Advisory Committee
HDL	high-density lipoprotein
HbA1c	glycosylated haemoglobin
HPMG	Health Partners Medical Group
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
IDDM	insulin dependent diabetes mellitus
IPPE	income per person-equivalent
LHA	local health area
MRRS	most recently registered specialty
MSC	Medical Services Commission
MSP	Medical Services Plan
NIDDM	non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus
OOP	out of province
РНСО	Physician Hospital Community Organization
PVD	peripheral vascular disease
QALY	quality adjusted life years
RIW	resource intensity weigh
SES	socio-economic status
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
ТОР	type of practice
TRIAD	Translating Research Into Action for Diabetes
UBC	University of British Columbia
UK	United Kingdom
UKPDS	United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study
US	United States
VA	Veterans Affairs
VH	Vancouver Hospital
WHO	World Health Organization

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Completion of this dissertation would not have been possible without the support, encouragement and prayers of many faculty members, colleagues, family members and friends. Dr. Charlyn Black, my supervisor and mentor, has been extremely supportive in this process. This project would not have been completed without her generosity of time and resources. My other committee members, Dr. Rob Reid and Dr. Sam Sheps, provided invaluable feedback throughout this process. I am also indebted to Dr. Morris Barer who, during a difficult time early in this process, provided much needed encouragement and support. Dr. Diane Watson was influential in the early stages of study design while Dr. Anne-Marie Broemeling provided support, encouragement and helpful input on her study. Dr. Bob Prosser showed an immense amount of patience in answering my numerous, and at times, unsophisticated statistical questions. Bo Green turned an immense volume of data into meaningful variables. A number of staff at the Centre for Health Services and Policy Research, including Denise Morettin, Kerry Kerluke and Dawn Mooney, generously provided their expertise in accessing and analysing the data from the BC Health Linked Data set. To my colleague, Dan Williams, thank-you for putting in all that extra time keeping the business functioning so that I could finish this dissertation. To friends Ray Saucy, Tom Balke and Ted Andres; we can now go out for coffee! To my father, who through historical circumstances never had the opportunities for education that I have; thank-you for your life-long support. My children, Katrina, Alicia and Joshua grew up while I was working on this dissertation. Thank-you for being such good kids! Finally, I owe an immense debt of gratitude to my wife, Anna, who continued to provide support even when I felt like giving up. Thank-you for your love.

October 24, 2006

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

During the last two decades, a series of studies have pointed out the unequivocal relationship between the tight control of blood glucose and blood pressure levels in patients with diabetes and a reduction in both acute and chronic complications. This research has been so compelling that the American Diabetes Association offered the following conclusion: "it is time for all health professionals to treat diabetes aggressively. It is also time for patients to take their diabetes with the utmost seriousness. And it is incumbent upon the health care system to provide the necessary resources for both to be successful. Compromise or acceptance of a disadvantageous and dangerous status quo in people with diabetes should not be tolerated any longer" (Genuth et al., 2003, p. S32). In addition to reducing a patient's longevity and quality of life, the complications associated with poorly managed diabetes result in significant costs to the health care system.

The first step in controlling blood glucose and blood pressure is to determine what the appropriate levels should be and then to execute the necessary diagnostic tests to decide if those levels are being achieved. Information on diagnostic test outcomes is rarely available in administrative data sets. On the other hand, it is often possible to determine whether or not a given test was received by a patient and how often that test was received. In this study we used information on the receipt of five recommended clinical tests (as available in the B.C. Linked Health Data set) to determine if there is a relationship between high adherence to the procedures and the use of health care services.

Adherence was measured for the assessment of blood glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol levels, as well as retinopathy and nephropathy, over a five year period. While other studies have assessed adherence to recommended clinical procedures, to our knowledge this is

the first study to consider long-term adherence, including repeated patient exposure to the procedure.

The primary objectives of this study were: 1) to assess whether adherence to recommended clinical procedures changed over time; 2) to determine which patient-level characteristics were associated with low or high adherence; and 3) to determine whether adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes with higher adherence to recommended clinical procedures utilize more health care services.

CHAPTER II: BACKGROUND

2.1 Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus is a chronic disorder of metabolism. It occurs when the body can no longer absorb glucose due to the lack of insulin production or the inability to use the insulin that is produced. Insulin, a hormone produced in the pancreas, is required for glucose to be absorbed from the blood stream into cells, where the glucose is metabolized to produce energy. Without insulin, or without the ability for the body to use insulin appropriately, glucose remains in the blood stream, starving cells of energy; as well, the excess glucose in the blood stream, over time, may result in damage to a variety of body organs and systems. For instance, if there is not enough insulin for the body's cells to use the available glucose, the body begins to use fat instead, resulting in ketoacidosis; this condition, if left untreated, eventually leads to unconsciousness and death.

There are four main types of diabetes. Type 1 diabetes is an autoimmune disease that occurs when the insulin-producing beta cells in the pancreas are damaged or destroyed, causing a reduction in, or the cessation of, insulin production (Atkinson and Maclaren, 1994). The aetiology of type 1 diabetes is not well understood, but the disease is believed to be the result of an individual's genetic vulnerability together with a possible viral or other infectious trigger; the infection induces an autoimmune response that damages the already vulnerable insulin-producing beta cells in the pancreas (Gavin et al., 2003). The incidence of type 1 diabetes in Canada is highest in children 10-14 years of age (Toth et al., 1997; Blanchard et al., 1997). In Ontario, for example, the incidence rate for female children in the calendar year 2000 ranged from 19.9 per 100,000 among 0-4 year old females to 33.5 among 10-14 year old females (To et al., 2003). Similar results are seen in male children, with the incidence rates ranging from 25.0

per 100,000 among 0-4 year old males to 35.9 among 10-14 year old males. Type 1 diabetes is considerably less common than type 2 diabetes, accounting for less than 10% of persons with diabetes.

Type 2 diabetes is the most common form of diabetes, occurring in approximately 90% of patients with diabetes. Type 2 diabetes results when the pancreas produces sufficient insulin, but the body cannot use the insulin effectively. This condition, known as insulin resistance, causes the pancreas to secrete additional insulin to maintain normal blood sugar levels. In approximately one-third of people with insulin resistance, either the body's cells do not respond to the higher levels of insulin or, over time, insulin production decreases, resulting in the high blood glucose levels of type 2 diabetes (DeFronzo et al., 1992). Obesity and physical inactivity aggravate insulin resistance, contributing to the severity of disease.

While the incidence of type 1 diabetes is highest in children, type 2 diabetes tends to begin manifesting in adults at mid-life (Engelgau, 2004). It should be noted, however, that the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in children is increasing along side the emerging epidemic of childhood obesity (Ludwig and Ebbeling, 2001). There is a steady increase in incidence rates in the older population. In Ontario in 1999, for example, the incidence of diabetes increased from 0.41 per 100 for women 35-49 years of age to 0.95 per 100 for women 50-64 years of age and 1.28 per 100 for women 65-74 years of age (Hux and Tang, 2003). The rates for men were slightly higher, at 0.51, 1.28 and 1.65, respectively.

Twin and family studies have also identified a strong genetic component to type 2 diabetes, with an increased risk among siblings of an individual with diabetes that is at least three times higher than the population at large among individuals with European ancestry (Elbein, 2002; Elbein et al., 2002). The strongest genetic link known at this time is due to variants of the

calpain-10 gene, though a number of other genes have been implicated (Elbein et al., 2002; Carlsson et al., 2005).

Gestational diabetes is the third main type of diabetes. It occurs in approximately 4% of pregnant women who have not had diabetes before (Engelgau et al., 1988). In Canada, the prevalence of gestational diabetes varies from 3.5% to 3.8% in the non-aboriginal population to 8.0% to 18.0% in aboriginal populations (Harris et al., 1997; Godwin et al., 1999; Rodrigues et al., 1999; Dyck et al., 2002). While the aetiology is not well understood, it is believed that hormones from the placenta block the action of the mother's insulin in her body, resulting in insulin resistance and the subsequent build-up of blood glucose levels. Gestational diabetes usually disappears with the termination of the pregnancy but there remains an increased risk for the mother of later impaired glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes (Henry and Beischer, 1991; Ben-Haroush et al., 2003; Albareda et al., 2003). Women with gestational diabetes have a 17-63% risk of type 2 diabetes within 5-16 years after their pregnancy (Hanna and Peters, 2002).

Finally, the fourth category is diabetes secondary to other conditions. These consist of diabetes associated with genetic defects of beta cell function, genetic defects in insulin action, diseases of the pancreas, endocrinopathies, infections, uncommon forms of immune-mediated diabetes, drug or chemical induced diabetes and other genetic syndromes sometimes associated with diabetes (Canadian Diabetes Association, 2003).

This discussion in this study is limited to type 1 and 2 diabetes.

Diabetes is usually diagnosed when one or more of a set of common signs and symptoms are exhibited by the person or by screening of high-risk individuals, confirmed by a high level of blood glucose. A positive diagnosis of diabetes is made when an individual's test results are

higher than a preset standard on any of three common tests of plasma glucose. These tests, and the related plasma glucose values, include:

- A fasting plasma glucose value of \geq 7.0 mmol/L
- A casual (any time of day, without regard to the interval since the last meal) plasma glucose value of ≥11.1 mmol/L.
- An oral glucose tolerance test plasma glucose value of ≥11.1 mmol/L in a blood sample taken two hours after a person has consumed 75 grams of glucose dissolved in water.

A positive result needs to be confirmed by a second positive test on a different day, unless there is unequivocal evidence of hyperglycaemia accompanied by acute metabolic decompensation (Canadian Diabetes Association, 2003).

2.1.1 Diagnosed vs. Undiagnosed Cases

While the diagnosis of diabetes is relatively straightforward, there appear to be a significant proportion of the population with undiagnosed type 2 diabetes (Leiter et al., 2001; Worral and Moulton, 1992). A study in Manitoba (Young and Mustard, 2001) found the prevalence of undiagnosed type 2 diabetes to be approximately 2.2% of the adult population in that province, representing approximately one-third of all type 2 diabetes cases. This proportion is similar to the estimated 2.7% of the population aged 20 years and older in the United States with undiagnosed type 2 diabetes (Harris et al., 1998, Wilder et al., 2005). A recent audit in the United Kingdom estimated that 23% of individuals who have type 2 diabetes have not been recorded as having diabetes by their general practitioners (National Diabetes Audit, 2005).

The fact that between a quarter and a third of people with type 2 diabetes remain undiagnosed is a public health concern. The onset of type 2 diabetes typically occurs at least 4-7

years before clinical diagnosis (Harris et al., 1992). Diabetes-related complications may develop during this time while earlier detection and treatment may reduce the development of these complications (Harris and Eastman, 1996). As presented in the following section, the burden of diabetes-related morbidity is high if the disease is not well-managed. Individuals with diabetes who are undiagnosed are, of course, also untreated. The concern is that preventable diabetesrelated complications can develop prior to diagnosis.

2.2 The Provision of Medical Care to Diabetic Populations

2.2.1 The Burden of Diabetes-Related Morbidity

Diabetes is one of the most serious of the chronic diseases, with significant multi-system complications if the disease is not well-managed. Acute complications include diabetic ketoacidosis, hyperosmolar nonketotic coma, and hypoglycaemia, plus a higher susceptibility to common infections (Booth and Fang, 2003). Chronic complications fall into two main categories: *microvascular* (nephropathy, retinopathy and neuropathy) and *macrovascular* (ischemic heart disease, stroke and peripheral vascular disease).

On the acute side, both ketoacidosis and hyperosmolar coma are characterized by severe elevations in blood glucose levels (hyperglycaemia); emergencies associated with these conditions involve life-threatening metabolic disturbances. Patients with type 1 diabetes are more likely to present with diabetic ketoacidosis than patients with type 2 diabetes.

The annual rate of diabetic ketoacidosis is estimated at 46 per 10,000 individuals with diabetes (Faich, et al., 1983; Snorgaard et al., 1989), while hyperosmolar coma occurs less frequently. In a survey of 312 admissions for ketoacidosis and hyperosmolar coma, MacIsaac and co-authors (2002) found that 55% were admitted for ketoacidosis, 15% for a hyperosmolar, hyperglycaemic state, and 30% for a combination of the two. Further, the mortality rate was

1.2% for patients with ketoacidosis, 17% for patients presenting with a hyperosmolar, hyperglycaemic state, and 5.3% for patients with a combined state. Similar results were found in a larger study, with a mortality rate of 4.9% for diabetic ketoacidosis and 14.6% for hyperosmolar coma (Hamblin et al., 1989).

Among chronic complications, diabetic nephropathy affects 25-45% of patients with diabetes (Jawa et al., 2004). In its earliest stages, diabetic nephropathy presents with low levels of albumin in the urine (microalbuminuria). If the course of diabetic nephropathy progresses, it may eventually lead to chronic or end-stage renal failure (ESRD). In fact, diabetes is the leading cause of ESRD, a condition in which the patient requires a renal transplant or dialysis in order to live. The risk of developing ESRD is up to 13 times higher in persons with diabetes than those without the condition (Brancati et al., 1997; Perneger et al., 1994). Over 40% of patients starting dialysis treatment for renal problems in Canada and the United States have diabetes (Canadian Institute of Health Information, 2001; National Institutes of Health, 2001).

Early (non-proliferative) diabetic retinopathy (DR) has a prevalence of at least 70% in persons with type 1 diabetes (Klein et al., 1984a) and 40% in persons with type 2 diabetes (Klein et al., 1984b). Non-proliferative DR may progress to proliferative DR, characterized by the appearance of new retinal blood vessels. If detected early, proliferative DR can be treated with retinal laser photocoagulation to reduce the risk of vision loss (Buhrmann et al., 2003). If left untreated, proliferative DR represents a serious threat to vision, leading to blindness in 50% of patients within 5 years (Caird et al., 1968). Proliferative DR presents in approximately 50% of individuals with type 1 diabetes and 10% of individuals with type 2 diabetes after they have the disease for 20 years (Klein et al., 1984a,b). In individuals under the age of 65, over half of all cases of blindness are caused by diabetes (Jawa et al., 2004).

Diabetic neuropathy is among the most common of the long-term complications associated with diabetes, afflicting an estimated 50% of individuals with diabetes (Young et al., 1993; Dyck et al., 1993). There are a variety of types of diabetic neuropathy, with the most common ones being chronic sensorimotor distal symmetric polyneuropathy (DPN) and diabetic autonomic neuropathy (DAN) (Boulton et al., 2005). DAN primarily affects the gastrointestinal, genitourinary and cardiovascular systems. Gastrointestinal disturbances include esophageal enteropathy, gastroparesis, constipation, diarrhoea and fecal incontinence. Genitourinary tract disturbances include bladder and/or sexual dysfunction. In men, it is associated with loss of penile erection and /or retrograde ejaculation. DAN is also associated with reduced cardiovascular autonomic function, resulting in a doubling of the risk of silent myocardial ischemia. Finally, DAN is associated with dry skin, loss of sweating, and the emergence of fissures and cracks that allow micro-organisms to enter, ultimately contributing to the development of ulcers, gangrene and limb loss (Vinik et al., 2003).

Pain, especially in the lower limbs, is the most outstanding complaint of people with DPN; the pain is often described as deep and aching or sudden, sharp, and stabbing – like an "electric shock." Patients may also experience severe weight loss, depression, and, in males, erectile dysfunction. Other symptoms include a constant burning discomfort in the feet, numbness of the feet, and unsteadiness resulting from disturbed proprioception and abnormal muscle sensory function (Boulton et al., 2004).

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) accounts for approximately 70% of all deaths among people with diabetes (Gu et al., 1998). Mortality from CVD is two to three times higher in men with diabetes compared to the rest of the male population, and as much as five times higher in women with diabetes (Almdal et al., 2004; Stamler et al., 1993; Kannel and McGee, 1979). On

average, individuals with diabetes tend to have an acute myocardial infarction 10-15 years earlier than the general population (Booth et al., 2003).

Among persons with diabetes, stroke is 2 to 4 times as common as found among persons without diabetes (Jorgensen et al., 1994; Jamrozik et al., 2000). Diabetes influences the occurrence and experience of stroke in several ways. The diabetic stroke patient is younger on average, recovers more slowly and is at a higher risk of death from a stroke than the non-diabetic stroke patient (Jorgensen et al., 1994). An estimated 37-42% of all strokes are attributable to the effects of diabetes alone or of diabetes in combination with hypertension (Kissela et al., 2005).

Persons with diabetes have a two- to four-fold increase in the rate of peripheral vascular disease (PVD), most often affecting the lower leg (Beckman et al., 2002). PVD can result in a significant range of functional impairments. At one end of the spectrum, there is painful walking. More seriously, when it is not possible to restore adequate blood supply to the limbs, amputation may be required. Approximately 40-60% of all lower limb amputations are performed in patients with diabetes (Apelqvist and Larsson, 2000).

In addition to the acute and chronic complications associated with diabetes, persons with type 2 diabetes are also at a higher risk of other co-morbidities, including hypertension, depression and ischemic heart disease (Broemeling, et al., 2005). In British Columbia, 31% of persons with diabetes also had hypertension, 11% were diagnosed with depression and 10% with ischemic heart disease. In Saskatchewan (Simpson, et al., 2003), 36% of health care expenditures for people with diabetes are attributable to major co-morbidities. The constellation of possible co-morbidities is consistent with evidence from the United States, which indicates that more than 40% of Americans with a chronic illness have at least one other co-existent chronic condition (Hoffman, et al., 1996). The probability of co-morbidities increases with the age of the individual

(Wolff et al., 2002). Evidence from the Netherlands suggests that, while approximately 21% of people with diabetes under the age of 65 have at least one co-morbidity, the proportion increases to 40% for those over the age of 65 (Schellevis et al., 1993).

Individuals with type 2 diabetes are also more likely to present with 'metabolic syndrome.' The World Health Organization (WHO, 1999) has defined the metabolic syndrome as the presence of at least two of the following criteria in an individual:

- Central obesity (body mass index > 30 kg/m² and / or a waist-to-hip ratio > 0.90 m in males, > 0.85 m in females);
- Dyslipidaemia (triglycerides ≥ 1.7 mmol/l and or HDL < 0.9 mmol/l in males, < 1.0 mmol/l in females or hypolipidemic treatment);
- 3. Arterial hypertension (\geq 140/90 mmHg or anti-hypertensive treatment);
- 4. Microalbumineria (30-299 mg/l).

The prevalence of individuals with the metabolic syndrome in the United States has increased rapidly during the last two decades in both adults and adolescents. In the year 2000, at least 27% of adults and 9.2% of adolescents were identified as having the metabolic syndrome (Ferranti et al., 2004; Ford et al., 2004).

Since the 1999 WHO definition, a number of other groups have attempted to define the metabolic syndrome, leading to substantial confusion and absence of comparability between studies (Alberti et al., 2005). To address this confusion, the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) convened a consensus group in 2004 consisting of all previous organizations involved in generating the previous definitions together with members from all IDF regions. This consensus group have defined the metabolic syndrome as the follows (Alberti et al., 2005):

- The presence of central obesity defined by ethnic specific values for waist circumference;
- 2. Plus any two of the following:
 - Raised triglycerides > 150 mg/dL (1.7 mmol/L) and / or specific treatment for this lipid abnormality
 - Reduced HDL-cholesterol < 40 mg/dL (1.03 mmol/L) in men; < 50 mg/dL (1.29 mmol/L) in women and / or specific treatment for this lipid abnormality
 - c. Raised blood pressure Systolic \geq 130 mm Hg; diastolic \geq 85 mm/Hg and / or treatment of previously diagnosed hypertension
 - d. Raised fasting plasma glucose Fasting plasma glucose ≥ 100 mg/dL (5.6 mmol/L) and / or previously diagnosed type 2 diabetes. If above 5.6 mmol/L or 100 mg/dL, oral glucose tolerance test is strongly recommended, but is not necessary to define presence of the syndrome.

Despite differences in definitions, the general consensus is that the presence of the metabolic syndrome in patients with type 2 diabetes influences the risk of chronic complications (Isomaa et al., 2001; Hanna and Neary, 2004; Saely et al., 2005; Khunti et al., 2005). Bonora et al. (2003), for example, found that the presence of the metabolic syndrome in patients with type 2 diabetes was independently associated with an almost five-fold increase in cardiovascular disease. Sundstrom, et al. (2006) suggest that the metabolic syndrome can now be added as one of the established risk factors (in addition to smoking, diabetes, hypertension and serum cholesterol) for cardiovascular disease.

Due to the high level of both acute and chronic complications, as well as co-morbidities, the diabetes-related risk of mortality is significantly higher than mortality in the general

population. In people aged 15-34 years with type 1 diabetes, standardized mortality ratios are approximately 3.5 times higher than the general population (Wibell et al., 2001). Young people who have been admitted to hospital for diabetes have a nine times higher standardized mortality ratio than the general population, which includes a higher risk of death from suicide (Roberts et al., 2004). The age-adjusted relative risk of death from all causes in persons with type 2 diabetes is approximately 2 for men (Lutofo et al., 2001) and 3 for women (Hu et al., 2001), increasing to 5 and 7 respectively if the person with diabetes also has coronary heart disease. In terms of life expectancy, people without diabetes live 12-13 years longer than people with diabetes (Manual and Schultz, 2004).

In addition to increased risk of premature mortality, people with diabetes also suffer significant disability, with an estimated 20-50% reporting limitations in their activities (Songer, 1995). The health-related quality of life for people with diabetes has been estimated at between 0.6 - 0.9 on a scale from 0 to 1 with '1' representing perfect health and '0' representing death (Maddigan et al., 2000; Coffey et al., 2002). There is considerable variation depending on who is doing the evaluation (Landy et al., 2002). This scale has also been used to quantify the impact that major complications have on the individual's health-related quality of life (Clarke et al., 2002). Specifically, researchers estimated the impact of myocardial infarction at -0.055, blindness in one eye at -0.074, ischemic heart disease at -0.090, heart failure at -0.108, stroke at -0.164 and amputation at -0.280.

In summary, diabetes is one of the most serious of the chronic diseases, with significant multi-system complications if the disease is not well-managed. As a result, individuals with diabetes tend to have a shorter life expectancy, as well as significantly reduced quality of life compared to the general population.

2.2.2 The Effectiveness of Diabetes-Related Medical Care

While the morbidity and premature mortality associated with diabetes is significant, there is an important body of evidence which indicates that appropriate management of this chronic condition can delay and / or prevent the related complications.

The management of diabetes is aimed at reducing the acute and chronic complications associated with diabetes, primarily by maintaining the patient's blood glucose, blood pressure and lipid levels as close to normal as possible. This involves a combination of diet, smoking cessation, exercise, social support and drug therapy, the latter consisting of some combination of antihypertensive and cholesterol lowering agents, insulin injections or oral hypoglycaemic agents. In type 1 diabetes, the use of insulin therapy is always required, while normoglycaemia can sometimes be achieved in type 2 diabetes through diet and exercise alone, though concomitant oral hypoglycaemics or insulin are often also required.

The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) was a large, comprehensive diabetes clinical study conducted from 1983 to 1993 by the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, based in the United States (DCCT Research Group, 1993). It involved 1,441 volunteers with type 1 diabetes from 29 medical centers in the United States and Canada. Volunteers had been diagnosed with diabetes for at least 1 year, but no longer than 15 years. This study compared the effects of two treatment regimens – standard therapy and intensive control – on the incidence of acute and chronic complications of diabetes. Volunteers were randomly assigned to each treatment group.

Intensive control involved self-testing blood glucose levels four or more times a day, four daily insulin injections or use of an insulin pump, frequent adjustment of insulin doses according

to food intake and exercise, a diet and exercise plan, and monthly visits to a health care team composed of a physician, nurse educator, dietician, and behavioural therapist.

This study found that intensive therapy with normalization of blood glucose levels reduced the risk of developing diabetic retinopathy by 76%, prevented the development and slowed the progression of diabetic kidney disease by 50%, and reduced the risk of nerve damage by 60% at 6.5 years of follow-up.

Follow-up research on this study population indicates that the beneficial results of this intensive control continued for a period of at least eight years, even though the difference in mean glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) levels between the two treatment groups diminished over time, so that there was ultimately an average difference of only 0.2% during the follow-up period (DCCT Research Group, 2000, 2002, 2003). The authors concluded that "the current results reaffirm that intensive treatment of type 1 diabetes should be initiated as early as safely possible in order to provide strong and durable protection from the development and progression of diabetic microvascular disease" (DCCT Research Group, 2003, p. 2166).

The United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS Group, 1998a) followed 1,148 patients with hypertension and type 2 diabetes (enrolled between 1987 and 1991) for an average of nine years. Patients were randomly allocated to a tight control of blood pressure group (with a goal of < 150/85 mm Hg) and a less tight control of blood pressure group (with a goal of <180/105 mm Hg). Patients visited study centres every 3-4 months. At each visit, plasma glucose concentration, blood pressure, and body weight were measured. Treatments to control blood pressure and blood glucose concentration were assessed and adjusted if target values were not met.

The results of the UKPDS indicate that the tight blood pressure control group experienced a 32% reduction in death related to diabetes, a 44% reduction in stroke, a 56% reduction in the risk of heart failure, a 37% reduction in microvascular disease, and a 47% reduced risk of deterioration of visual acuity.

This study also found a strong relationship between glucose levels and subsequent cardiovascular events. For every 1% reduction in glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c), the authors observed a 14% drop in the incidence of acute myocardial infarction (AMI) and a 16% drop in heart failure rates.

After reviewing the new information from the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study, the American Diabetes Association stated that "it is time for all health professionals to treat diabetes aggressively. It is also time for patients to take their diabetes with the utmost seriousness. And it is incumbent upon the health care system to provide the necessary resources for both to be successful. Compromise or acceptance of a disadvantageous and dangerous status quo in people with diabetes should not be tolerated any longer" (Genuth et al., 2003, p. S32).

A study in Denmark randomly assigned 80 individuals with type 2 diabetes to a "targeted, intensified, multifactorial intervention" and 80 to receive conventional treatment (Gaede et al., 2003). The intervention group received a stepwise implementation of behaviour modification (diet, exercise, and smoking cessation) and pharmacologic therapy that targeted hyperglycaemia, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and microalbuminuria. The intervention group saw significant improvements (compared to the conventional treatment group) in their glycosylated haemoglobin values, systolic and diastolic blood pressures, serum cholesterol, triglyceride level and urinary albumin excretion rate at the end of the 7.8 year follow-up. At the end of that time period, 44% of patients in the conventional therapy group had one or more cardiovascular events

(death from cardiovascular causes, nonfatal myocardial infarction or stroke, coronary- or peripheral-artery revascularization, or amputation as a result of ischemia) compared to only 24% in the intervention group.

Solomon (2003), commenting on the study by Gaede et al. (2003) notes that this study "provides the best evidence to date of the magnitude of the benefits that can be derived from instituting several interventions". But even with the intensive interventions offered in the Denmark study, targeted blood pressure and blood glucose levels were only infrequently achieved. Less than half of the patients in the intensive therapy group achieved target systolic blood pressure levels while less than a fifth achieved targeted glycosylated haemoglobin levels. As noted by Solomon (2003), "although these findings point to the difficulty of achieving the targets in the real world, they also suggest the possibility of even greater benefits if the targets can be met more frequently."

Despite significant strides in the treatment of diabetes, the patients themselves must invest a considerable amount of time, energy and resources in dealing with diabetes, presenting a constant challenge for people with the disease. The 2nd edition of *Diabetes in Canada* (Health Canada, 2002a) notes that "diabetes exerts a significant effect on the quality of life of those with the disease. The continuous need to monitor intake (in terms of timing, type and amount of food), take medications (whether pills or insulin injections), monitor blood glucose, and anticipate and plan for activities that may affect diabetes control can put a severe strain on daily life" (p. 10).

It is perhaps not surprising then that target blood glucose and blood pressure levels are consistently hard to achieve, even in clinical trials. The difficulty in consistently achieving targets noted in the study by Gaede and colleagues (2003) has been confirmed by a number of

other studies (Menard, et al., 2005; Rothman and Elasy, 2005; Karter et al., 2005). Karter et al. (2005) found that just 18% of the patients in their study of new antihyperglycaemic therapies reached a target HbA1c of \leq 7.0%. Menard et al. (2005) found that even after a year of intensive multitherapy intervention most patients were substantially below the goal of 100% adherence. Just 35% of patients in the intervention arm achieved the goals of HbA1c of \leq 7.0%, 64% reached a diastolic blood pressure of < 80 mm Hg, 53% reached a low-density lipoprotein cholesterol level of < 2.5 mmol/L and 44% achieved triglyceride levels of < 1.5 mmol/L. It should be noted that these levels were significantly better than the no intervention control group (8%, 37%, 20% and 14%, respectively for the control group). Just six months after the completion of the research trial and the return to usual care, however, the benefits achieved during the trial had vanished; specifically, as noted in an editorial by Rothman and Elasy (2005), "there were no longer statistically significant differences in haemoglobin A1c concentrations, blood pressure or triglyceride levels between the intervention and control groups."

In summary, the considerable complications associated with diabetes can be delayed and /or minimized with appropriate management. The most successful outcomes are achieved when there is a strong partnership between the patient and the clinical team. When clinical vigilance and patient accountability are relaxed, however, the research suggests that target levels of blood glucose and blood pressure are difficult to maintain.

2.2.3 The Economic Impact of Diabetes-Related Illness

The current economic burden of diabetes is substantial, at least partly due to the high level of complications faced by patients whose chronic condition is not well-managed. In 1992, people with diabetes accounted for 15% of total US health care expenditures, even though they constituted only 4.5% of the total population (Rubin et al., 1994). Bagust and colleagues (2001)
have estimated the lifetime health care costs for patients with diagnosed type 2 diabetes to be more than twice that for an equivalent non-diabetic population. The cost to health plans in the US increases significantly with every 1% increase in HbA1c levels above 6% (Gilmer et al., 1997). Moss et al. (1999) found that increases in HbA1c levels positively predicted hospitalizations among people with diabetes. In contrast, factors in the diabetic population that were not significantly associated with hospitalizations included age, gender, systolic and diastolic blood pressures, body mass, smoking status, and alcohol consumption.

According to a study commissioned by the American Diabetes Association (2003), diabetes was estimated to cost the US economy \$132 billion in 2002. Direct medical expenditures are estimated at \$91.8 billion, which includes \$23.2 (25%) billion for diabetes care, \$24.6 (27%) billion for chronic complications attributable to diabetes, and \$44.1 (48%) billion for excess prevalence of general medical conditions. Indirect costs, totalling \$39.8 billion, were associated with lost workdays, restricted activity days, premature mortality, and permanent disability due to diabetes.

The authors note that the \$132 billion "likely underestimates the true burden of diabetes because it omits intangibles, such as pain and suffering, care provided by nonpaid caregivers, and several areas of health care spending where people with diabetes probably use services at higher rates than people without diabetes (e.g., dental care, optometry care, and the use of licensed dieticians). In addition, the cost estimate excludes undiagnosed cases of diabetes" (ADA, 2003, pg 917). After adjusting for differences in age, gender, and race/ethnicity, people with diabetes utilized approximately 2.4 times the health care resources of someone in the general population.

Estimates of the economic burden of diabetes in Canada are quite variable. A study by Health Canada (2002b) suggests that the economic burden of diabetes in Canada was \$1.6 billion

(Cdn \$) in 1998. Health Canada acknowledges that this is a very conservative estimate, one which does not include physician costs, costs associated with the complications of diabetes, costs borne by patients and costs associated with short-term disability as well as the value of time lost from work and leisure activities by family members or friends who care for the patient. An alternate estimate from Health Canada (2002a), simply based on the relative population sizes of the two countries, suggests that the true economic burden may be as high as 10% of the U.S. figure, or \$13.2 billion in 2002.

Simpson et al. (2003) estimated the direct health care costs (hospitalizations, physician services and prescription drugs) for the 3.6% of Saskatchewan's population with diagnosed diabetes to be \$143.3 million in 1996, or approximately 15% of total expenditures in these three areas that year. These direct costs averaged \$3,524 per person per year. Ohinmaa et al. (2004) used this Saskatchewan data, with the addition of day surgery and outpatient dialysis costs, to estimate the direct health care costs in Canada for people with diagnosed diabetes to be \$4.66 billion in 2000. Dawson et al. (2002) used a broader approach in estimating the economic burden of diabetes in Canada, including estimated costs for undiagnosed cases as well as indirect costs (mortality related productivity losses). Their estimate of the total economic burden of diabetes in Canada in 1998 was between US\$4.76 and \$5.23 billion.

Laditka and co-workers (2001) compared the resource use of people with diabetes to those without diabetes in an employer-based population in Ohio in 1996. The commercial health insurer in that state had an enrolment of approximately 828,000 employed individuals, of whom 1.6% had diabetes. This 1.6% of the population generated 9.4% of the insurer's costs. Total annual per capita costs for the non-diabetic population were \$909, compared to \$5,659 for the diabetic cohort. More specifically, the diabetic population used inpatient resources at a rate 4.8

times that of the non-diabetic population, after adjusting for the age and gender differences in the two populations. Rates of resource use were also 2.5 times higher for outpatient facility encounters, 2 times higher for emergency department visits, 2.4 times higher for physician office visits, 3 times higher for physician consultation visits and 2.8 times higher for ancillary services such as laboratory and radiology tests.

Several groups within Canada have examined aspects of resource use by persons with diabetes compared to the general population. Research on the level of family physician utilization in Winnipeg, Manitoba indicates that persons with diabetes see their family physician just over two times as often as the general population (Watson et al., 2003). In Ontario, patients with diabetes visited a physician or optometrist 2.2 times more frequently in 2000/01 compared to patients without diabetes (Chan and Harju, 2003).

Klarenbach and Jacobs (2003) provide a comparison of health resource utilization in Canada and the US. They found that patients with diabetes in Canada were more likely to have contact with a general physician and an eye specialist, but were less likely to have contact with other medical specialists compared to their American counterparts.

Several studies provide information on the average annual medical care costs by people with diabetes. Not surprisingly, hospitalizations create a huge financial burden on society. In a European study, the average annual direct medical cost for people with diabetes was estimated at ϵ 2,515 (Jönsson, 2002). Of this amount, 53% was for hospitalization, 24% for ambulatory care and 23% for drugs. Simpson et al. (2003) estimated the health care expenditures for people with diagnosed diabetes in Saskatchewan in 1996. Average costs per capita were \$3,524 consisting of \$1,889 (53.7% of the total) in hospitalization costs, \$836 (23.8%) in prescription drug costs,

\$583 (16.6%) in physician services costs, \$115 (3.3%) in dialysis costs and \$96 (2.7%) in day surgery costs.

The juvenile burden is similar to that of adults. Hospitalization rates in children with diabetes are approximately 3 to 7 times that of their peers (Aro et al., 1994; Icks et al., 2001).

Broemeling and co-authors (2005) examined resource use in adults with diagnosed diabetes in British Columbia in 2000/01. In their study, the authors used Adjusted Clinical Groups (ACGs) to allocate people with diabetes into the following five groups based on co-morbidity:

- No co-morbidity
- Low co-morbidity (2-3 additional conditions ranging from minor acute and timelimited conditions to chronic, medically unstable, psychosocial, and major acute conditions)
- Medium co-morbidity (4-5 additional conditions)
- High co-morbidity (6-9 additional conditions)
- Very high co-morbidity (10+ additional conditions)

Similar to other studies, the authors found that adults with diabetes used 2.4 times the health care resources compared to the general adult population. Their analysis revealed that the level of resources used varied significantly based on the level of co-morbidity. The healthiest group of individuals with diabetes, those with no co-morbidity, used only 0.1 times the level of resources. The group with low co-morbidity used 0.6 times the resources, and those with medium co-morbidity used 1.2 times the resources. Most significantly, the diabetic population with high co-morbidity used 3.9 times the resources and those with very high co-morbidity used

11.5 times the resources. Thirty-two percent of the diabetic population were in the high or very high co-morbidity groups.

Williams et al. (2002) used disease specific complications when assessing the impact of complications on the costs of type 2 diabetes. They divided people with type 2 diabetes into the following four broad categories of complication status:

- 1. No complications.
- 2. One or more microvascular complications only. Microvascular complications include foot ulcer, amputation, retinopathy, photocoagulation, vitrectomy, blindness in one or both eyes, microalbuminuria, nephropathy, dialysis, renal transplant and neuropathy.
- One or more macrovascular complications only. Macrovascular complications include angina, myocardial infarction, heart failure, percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty, coronary artery bypass graft, transient ischemic attack, stroke and peripheral vascular disease.
- 4. One or more of each of microvascular and macrovascular complications.

A patient with no complications $\cot \epsilon 1,505$ in direct medical costs per year. Compared to a patient with no complications, the presence of microvascular complications added 70% to these costs, macrovascular complications added 100% to these costs and the presence of both micro and macrovacsular complications increased the costs by 330% ($\epsilon 5,226$).

In summary, the economic costs, both direct and indirect, associated with diabetes are high, largely due to the serious complications associated with the condition if it is not appropriately managed. In both Canada and the United States, average health care resource use for an individual with diabetes is at least two times that of the general population, though this

ratio is highly dependent on the presence of co-morbidities or complications. Over half of the average annual direct care costs are due to hospitalizations.

2.3 Recommended Clinical Procedures

The complications and costs associated with diabetes are significant, yet both can be substantially reduced if the disease is well-managed, as will be summarized in section 2.5 (*Potential for Savings Associated with Improving Planned Management*) of this chapter. But can one identify and track ideal management? Clinical practice guidelines (CPGs) are one option for summarizing and distributing best practice information in an accessible format. As knowledge on best practices for a specific disease evolves, CPGs can be modified to take the new information into account.

The following section will provide some background on CPGs and review the evolution of CPGs for diabetes in Canada and British Columbia.

2.3.1 Clinical Practice Guidelines

Woolf (1990) has defined practice guidelines as "the official statements or policies of major organizations and agencies on the proper indications for performing a procedure or treatment or the proper management for specific clinical problems" (p. 1812). The most commonly used definition of clinical practice guidelines is that provided by Field and Lohr (1992): "(S)ystematically developed statements to assist practitioner and patient decisions about appropriate health care for specific clinical circumstances" (p. 2). Guidelines are developed based on the best available evidence at the time of their development. As noted earlier, as knowledge on best practices for a specific disease evolves, CPGs can be modified to take the new information into account.

Guidelines have been used in one form or another for over 50 years in medicine, being described variously as practice standards, recommendations, protocols, policies, parameters, options, care maps, care pathways, and so on (Woolf, 1990, 1995; Woolf et al., 1999). In the United States, the federal government created a new agency in 1989, the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR), whose role, in part, was to develop CPGs. The AHCPR was given the mandate to develop three initial guidelines by January 1, 1991 (Woolf, 1990). Interest in CPGs at that time extended beyond North America to Australia and New Zealand, as well as to countries in Europe and Africa (Woolf et al., 1999). In the Netherlands, for example, guidelines have been worked on since 1987 by the Dutch College of General Practitioners, with the resulting CPGs figuring prominently in Dutch health policy. By 1993, over 1,500 CPGs had been developed in the US alone (Woolf, 1995).

The rapid proliferation of CPGs in the late 1980s and 1990s was driven by at least three converging areas of research (Field and Lohr, 1992). The first involves the documentation of unexplained geographic variation in medical practices. Dating back to 1969, studies by Wennberg and others (Lewis, 1969; Wennberg and Gittelsohn, 1973; McPherson et al., 1982; Chassin et al., 1986; Wennberg et al., 1987; Perrin et al., 1989; McMahon et al., 1989) reported large, unexplained variances in the receipt of medical care by patients living in different geographic regions. While the reasons for these variances are not fully known, one suggestion has been that they may be explained in part by clinician uncertainty about the proper indications for procedures (Wennberg et al., 1977). If this is the case, then the provision of CPGs would be a potential approach to reducing this uncertainty (Wennberg, 1984).

The second area of research is on the inappropriate use of interventions. The most important work in this area was completed by Chassin and colleagues (1987), in which 5,000

medical records were reviewed to measure the appropriateness of three procedures. Their findings suggested that 17% of coronary angiography, 32% of carotid endarterectomy, and 17% of upper gastrointestinal tract endoscopy procedures were inappropriate. Findings such as this have fuelled speculation about the inappropriate use of a broader range of medical procedures.

The third area of research led to uncertainty about the health outcomes achieved by the use or non-use of various services and interventions (Eddy, 1984; Eddy and Billings, 1988; Brook, 1989; Brook et al., 1986; Roper et al., 1988). Research on the effectiveness, let alone the cost-effectiveness, of many health care services and procedures did not exist, or was incomplete. In response, Roper and Hackbarth (1988) encouraged the Health Care Financing Agency in the US to "purchase value, the optimal mix of high quality and reasonable cost" (p. 91) and to increase funding for research on effectiveness and the promotion of quality care.

The perception that the costs of medical care, particularly in the US, were spiralling out of control in the 1980s, together with the three research streams noted above, led to a powerful motivation for the implementation of CPGs. It was hypothesized that the systematic combination of scientific evidence and clinical judgment would lead to recommendations for appropriate care that would be embraced by physicians and their patients alike, leading to better health outcomes and lower health care costs. In essence, CPGs were an attempt to control costs while improving quality of care, risk management, and patient outcomes (Field and Lohr, 1992).

The five major purposes of CPGs as identified by Field and Lohr (1992) are:

- To assist in clinical decision-making by patients and practitioners
- To educate individuals or groups
- To assist in assessing and assuring the quality of care
- To guide the allocation of resources for health care

• To reduce the risk of legal liability for negligent care.

While a myriad of CPGs have been developed, the implementation of their

recommendations into every day practice has not been smooth. In 1988, Eddy and Billings (p.

20) warned:

To achieve high-quality medical care, we must succeed at three main tasks. First, we must determine just what practices constitute high-quality care. This involves analyzing evidence of the effectiveness, risks, and costs of various medical practices, and designing standards that define appropriate practices. The second task involves monitoring existing practices to compare them against the accepted standards. The third involves changing the behaviour of practitioners to ensure that the care actually delivered meets the standards. Failure at any of these tasks will threaten the quality of care people actually receive.

2.3.2 Clinical Practice Guidelines for Diabetic Care

2.3.2.1 Guideline Development in Canada

National clinical practice guidelines for diabetes were first developed and distributed in Canada in September, 1992 (Tan et al., 1992), and then updated in 1998 (Meltzer et al., 1998) and again in 2003 (Canadian Diabetes Association, 2003).

The 1992 guideline (Tan et al., 1992) were developed by an expert committee of volunteers consisting of specialist and family physicians, nurse educators, dieticians and a lawyer. This group prepared position papers which were then reviewed by 38 other health professionals prior to preparing a second draft of the guidelines for discussion at a public consensus conference. The final version of this early CPG was published in the September, 1992 issue of the Canadian Medical Association Journal.

In 1998, the Canadian Diabetes Association's Clinical and Scientific Section revised the 1992 CPG, incorporating new research developments (Meltzer et al., 1998). These guidelines were based on a series of recommendations, each recommendation graded according to the level of supporting evidence. The process for developing the 1998 CPG was similar to the one used in 1992 with an expert committee preparing background papers for synthesis into a larger report, which was then reviewed by external experts and discussed at a public forum.

The 2003 CPG (Canadian Diabetes Association, 2003) was developed in response to a number of important new research findings (Hu et al., 2001; Tuomilehto et al., 2001; Knowler et al., 2002). The new results included those from the UKPDS (UKPDS Group, 1998) and follow-up studies on the DCCT population (DCCT Research Group, 2000).

The authors of the 2003 CPG generally followed the process established for the earlier

versions of the diabetes CPG, with the following key principles (Canadian Diabetes Association,

2003):

- Each recommendation had to address a clinically important question related to one or more of the prevention, detection or management of diabetes mellitus and its sequelae.
- Whenever possible, each recommendation had to be justified by the strongest clinically-relevant empirical evidence that could be identified; the citation(s) reporting this evidence had to be noted adjacent to the relevant guideline.
- A summary of the strength of this evidence, based on prespecified criteria from the epidemiological literature and other guidelines, had to be noted.
- The evidence had to be incorporated into a recommendation that was assigned a grade based on the available evidence, evaluating both its strength, and its applicability.
- Guidelines based on biological or mechanistic reasoning, expert opinion, or consensus had to be explicitly identified and graded as such (p. S4).

The authors acknowledged that CPGs have often fallen short of their intended goals. In

order to improve participation, they developed a dissemination strategy which included a searchable web-based version of the guidelines, summary articles published in a variety of

professional journals, and messages targeted to people with diabetes and the general public.

2.3.2.2 Guideline Development in British Columbia

In British Columbia, CPGs are developed under the direction of the Guidelines and Protocols Advisory Committee (GPAC), jointly sponsored by the B.C. Medical Association (BCMA) and the Ministry of Health. The GPAC is co-chaired by the BCMA and the Medical Services Plan (MSP). GPAC chooses topics, approves draft guidelines for external review, and approves final guidelines for submission to the Medical Services Commission (MSC) for review and adoption in B.C. It also coordinates strategies to implement and evaluate guidelines.

The decision about which guidelines to develop is based on high volume and / or costs of the specific medical condition, high variability in practice patterns, opportunities for improvement in practice, and the support and interest of physicians.

The guideline development process in B.C. involves a literature search, draft guidelines, multiple consultations with experts and external reviews. Final approval of the guidelines is made by the B.C. Medical Association and the Medical Services Commission. Published guidelines are reviewed every two years, or even earlier if new evidence warrants. The latest version of the CPG for diabetes care was published in January, 2004.

2.3.2.3 Diagnosis of Diabetes

The diagnostic criteria used in determining whether an individual has diabetes are summarized in section 2.1 above. A comparison of the CPGs developed for diabetes in Canada reveal that these criteria have changed since 1992 due to the availability of new research evidence (see Table 2-1 below).

Table 2-1: Diagnostic Criteria for Diabetes in Nonpregnant Adults Based on the Canadian Diabetes Clinical Practice Guidelines

	1992	-	1998 (5)	2003 (7)	
FPG (mmol/L)	>7.8 mmol/L	(2)	≥7.0 mmol/L	≥7.0 mmol/L	
Casual (1) PG (mmol/L)	>11.1 mmol/L	(3)	≥11.1 mmol/L (6)	≥11.1 mmol/L ((8)
2hPG in a 75-g OGTT (mmol/L)	>11.1 mmol/L	(4)	≥11.1 mmol/L	≥11.1 mmol/L	

Notes

(1) Casual = any time of the day without regard to the interval since the last meal

- (2) On at least two occasions
- (3) Plus symptoms and signs of diabetes (increased thirst, polydipsia, polyuria, polyphagia, weight loss, fatigue, blurred vision, etc.)
- (4) Observed on at least two occasions in addition to a FPG value of > 7.8 mmol/L.
- (5) A confirmatory test must be done on another day in all cases in the absence of unequivocal hyperglycemia accompanied by acute metabolic decompensation.
- (6) Plus symptoms of diabetes. The classic symptoms of diabetes include fatigue, polyuria, polydipsia and unexplained weight loss.
- (7) A confirmatory laboratory glucose test (an FPG, casual PG or a 2hPG in 75-g OGTT) must be done in all cases on another day in the absence of unequivocal hyperglycemia accompanied by acute metabolic decompensation
- (8) Plus symptoms of the disease. Classic symptoms of the disease = polyuria, polydipsia and unexplained weight loss.

Abbreviations

FPG = fasting plasma glucose, fasting is defined as no caloric intake for at least 8 hours **PG** = plasma glucose **2hPG** = 2-hour plasma glucose

OGTT = oral glucose tolerance test

The medical community has become increasingly aware of the dangers of high blood glucose levels, which is reflected in the changes to the CPGs. In 1992, an individual with a fasting plasma glucose level >7.8 mmol/L was considered to have diabetes. The threshold was lowered to \geq 7.0 mmol/L in the 1998 guidelines. It is important to note that while the 2003 version of the guidelines maintains the 7.0 mmol/L level, they have added that blood glucose levels below this threshold also have clinical consequences. The authors of the 2003 guideline suggest the term "impaired fasting glucose" for any individual with a fasting plasma glucose level between 6.1 and 6.9 mmol/L (Canadian Diabetes Association, 2003).

2.3.2.4 Optimal Targets for the Control of Diabetes

A comparison of all the three versions of the Canadian and the current British Columbia CPGs indicates that important targets for the control of blood glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol levels have all changed since 1992 (see Table 2-2 below). The pattern has been toward lowering the test criterion to enable earlier detection and broader inclusion.

Clinical Pract	ice Guidel	ines	;			
	1992	-	1998	-	2003	BC 2004
Plasma glucose level (mmol/L)						
Pre-meal Post-meal	4.0 - 7.0 5.0 - 10.0		4.0 - 7.0 5.0 - 11.0		4.0 - 7.0 5.0 - 10.0	4.0 - 7.0 5.0 - 10.0
Glycosylated hemoglobin level (% of upper limit) Equivalent HbA1c assay	< 110		≤ 115 < 7.0%		< 7.0%	< 7.0%
Cholesterol level						
LDL (mmol/L)	< 3.4	(1)	< 2 F	(0)		
Diabetes and 2 other risk factors (6)			< 3.5	(2)		
Diabetes and 1 other risk factor			< 4.0	(3)		
Diabetes and no other risk factors			< 5.0	(5)		
High risk (7)			0.0	(0)	< 2.5	< 2.5
Moderate Risk (8)					< 3.5	< 3.5
Total (mmol/L)	< 5.2	(1)				
HDL (mmol/L)	>1.1	(1)				
Total:HDL cholesterol ratio (mmol/L)						
Diabetes and either CAD or 3 or more other risk factors			< 4.0	(2)		
Diabetes and 2 other risk factors			< 5.0	(3)		
Diabetes and 1 other risk factor			< 6.0	(4)		
Diabetes and no other risk factors			< 7.0	(5)		
High risk (7)					< 4.0	< 4.0
Moderate RISK (8)					< 5.0	< 5.0
Triglyceride level (mmol/L)	< 1.7	(1)				(9)
Diabetes and either CAD or 3 or more other risk factors			< 2.0	(2)		
Diabetes and 2 other risk factors			< 2.0	(3)		
Diabetes and 1 other risk factor			< 2.0	(4)		
Diabetes and no other risk factors			< 3.0	(5)		
BMI (under 65 years of age)	< 25		"healthy"		18.5 - 24.9	18.5 - 24.9
Blood pressure (mm Hg)	< 140/90	(10)	< 130/85		< 130/80	< 130/80
Microalbumin / Creatinine Ratio (ACR)						
Males			< 2.0		< 2.0	(11) < 2.0
Females			< 2.8		< 2.8	(11) < 2.8
Estimated Giomerular Filtration Rate (eGFR)					2 90 mL/min	2 90 mL/mi
Notes (1) Should be adjusted for other risk factors. Less strict targets ma (2-5) All 3 target values (LDL, Total:HDL and triglyceride level) must (6) Major risk factors include family history of premature CAD, smo both men and women	ay be approp be achieved oking, hyper	riate d. tensi	for older pa on, low HDI	atien L (≤0	ts with limited l 0.9 mmol/L) and	life expectancy d age over 30 yea
(7) Most patients with diabetes(8)						
Younger age and shorter duration of diabetes and no other cor (9) "There are very little clinical data to support recommendations elevation in serum TGs with LDL-C and TC:HDL-C at target lev	nplications c on TG levels vels. Thus, ii	of dia s…it n ord	betes and r is uncommo er to simplit	no ot on fo fy the	her risk factors r a patient to h e lipid targets,	; for vascular dise ave a significant
 (10) "For patients with diabetic nephropathy, it has been suggested however, conclusive evidence is lacking" (pg. 559). 	that optimal	bloo	od pressure	shoi	uld be 130/80 t	o 135/85 mm Hg;
(11) A patient is considered to have nephropathy at these levels if c	confirmed on	at le	east 2 out of	3 te	sts taken at lea	ast one week apa
Abbreviations						
LDL = low-density lipoprotein						
HDL = high-density lipoprotein						
BMI = body mass index						
CAD = coronary artery disease						
Ha = Hemoglobin						

In the 1992 guidelines, a glycated haemoglobin level of <110 (% of upper limit) was considered appropriate. Six years later this was modified to \leq 115 (% of upper limit), or the equivalent haemoglobin A1c of <7%. Recommended cholesterol levels were initially set at a total cholesterol level of <5.2 mmol/L and a high-density lipoprotein (HDL) level of >1.1 mmol/L. By 2003, the recommended Total:HDL level for high risk patients was <4.0 and the level for moderate risk patients was <5.0. Finally, the recommended blood pressure was steadily adjusted downward from <140/90 in 1992 to <130/80 in 2003. These targets have been well supported by research such as that by the DCCT (1993, 1995, 2000, 2002, 2003) and the UKPDS (1998b). The medical community is in agreement that tight control of blood glucose, cholesterol and blood pressure levels results in clinically important reductions in the complications associated with diabetes.

The 2003 guidelines recommend even more aggressive targets for some patients. Specifically, a haemoglobin A1c level of $\leq 6\%$ is recommended for patients in whom it can be safely achieved. Unfortunately, the risk of severe hypoglycaemia was three times higher among participants receiving intensive therapy. Therefore, "normoglycemia may not be an appropriate goal in individuals with either type 1 diabetes or type 2 diabetes who are at risk for severe hypoglycaemia" (DCCT, 1993; p. S18).

2.3.2.5 Recommended Diagnostic Procedures to Assess the Ongoing Control of Diabetes

In order to determine whether the optimal levels of control are being achieved, the guidelines outline a set of recommended diagnostic tests to be performed on a periodic basis. These include an HbA1c assay, which determines how much glucose has bound to the A1c form of haemoglobin in a process called glycosylation. The identified value reflects how much

glucose has been in the blood during the past average 120-day lifespan of red cells. The three month time period for this test was chosen to reflect the continuous monitoring of blood glucose levels given the average life-span of a red blood cell (Saudek, et al., 2006).

A lipid profile was recommended every six months in 1992, with the frequency reduced to every 1-3 years in subsequent CPG. The 2003 Canadian Guidelines note that "a fasting lipid profile (TC, HDL-C, TG and calculated LDL-C) should be conducted at the time of diagnosis of diabetes and then every 1 to 3 years as clinically indicated....More frequent testing should be done if treatment for dyslipidemia in initiated" (p.S60). The 2003 Canadian Guidelines suggested that most patients with diabetes fell into the high risk of a vascular event category and that treatment should be initiated if LDL-C <2.5 and TC:HDL-C <4.0. For patients with a moderate risk (e.g. "younger age and shorter duration of diabetes and no other complications of diabetes and no other risk factors for vascular disease"), treatment should be initiated if LDL-C <3.5 and TC:HDL-C<5.0. The recommended treatment approach, in addition to lifestyle modifications, is to prescribe a statin with the possibility of prescribing a fibrate for higher risk patients. The use of statins as the drug of choice to lower cholesterol levels was based on the results of the Heart Protection Study (Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group, 2002; Yusuf, 2002) which found that adding a statin (simvistatin) to existing treatments produced a substantial reduction in vascular events in high-risk patients, regardless of their initial cholesterol concentrations. Finally, the Canadian Guidelines suggest that "when monotherapy fails to achieve lipid targets, the addition of a second drug from another class should be considered" (p. S60).

The measurement of blood pressure was supposed to take place at least every six months in the 1992 guidelines, but has subsequently been recommended to take place at every physician

visit. The patient care plan included in the 2003 Canadian Guidelines indicates that blood pressure should be measured at least four times per year (p.S123).

An eye exam is recommended at least once every two years, more frequently if the patient has retinopathy. The 2003 Canadian Guidelines note that "in people with type 1 diabetes, screening and evaluation for retinopathy by an experienced professional should be performed annually 5 years after the onset of diabetes in individuals ≥ 15 years of age" (p.S77). Furthermore, "in people with type 2 diabetes, screening and evaluation for retinopathy by an experienced professional should be performed at the time of diagnosis. The interval for follow-up assessments should be tailored to the severity of the retinopathy. In those with no or minimal retinopathy, the recommended interval is 1 to 2 years" (p. S77).

Measurement of urinary microalbumin should take place at diagnosis and at least annually thereafter (see Table 2-3 below). Microalbuminuria is associated with a level of $30 - 299 \ \mu$ g/mg creatinine while macroalbuminuria is associated with levels of 300 or higher (American Diabetes Association, 2005). Because of the variability in urinary albumin excretion, two or three specimens collected over a three to six month period should show abnormal results before a patient is considered to have crossed one of these diagnostic thresholds.

The 2003 Canadian Guidelines note that in people with type 2 diabetes who have been diagnosed with nephropathy, the preferred treatment is an ACE inhibitor or ARB if the creatinine clearance is >60 mL/min or an ARB if the creatinine clearance is \leq 60 ml/min. These guidelines suggest that serum creatinine and potassium levels be checked "within 2 weeks of initiation of therapy and periodically thereafter" (p. S69). The American Diabetes Association (2005) notes that "the role of annual microalbumin assessment is less clear after diagnosis of microalbuminuria and institution of ACE inhibitor or ARB therapy and blood pressure control.

Most experts, however, recommend continued surveillance to assess both response to therapy

and progression of disease."

Table 2-3: Recommended Di Canadian	agnostic Procedur and British Colum	es to Assess the On bia Diabetes Clinical	going Control of Dial Practice Guidelines	betes Based on th
	1992	1998	2003	BC 2004
Blood Glucose Control Over Time HbA1c assay	at least every 6 months	every 3-4 months if on insulin, otherwise every 6 months	approximately every 3 months	every 3 months
Patient Blood Glucose Monitoring	essential for patients taking insulin	essential for all type 1 diabetes, pregnant women with diabetes and insulin-treated type 2 diabetes	type 1 diabetes - at least 3 times per day, most with type 2 - at least once per day	regular as appropriate
Blood Pressure	at least every 6 months	at every visit	at every visit	at every visit
ipid Profile	at least every 6 months, if dyslipidemia then every 4 months	every 1-3 years	every 1-3 years	every 1-3 years
Foot Examination	at least annually	at least annually, more often for those at high risk	at least annually, more often for those at high risk	at least annually
Vephropathy Screen for macroscopic protein	& non-renal diseases	with dipstick		
If protein-negative, measure AC	R	annually for all type 2 and type 1 with five + years duration	annually for all type 2 and type 1 with five + years duration	at least annually
Measure SCr (currently lab will report eGFR)	at least annually, 5+ years diabetic with proteinuria measure urinary protein excretion, without proteinuria measure microalbuminuria.	if no albuminuria, annually for people over 15 with a 5 year historyof type 1 and all type 2	annually if no albuminuria, otherwise at least every six months	at least annually
leuropathy	check annually for symptoms	check annually for symptoms	check annually for symptoms	check annually for symptoms
tetinopathy Retinal eye exam	if patient has retinopathy, at least annually	based on the severity of the retinopathy, if no retinopathy then every 2 years	based on the severity of the retinopathy, if no retinopathy then every 2 years	every 1-2 years
Abbreviations ACR = Albumin to creatinine rat SCr = Serum creatinine eGFR = Estimated Glomerular	io Filtration Rate	, _ ,	, _ jouro	

In addition to conducting diagnostic procedures, physicians are encouraged to assess and discuss self-management challenges, encourage patient blood glucose monitoring, provide counsel on issues of smoking, weight control and exercise, ensure the patient is vaccinated for influenza and pneumonia, and prescribe medications as required.

The 2004 BC CPG includes the following practice points for the care of a patient with diabetes:

- Minimizing symptomatic hyperglycaemia or hypoglycaemia overrides the stated target levels for A1c.
- More frequent lipid measurement is required for patients receiving treatment for dyslipidemia.
- Most adults with diabetes are at high risk of cardiovascular disease.
- Rigorous control of blood pressure has been shown to reduce the risk of complications and mortality rates.
- Co-existing depression is common in patients with diabetes. Diagnose and treat as appropriate.

2.3.3 Recommended Clinical Procedures

As previously discussed, achieving ideal blood glucose and pressure levels is difficult in an optimal research environment and even more difficult in a usual care setting. One organization that has had some success in the United States is the Veteran's Health Administration (VHA). Patients from the VHA score significantly higher than a national sample for overall quality of care, chronic disease care and preventative care (Asch et al. 2004; Greenfield and Kaplan, 2004). The VHA has developed more achievable targets that are strongly linked to health outcomes and then rewarded physicians for process measures (e.g. testing for HbA1c, cholesterol and blood pressure levels) with less focus on whether or not these levels are achieved. They established a series of priorities for the medical care of high risk patients. Their thresholds for blood glucose (HbA1c <9.0-9.5%), blood pressure (<135-140/80-85 mmHg) and LDL cholesterol (<130-140mg/dl) were less stringent than the levels recommended in CPGs (Hayward et al., 2004).

The VHA program tends to focus on "'tightly linked' quality measures in which the clinical interventions or process is strongly and directly linked to patient outcomes, an actionable process is measured, and a high-risk population is targeted" (Hayward et al., 2004). By focussing on 'tightly linked' clinical interventions, providers receive credit for appropriate care "regardless of the severity of their patient population" (Hayward et al., 2004). Included in these 'tightly linked' clinical interventions for diabetes are the measurements of blood sugar, blood pressure and cholesterol levels.

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) has taken a systems approach in determining which indicators to use in assessing the quality of diabetes care in OECD countries (Greenfield, et al., 2004). Their ultimate recommendation of the indicators to track was determined by: 1) whether the indicator captured an important performance aspect; 2) was scientifically sound and; 3) its tracking was potentially feasible. The importance of an indicator was further broken down into three dimensions: impact on health, policy importance and susceptibility to being influenced by the health care system. The scientific soundness of the indicator was based on both face and content validity. Finally, the feasibility was based on current data availability and potential reporting burden.

The review by Greenfeld and colleagues (2004) led to a recommendation of the following nine indicators:

- Processes of diabetic care
 - Annual HbA1c testing
 - Annual LDL cholesterol testing
 - o Annual screening for nephropathy
 - o Annual eye exam
- Proximal outcomes

- HbA1c control
- LDL cholesterol control
- Distal outcomes
 - Lower extremity amputation rates
 - Kidney disease in person with diabetes
 - o Cardiovascular mortality in patients with diabetes

With respect to measuring blood pressure, Greenfeld et al. (2004) note that "measuring and reporting blood pressure control in a comparable fashion would be more challenging. The protocols for measuring and reporting of blood pressure would have to be standardized across countries and data collection would require dedicated reporting or Electronic Medical Records, whose implementation lags substantially the implementation of electronic laboratory systems."

In British Columbia, the Chronic Disease Management (CDM) program in the Ministry of Health has recommended tracking the following process measures for diabetes care (BCCDM, 2003):

- Two or more HbA1c tests during each fiscal year
- At least one eye exam during each fiscal year
- At least one microalbumin test during each fiscal year
- At least one lipid test every three years

The recommended clinical process procedures by the BCCDM program are identical to those of the OECD, with the exception of the frequency of testing. Rather than an annual HbA1c testing, the BCCDM recommends a minimum of two annual HbA1c tests. This concurs with recommendations by the American Diabetes Association (2005). The ADA recommends at least two HbA1c tests per year in patients who are meeting glycaemic treatment goals and four times per year in those who are not. On the other hand, the BCCDM recommends at least one lipid test every three years rather than an annual LDL cholesterol test.

In this study we will essentially follow the recommendations of the BCCDM in tracking adherence to recommended clinical procedures. In addition to these four procedures, a fifth variable will be assessed as a proxy for blood pressure measurement, namely, whether or not the patient visited a general practitioner (GP) at least four times in a given fiscal year. The assumption behind this proxy measure is that the patient's blood pressure should be measured at every GP visit.

A key assumption in using process measures is that actions necessary to address, for example, poor blood pressure and glucose levels will be more likely when the practitionerpatient partnership adheres to the recommended type and frequency of clinical procedures than if the recommended clinical procedures are not performed. In other words, the assumption is that clinical vigilance and patient activity are synergistic, resulting in more favourable patient outcomes. In a recent editorial, Williams (2005) noted that "we don't know much about the relationship between the process of care and patient outcomes in the real world…most real world quality improvement efforts measure the process of care because it is easier than measuring outcomes. Therefore, most quality improvement efforts assume that a better process of care will lead to better patient outcomes." Is this actually the case?

Larsen et al. (1990) assessed whether routine measurements of HbA1c resulted in improved metabolic control in people with type 1 diabetes. Patients were randomly assigned to a study group who received HbA1c tests every three months and a control group who did not receive HbA1c tests. After a year, the mean HbA1c level fell significantly in the study group (from 10.1 to 9.5 percent) but not in the control group (from 10.0 to 10.1 percent). In addition, only 30% of individuals in the study group were in the poor control group (HbA1c levels above 10.0 percent) after a year compared to 50% in the control group. Finally, the study group were also hospitalized less often than the control group. Similar changes occurred in the control group when routine measurements of HbA1c were provided for this group the following year. The

researchers conclude that "regular measurements of haemoglobin A1c lead to changes in diabetes treatment and improvement of metabolic control, indicated by a lowering of haemoglobin A1c values."

Kahn et al. (1990) found that better processes of care were related to lower 30-day mortality for older patients hospitalized with congestive heart failure, myocardial infarction, pneumonia, and cerebrovascular accident. A number of researchers (Jencks et al., 1988; Park et al., 1990; Thomas et al., 1993) have studied the correlation between medical care and patient outcomes by assessing the validity of the annual hospital mortality statistics released in the United States by the Health Care Financing Administration (1987). The researchers concluded that single year mortality rates were not a good measure of the quality of care provided by the hospital. At best, they found a weak relationship between the two. Park et al. (1990), for example, noted that 56 to 82% of the excess mortality in hospitals with unexpectedly high mortality could result from purely random variation. More recent research on medical errors indicated that a portion of this excess mortality may be due to medical errors rather than simply random variation (Institute of Medicine, 1999; Stelfax et al., 2006).

A recent study by Higashi and colleagues (2005), however, found a much stronger relationship between performance as measured by process quality indicators and survival in vulnerable older adults living in the community. The researchers assessed the quality of care received by measuring a set of indicators covering 22 conditions. After adjusting for gender, health status and health service use, a higher quality of medical care was associated with lower mortality after 500 days. A key difference in this study compared to the three studies noted above is the longer follow-up period (three years vs. one year). One of the earlier research groups (Park et al., 1990) mentioned the one-year follow-up period as a significant limitation in its

work. This seems to be borne out by the fact that the correlation found by Higashi et al. only emerged after 500 days of follow-up. In commenting on the findings of Higashi and co-authors, Williams (2005) notes that the findings "are important because they provide evidence that quality improvement efforts that focus on the process of care improve patient outcomes." While such results need to be replicated, they do provide some support for the oft-assumed idea that improving the process of care leads to improved patient outcomes.

2.4 Adherence to Recommended Clinical Procedures

2.4.1 Compliance versus Adherence

Haynes et al. (1979) have defined *compliance* as "the extent to which a person's behaviour (in terms of medications, diets, or life-style changes) coincides with medical or health advice." They, as well as others (e.g., Kurtz, 1990; Johnson, 1992; Golin et al., 1996), suggested that the term *adherence* was interchangeable with compliance.

In contrast, Luftey and Wishner (1999) maintained that there are important ideological differences between the two terms. "The term *compliance* suggests a restricted medical-centred model of behaviour, while the alternative *adherence* implies that patients have more autonomy in defining and following their medical regimens." This distinction is particularly important when considering chronic diseases, such as diabetes, that involve complex care requirements. Compliance is a term which indicates that patients are largely responsible for their daily care requirements, while surrendering most of the decision-making to caregivers. Using *adherence* reflects a shift from an "authoritative practitioner-submissive patient model" (Luftey and Wishner, 1999) to one in which the patient carries an equal role in determining treatment protocol.

Anderson and colleagues (Glasgow and Anderson, 1999; Anderson and Funnell, 2000) suggest that the semantic shift recommended by Luftey and Wisher (1999) does not go far enough. They underscore that, in diabetes care, the patient is "fully responsible for the self-management of their illness. This responsibility is non-negotiable and inescapable" (Glasgow and Anderson, 1999, p. 2091). They suggest terms, such as 'self-care' and 'self-management,' that more appropriately represent "the cluster of daily activities that patients perform to manage their diabetes."

In response to these assertions from Anderson and colleagues, Luftey and Wishner (2000, p.1035) contend: "It is important to remember that even though patients are indeed responsible for their diabetes management, practitioners are also inescapably invested in these processes in ways that will not change with changes in terminology. They are responsible for prescribing regimens that patients can safely execute, and, moreover, for overseeing this self-management in a way that maximizes glucose control while protecting themselves and patients from liability and the negative consequences of uncontrolled diabetes."

In the following section we examine adherence to recommended clinical procedures, keeping in mind the role of both patients and physicians in co-managing diabetes. For the purposes of this discussion, adherence is defined as the degree to which actual practice coincides with recommendations as identified in diabetes CPGs.

2.4.2 Assessing Adherence to Recommended Clinical Procedures

People with diabetes who have a regular health care provider visit their provider more often and are more likely to receive recommended clinical procedures than those without a regular provider (O'Conner et al., 1998). A minimum of four annual visits to a primary care physician are required to receive the recommended clinical procedures noted earlier.

Harris (1990) estimated that people with diabetes in the United States visited their primary care physician an average of 2.7 times per year in 1985 for the ongoing care of their diabetes. In a further study based on a survey sample in 1989 in the United States, Harris (1996) found that approximately 10% of individuals with diabetes did not have a regular physician, 32% made fewer than four visits to their physician per year, 33% made four to six visits per year, and 26% made more than six visits per year. Also in the United States, Peters et al. (1996) found that patients with diabetes averaged 4.5 visits to their primary care physician in 1993, but 21% had one or fewer visits. Further, Hiss (1996) found that patients who are taking insulin tended to visit their primary care physician more often (i.e., 4.6 visits) compared to those who are not taking insulin (i.e., 3.2 visits).

In Canada, Watson et al. (2003) established that residents of Winnipeg, Manitoba who had diabetes tended to see a family practitioner an average of just over seven times in a year. This rate did not change appreciably between 1992 and 2001. In Ontario, researchers found that the average number of visits to a family physician was somewhat higher, at just under ten per year (Chan and Harju, 2003). In the Vancouver area of British Columbia, younger adults with diabetes visited their general practitioner an average of 5.6 times per year in 2000/01. Adults over 65 visited their general practitioner 8.7 times per year (Broemeling et al., 2004).

The literature indicated that a substantial proportion of people with diagnosed diabetes were not receiving the recommended clinical procedures. Rubin and co-workers (1998) noted that only 34% of people with diabetes in their study population had at least one HbA1c test per year, only 23% had an annual eye exam, and only 39% received a yearly cholesterol screening. McGlynn et al. (2003) found that only 24% of adults with diabetes had received three or more glycosylated haemoglobin tests over a two-year period, and a bare 14% had an annual eye exam.

They noted that 58% had their total serum cholesterol and HDL cholesterol tests documented. Overall, the study by McGlynn and colleagues revealed that people with diabetes received just 45% of the processes recommended for basic care of their chronic condition. The United States Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality published a report (i.e., *National Healthcare Quality Report*, 2003) which noted that 55% of adults with diabetes reported receiving an influenza vaccination in the previous year, 66% reported having a foot exam, 67% reported having a retinal eye exam, 90% reported having an HbA1c measurement at least once in the past year, and 94% reported receiving a lipid profile in the past two years. Only 21% of patients, however, reported having all five major tests done in the past two years.

In Winnipeg, Manitoba, Katz et al. (2004) found that 54% of patients with diabetes had a cholesterol screening test and 37% had an eye exam during a one year period. In Ontario, Harris et al. (2003) found that 84% of their random sample of patients with diabetes had at least one HbA1c test ordered in the previous year, 28% were tested for microalbuminuria, 15% were examined for diabetes-related foot problems, 88% had their blood pressure measured, and 48% had their lipid profiles documented in their chart.

The British Columbia Chronic Disease Management (BCCDM, 2003) department of the BC Ministry of Health Services accessed administrative data to determine whether patients throughout the province were receiving the series of services recommended in current clinical practice guidelines. In the fiscal year 2002/03, only 39% of people with diagnosed diabetes in the province had two or more HbA1c tests. A higher number (i.e., 43%) had an eye exam, but only 34% had a microalbumin test. The most encouraging finding was that 78% had at least one lipid test in the three years from 2000/01 to 2002/03 (BCCDM, 2003).

Comparing the results of these different studies is problematic in that the definitions of the study populations differed. Furthermore, the results were derived variously from self-report, chart abstracts or administrative data. Some studies used a one year window while others used a two year window. Finally, the diagnostic tests were not identical across settings. Nevertheless, it was apparent that a large portion of patients with diagnosed diabetes were not receiving the recommended clinical procedures.

Some studies have uncovered patient characteristics that are associated with variability in adherence. For instance, place of residence appeared to make a difference. Jencks and coauthors (2000), for example, found that adherence varied significantly by US state for annual HbA1c testing, biennial eye exams and biennial lipid profiles. The median rate for HbA1c testing was 71% with a range from 52 to 85%. Similarly, it was 69% for eye exams (with a range from 56 to 80%) and 57% lipid profiles (with a range from 39 to 73%).

In a follow-up study, Arday et al. (2002) adjusted for patient characteristics such as age, gender, race and socio-economic status. These adjustments reduced the variance between US states in HbA1c tests, eye examinations and lipid profiles by 30, 23 and 27%. The authors noted that "while the variation explained by person-level characteristics (one-fourth to one-third of the variance among states) is considerable, a majority of the variation among states remains unexplained." This study also highlighted the potential relationship between patient characteristics and varying levels of adherence. Lower rates of adherence for the three diagnostic tests was observed in patients under the age of 65, blacks, those living in a community with a lower socio-economic status and those with five or fewer outpatient physician visits during the two year study period.

Woodward et al. (2006) assessed the frequency and outcomes of HbA1c tests over a period of one year among eastern Ontario patients with diabetes. Only 58% of the study population had at least one HbA1c test during the study year. They found that older individuals were more likely to be tested than younger individuals. In addition, males were more likely to be tested than females and those individuals who visited a physician (i.e., GP or specialist) more often were also more likely to be tested.

The literature revealed that while overall results suggest suboptimal adherence, there has been some improvement in adherence over time, at least in certain jurisdictions. Using a retrospective chart review, Stolar et al. (1995) gauged the impact of the ADA's 1988 clinical practice guidelines for patients with type 2 diabetes. They assessed adherence to recommended clinical procedures for the three years before and after the 1988 guidelines were published. They found significant improvements in a number of areas. Selected results are summarized on table 2-4.

Table 2-4: Percent of Patients Receiving Recommended Clinical Procedures						
	Initial Visit	Midpoint Visit	Final Visit			
Eye exam	46.3%	57.3%*	67.8%*			
HbA1c	59.1%	73.9%*	82.2%*			
Cholesterol	60.5%	67.0%*	76.7%*			
High-density lipoproteins	17.0%	30.3%*	50.6%*			
Low-density lipoproteins	15.2%	27.7%*	48.9%*			
Triglycerides	43.9%	50.2%*	67.0%*			
Urinalysis	67.7%	64.0%	67.1%			
24-hr creatinine clearance	7.0%	9.4%	14.9%*			
Based on Stolar et al. (1995) * significant change from previous visit						

Jencks et al. (2003) assessed changes in the proportion of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes who received at least one HbA1c test per year, at least one eye exam every two years

and at least one lipid profile every two years. Between 1998/99 and 2000/01, these proportions increased from 70% to 78%, 69% to 70% and 58% to 74% respectively.

In England, Campbell and colleagues (2005) used medical records data to assess changes in the receipt of recommended care between 1998 and 2003. They found a significant improvement in the quality of care provided to individuals with type 2 diabetes during that time. More specifically, the proportion of individuals who had at least one HbA1c tests during the previous 15 months increased from 87.6% to 92.7%. Similar increases were observed for the measurement of serum creatinine levels (from 79.8% to 89.5%) and serum cholesterol levels (from 74.9% to 97.6%). Increases for eye exams (from 70.8% to 71.8%) and blood pressure (from 92.8% to 94.6%) were more modest. Beerstecher (2005) has cautioned, however, that these results might not reflect an increase in the quality of the care provided but simply an improvement in data recording.

The move toward better care has been evident in British Columbia. In this province, the proportion of people with diagnosed diabetes who received two or more HbA1c tests per year increased from 31% in 1999/00 to 39% in 2002/03. Similarly, the proportion with at least one microalbumin test per year increased from 22% to 34%. The proportion with at least one lipid tests in three years increased from 61% to 78%. Unfortunately, the proportion of people with at least one eye exam per year decreased from 47% to 43% (BCCDM, 2004).

The problem of sub-optimal adherence to recommended clinical procedures is not isolated to patients with diabetes. A study by McGlynn et al. (2003) found that patients with a wide variety of chronic conditions received just 56% of care as recommended in CPGs. Nor is it isolated to specific countries. A study by Schoen et al. (2005) compared the receipt of recommended services for adult patients with diabetes in six countries (Australia, Canada, New

Zealand, United Kingdom, United States and Germany). They discovered that the countries all fell into a range from 38 to 58%, for evidence that patients had received all of the following services: an HbA1c test in the last six months; a foot or eye exam in the past year; and, a cholesterol check in the past year.

2.4.3 Why is Adherence Generally Sub-Optimal?

2.4.3.1 Physician Factors

Early research on the reasons for poor adherence to clinical practice guidelines tended to focus on the physician. Cabana et al. (1999) identified three broad potential physician-based barriers to CPG adherence:

- Physician knowledge (lack of awareness or lack of familiarity with CPG).
- Physician attitudes (lack of agreement, lack of self-efficacy, lack of outcome expectancy, or the basic inertia of previous practice).
- Physician behaviour (including external barriers).

Weinberger et al. (1984) assessed whether physicians who were more successful at controlling their diabetic patient's blood glucose levels could be distinguished from less successful physicians: was their success in managing diabetic patients tied to their knowledge? Was it tied to their attitudes? The researchers found that differing levels of knowledge alone did not distinguish between the two groups. It was intentions and beliefs that distinguished the two groups.

Other research points to knowledge as a factor. While CPGs are usually widely disseminated, Wolff et al. (1998) found that only 27% of family physicians in the US knew where to find a CPG. Furthermore, approximately one-third of physicians were unfamiliar with the content of specific guidelines (Ward et al., 2002; Wolfe et al., 2004). Targeting individual

physicians for education (i.e., *academic detailing*) has been shown to be successful (Goldberg et al., 1998), but is very labour-intensive and expensive (Greco and Eisenberg, 1993).

Many researchers have focused on physician attitudes toward CPGs and the relationship between those attitudes and behaviour (Anderson et al., 1991; Halm et al., 1999). The majority of physicians tend to agree that CPGs are good educational tools and convenient sources of advice, and that they are developed to improve the quality of health care (Lomas et al., 1989; Tunis et al., 1994; Weingarten et al., 1995; Siriwardena, 1995; Gupta et al., 1997; Hayward et al., 1997; James et al., 1997; Wolff et al., 1998; Farquhar et al., 2002). This generally positive attitude toward CPGs, however, was not found in all studies. Interestingly, approximately one quarter of physicians view CPGs negatively, describing them as oversimplified or "*cookbook*" medicine, too rigid to apply to individual patients and a challenge to physician autonomy (Tunis et al., 1994; Weingarten et al., 1995; Siriwardena, 1995; Hayward et al., 1997; James et al., 1997; Wolff et al., 1998; Costantini et al., 1999; Chasuk et al., 2001; Farquhar et al., 2002; Boyd et al., 2005).

When researchers examined the implementation of CPGs, they discovered that few physicians reported making changes to their clinical practice based on published guidelines (Tunis et al., 1994; Hayward et al., 1997; James et al., 1997; Wolff et al., 1998). Indeed, CPGs ranked well below other sources of information, including continuing medical education, discussions with colleagues, and review articles, in influencing physician practice patterns (Tunis et al., 1994; Gupta et al., 1997; Hayward et al., 1997). Weingarten et al. (1995) found no significant association between physicians' attitudes toward CPGs and the implementation of guidelines.

The Canadian study by Hayward et al. (1997) noted that overall, "it seems that the challenge is not so much to overcome negative attitudes about guidelines but more to develop strategies that will influence physicians to read, remember and use them." Two key conclusions from their study were: 1) for physicians to adopt guidelines, they may require an authoritative endorsement; and 2) CPGs should be presented to doctors in a format that promotes their use, such as short pamphlets, official manuals summarizing a number of guidelines, journal articles summarizing new guidelines, and pocket cards.

The concern about endorsement was reflected in the results of other studies, where key factors influencing the uptake of CPGs by physicians included whether the guidelines had been endorsed by appropriate professional organizations and / or physician opinion leaders, as well as whether the guidelines were based on evidence such as systematic reviews (Lomas et al., 1991; Gupta et al., 1997; James et al., 1997; Hayward et al., 1997).

Finally, another potential reason for poor adherence to CPGs for diabetes is that officebased management of diabetes has simply increased in complexity during the 1990s (Grant et al., 2004).

2.4.3.2 Patient Factors

While the initial research into reasons behind poor adherence to CPGs focused on the physician more recent research has focussed on the role of the patient and the physician-patient relationship. The literature on adherence to diabetes treatments suggests that patients follow regimens more readily given the following conditions: 1) if the treatments involve medications rather than lifestyle changes (Anderson et al., 1993; Glasgow et al., 1987); 2) if the perceived severity of the disease is high (Kurtz, 1990) and there is a recognized direct connection between symptoms and disease (Peyrot et al., 1987); 3) if medications alleviate uncomfortable symptoms

and minimize the risk of hypoglycaemia (Kurtz, 1990; Peyrot et al., 1987); 4) if they believe the recommended treatment will enable them to delay or avoid complications (Peyrot et al., 1987; Bobrow et al., 1987); and, 5) if the regimen is simple rather than complex (Ary et al., 1986).

Anderson et al. (1993) divided diabetic patients into low and high adherence groups. The largest differences were in the more difficult adherence areas (i.e., in following recommendations for diet and exercise). Larme and Pugh (1998) studied the attitudes of primary care providers towards diabetes using qualitative research methods. Among their results is the conclusion that diabetes is harder for providers to treat than other chronic conditions because its successful management relies to a great extent on lifestyle change which is largely outside of provider control; further, treatment is complex and requires close coordination between patients and physicians.

In a US study, James et al. (1998) found that patient-specific factors were associated with a physician's decision to adhere to guideline recommendations. For instance, physicians were more lax with patients that had difficulties in affording health care, a reduced quality of life because of a co-morbidity, or a desire to stay in their community with family even when that meant limited access to specialty services. The authors assessed whether a "physician's attention to providing quality interpersonal care may conflict with providing quality technical care". Their conclusion expands on this phenomenon: "This study suggests that medical decisions in primary care are affected by patient preferences distinct from biomedical aspects of disease. This insight, although not new to family physicians, is extremely important for those who would measure health care quality through measures of physician adherence to disease-specific guidelines".

Wagner (2001) notes that many chronically ill people have socioeconomic factors, disabilities, and co-morbid conditions that make it harder for practitioners and practice systems

to help them. In particular, the co-occurrence of mental disorders and other chronic diseases negatively impacts on the interaction between the care provider and the patient (Simon, 2001; Osborn, 2001; Piette et al., 2004; Selby et al., 2004; Frayne et al., 2005).

A number of studies have assessed the relationship between the patient's race or ethnicity and physician or patient adherence to prevention guidelines (e.g. Martin et al., 1995; Harris, 2001; Heisler et al., 2003; Mainous et al., 2004). In a recent review of this literature, Lanting et al. (2005) found that diabetic patients from minority groups had higher mortality rates and were at a higher risk of the complications associated with diabetes. After adjusting for risk factors such as smoking, socioeconomic status, income, years of education, and body mass index, however, ethnic differences tended to disappear. Ethnic differences in process of care (e.g. the receipt of recommended services such as HbA1c tests, blood pressure testing, etc.) were observed only in blacks (compared to whites) in the United States. While blacks in the United States had an increased risk of mortality and diabetes complications compared to whites, the opposite association was found in the United Kingdom. This suggests that differences observed in the United States were probably not due to genetics but most likely due to differences in the health care systems in the two countries (i.e., universal access in the UK).

Indeed, differences in the organization of health care services have been posited as a major factor in the level of adherence to CPGs. It is to these organizational factors that we now turn our attention.

2.4.3.3 Organizational Factors

Recent research has begun to examine organizational factors beyond the individual provider or patient in assessing the adherence to CPGs (The TRIAD Study Group, 2002). For

instance, Curry (2000) has noted that benefit and reimbursement policies have an impact as do investments in clinical information systems.

A systematic review of studies comparing community-based and hospital-based care for people with diabetes found that the community setting was as good as or better than the hospital, provided that the community-based system included a computerized central recall to prompt both providers and their patients. Otherwise, unstructured care in the community was associated with poorer follow-up, greater mortality and worse glycaemia control than hospital-based care (Griffen and Kinmouth, 2004).

A number of studies (Harrold et al., 1999; Donohoe, 1998) have suggested that specialists are more knowledgeable about the management of conditions associated with their specialty, and that they are more likely to adhere to CPGs. Rothman and Wagner (2003), however, underscore that it is the design of the health care system, rather than the specialty of the physician, that is the primary determinant of chronic care quality. This is an issue that we will return to in the next section.

A number of other studies (Renders et al., 2001; Renders et al., 2004; Shiffman et al., 2004) also identify systematic arrangements for patient follow-up as important in improving process outcomes in diabetic care. Literature reviews by Renders et al. (2001, 2004) also revealed that the effective use of nurses in the care process and enhanced patient education were important success factors.

Others (Michie and Johnston, 2004) noted the importance of clear, concise behavioural recommendations, and suggested that rewriting guidelines to increase behavioural specificity may be the simplest, most effective method of increasing their implementation.
In summary, the literature identified a variety of physician, patient and organizational challenges which interfered with adherence to recommended clinical procedures. The most important recommendations for improvement were organizational, including appropriate financial incentives, a computerized central recall system, the involvement of nurses in the care process, and enhanced patient education.

2.4.4 Factors that Promote Adherence

In addition to the challenges that need to be addressed, research has also revealed positive factors that promote adherence. National guidelines for family practice have been developed and disseminated in a rigorous, structured manner since 1987 in the Netherlands (Grol et al., 1995). The result among family practitioners has been an average adherence rate of 67% (Grol, 2001). Key factors predicting adherence include recommendations that define the desired performance very concretely, that are compatible with existing values, and that do not have major consequences for the organization of health care. Lessons learned from what is described, in the opinion of the authors, as the "most comprehensive programs for evidence-based guideline development and implementation in the world" (Grol, 2001, p. II-52) include:

- Rigorous development of clinical guidelines at a national level is both feasible and well-accepted by the target group when it is 'owned and operated' by the profession itself.
- A comprehensive strategy to disseminate the guidelines via various channels, both written and personal, appears to be very important.
- A program to implement a guideline should be well-designed, well-prepared, and preferably pilot-tested before use.

A systematic review by Grimshaw et al. (2001) of interventions designed to change provider behaviour noted that multifaceted interventions targeting different barriers to care were likely to be more effective than single interventions. The most successful programs addressed: 1) clinician behaviour; 2) changes to the organization of practice; 3) information system enhancement; 4) and educational or supportive programs aimed at patients (Renders et al., 2001; Rothman and Wagner, 2003). Renders et al. (2004) noted that key aspects of successful CPG implementation in the care of diabetic patients included: 1) organizational interventions that improved regular prompted recall and review of patients; 2) a stress on patient-oriented interventions; and, 3) the utilization of nurses in patient education and the facilitation of adherence to treatment.

Wagner and colleagues in Seattle have developed a chronic care model which includes: 1) key linkages with community resources; 2) active leadership support; 3) more consistent and collaborative self-management support; 4) system redesign to include non-physician personnel in practice teams; 5) clinical information system enhancements to include reminders and feedback on the care provided; and, 6) attention to co-morbid conditions (Wagner et al., 1996; Wagner et al., 2001; Bodenheimer et al., 2002a, 2002b, 2002c; Heisler and Wagner, 2004).

An important aspect of the chronic care model is the concept of patient self-management. "Patients with chronic conditions make day-to-day decisions about – self-manage – their illnesses. This reality introduces a new chronic disease paradigm: the patient-professional partnership, involving collaborative care and self-management education" (Bodenheimer et al., 2002c). Bodenheimer et al. (2002c) provide the following comparison of traditional and collaborative care in chronic illness.

Table 2-5 Comparison of Traditional and Collaborative Care in Chronic Illness		
Issue	Traditional Care	Collaborative Care
What is the relationship between patient and health professional?	Professionals are the experts who tell patients what to do. Patients are passive.	Shared expertise with active patients. Professionals are experts about the disease and patients are experts about their lives.
Who is the principal caregiver and problem solver? Who is responsible for outcomes?	The professional.	The patient and professional are the principal caregivers; they share responsibility for solving problems and for outcomes.
What is the goal?	Compliance with instructions. Non- compliance is a personal deficit of the patient.	The patient sets goals and the professional helps the patient make informed choices. Lack of goal achievement is a problem to be solved by modifying strategies.
How is behaviour changed?	External motivation.	Internal motivation. Patients gain understanding and confidence to accomplish new behaviours.
How are problems identified?	By the professional, e.g. changing unhealthy behaviours.	By the patient, e.g., pain or inability to function; and by the professional.
How are problems solved?	Professional solve problems for patients.	Professionals teach problem-solving skills and help patients in solving problems.

Early results, in terms of both adherence and outcomes, from the implementation of this chronic care model in a variety of settings are very positive (Bodenheimer et al., 2002), though more formal evaluations need to carried out, including assessment of longer term patient outcomes (Narayan et al., 2004).

A review of 177 Veteran's Affairs clinics in the United States found that programs "associated with better diabetes control simultaneously have teams that actively involve physicians in quality improvement, use electronic health information systems, have authority to respond to staffing and programmatic issues, and engage patients in care." (Jackson et al., 2005, p. 225) Financial incentives for improvements in the quality of care have been applied in the United Kingdom (McElduff et al., 2004; Roland, 2004), Australia (Practice Incentives Program, 2001) and British Columbia (Full Service Family Practice Incentive Program, 2003). The most extensive application of this model is found in the UK, where an estimated 30-50% of a general practitioner's income may be dependent on meeting specific quality targets. This approach is still in its infancy and has not yet been fully evaluated. Early research (Dudley, 2005; Rosenthal, et al., 2005), however, has suggested that "paying clinicians to reach a common, fixed performance target may produce little gain in quality for the money spent and will largely reward those with higher performance at baseline" (p. 1788).

In conclusion, while adherence to recommended clinical procedures for diabetes is generally poor, a number of organizational factors which can improve adherence have been identified in the literature. These include:

- active leadership support
- guidelines that are owned and operated by the profession
- enhanced patient education and self-management support
- the inclusion of non-physician personnel in practice teams
- information systems designed to provide timely reminders and feedback
- attention to co-morbid conditions
- comprehensive dissemination strategy

2.5 Improving Adherence to Recommended Clinical Procedures

In this section we survey a number of specific programs that have been successful in improving adherence.

Rubin and co-authors (1998) reviewed the Diabetic Care of America's (DCA) Diabetes NetCareSM program. Within a year of this program's implementation, 76% of patients received at least one HbA1c test per year (compared with 34% prior to the program). Furthermore the percentage of patients receiving an annual eye exam rose from 23% to 40%, those receiving an annual foot exam rose from 2% to 25%, and those receiving an annual cholesterol screening rose from 39% to 63%. The average HbA1c level dropped from 8.9% to 8.5%.

Sperl-Hillen et al. (2000) assessed patients 12 months after the implementation of a comprehensive diabetes management program in which the specific goals were to improve glycemic control and reduce cardiovascular risk in all adult diabetes patients. They found a significant improvement in mean HbA1c levels, including an increased proportion of patients with an HbA1c level below 8%, as well as a significant increase in the fraction of patients with acceptable lipid control.

Berg and Wadhwa (2002) assessed patients six months after enrolment to the McKesson Health Solutions Diabetes CareEnhance program. The number of patients having an HbA1c test increased from 56.1% at program intake to 81.3% at 6 months. There was a decrease in symptoms of hyperglycaemia (i.e., during the past two weeks) from 28% at intake to 13.1% at six months. They also found a significant reduction in hospitalizations from a pre-enrolment annualized utilization rate of 1,110 per 1,000 population to 847 per 1,000 population.

Bodenheimer et al. (2002a) cite a number of unpublished results from groups that have implemented a variation of the chronic care model developed by Wagner and colleagues. In a

program in Ohio, the proportion of patients with HbA1c levels below 7% had increased from 42% to 70% after the implementation of the chronic care model. In Minneapolis, the proportion of diabetic patients with an HbA1c level of less than 8% increased from 60.5% to 68.3%. In Colorado, the average HbA1c level dropped from 10.5% to 8.6% between October of 1998 and March of 2000. The number of patients receiving at least two HbA1c tests within a year increased from 11% to 71% during that time period.

A recent study (Dorr et al., 2005) evaluated the impact of implementing the chronic care model at Intermountain Health Care in Salt Lake City. Key elements of the model included care managers who were placed in clinics with the role of facilitating team collaboration and patient education as well as leveraging existing information technology to allow the primary care teams to adopt numerous different care guidelines at once. Using this approach, they found that the odds of being overdue for HbA1c testing decreased by 21%. For those people who were overdue the odds of being tested increased by 49%. Similarly, the odds of having an HbA1c level < 7.0 percent increased by 19%.

Beginning in 1995, the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) in the US embarked on a nation-wide effort to reengineer its services with a view towards improving both efficiency and effectiveness of delivery. Kerr et al. (2004) compared the outpatient care received by patients with diabetes in the VA system to that found in commercial managed-care systems. The results showed that patients in the VA system were more likely to receive HbA1c testing, counselling about aspirin use, and eye and foot examinations. They also had better lipid control.

Sperl-Hillen and O'Conner (2005) reported on 10 year trends in glycemic and lipid control in adults with type 2 diabetes enrolled in the HealthPartners Medical Group (HPMG) in Minnesota. The HPMG identified diabetes as a priority area in 1995 and implemented a

multifaceted improvement program. Between 1994 and 2003, median A1c levels in the patient population decreased from 8.3 to 6.9. During the same time period, mean LDL (mg/dL) decreased from 132 to 97. Among Sperl-Hillen and O'Conner's conclusions were the following:

- Primary care clinics can successfully improve diabetes care in the absence of carve-out disease management. Primary care physician continuity of care is significantly related to better diabetes care.
- The final common pathway to A1c and LDL improvement is intensification of pharmacotherapy.
- Certain groups of patients have had less improvement in A1c and LDL than other groups. Those with the most difficulty included younger adults and those with a current or former diagnosis of depression
- Financial accountability and performance incentives for diabetes performance may facilitate improvement.

In a systematic review of diabetes disease management programs, Knight et al. (2005) note that disease management programs on average have a modest but clinically and statistically significant effect on glycaemic control (0.5 percentage point reduction). This compares to a two percentage point reduction in patients with type 1 diabetes in the DCCT and a 0.9 percentage point reduction in patients with type 2 diabetes in the UKPDS. As noted earlier, both of these studies involved very intensive interventions that would be hard to maintain in *real world* situations.

These examples indicate that a concerted effort to improve adherence can indeed improve the care that diabetic patients receive, often within a very short time period after program implementation.

2.6 Potential for Savings Associated with Improved Adherence

As noted earlier, there is a substantial amount of evidence indicating that the appropriate control of blood glucose and blood pressure results in the avoidance or minimization of the serious complications associated with diabetes. To a lesser extent, there is also evidence that an improvement of process measures (i.e., getting the recommended tests) is associated with improved outcomes. As the examples in the previous section demonstrated, implementation of a comprehensive management program can result in significant and sometimes rapid improvement in adherence to recommended clinical procedures. What is less clear is whether these improvements resulted in lower health care costs either immediately or over the long term.

Initial work assessing the outcomes and costs associated with the implementation of comprehensive planned management programs for people with diabetes tended to be based on extrapolation from cost-effectiveness models. With the publication of longitudinal results from the DCCT and the UKPDS, actual results concerning long-term complication rates became available for use in cost-effectiveness studies. The early models assumed, and the results of the DCCT and UKPDS confirmed, that cost savings *would* result from a reduction in downstream complications, but that these savings would take from 5 to 10 years to become apparent. Funding agencies, however, are not always willing to wait for long-term results. To address the short-term economic imperative, a number of more recent studies have begun to assess the short-term financial impact of improving blood pressure and glycaemic control (Killilea, 2002; White, 2002; Clouse et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2004).

Siegel et al. (1992) modelled the impact of screening for microalbuminuria or proteinuria followed by early treatment with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. They suggested that

screening for microalbuminuria would cost from \$7,000 to \$16,500 per year of life saved, while screening to detect proteinuria would actually be cost saving.

Javitt et al. (1991) demonstrated that the timely detection and treatment of retinopathy in patients with type 1 diabetes should result in considerable savings to the US federal government while at the same time increasing person-years of sight. Further work by Javitt et al. (1994) showed similar results for patients with type 2 diabetes. Based on computer modelling, they estimated that screening and treatment for eye disease in patients with type 2 diabetes would generate annual savings of \$247.9 million to the federal budget. In addition, 53,986 person-years of sight would be saved annually. This estimate was based on a participation rate of 60%. With a 100% participation rate, these estimates increased to an annual savings of \$472.1 million and 94,304 person-years of sight.

In a follow-up study, Javitt and Aiello (1996) approached the timely detection and treatment of retinopathy from a societal perspective and estimated that the cost per quality adjusted life year (QALY) saved was \$3,190. This was broken down into \$1,996 for those with type 1 diabetes, \$2,933 for those with type 2 diabetes who used insulin for glycaemic control, and \$3,530 for those with type 2 diabetes who did not use insulin.

Gilmer et al. (1997) modelled the relationship between baseline HbA1c levels in type 2 diabetic patients and health care costs over the following three years. For every 1% increase in HbA1c, their model found a statistically significant increase in health care costs over three years, ranging from \$400 to \$4,000 per patient. It is likely therefore that decreases in HbA1c levels would result in cost savings.

Eastman et al. (1997) developed a model comparing standard treatment (i.e., \$890 per patient per year) with comprehensive treatment (i.e., \$2,873 per person per year). Their model

predicted that comprehensive treatment maintaining HbA1c levels at 7.2% would reduce the cumulative incidence of blindness, end-stage renal disease and lower-extremity amputation by 72%, 87% and 67%, respectively, at a cost of \$16,000 per quality adjusted life year saved.

With the completion of the DCCT in the United States, actual long-term results were available for the first time to assess the cost-effectiveness of intensive versus conventional control of blood glucose levels in patients with type 1 diabetes. The study by the Diabetes Control & Complications Group (1996) estimated that implementing intensive rather than conventional therapy for every person with type 1 diabetes in the United States in 1994 would cost \$4.0 billion over the lifetime of that population, or \$28,661 per year of life saved. In addition, intensive therapy would produce the following results per patient compared to conventional approaches:

- 7.7 years of additional sight,
- 5.8 additional years free from ESRD,
- 5.6 additional years free from lower extremity amputation,
- 15.3 additional years free from any significant microvascular or neurologic complications.

A major criticism of the DCCT study is that participants were highly motivated and thus the results may not be transferable to general practice settings (Rubin et al., 1998). Furthermore, the additional medical resources used in the intensively treated population of \$4,000 to \$5,800 per participant (DCCT, 1995) would make the protocol prohibitively expensive to replicate in general practice settings.

In the UKPDS (1998b), the cost of treatment for patients in the *tight* control of blood pressure group increased by 21%, primarily due to a doubling of the cost of antihypertensive

drugs compared to the *less tight* control of blood pressure group. This increase, however, was more than offset by the 17% reduction in the cost of complications. The overall undiscounted cost of treatment and complications was 2.3% less for the *tight* control of blood pressure group. The authors conclude that "tight control of blood pressure in hypertensive patients with type 2 diabetes substantially reduced the cost of complications, increased the interval without complications and survival, and had a cost effectiveness ratio that compares favourably with many accepted healthcare programmes."

Similar conclusions were drawn by Gray et al. (2000) for intensive blood glucose control in patients with type 2 diabetes. Intensive glucose control increased costs by £695 per patient but reduced the cost of complications by £957 compared with conventional management. Most of the savings were due to a reduction in hospital-based costs in the intensive blood glucose control group.

Rubin et al. (1998) studied the short term experience with of a group of 7,000 people with diabetes enrolled in the Diabetic Care of America's (DCTA) Diabetes NetCareSM program. They found that the initiation of a comprehensive diabetes management program resulted in overall savings to the health care system of 12.3% within the first year. These savings were primarily related to a reduction in both acute care admissions (by 18%) and in the length of stay once admitted. This study also noted a 1.8% decrease in overall pharmacy costs (i.e., after adjusting for general drug price increases), but an increase in physician costs of 2.1%, associated with the implementation of a comprehensive diabetes management program. The actual costs of implementing the program remained proprietary, but the authors did state that there would be a breakeven point at 1,265 diabetic patients.

Testa and Simonson (1998) studied the very short-term effect (i.e., within 15 weeks) of active hypoglycaemic therapy versus placebo in a randomized controlled trial. They examined symptoms, quality of life, work productivity and health care use. Patients receiving active hypoglycaemic therapy reported better health and work productivity and less use of ambulatory care.

Wagner et al. (2001) compared the health care costs of two diabetic cohorts over a five year period (1992 – 1997). They examined a group in whom glycaemic control improved and a group in whom glycaemic control did not improve. Differences in the number of primary care visits reached statistical significance within two years. Differences in total costs reached statistical significance within three years. Mean total health care costs were between \$685 and \$950 less per year for patients in whom glycaemic control improved. Thus this study provided a robust example of short-term cost savings.

Menzin et al. (2001) also investigated the short-term economic benefits of improved glycaemic control. Using a retrospective chart review design, they assigned patients with diabetes to three groups based on HbA1c levels: good control (<8%), fair control (8% - 10%) and poor control (>10%). They assessed differences in inpatient admissions for short-term complications, including hyperglycaemia, hypoglycaemia, selected infections, and electrolyte imbalance. Over a three year period, the adjusted rate of inpatient treatment ranged from 13 admissions per 100 patients for the good control group, to 16 per 100 for the fair control group, to 31 per 100 for the poor control group. Average costs per diabetic patient in the three groups were \$970, \$1,380 and \$3,040, respectively. Among patients with chronic diabetic complications, the difference in results between the good and poor glycaemic control scenarios were even more marked.

Berg and Wadhwa (2002) assessed patients six months after enrolment to the McKesson Health Solutions Diabetes CareEnhance program. The number of patients having an HbA1c test increased by 44.9%. Six months after enrolment, patients showed a 53.2% decrease in symptoms of hyperglycaemia. The researchers also found a significant reduction in inpatient admissions, resulting in a calculated return on investment of more than four to one (i.e., 4.34:1).

Villagra and Ahmed (2004) studied the short-term outcomes associated with the implementation of diabetes disease management programs (DDMPs) in ten US States, involving over 43,000 individuals with diabetes. Within a year after the implementation of the DDMPs, significant improvements were observed in the provision of dilated retinal exams, microalbumin testing, lipid testing and tobacco use. A positive trend was observed for HbA1c testing and prescriptions for angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers. Overall costs decreased by 8.1%, driven largely by a 22-30% reduction in hospitalization costs. However, pharmacy costs were higher with the DDMPs in place.

Not all studies of disease management programs have found cost savings. Fireman et al. (2004) reviewed the Kaiser Permanente experience in Northern California with disease management programs in diabetes, asthma, heart failure and coronary artery disease between 1996 and 2002. They found evidence of substantial improvements in the quality of care associated with the implementation of disease management programs, but not cost savings. Crosson and Madvig (2004) explained that this study used a very restrictive definition of cost savings and that it was carried out in a mature delivery system known for its efficiency. They refuted the criticism of Fireman and colleagues, asserting that much of the "low-hanging fruit, in terms of cost management" may have been harvested prior to the implementation of their disease management programs.

In summary, the majority of studies assessing the planned management of care for people with diabetes show, in the immediate and longer term, an improved adherence to recommended clinical procedures, the avoidance or minimization of the serious complications associated with diabetes and a reduction in costs.

2.7 Summary

Diabetes is a common and serious chronic condition. If it is not well-managed, significant multi-system complications often arise resulting in an increase in health care utilization. There is considerable evidence which indicates that people with diagnosed diabetes are not receiving the recommended care. A comprehensive program aimed at improving adherence to recommended care can improve the treatment that these patients receive, often within a very short time period. Furthermore, the implementation of a diabetes disease management program results in better patient outcomes which translated into reductions in health care utilization and concomitant cost-savings.

The primary objective of this study was to determine whether adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who have a higher adherence to recommended clinical procedures utilized a higher volume of physician services and a reduced volume of acute care services over a given five year period. A further objective was to assess whether adherence for this study population changed over time. For this analysis, routinely collected administrative data for the five year period from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001 was accessed. The population selected for analysis consisted of patients with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundary of the Fraser Health Authority, a large region in south western British Columbia with a population of 1.4 million.

More specifically, the questions addressed will be:

- Has the level of adherence to recommended clinical procedures by adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority in British Columbia changed during the five years from April 1, 1996, to March 31, 2001?
- 2. Which patient characteristics (e.g. age, gender, socio-economic status, general level of morbidity, disease-specific severity level and geographic area of residence) are associated with improved long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures?
- 3. What is the relationship between improved long-term adherence and the average annual utilization of physician, acute care and total costs?

A number of studies have assessed various aspects of the relationship between adherence and patient characteristics. These studies tend to assess adherence based on a single snapshot of the receipt of recommended services over a one or two year period. In the current study we will develop an adherence measure based on a clinical protocol that spans a five year time period. To our knowledge, this is the first study to assess the relationship between patient characteristics and long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures.

The individual patient's adherence level will be included as an additional patient characteristic. We will then assess the relationship between patient characteristics and the utilization of physician, acute care and total health care costs, paying special attention to the role of the patient's adherence level in this relationship. A number of studies have assessed the impact of the overall improvement of adherence on health care costs. To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the relationship between long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures, patient characteristics and of health care costs in patients with diagnosed type 2 diabetes.

CHAPTER III: METHODS

3.1 Conceptual Framework

In patients with diagnosed type 2 diabetes, appropriate control of blood glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol levels results in a reduced risk of both acute and chronic complications. The process of controlling blood glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol levels requires a number of key steps:

- 1. Knowledge of ideal target levels
- 2. Monitoring of actual results
- Implementation and maintenance of lifestyle changes and, if appropriate, use of medications
- Ongoing monitoring and changes to arrive as close as possible to the ideal target levels over time.

This process requires an increased utilization of physician resources, diagnostic tests, behaviour change counselling and medications compared to a situation in which monitoring and subsequent changes do not take place. On the other hand, improved control of blood glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol levels leads to a long-term reduction in both acute and chronic complications and the acute care services required to address these complications. Ultimately, the process of improved control of blood glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol levels leads to a reduction in premature mortality and an improved health-related quality of life. This information is summarized in the conceptual framework shown in figure 3-1.



Figure 3-1 provides a conceptual framework for patients who receive recommended clinical procedures. As noted previously, a significant number of patients with type 2 diabetes do not receive recommended clinical procedures. Without appropriate monitoring, neither patients nor physicians will be aware of any variance between ideal and actual blood glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol levels. In turn, it is also less likely that they will address the lifestyle changes or the medication adjustments that are needed in order to reduce the variance between ideal and actual levels. When recommended clinical procedures are not provided and appropriate lifestyle/medication adjustments are not made, patients are at a higher risk of both acute and chronic long-term complications necessitating an increased use of emergency, acute care, long term care and rehabilitation services. In addition, the patient is at an increased risk of early mortality and deterioration in health-related quality of life.

Specifically, this study used routinely-collected administrative data to determine whether adults with diagnosed diabetes with higher long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures utilized a higher volume of physician services and a reduced volume of acute care services during the five years from April 1, 1996, to March 31, 2001, after adjusting for patient age, gender, socio-economic status, location of residence and levels of morbidity. The objective of this study is to determine if the delivery of appropriate diagnostic tests for diabetes is associated with elevated costs for physician visits and reduced costs for acute care.

The recommended clinical procedures for which routinely collected administrative data are available in British Columbia are highlighted in Figure 3-1 in *bold/italicized* print. This includes the tests for monitoring blood glucose, blood pressure, and cholesterol levels, and the tests used to assess for nephropathy and retinopathy. Furthermore, measures of health care utilization which are routinely available in administrative data in British Columbia are also

highlighted in *bold/italicized* print. The data sources used in this study are also summarized in figure 3-1.

A key assumption of this study is that actions necessary to bring blood pressure and blood glucose closer to ideal levels will be more likely if the patient undergoes the recommended type and frequency of tests than if the recommended tests are not performed. That is, on average, physicians providing the recommended tests are more likely to address unfavourable results than physicians not providing the recommended tests. In the same vein, it is assumed that patients who obtain unfavourable test results are more open to making changes than patients who are uninformed.

3.2 Study Design / Overview

This study is an observational, cross-sectional study with the individual as the unit of analysis. An overview of the study is shown in figure 3-2 below, with the various components discussed in the following sections.



3.3 Specific Aims and Hypothesis

Hypothesis: That the long-term receipt of appropriate clinical procedures for patients with diagnosed type 2 diabetes is associated with an increase in physician costs but a decrease in acute care costs.

Aim 1: To determine whether adherence to recommended clinical procedures for adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority has changed during the five years from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001.

Question 1.1 - Has the receipt of the following recommended services by adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority changed during the five years from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001?

- Two or more HbA1c tests during each fiscal year
- At least one eye exam during each fiscal year
- At least one microalbumin test during each fiscal year
- At least one lipid test every three years
- At least four blood pressure measurements each year

Question 1.2 – What proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority have received each of the five recommended services in each fiscal year?

Question 1.3 – What proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority received all five of the recommended services in each year during the entire five year time period (i.e., showed the highest adherence)?

Question 1.4 - What proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority received none of the five recommended services during the entire five year time period (i.e., showed the lowest adherence)?

The previous two questions represent the extremes of potential adherence.

Aim 2: To determine which patient characteristics (e.g. age, gender, socio-economic status, general level of morbidity, disease-specific severity level and geographic area of residence) are associated with improved long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures.

Aim 3: To determine whether the utilization of physician and acute care services has changed during the five year period.

Aim 4: To assess the relationship between patient characteristics and the utilization of physician, acute care and total health care costs.

Aim 5: To determine whether adults with better adherence utilize varying levels of different types of health care, after adjusting for the patient's age, gender, socio-economic status, location of residence and levels of morbidity.

Question 5.1 – Do adults with better adherence use more physician services than those with poor adherence?

Question 5.2 – Do adults with better adherence use fewer acute care services than those with poor adherence?

Question 5.3 – Do adults with better adherence use fewer total services (physician and acute care) than those with poor adherence?

3.4 Data Sources

3.4.1 British Columbia Linked Health Database

Data for this study are drawn from the British Columbia Linked Health Database (BCLHD) housed by the Centre for Health Services and Policy Research (CHSPR) at the University of British Columbia. This is a linked longitudinal database including all residents of British Columbia who are registered with the Medical Services Plan. The BCLHD is an extensive data resource for applied heath services and population health research. Data from the BCLHD have been used for over one hundred health care and health services research projects since 1996.

The BCLHD includes data files containing:

- individual-level information on health care service use;
- claims made to the B.C. Workers' Compensation Board;
- basic information about the location and background of select health care service providers;
- surveys that provide a deeper level of understanding for (small) groups of B.C. residents; and
- descriptive information about neighbourhoods and communities derived from census data.

Where possible, the information from each data file in the BCLHD is linkable at the level of the individual. Data are linked using deterministic and probabilistic linkage methodology and linkage rates in excess of 95% have been achieved (Chamberlayne et al., 1998). These data can be used to explore population-based trends, allowing researchers to trace the experiences of groups of individuals across various arenas of the health system.

All data are anonymized to ensure protection of privacy and confidentiality. Specific data files used in this study are from the Medical Services Plan Registration and Premium Billing files, Medical Service Plan Payment Information Master files, the Hospital Separations files and the Vital Statistics - deaths files.

3.4.2 British Columbia Medical Services Plan Files

There are a number of potential sources of data for information on physician services and expenditures on physicians in British Columbia. These include the Medical Service Plan (MSP) database files, the MSP Out of Province (OOP) database, the Alternative Payment Program (APP) and the Primary Health Care Organization (PHCO) Encounter Data Set.

The MSP database files include fee-for-service (FFS) payments to B.C. physicians for services to B.C. and non-B.C. residents. It also contains payments made on behalf of B.C. residents who obtained services in Quebec, the U.S. and other countries (as these jurisdictions are not covered through reciprocal billing agreements).

The MSP Out of Province (OOP) database includes FFS payments made to out-ofprovince physicians who provided services to B.C. residents. When B.C. residents receive services in other provinces (except for Quebec), those other provinces bill back to B.C. manually – i.e., not through the standard claim submission process. This process is used as a result of the reciprocal agreements set up between and among the provinces. Thus, these payments are not included in the main MSP database, but are in this OOP database.

The Alternative Payment Program (APP) database includes salary, sessional payment, and service agreement data Note that salary and sessional data are physician-specific, but service agreement data are not.

The PHCO Encounter Data Set includes data from primary care demonstration sites established in the 1999/00 fiscal year.

Approximately 80% of B.C. physicians are self-employed professionals working on a fee-for-service (FFS) basis. In the FFS system, the MSP pays physicians an established fee for each service provided to each patient. Fees compensate physicians for their professional services and pay for overhead including staff salaries, medical equipment, supplies, rent, continuing education, insurance, business licenses, and other costs associated with running a business.

Physicians billing FFS must submit claims to MSP in a computer-readable format within 90 days of the service date. Claims can be submitted via Teleplan or by contracting with a service bureau equipped to make the submissions. Teleplan is a web-based telecommunications system used by practitioners to securely submit claims, notes and eligibility requests to MSP, and receive payment statements, rejected claims and patient eligibility data from MSP through an encrypted Internet connection.

A second group of physicians are paid through salaried or sessional arrangements. Salaried physicians are typically on staff at hospitals, private corporations, government agencies or universities. For example, medical directors of health authorities and physicians employed by the B.C. Cancer Agency, Riverview Hospital or Centre for Disease Control, and regional and provincial medical health officers, are salaried. Sessional payments are used primarily for physicians working in mental health and palliative care. The sessional payment is based on time, rather than service provided, with one session equalling 3.5 hours. This type of payment allows physicians to bill the MSP for the actual time spent with patients instead of the type of service or treatment provided.

The Alternative Payments Program (APP) administers the salaried or sessional payments to physicians. The Alternate Payments Program is in turn administered from within the MSP.

The APP salaried payments are made through the employing health care agency. These payments are based on submission of a "Claim for Reimbursement of Shareable Expenditure." Conditions for salaried physician payment are negotiated on a province-wide basis and set out in an agreement between the government of BC and the BCMA with respect to salaried physicians in government service.

The APP sessional payment provides funding to an agency, which in turn enters into a "Personal Sessional Contract" with a physician for the delivery of services. The agency is required to pay the physician directly for his/her time (based on a completed Certificate of Services form summarizing the amount of time required to deliver care services), and completion of a "Claim for Reimbursement of Shareable Expenditure" made to APP. Payment to the physician is made based on a proration of the standard 3.5-hour session rounded down to the nearest quarter hour. The sessional payment scale is negotiated between the BCMA and the Medical Services Commission (MSC).

Service agreements are used for physicians working solely in a publicly funded health care facility. For example, physicians working in emergency rooms or pathologists are typically paid through service agreements. Under a service agreement, regional health authorities and other government-funded agencies contract with physicians to deliver agreed-upon services / deliverables.

In addition to the major sources of physician payment (i.e., fee-for-service paid through MSP and salaried or sessional paid through APP), two minor sources include PHCO Encounter Data and BCMA-related funds. PHCO encounter funding is an encounter-based system that is

related to primary care practices, but does not contain physician-specific payments (i.e., payments go to practices that decide on dispersement). The fact that a service occurred, the date of the service and the diagnosis codes relating to that service, however, are available at the patient level in the PHCO Encounter Data. Finally, some funds are available to physicians through the BCMA (e.g., call reimbursement, Canadian Medical Physician Association fee repayment).

In the provision of primary health care in British Columbia, the vast majority of services are provided through MSP FFS payments. In 2000/01 spending on primary care physicians in the province totalled an estimated \$664.0 million, of which \$649.1 million (97.6%) was through the FFS system. In an analysis for residents living within the geographic boundaries of the FHA, this proportion of funding through FFS was 99.2% (Watson et al., 2004).

For specialist physician care a higher proportion of total expenditures are paid through the APP system than for primary care providers, particularly for certain specialities. Approximately 24% of psychiatry, 12% of oncology and 10% of paediatric services, for example, are funded through APP (Auditor General of British Columbia, 2003). In 2000/01, an estimated¹ 23% of total expenditures for specialist physicians was paid through the APP with the remainder (77%) paid through MSP.

The primary source for physician utilization and costs for this study is from the MSP files. This source provides comprehensive information on over 99% of all payments to primary care physicians and an estimated 77% of all payments to specialist physicians.

The Medical Services Plan Registration and Premium Billing files include information on the patient's gender, birth date, postal code, enrolment to and cancellation date from MSP. Medical Service Plan Payment Information Master files include additional information on the physician, the type and date of services billed as well as the amount paid for the services.

3.4.3 British Columbia Hospital Separations Files

All hospitals in British Columbia submit information on acute care and same day surgery separations to the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). Upon discharge from hospital, the patient's medical record is coded and abstracted based on criteria determined by CIHI. The resulting Discharge Abstract Database (DAD) abstract is submitted to CIHI where the data are edited for quality and additional information added (e.g., case-mix grouping, resource intensity weight, etc.). Hospital-specific reports are then produced and returned to the hospital for further review and corrections, prior to being used in the production of CIHI reports and distribution to the provinces (CIHI, 2004).

In recognition of the importance of data accuracy and quality, CIHI has instituted a variety of data control measures. These include the use of abstracting software, educational programs for abstractors, a production system editing and correction process as well as special studies assessing the quality of the data (CIHI, 2004). These special studies usually involve accessing the original data sources (i.e., medical records) and re-abstracting information to

¹ This estimate was developed in the following manner. PURRFECT Version 9.0 MSP Referral Patterns indicates that \$1,766.1 million was spent on physician services through MSP in 2000/01. Of this amount, \$649.1 was spent on GP services, leaving \$1,117 million for 'other' services. From this amount we removed \$130.2 million for non-medical practitioners and \$359.4 for diagnostic specialists, leaving \$627.4 million for specialist services. Total expenditures through APP totaled approximately \$200 million in 2000/01 (Auditor General of BC, 2003).Of these funds, \$11.9 million is allocated to primary care services. Based on these assumptions, an estimated 23% (\$188.1 of \$815.5 million) of specialist physician expenditures are paid through the APP.

compare with the original abstracted information (Long et al., 2001; Mitchell and Brown, 2002; Brown and Richards, 2002).

Despite this caution, data quality issues do surface. A review of the 1999/00 DAD indicated a discrepancy rate between the original and the re-abstracted information of 13.4% with respect to the *most responsible diagnosis* field, 10.0% for the *principal procedure* field, 9.0% for the *postal code* field, 6.5% for the *entry code* field and so on (Richards et al., 2001). The most common reasons for these discrepancies included the original coder missing information that was included in the medical chart and differences in the interpretation of the documentation (Richards et al., 2001).

3.4.4 British Columbia Vital Statistics Database

The British Columbia Vital Statistics Agency is responsible for the ascertainment, registration, and certification of vital events through the administration of the *Vital Statistics Act*, *Marriage Act* and *Name Act* (British Columbia Vital Statistics Agency, 2003). The Vital Statistics database was used to ascertain whether a patient in the study had died and the date of that death.

If a person dies in British Columbia, the death must be registered with the Vital Statistics Agency. The process is as follows. A medical practitioner or coroner will complete and sign a medical certificate within 48 hours after the death. The medical certificate will be forwarded to a funeral director. On the request of the funeral director, the particulars of the death are provided by an appropriate person, e.g., the nearest living relative present at the death or latest illness. The funeral director then registers the death and provides a death certificate and a burial permit for the deceased.

The British Columbia Vital Statistics Agency database does not include deaths for BC residents that occurred outside of the province (British Columbia Vital Statistics Agency, 2003).²

The BCLHD includes options to access Vital Statistics data on deaths, births and clinical information. For this study, we accessed data on deaths only. The date of death was identified by the year and month in which the individual died.

3.5 Study Population

The study patient cohort consists of all adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who lived continuously within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority during the five year time period from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001 and who were not identified as incident cases. Additional exclusions from this cohort are noted below.

3.5.1 Ascertaining Diabetic Cases

While diabetes can be clinically defined based on plasma glucose values, determining the total number of people with diabetes in a population varies somewhat based on how cases are ascertained and whether or not estimates are included for undiagnosed cases. Accurate, population based estimates are important for both policy-makers and planners who influence the provision of resources and care for patients with diabetes.

The prevalence of diabetes has been ascertained using various methodologies such as:

 National population-based surveys (Tan and MacLean, 1995; Harris and Robbins, 1994)

² The fact of a death in another Canadian province of person borne in BC is reported electronically to BC. No other particulars are currently sent, though a system is under development. This process is intended to deter identify theft. Lorne Verhulst, personal communication, February, 2006.

- Registries (LaPorte et al., 1985), cohort studies in highly selected populations (Leibson et al., 1997)
- Medical record reviews (Martin et al., 2000)
- Standardized telephone surveys (Mokdad et al., 2000, 2001)
- Routinely collected administrative data (Blanchard et al., 1996; Hux et al., 2002).

Population based surveys in Canada such as the National Population Health Survey and the more recent Canadian Community Health Survey have facilitated population based estimates of prevalence using patient self-reporting. There is evidence, however, that self-reporting tends to underestimate the true prevalence of diagnosed diabetes (Manuel and Schultz, 2004; Hux et al., 2002; Mackenbach et al., 1996). Another disadvantage is that the cost of primary data collection at a national level can be high.

The use of routinely collected administrative data to ascertain the prevalence of diabetes is an approach that is considerably less resource intensive than other approaches and thus appropriate for ongoing surveillance. Blanchard and co-workers (1996) in Manitoba used comprehensive databases of physician service claims and hospital discharge abstracts to identify individuals diagnosed with diabetes in that province. Their algorithm specified that any patient with two physician service claims or one hospitalization with a diagnostic code of diabetes within a two year period would be identified as having diabetes. More recent work (Watson et al., 2003) in Manitoba used a similar algorithm but used two physician service claims or one hospitalization bearing a diagnosis of diabetes within a three year period.

Hux and colleagues (2002) in Ontario tested two algorithms for assessing the prevalence of diabetes using administrative data bases. They used the algorithm developed by Blanchard and co-workers (1996) as well as one which required only one physician service claim. They also

excluded gestational diabetes by identifying any record bearing a diabetes diagnostic code followed by an obstetrical event within 5 months after the date of the diabetes diagnostic code.

The results of these algorithms were validated by comparing them to the National Population Health Survey in which a random sample of the population was asked whether they had diabetes that had been diagnosed by a physician. In addition, primary chart abstraction was conducted on a random sample of 3,317 patients from 520 physicians. They concluded that using only a single physician service claim resulted in an unacceptable level of false positive identifications, possibly due to cases where diabetes was suspected but subsequent laboratory tests did not confirm this suspicion.

In British Columbia, the Chronic Disease Management group of the B.C. Ministry of Health Services has used the following case definition in determining the number of individuals in the province with diagnosed diabetes:

- At least one hospital discharge coded as ICD-9 250 since April 1, 1992, based on three levels of care (acute, rehabilitation, and day care), and all 16 hospital diagnoses; or
- At least two Medical Service Plan services (on different dates) coded as ICD-9
 250 within a moving 365 day period; or
- At least one pharmacare service: glucose testing strips (98995003), oral hypoglycaemics (682020012-682092002 and 682092021-682092043), or insulin (682008).
- Remove gestational diabetes cases: delete hospital, MSP, and pharmacare/pharmanet records that occur five months prior and three months after delivery (admission) dates.

For this study, the initial study population was identified based on Medical Service Plan claimants who had resided within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority at any time between April 1, 1996 and March 31, 2001. These patients met the following criteria:

- had at least one hospital discharge coded as ICD 9-250 in any of the 16 diagnostic fields between April 1, 1998 and March 31, 2000, or,
- had at least one MSP service coded as ICD 9-250 between April 1, 1998 and March 31, 2000.

This initial draw resulted in a population of 64,020.

3.5.2 MSP Exclusions

MSP claims associated with non-physician specialties were excluded (see Table 3.1).

Table 3-1: Excluded Non-Physician Specialties		
30 – Chiropractor	31 – Naturopath	
32 – Physiotherapist	34 – Osteopath	
35 – Orthotics	37 – Oral Surgery	
38 – Podiatry	39 – Optometry	
40 – Dental Surgery	41 – Oral Medicine	
42 – Orthodontics	43 – Massage Therapy	
80 – Midwife	81 – Registered Nurse	
82 – Nutritionist / Dietician	83 – Counsellor	
84 – Educator	85 – Licensed Practical Nurse	
86 – Medical Office Assistant	87 – Nurse Practitioner	
88 – Respiratory Therapist	89 – Home Support	

In addition, unknown fee item codes, mileage fee item codes, anaesthesia and dentistry fee item codes, records with no payment information and records for out-of province patients were excluded. These MSP exclusions resulted in the reduction of 168 individuals from the initial population of 64,020.

3.5.3 Diagnostic Rule-Outs

A sub-group of individuals identified included those who only had one MSP service coded as ICD 9-250 between April 1, 1998 and March 31, 2000. These were individuals who fell outside of the 'standard' algorithm for identifying a person with diabetes using administrative databases. As noted earlier, Hux and colleagues (2002) tested algorithms which included either one or two physician service claims identified as ICD 9-250 over a two year period. They found that using only a single physician service claim resulted in an unacceptable level of false positive identifications, possibly due to cases where diabetes was suspected but subsequent laboratory tests did not confirm this suspicion. This process resulted in the exclusion of 18,054 individuals from the initial population of 64,020.

3.5.4 Children

Children, particularly adolescents, with diabetes tend to have different care patterns than adults. Adolescents, for example, experience poor glycaemic control and acute complications more frequently than adults (DCCT, 1994; Svoren et al., 2003). Potential reasons for this include changing physiology (pubertal growth and development) as well as behavioural and adherence issues (Amiel et al., 1986; Wysocki et al., 1996; Rydall et al., 1997; Wolfsdorf, 1999). Individuals who were under the age of 20 years on April 1, 1996 were identified as children and excluded from the initial population. This process resulted in the exclusion of 800 individuals from the initial population of 64,020.

3.5.5 Gestational Diabetes

To exclude individuals with gestational diabetes, all females who had an obstetrical event within five months after a hospital or MSP ICD 9-250 code were identified. An obstetrical event

was identified using ICD 9 codes 630.0 to 676.9 based on a search of both hospitalization and MSP data. Only individuals for whom this was the only time that the ICD 9-250 code appeared were excluded. This process resulted in the exclusion of 1,106 individuals from the initial population of 64,020.

3.5.6 Incident Cases

To exclude incident cases (i.e., newly diagnosed cases), any individual *without* at least one hospital discharge coded as ICD 9-250 in any of the 16 diagnostic fields during the two year period between April 1, 1996 and March 31, 1998, or, at least one MSP service coded as ICD 9-250 during the two year period between April 1, 1996 and March 31, 1998 was identified and removed from the initial population. This process resulted in the exclusion of 12,569 individuals from the initial population of 64,020.

3.5.7 Death

Individuals who died were identified to take into account an increase in health care utilization during the time period prior to death. Between April 1, 1996 and March 31, 2001, a total of 3,268 individuals died.

3.5.8 Temporary Residents

Individuals who did not live within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority for the entire five years from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001 were also identified. This was done because one of the control variables in the study was location of residence within the Fraser Health Authority. Of the 28,055 individuals remaining in the study population, 3,584 residents spent at least part of the five year time period living outside of the geographic boundary of the FHA, so they were removed from the analysis.

3.5.9 Temporary MSP Registration

A further sub-group of individuals identified was those who were not registered with MSP during the entire five years from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001. One of the key outcome variables in the study was utilization of health care services, particularly those identified through MSP and hospitalization data, during the entire five year time period. Consequently, a total of 1,782 individuals with temporary MSP registration were removed.

3.5.10 Exclusion of Disease and Age-Specific Sub-Groups

There were a number of patient sub-groups included in the remaining population of 22,689 for whom adherence to recommended clinical procedures might have been unusual for clinical reasons. Arday and co-authors (2002), for example, found that the End Stage Renal Disease (ESRD) subpopulation in their study had much lower rates of adherence to recommended clinical procedures than the general population with diagnosed diabetes. The authors noted that clinicians were dealing with "an elderly or disabled population with competing co-morbidities that may influence diabetes care decisions." For individuals with high impact cancers and Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS), the potentially life-saving medical care associated with these diseases would likely usurp the imperative, for example, to have blood glucose levels monitored on a regular basis. We identified and excluded patients with type I diabetes, high impact cancers, AIDS, ESRD and the very old.

Type 1 and type 2 diabetes are distinct clinical entities, as noted earlier. Unfortunately, there is no reliable way to identify these two populations from the administrative data without the availability of two-digit suffix coding (i.e. ICD9-250.01, 'type 1 diabetes mellitus'). In the absence of this detailed coding information, researchers made the distinction using age 30 as a cut off point because type I diabetes is usually diagnosed early in life whereas type 2 diabetes
typically develops later in life. A study by Laakso and Pyorala (1985) indicated that the cumulative proportion of prevalent cases of type 1 diabetes in Finland was 84% at age 30 and 95% at age 50. More recent research (Fagot-Campagna and Narayan, 2001; Duncan, 2006) pointing to the increasing prevalence of early onset type 2 diabetes makes the 30 year cut-off point less reliable. Nevertheless, we have used the age 30 cut-off point as an exclusion criterion.

Patients with AIDS were identified based on the presence of the ICD9 code 042 in either the MSP or hospitalization data between April 1, 1998 and March 31, 2000. Patients with high impact cancers were identified based on the presence of the expanded diagnostic cluster (EDC) MAL03 code between April 1, 1998 and March 31, 2000. Patients with end stage renal disease (ESRD) were identified based on the presence of the EDC REN01 code between April 1, 1998 and March 31, 2000 (Weiner, et al, 2005). The very old were identified as individuals age 80 or older on April 1, 1998. This age cut-off for the very old in diabetes research follows the criterion established by the Manitoba Center for Health Policy Research (Fransoo et al., 2005).

This process resulted in the exclusion of the following number of patients:

- Age 80 or older 1,542
- Younger than age 30 290
- Individuals diagnosed with high impact cancers 330
- Individuals diagnosed with ESRD 282
- Individuals diagnosed with AIDS 3

The resulting study population was thus further reduced from 22,689 to 20,242.

3.5.11 Outliers

Fourteen individuals were removed from the analysis based on their high resource use over the entire five year period. This included one individual with an average of 194.6 acute care days each year over the five year period (the next highest value was an average of 88.8 acute care days each year, see Figure 3-3), ten individuals whose average annual utilization of GP visits ranged from 75.8 to 119.0 for each year of the five year study period (see Figure 3-4) and three individuals whose average annual utilization of specialist visits ranged from 47.2 to 52.2 (see Figure 3-5). On visual inspection of the data, these fourteen subjects were considered to be outliers and removed from further analysis.







3.5.12 Summary

The final study population consists of 20,228 individuals. A summary of the study selection process and results is shown on Figure 3-6.

Figure 3-6: Selection of Study Population

	Exclusions	Target Populatio		on
Include all MSP claimants who have resided within the geographic boundary of		Number	% of Total	Remaining
the Fraser Health Authority (FHA) between April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001 (and				Number
have at least one hospital discharge coded as ICD 9-250 in any of 16 diagnostic		64,020	100%	
fields, or, at least one MSP service coded as ICD 9-250 between April 1, 1998				
and March 31, 2000).				
Exclude individuals with an ICD-9 250 code only in the following records: non-	MSP	168	0.3%	63.852
physician specialty codes, non-physician fee item codes, unknown fee item	Exclusions			,
codes, mileage fee item codes, anesthesia and dentistry fee item codes, records				
with no payment information and records for out-of-province patients.				
Evolude individuals with only one MSD service added on ICD 0.250 between	Diagnostic	18 054	28.2%	15 708
April 1 1998 and March 31 2000	Rule-Outs	10,054	20.2 /0	45,790
Ļ				
Exclude individuals under the age of 20 as of April 1, 1996	Children	800	1.2%	44,998
Exclude females with an obstetrical event within 5 months after a hospital or	Costational			
MSP ICD 9-250 code, if this is the only time that the ICD 9-250 code appears.	Diabetes	1,106	1.7%	43,892
······································		,		,
Exclude individuals without at least one hospital discharge coded as ICD 9-250	Incident	12,569	19.6%	31,323
in any of 16 diagnostic fields, or, at least one MSP service coded as ICD 9-250	Cases			
between April 1, 1996 and March 31, 1998.				
Ļ				
Exclude individuals who died during the time period from April 1, 1996 to March	Death	3,268	5.1%	28,055
31, 2001.				
▼	Tomporary	3 594	5 6%	24 471
during the entire time period from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001	Residents	5,564	5.0 /6	24,471
	Rooldonto			
↓ ·				
Exclude individuals who were not registered with MSP during the entire time	Temporary	1,782	2.8%	22,689
period from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001.	Registration			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Fiderly	1 542	24%	21 147
Exclude individuals 80 years of age and older as of April 1, 1998.	Lidony	1,012	2.170	
¥				
Exclude individuals under the age of 30 as of April 1, 1998.	Type I Disk store	290	0.5%	20,857
	Diabetes			
Exclude individuals with high impact cancers (n=330), ESRD (n=282) and AIDS	High Impact	615	1.0%	20,242
(n=3).	Diseases			
	0		0.00/	00.000
Exclude statistical outliers based on high resource use during entire five year	Outliers	14	0.0%	20,228
<u> </u>				
Study Population		20,228	31.6%	

3.6 Variables and Measures

3.6.1 Adherence Variables

The key independent variable is the level of adherence to a set of recommended tests and procedures. The set of variables that will be measured, and their operational definitions, are as follows:

- HbA1c Whether or not the person received two or more HbA1c tests during the fiscal year as identified by the MSP fee item 91745 (haemoglobin A1C). There will be five observations, one for each fiscal year from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001.
- Microalbumin Whether or not the person received one urinary microalbumin test during the fiscal year as identified by MSP fee items 92396 (microalbumin, semiquantitative) or 91985 (microalbumin). There will be five observations, one for each fiscal year from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001.
- Lipid Whether or not the person had one lipid test over a three year period as measured by MSP fee items 91375 (cholesterol, total), 91780 (HDL cholesterol) or 92350 (triglycerides, serum/plasma). There will be three observations, one for the three year period from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 1999, one for the three year period from April 1, 1997 to March 31, 2000 and one for the three year period from April 1, 1998 to March 31, 2001.
- Eye exam Whether or not the person had one eye exam during the fiscal year as measured by MSP fee items 2010 (consultation ophthalmology), 2015 (eye examination), 2039 (fundus photography), 2040 (retinoscopy under general anesthetic), 2898 (re-examination or minor exam) or 2899 (full optometric

diagnostic). There will be five observations, one for each fiscal year from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001

• Blood pressure measurements – Information on whether or not an individual with diagnosed diabetes had a blood pressure measurement is not directly available in the administrative data. The Canadian and British Columbia CPGs have indicated that blood pressure should be measured at every physician visit and that this should occur at least four times per year. In this study, we have used the presence of at least four general practitioner (GP) visits in a fiscal year as a proxy for direct information on the appropriate number of annual blood pressure measurements. There will be five observations, one for each fiscal year from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001.

Information on the receipt of these tests/procedures over the five year period from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001 was combined to develop a measure of adherence. Each individual in the study population of 20,228 had 23 possible opportunities for these tests. Specifically, if all the recommended tests were received at appropriate intervals, the patient could earn 23 points during the five year period. Adherence points were assigned in the following manner:

- 1 point for two or more HbA1c tests per year, to a total of 5 points
- 1 point for at least one urinary test each year, to a total of 5 points
- 1 point for an eye exam each year, to a total of 5 points
- 1 point for at least four blood pressure measurements per year, to a total of 5 points
- 1 point for a lipid test during 1996-1999; 1 point for a lipid test during 1997-2000; and 1 point for a lipid test during 1998-2001, to a total of 3 points

Thus, an individual with perfect adherence on all five measures would be assigned a score of 23. On the other hand, an individual who received none of these tests or procedures over the five year period was assigned a value of 0. All others received a score between 0 and 23, depending on their receipt of the recommend tests or procedures over the five year period.

Weighting all tests equally follows the convention of the majority of research in this area, including the landmark research by McGlynn and colleagues (McGlynn et al., 2003; Asch et al., 2004; Asch et al., 2006). These researchers, for example, used 439 indicators to assess the quality of care provided for 30 different conditions. Each of the indicators received an equal weight, thus allowing the researchers to identify the proportion of recommended procedures received overall as well as for each specific condition.

The adherence score assigned to each individual was utilized to create three summary adherence variables; first, an adherence variable with continuous values from 0 to 23, second, an adherence variable with the categorical values of low, medium and high adherence and third, a binary adherence variable with the values of low or high adherence.

To determine the best clustering of these values into categorical (low, medium and high adherence) and binary variables (low or high adherence), we used the Jenks optimization algorithm (Environmental Systems Research Institute, Inc., ArcView GIS 3.3, 1992-2002). This method is based on an algorithm developed by Fisher (1958) and belongs to a class of clustering procedures designated as methods of partition by exact optimization (Hartigan, 1975). The Jenks method is used to create a grouping or partition of N objects into K non-intersecting subsets – P(N,K) – in such a way that an error function – e[P(N,K)] – is minimized. The method guarantees a partition with the smallest possible within-group variance for a given K value. The Jenks optimization algorithm indicated a clustering of scores from 0 to 9 (low adherence), 10 to

14 (medium adherence) and 15 to 23 (high adherence). The clustering for the binary variable was

from 0 to12 (low adherence) and 13 to 23 (high adherence).

The adherence variables, and their data source, are identified on table 3-2.

Table 3-2 Adherence Variables					
Variable	Description	Values	Properties	Data Source	Status
	Individu	ual Adherence Va	riables		
HbA1c Test	MSP fee items 91745	2 or more tests per fiscal year	Binary (yes/no)	MSP Payment Information Master Files	Modify
Microalbumin Test	Either MSP fee item 92396 or 91985	1 per fiscal year	Binary (yes /no)	MSP Payment Information Master Files	Modify
Lipid Test	Any of MSP fee items 91375, 91780, or 92350	1 every three fiscal years	Binary (yes/no)	MSP Payment Information Master Files	Modify
Eye Exam	Any of MSP fee items 2010, 2015, 2039, 2040, 2898, or 2899	1 per fiscal year	Binary (yes/no)	MSP Payment Information Master Files	Modify
Blood Pressure Measurements	General Practitioner Visits	4 or more GP visits per fiscal year	Binary (yes/no)	MSP Payment Information Master Files	Modify
	Summar	y Adherence V	/ariables		
Adherence Score	Receipt of the 5 process variables over the five year period	0 to 23	Continuous	Created	Derived
Adherence Score II	Receipt of the 5 process variables over the five year period	Low (0-9), Medium (10- 14), High (15- 23)	Ordinal	Created	Derived
Adherence Score	Receipt of the 5 process variables over the five year period	Low (0-12), High (13-23)	Binary	Created	Derived

3.6.2 Patient Characteristics

There are a number of known patient characteristics which have an independent influence on the utilization of health care services and may influence adherence to recommended clinical procedures. These include age, gender, socio-economic status, location of the patient residence, general level of co-morbidity and diseases-specific severity.

The calculation of age was based on the individual's age on the first day (April 1, 1996) of the five-year study period. An additional year was added to the individual's age for each subsequent fiscal year. Age was included as both a continuous and a categorical variable. The categorical variable was developed by grouping individuals into the following age categories for each fiscal year:

- Ages 30 to 39
- Ages 40 to 49
- Ages 50 to 59
- Ages 60 to 69
- Ages 70 to 79

Income quintiles by neighbourhood were used as a proxy for socio-economic status. The Centre for Health Services and Policy Research uses a methodology developed by Ng et al. (1997). Ng and co-authors developed an Income Per Person-Equivalent (IPPE) which "takes into consideration the economies of scale possible when two or more people share a household" (p.22). Enumeration area (EA) income information is available from census data including the average household income (total EA income divided by the number of private households in that EA) and average personal income (total EA income divided by the population aged 15 and over in the EA). These calculations, however, do not take into account the number of persons per household.

Two people sharing a residence do not require twice the income of a person living alone to maintain the same standard of living. Thus, an EA with relatively low average personal income, but many multi-person households, may have a standard of living similar to an EA with relatively high average personal income but with many one-person households. The calculation of IPPE adjusts average household income for the bias introduced by the unequal distribution of household sizes across EAs. (p. 22) IPPE is calculated as follows:

- IPPE = total household income in an EA / person-equivalents
- Where person-equivalents =

1.00 (number of one-person households) +

1.36 (number of two-person households) +

1.72 (number of three-person households) +

1.98 (number of four-person households) +

2.30 (number of five- or more person households).

The income quintile categorization provides an ecologic measure of socioeconomic status for individuals residing in Fraser Health Authority neighbourhoods.

Location of a person's residence is based on linking the first three digits of the individual's postal code to the geographic area designated by local health areas (LHAs). The Fraser Health Area consists of 13 distinct LHAs. Information on the LHA of residence was calculated for each of the five fiscal (April 1 – March 31) years. If an individual moved from one LHA to another they were allocated to the geographic region in which they lived for the majority of the fiscal year.

Information on an individual's residence is included as earlier work by H. Krueger & Associates Inc. (2003) indicated a significant variance in terms of the diagnostic care services received by people with diabetes living within the various FHA LHAs. Likewise, research in the United States has identified significant variation between residents of different states in the receipt of recommended services even after adjusting for patient-level characteristics (Jencks et al., 2000; Arday et al. 2002).

Adjusted Clinical Groups (ACGs) were used as a proxy for the level of morbidity. ACGs, were originally developed in the United States, as a measure of the burden of morbidity in populations. ACGs have been validated in the Canadian setting (Reid et al., 1999, 2002) and in particular, in British Columbia (Reid et al., 2001). These Canadian studies have found that ACGs explain about 50 per cent of same year physician costs and about 40 per cent of same year total medical and hospital costs.

The ACG case-mix system assigns the over 14,000 International Classification of Diseases (ICD) codes into 32 clinically similar aggregated diagnostic groups (ADGs) based on the following criteria:³

- Expected duration of illness (e.g., acute, chronic, or recurrent)
- Disease severity (i.e., expected prognosis with respect to disability or longevity)
- Diagnostic certainty (e.g., sign and symptoms versus well defined conditions)
- Etiology (e.g., infections, neoplasms, psychosocial conditions)
- Expected need for specialist care or hospitalization

This information is then combined with the patient's age and gender to assign each patient to one of 82 mutually exclusive adjusted clinical groups (ACGs).

There are a number of key advantages of using the ACG system as opposed to other methods to quantity the burden of morbidity in populations (e.g., self-reported health status, age and gender, measures of social deprivation, premature mortality rates, etc.). First, the ACG system "does not rely on only the most important or most common diagnosis, but instead identifies common combinations of morbidities (related and unrelated) that build upon each other, both additively and multiplicatively, to determine an individual's overall need for health

³ The Johns Hopkins ACG® Case-Mix System, Version 5.0: Software Release Notes, Chapter 5, pages 41-43. Johns Hopkins University Bloomberg School of Public Health.

services" (Reid et al., 1999). Second, the main data elements required for the system – age, gender and diagnosis – are often routinely collected in administrative data systems and thus are available for total populations. Third, the ACG system assigns individuals to illness categories based on all of the diagnoses they receive over an extended period of time (e.g., one year) from multiple providers (e.g., hospitalizations, physician visits, ambulatory care procedures). And finally, because it "uses only diagnosis – not procedures or hospitalizations – to define illness levels, it does not reward practices that elect to hospitalize patients more readily or perform more procedures" (Verhulst et al., 2001).

A recent study by Broemeling and colleagues (Broemeling et al., 2005) used ACGs to identify the existence of co-morbidities in individuals with a confirmed chronic condition and then allocated individuals with the chronic condition to five categories depending on the number of co-morbidities experienced. The authors defined a co-morbidity as "the co-occurrence of additional conditions among individuals with an index condition (Broemeling et al., 2005)". One of the difficulties encountered was the distinction between complications and co-morbidities. Complications can be defined as "the existence of a second disease when the occurrence of an index disease is required (Gijsen et al., 2001)". Thus, diabetic retinopathy is a complication associated with diabetes while hypertension and depression are co-morbidities. While this is a fairly clear example of the distinction between complications and co-morbidities, the distinction between the two is often less clear.

In the Broemeling et al. study (2005), individuals with an index condition of diabetes were further assigned to five groups based on their co-morbidity level. The presence of comorbidities was identified using ACGs. The five categories are as follows (see **Appendix A for a detailed listing of the ACGs in each of the five categories**):

- 1. Level 1 Very low co-morbidity
- 2. Level 2 Low co-morbidity (2 or 3 types of conditions)
- 3. Level 3 Medium co-morbidity (4 or 5 types of conditions)
- 4. Level 4 High co-morbidity (6 to 9 types of conditions)
- 5. Level 5 Very high co-morbidity (10+ types of conditions)

For people with diagnosed diabetes, the proportion of this adult population in British Columbia in Levels 1 to 5 was 9%, 29%, 30%, 25% and 7% respectively. We have used the same approach as Broemeling et al. (2005) in assigning patients with diabetes to these five levels of morbidity.

A measure of disease-severity used in this study was the diabetes-specific disease severity index developed by Reid (1998). This methodology uses diabetes-related complications and pre-existing conditions which exacerbate diabetes management to group patients into the following five groups:

- 1. No complicating conditions
- 2. \geq one minor complicating conditions
- 3. \geq one intermediate complicating condition
- 4. One major complicating condition
- 5. \geq two major complicating conditions

The group of *minor* complicating conditions were defined by Reid (1998) as

hypertension, lipid disorders and chronic psychiatric disorders. Patients were classified as having a physician-diagnosed complicating condition if they had two or more claims with the relevant diagnosis. Diagnosis of the minor complicating conditions was based on the following ICD9 codes:

1. Hypertension

- 401 Primary hypertension
- 402.4 Hypertensive renal or heart disease
- 405 Secondary hypertension
- 437.2 Hypertensive encephalopathy
- 796.2 Elevated blood pressure
- 2. Disorders of Lipid Metabolism
 - 272 Lipid disorders
- 3. Major Psychiatric Disorders
 - 295 Schizophrenia
 - 296 Major affective disorder
 - 297.9 Other psychoses
 - 303.0 Alcohol abuse
 - 304.0 Drug dependence

The group of *intermediate* complicating conditions were defined as diabetic eye disease

(i.e., including retinopathy, glaucoma, and cataract), neuropathy, and peripheral vascular disease.

Patients were classified as having a physician-diagnosed complicating condition if they had two

or more claims with the relevant diagnosis. Diagnosis of the intermediate complicating

conditions was based on the following ICD9 codes:

- 1. Eye Disease
 - 250.5 Diabetic retinopathy
 - 262 Retinopathy
 - 365 Glaucoma
 - 366 Cataract
 - 379.3 Lens Aphakia
 - 743.3 Congenital cataract
- 2. Neuropathy
 - 250.6 Diabetic neuropathy
 - 350.7 Mononeuropathy or polyneuropathy
 - 377.1 Autonomic neuropathy
 - 729.2 Unspecified neuropathy

- 723 Other neuropathy
- 3. Peripheral Vascular Disease
 - 440 Atherosclerosis
 - 443 Unspecified peripheral vascular disease
 - 785.4 Gangrene

The group of *major* complicating conditions included two acute conditions (i.e., diabetic

ketoacidosis and hyperosmolar non-ketotic coma) and two chronic conditions (i.e., kidney

disease and ischemic heart disease). Patients were classified as having a physician-diagnosed

complicating condition if they had two or more claims with the relevant diagnosis. Diagnosis of

the major complicating conditions was based on the following ICD9 codes:

- 1. Acute Coma
 - 250.1 Diabetic ketoacidosis
 - 250.2 Hyperosmolar non-ketotic coma
 - 250.3 Other coma
- 2. Renal Disease
 - 250.4 Diabetic renal disease
 - 581 Nephrotic syndrome
 - 582 Glomerulonephritis
 - 583 Other nephritis
 - 584 Acute renal failure
 - 585 Chronic renal failure
 - 586 Unspecified renal failure
 - V56 Dialysis care
- 3. Ischemic Heart Disease
 - 410 Acute myocardial infarction
 - 411 Subacute myocardial infarction
 - 412 Old myocardial infarction
 - 413 Angina pectoris
 - 414 Coronary atherosclerosis

The algorithm developed by Reid (1998) was applied to the current study population to develop a diabetes-specific disease severity index variable.

The diabetes-specific disease severity index provided a measure of the level and severity of diabetes-specific complications while the general measure of morbidity using ACGs provided a gauge of the level of co-morbidities experienced by the patient, regardless of whether these comorbidities were directly associated with the patient's diabetes.

These patient characteristics, and their data sources, are identified on table 3-3.

Table 3-3 Patient Characteristics						
Variable	Description	Values	Properties	Data Source	Status	
Age in Years	Age as at April 1 of each year	Age 30-79, unknown	Continuous, Categorical	MSP Registration and Premium Billing Files	Existing	
Gender		Male, female, unknown	Binary (Male, Female)	MSP Registration and Premium Billing Files	Existing	
Socio- economic status	Assign individuals to SES quintile	Assign to SES quintile each year based on residence, unknown	Ordinal	CHSPR derived	Existing	
Level of Morbidity	Use co-morbidities to assign individual patients to one of 5 levels	Level 1 (very low morbidity), 2 (low morbidity), 3 (medium morbidity), 4 (high morbidity), 5 (very high morbidity) and 6 (pregnancy-related)	Ordinal	MSP Payment Information Master Files and Hospital Separations Files	Derived	
Disease- specific Severity Index	Use disease- specific complications to assign individual patients to one of five levels	Level 1 (no complicating conditions), 2 (\geq one minor complicating conditions), 3 (\geq one intermediate complicating condition), 4 (one major complicating condition), 5 (\geq two major complicating conditions)	Ordinal	MSP Payment Information Master Files and Hospital Separations Files	Derived	
LHA of patient residence	Local health area of residence in the FHA	Assign to one of 13 FHA LHAs each year	Categorical	MSP Registration and Premium Billing Files	Existing	

3.6.3 Resource Use Variables

Previous research indicates that the utilization of health care services, particularly acute care inpatient services, can change within the first few years after the implementation of a comprehensive diabetes management program. We will examine the use of acute care and Medical Service Plan based health care utilization. The hypothesis is that acute care services, namely, acute care discharges / days (adjusted by Resource Intensity Weight {RIW}) and surgical day care cases (adjusted by RIW), will be lower in those patients with good diabetes management, as defined by better adherence to the recommended tests. On the other hand, general practitioner and specialist physician services (i.e., which are MSP based services) will be higher in those patients with more appropriate diabetes management.

3.6.3.1 Acute Care

In the hospital separations files used for this project, all separations (i.e. discharges and deaths) are identified as either acute, extended, rehabilitative care or surgical day care. In addition, some patients may be discharged from a discharge planning unit which means they have been receiving long-term care while in an acute care bed (sometimes identified as *alternate level of care*).

For acute care separations, we used separations identified as acute care only. That is, all records coded as 'A' (for acute) in the level of care field in the hospital separations file were included. Separations and the attendant patient days were allocated to each fiscal year based on the date of the patient's release from hospital. That is, if a patient was admitted on March 20, 1997 and discharged on April 10, 1997, then their discharge (and all patient days associated with the discharge) would be allocated to the 1997/98 fiscal year rather than the 1996/97 fiscal year.

Because of this assumption, it was possible for an individual patient who remained in hospital for more than a year to have 365+ patient days allocated to the year of their discharge.

Information on acute care inpatient days was used to create both a continuous and a binary variable. The binary variable was created by assigning an individual's annual acute care inpatient day utilization to either a low or high utilization category based on an 80/20 rule. That is, the 80% of patients with the lowest utilization of acute care days in the year were assigned to the low utilization category while the 20% of patients with the highest utilization of acute care days in the year were assigned to the high utilization category. This process was used for each of the five fiscal years. The mean annual utilization was calculated using the individual's utilization history during the entire five years.

An additional outcome variable was the calculation of acute care costs. In calculating these costs we combined information on both acute care inpatient services and surgical day care services received by individuals in the study. For surgical day care procedures, all records coded as 'S' (for surgical day care) in the level of care field in the Hospital Separations file were included. Surgical day care "is a surgical service provided to patients who do not require inpatient services, are admitted and discharged on the same calendar day and are usually discharged between one and six hours following the procedure" (PURRFECT 10.1)⁴

In addition to information on the number of discharges and days for acute care inpatients, information on the resource intensity weighting assigned to each acute care inpatient discharge by the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) was gleaned from the hospital separations files. Similar information was available for each surgical day care procedure.

⁴ PURRFECT (Population Utilization Rates and Referrals For Easy Comparative Tables) is an electronic database updated annually by the BC MoH and distributed to interested parties in British Columbia.

Resource intensity weights or RIW values are calculated by CIHI in the following manner.⁵ As noted earlier, each hospital in British Columbia prepares a discharge abstract database (DAD) abstract for every discharge and submits this to CIHI. Based on information in the DAD abstract, the *discharge* is assigned to a case mix group (if they received acute inpatient care) or to a day procedure group (if they received a surgical day care procedure) based on the patient's most responsible diagnosis.

Three additional elements are assigned to each acute care inpatient discharge (Hicks and Zhang, 2003). First, information on co-morbid conditions present either at the time of admission or realized during the inpatient stay are used to assign each *discharge* to a complexity level. Cases are assigned to one of four levels. Level 1 denotes the absence of co-morbid conditions, while Level 4 denotes the presence of co-morbid conditions that may be potentially life threatening. Second, the expected length of stay is calculated based on the length of stay of similar discharges across Canada. Finally, cases are assigned to a typical and atypical category. Atypical cases include all deaths while in hospital, individuals who sign themselves out against a physician's advice, those transferred from one hospital to another and long-stay outliers. All other cases are considered to be *typical*.

Information on the assigned case-mix group, complexity level, expected length of stay, typical/atypical status and the patient's age (i.e., three age categories [0-17, 18-69, 70+]) were used in assigning an RIW to each discharge case. "RIW are used to standardize the expression of hospital case volumes, recognizing that not all patients require the same health care resources. Volume is then expressed as *weighted cases*".⁶

⁵ See <u>http://secure.cihi.ca/cihiweb/dispPage.jsp?cw_page=casemix_riw_e</u> (Accessed October 2005) for more information. ⁶ Ibid.

Each acute care inpatient and surgical day care procedure in British Columbia is thus assigned a resource intensity weight indicating the expected level of relative resources used in caring for the patient compared to other patients.

The B.C. Ministry of Health Services uses CIHI's methodology for calculating a cost per weighted case for each hospital in the province.⁷ In essence, this involves teasing out costs associated with inpatient acute care services and then dividing these costs by the volume of weighted acute care cases treated at the hospital level. This generates a hospital specific cost per weighted case. In 2000/01, the calculated cost per weighted case in hospitals located within the Fraser Health Authority ranged from \$2,150 to \$3,520. The provincial average that year was \$3,440.⁸ Since we used all acute care discharges and surgical day care procedures in this study, regardless of the hospital in which they were performed, we used the provincial average of \$3,440 in estimating the cost of providing acute and surgical day care services to the patient population in this study. To standardize costs to the 2000/01 fiscal year, we multiplied the weighted case value for each patient's use of acute inpatient or surgical day care services in each of the five years by the \$3,440.

There are a number of ways to estimate patient-specific acute care costs. Perhaps the most crude is to multiply patient days by the hospitals average cost per patient day. This does not take into account differences in the complexity of care provided to patient groups. Arguably the most precise manner is to generate patient specific case costs based on actual resources used by individual patients multiplied by the cost per unit of resource use. Several hospitals within B.C. have moved in this direction by implementing case costing methodologies. Two of these hospitals have published results of a comparison of using RIW in estimating costs compared to

⁷ Stephen Lee, Information Consultant, Information Resource Management, B.C. Ministry of Health, Personal communication, September 29, 2005.

their case costing methodology. The two hospitals are located in Victoria (Poole et al., 1998) and Vancouver (Borsa and Anis, 2005). For the Victoria hospital the results of the comparison suggested a relatively close approximation of costs calculated using these two methodologies (Poole et al., 1998) whereas greater variability was found for the Vancouver hospital (Borsa and Anis, 2005).

In the absence of case costing methodologies at all of the hospitals utilized by the sample of patients in this study, we have used a cost per weighted case as a closer approximation of actual costs than using a cost per patient day.

Information on acute care costs was used to create both a continuous and a binary variable. The binary variable was developed by assigning an individual's annual acute care costs to either a low or high utilization category based on an 80/20 rule. That is, the 80% of patients with the lowest utilization of acute care costs in the year were assigned to the low utilization category while the 20% of patients with the highest utilization of acute care costs in the year were assigned to the high utilization category.

This process was used for each of the five fiscal years. A mean annual utilization was calculated using the individual's utilization history during the entire five years.

3.6.3.2 General Practitioner

Physician specialties can be identified in a number of ways. The most familiar methodology is by most recent registered specialty (MRRS) as designated by the physician's most recent specialty registration with the Medical Services Plan. This is a self-reported measure of each physician's licensure and registration status. In contrast, type of practice (TOP) is a methodology that uses each physician's billing information to categorize the physician based on the way they actually practice. For example, a physician could report their MRRS as a family physician, but may actually have a billing pattern more closely representing emergency medicine. He or she would be identified as an emergency medicine physician by type of practice, despite their registered status as a family physician. By comparison, a physician could report their MRRS as pediatrics, but may actually have a billing pattern more closely representing a family physician. He or she would be identified as a family physician by type of practice, despite their registered status as a family have a billing pattern more closely representing a family physician. He or she would be identified as a family physician by type of practice, despite their registered status as a pediatrician. BC's Medical Services Plan uses the TOP methodology for publishing practitioner profiles (Verhulst and Starr, 2003).

Fee item specialty is a third type of methodology that identifies different types of services. All services covered under the Medical Services Plan are identified by particular fee items in the MSC payment schedule used by fee-for-service physicians. These fee items are grouped into broad categories, and different types of physicians are said to "own" a section for the purposes of fee negotiations. For example, fee item *0532 electrocardiogram and interpretation for children under 2 years of age* is owned by specialty 14-paediatrics. Another such category is called "general practice" and specialty 00-family physicians own fee items in this area. This *ownership*, however, does not imply exclusive billing: any practitioner billing under the Medical Services Plan can bill any applicable fee item. The use of fee item specialty methodology, therefore, captures all billings in a particular category of the MSC payment schedule used by fee-for-service physicians, regardless of the type of physician who provided those services. PURRFECT, a BC Ministry of Health Services database uses fee item specialty

methodology to identify services provided by general practitioners, even though these services may be delivered by physicians who have other MRRS specialty designations.

In this study we use the most recent registered specialty (MRRS). For general practice this was '0 - General Practice'.

The MSP payment information master files used to calculate the number of GP visits (i.e., and charges associated with those visits) required '*cleaning*' in order to generate an accurate determination of costs and counts of the number of visits. This was due to the following issues associated with the raw data in the MSP payment information master files:

- Claims represented by multiple records
- No charge referral records
- Claims that were never paid
- Retroactive adjustments

The process of *cleaning* or *netting the claims* combines claim records and amounts that are determined to pertain to the same service on the same date from the same provider to the same patient. In addition to cleaning the costs paid out to physicians, this process also allows visits to be counted accurately.

Information on GP visits was used to create both a continuous and a binary variable. The binary variable was created by assigning an individual's annual GP visits to either a low or high utilization category based on an 80/20 rule. That is, the 80% of patients with the lowest utilization of GP visits in the year were assigned to the low utilization category while the 20% of patients with the highest utilization of GP visits in the year were assigned to the year were assigned to the high utilization category.

This process was used for each of the five fiscal years as well as for a mean annual utilization calculated using the individual's utilization history during the entire five years.

Information on both the number of patient-specific visits and the payments associated with those visits were generated from the raw data in the MSP payment information master files. In addition to using GP visits to create a continuous and a binary variable, we also used the information on payments to create a cost variable. Payment information in the MSP payment information master files is based on the year in which the payment was made. For comparative purposes with respect to differences in resource use, we needed to adjust for price increases.

Adjusting for price increases or inflation is based on actual fee item increases received by GPs and specialist physicians between 1996/97 and 2000/01 as calculated by the British Columbia Medical Association (BCMA).⁹ Price increases for GP services between 1996/97 and 2000/01 were as follows:

- 2.72% change to adjust 1996/97 data to 2000/01 levels
- 4.98% change to adjust 1997/98 data to 2000/01 levels
- 3.48% change to adjust 1998/99 data to 2000/01 levels
- 1.27% change to adjust 1999/00 data to 2000/01 levels

In 1997/98, there was a decrease in fee item prices of 2.15% followed by modest increases each of the following three years (1.45% in 1998/99, 2.18% in 1999/00 and 1.27% in 2000/01). The appropriate price increases were applied at a patient-specific level each of the five years so that all GP costs were adjusted to reflect 2000/01 prices.

Information on GP payments was used to create both a continuous and a binary variable. The binary variable was created by assigning an individual's annual GP costs to either a low or high utilization category based on an 80/20 rule. That is, the 80% of patients with the lowest utilization of GP costs in the year were assigned to the low utilization category while the 20% of patients with the highest utilization of GP costs in the year were assigned to the high utilization category.

This process was used for each of the five fiscal years. A mean annual utilization was calculated using the individual's utilization history during the entire five years.

3.6.3.3 Specialist Physician

As noted earlier, we used the most recent registered specialty (MRRS) in identifying the specialty of physicians in this study. Table 3-4 follows a new categorization matrix established for the primary care project currently being completed by CHSPR in which all personnel potentially paid with MSP funds were grouped into five categories. In defining specialist physicians for this study, we combined categories II and III in Table 3.4.

⁹ Mr. Jim Aikman, Director, Economics Department, BCMA, Personal communication, November 10, 2005.

Table 3-4 CHSPR Categorization Matrix for Personnel Funded Through MSP				
I. General Practice				
00 - Family Practitioner				
II. Primary Care Related Specialists				
05 - Obstetrics and Gynaecology	14 - Pediatrics			
15 - Internal Medicine	24 - Geriatric Medicine			
28 - Emergency Medicine				
III. Non-primary Care Related Specialist	S			
01 - Dermatology	02 - Neurology			
03 - Psychiatry	04 - Neuropsychiatry			
06 - Ophthalmology	07 - Otolaryngology			
08 - General Surgery	09 - Neurosurgery			
10 - Orthopedic Surgery	11 - Plastic Surgery			
12 - Cardio & Thoracic Surgery	13 - Urology			
16 - Radiology	17 - Pathology			
18 - Anesthesia	19 - Pediatric Cardiology			
20 - Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation	21 - Public Health			
23 - Occupational Medicine	29 - Medical Microbiology			
33 - Nuclear Medicine	44 - Rheumatology			
45 - Clinical Immunization and Allergy 46 - Medical Genetics				
47 - Vascular Surgery 48 - Thoracic Surgery				
IV. Non-physician Providers, Possibly P	rimary Care Related			
80 - Midwife	81 - Registered Nurse			
82 - Nutritionist/Dietitian	83 - Counselor			
84 - Educator	85 - Licensed Practical Nurse			
86 - Medical Office Assistant	87- Nurse Practitioner			
88 - Respiratory Therapy	89 - Home Support			
91 - Pharmacy				
V. Non-physician Providers, Other				
30 - Chiropractics	31 - Naturopathy			
32 - Physical Therapy	34 - Osteopathy			
37 - Oral Surgery 38 - Podiatry				
39 - Optometry 40 - Dental Surgery				
41 - Oral Medicine 42 - Orthodontia				
45 - Clinical Immunization and Allergy				

Information on both the number of patient-specific visits to a specialist physician and the

payments associated with those visits were generated from the raw data in the MSP payment

information master files. The raw data for specialist physicians had to be *cleaned* in the same manner as the raw data for GPs.

Information on visits to a specialist was used to create both a continuous and a binary variable. The binary variable was created by assigning an individual's annual specialist physician visits to either a low or high utilization category based on an 80/20 rule. That is, the 80% of patients with the lowest utilization of specialist physician visits in the year were assigned to the low utilization category while the 20% of patients with the highest utilization of specialist physician visits in the year were assigned to the high utilization category.

This process was used for each of the five fiscal years. A mean annual utilization was calculated using the individual's utilization history during the entire five years.

Payment information in the MSP Payment Information Master Files is based on the year in which the payment was made. For comparative purposes with respect to differences in resource use, we adjusted for price increases based on actual fee item increases received by specialist physicians between 1996/97 and 2000/01 as calculated by the British Columbia Medical Association (BCMA)¹⁰ and applied these fee increases to actual specialist physician utilization in this study.

Table 3-5 provides a summary of price increases for specialist physician services between 1996/97 and 2000/01.

¹⁰ Mr. Jim Aikman, Director, Economics Department, BCMA, Personal communication, November 10, 2005.

	For Specialist Physician Services 1996/97 to 2000/01						
MSP Fee Increase Specialist 1997/98 1998/99 1999/00 20				2000/01			
1 2 3 5 6 7 8 9 10 11	Dermatology Neurology Psychiatry Obs/Gyn Ophthalmology Otolaryngology General Surgery Neurosurgery Orthopaedic Surgery Plastic Surgery	-3.33% -3.24% -2.77% -2.23% -3.42% -3.28% -2.82% -2.84% -2.39% -2.90%	0.93% 1.57% 4.25% 1.40% 0.97% 1.43% 1.10% 1.06% 1.03% 1.02%	2.07% 2.27% 2.22% 2.25% 2.22% 2.13% 2.40% 2.40% 2.30% 2.23%	0.72% 0.52% 2.38% 2.77% 0.52% 0.97% 0.60% 0.55% 0.52% 0.52%		
12 13 14 15 16 17 18 20 28 44 47	Cardiac Surgery Urology Paediatrics Internal Medicine Radiology Pathology Anaesthesia Physical Medicine Emergency Medicine Rheumatology Vascular Surgery	-2.30% -3.15% -3.01% -2.29% -2.75% -2.68% -2.44% -0.86% -3.58% -3.88% n/a n/a	1.02% 1.12% 0.98% 4.24% 1.05% 1.27% 1.31% 2.85% 2.27% 1.29% 2.44% n/a	2.52% 2.19% 2.22% 2.27% 1.15% 0.69% 2.68% 2.24% 2.59% 3.52% n/a	0.32% 0.70% 0.52% 4.45% 1.44% 0.52% 0.53% 0.52% 1.13% 1.43% 4.60% 5.96%		

Table 3-5 Price Increases

These price increases were applied to the actual annual utilization of specialist physician

services in this study to calculate a weighted increase for each year. The results are as follows:

- 2.02% change to adjust 1996/97 data to 2000/01 levels
- 4.96% change to adjust 1997/98 data to 2000/01 levels
- 3.58% change to adjust 1998/99 data to 2000/01 levels
- 1.29% change to adjust 1999/00 data to 2000/01 levels

The appropriate price increases were applied at a patient-specific level for each of the five years

so that all specialist physician costs were adjusted to reflect 2000/01 prices.

3.6.3.4 Total Acute Care and MSP Costs

To this point, we have estimated the acute care and surgical day care resources used by

each patient annually as well as an average annual utilization over the five year period from

1996/97 to 2000/01. In addition, we have determined patient specific resource utilization for

general practitioner and specialist physician services. All estimated costs and payments have been adjusted for price changes to 2000/01 fiscal year dollars. Estimated costs in these three areas (i.e., acute care, GP services and specialist physician services) were combined at the patient specific level to create a total estimated cost per patient for each fiscal year as well as an average annual utilization over the five year period from 1996/97 to 2000/01.

Information on estimated total acute care and physician costs was used to create both a continuous and a binary variable. The binary variable was developed by assigning an individual's annual costs to either a low or high utilization category based on an 80/20 rule. That is, the 80% of patients with the lowest costs in the year were assigned to the low utilization category while the 20% of patients with the highest costs in the year were assigned to the high utilization category.

This process was used for each of the five fiscal years as well as for a mean annual utilization calculated using the individual's utilization history during the entire five years.

The resource use variables, and their data source, are identified on table 3-6.

Table 3-6 Resource Use Variables								
Variable	Description	Values	Properties	Data Source	Status			
Acute care days	Annual acute care patient days	0 - 414 Low and high utilization	Continuous and binary	Hospital Separations Files	Derived			
Acute care cost	Annual acute care cost calculated using a cost per weighted case and applied to both AC and SDC	\$0 - \$315,103 Low and high utilization	Continuous and binary	Hospital Separations Files	Derived			
General practitioner visits	Annual number of visits to a GP	0 – 187 Low and high utilization	Continuous and binary	MSP Payment Information Master Files	Derived			
General practitioner costs	Annual cost of the visits to a GP	\$0 – \$5,602 Low and high utilization	Continuous and binary	MSP Payment Information Master Files	Derived			
Specialist physician visits	Annual number of visits to a specialist	0 – 125 Low and high utilization	Continuous and binary	MSP Payment Information Master Files	Derived			
Specialist physician costs	Annual cost of the visits to a specialist	\$0 - \$9,186 Low and high utilization	Continuous and binary	MSP Payment Information Master Files	Derived			
Total physician costs	Annual cost of GP and specialist physician combined	\$0 - \$9,947 Low and high utilization	Continuous and binary	MSP Payment Information Master Files	Derived			
Total annual cost	Annual cost of acute care, physician visits and diagnostic procedures	\$0 - \$318,516 Low and high utilization	Continuous and binary	Hospital Separations Files and MSP Payment Information Master Files	Derived			

3.7 Analytic Methods

Analysis of the data related to a number of areas:

- 1. Description of the study population.
- 2. Development of summary adherence measures.
- Description of adherence to recommended clinical procedures by the study population, including trends in adherence.
- 4. Description of the utilization of acute care and physician resources by the study population, including trends in utilization.
- 5. Univariate analysis of the relationship between study population characteristics and adherence to recommended clinical procedures.
- 6. Univariate analysis of the relationship between study population characteristics and utilization of physician, acute care and total costs.
- 7. Multivariate analysis of the relationship between study population characteristics and adherence to recommended clinical procedures.
- 8. Multivariate analysis of the relationship between study population characteristics and utilization of physician, acute care and total costs.

Frequency distributions ("descriptive statistics" "frequencies" in SPSS 14.0 for Windows Graduate Student Version, Release 14.0.0 dated September 5, 2005) were used in the descriptive analysis of the population.

As noted in Section 3.6.1, three summary adherence variables were created based on the receipt by each patient of two or more HbA1c tests each of the five years, at least one urinary microalbumin test each of the five years, at least one eye exam each of the five years, at least one lipid test every three years and at least four blood pressure measurements in each of the five

years. The three summary adherence variables include an adherence variable with continuous values from 0 to 23, an adherence variable with the categorical values of low, medium and high adherence and a binary adherence variable with the values of low or high adherence.

To determine the best clustering of these values into categorical (low, medium and high adherence) and binary variables (low or high adherence), we used the Jenks optimization algorithm (Environmental Systems Research Institute, Inc., ArcView GIS 3.3, 1992-2002). This method is based on an algorithm developed by Fisher (1958) and belongs to a class of clustering procedures designated as methods of partition by exact optimization (Hartigan, 1975). The Jenks method is used to create a grouping or partition of N objects into K non-intersecting subsets – P(N,K) – in such a way that an error function – e[P(N,K)] – is minimized. The method guarantees a partition with the smallest possible within-group variance for a given K value. For three non-intersecting subsets, the Jenks optimization algorithm indicated a clustering of scores from 0 to 9 (low adherence), 10 to 14 (medium adherence) and 15 to 23 (high adherence). For two non-intersecting subsets (for the binary variable), the recommended clustering was from 0 to 12 (low adherence) and 13 to 23 (high adherence).

In the description of adherence to recommended clinical procedures and utilization of physician, acute care and total costs by the study population we used proportions and means as appropriate, together with 95% confidence interval values. In calculating the 95% confidence interval of a proportion we used the method described by Newcombe (1998) derived from a procedure outlined by Wilson (1927). We applied the Wilson procedure without a correction for continuity. The actual calculations were done using the calculator developed by Lowry available online.¹¹

¹¹ At www.faculty.vassar.edu/lowry/prop1.html

In calculating the 95% confidence interval of a mean we used the "explore function" under "descriptives" in SPSS 14.0. The algorithm used for this calculation is:

Lower bound =
$$y^{-t} \alpha/2, W^{-1}SE$$

Upper bound = $y^{-t} t_{\alpha/2, W^{-1}}SE$

Where SE is the standard error and W is the total sum of weights.

To assess changes in proportions on a year over year basis, we used the McNemar test (McNemar, 1947). The McNemar test is a non-parametric test which assesses the significance of the difference between two dependent samples when the variable of interest is a dichotomy (i.e., whether or not a test or procedure was received). We applied the McNemar test in determining whether there was a significant change in the proportion of individuals with diagnosed diabetes receiving a specific test or procedures from year to year between 1996/97 and 2000/01.

Testing for trend in the proportion of adults with diagnosed diabetes receiving a specific test or procedure could be accomplished using Chi-square for trend if the key assumption of independence among the proportions was met. In this study, the annual proportions represent measures based on the same sample of adults with diagnosed diabetes throughout the five year period. Thus the assumption of independence is not met. To address this issue, Dr. Bob Prosser developed the algorithm in Appendix A specifically for this study. This SPSS algorithm produces bootstrap samples, computes proportions of 1s for five indicator variables and tests three trend components (linear, quadratic and cubic) for these proportions. The significance testing performed in the algorithm takes into account the dependence among the proportions.

The linear component of trend analysis is used to test if there is an overall increase or decrease in the dependent variable (e.g. proportion of adults with diagnosed diabetes who received X services) over the five years of the study. The quadratic component of trend analysis

is used to test whether the slope increases / decreases in the dependent variable. The cubic component of trend analysis is used to test whether the slope changes twice (decreasing and then increasing or increasing and then decreasing) in the dependent variable.

Binary logistic regression is used to estimate the probability that an event occurs when the dependent variable is a dichotomy and the independents are of any type. Four binary logistic regression models were constructed to test the relationship between the study population characteristics and adherence to recommended clinical procedures and utilization of physician, acute care and total costs. The first model examined the relationship between the independent variables (patient characteristics including gender, age, socio-economic status, location of residence, diabetes-specific severity and level of morbidity) and the likelihood of being in the low or high adherence group. The second, third and fourth models examined the relationship between the independent variables (patient characteristics including gender, age, socio-economic status, location of residence, diabetes-specific severity, level of morbidity and level of adherence) and the likelihood of being in the low or high average annual physician, acute care and total cost categories, respectively.

The general strategy used in constructing all four models was similar. The first step was a univariate analysis in order to explore the relationship between the covariates and the response variable and to estimate the strength and significance of any observed relationship. All independent variables were treated as categorical. For each combination of independent variable and covariate, univariate logistic regression models were created to estimate unadjusted regression coefficients and to examine for statistically significant associations.

The choice of a reference category (or 'left-out' group) is important as the beta coefficients for dummy variables will reflect changes in the dependent with respect to the

reference group. At least three considerations should be taken into account in choosing the reference group. The first is that the reference group is well defined; comparing to a miscellaneous reference group would not be appropriate. Second, the reference group should not be one with a small sample size as this could lead to unstable reference comparisons. Thirdly, it may be more appropriate to choose a 'middle' category rather than a group at either extreme as comparisons with median groups are usually easier to interpret than comparisons with extremes.

The choice of reference group for this study was based on a combination of sample size and middle categories. Middle categories were chosen when the sample size was sufficient and the middle category was meaningful (e.g. the middle age group of 50-59 was chosen; a socioeconomic status of 3 was chosen; medium morbidity and a severity index of one or more intermediate complications was chosen). Patients were grouped into local health areas to reflect their place of residence. The LHA of Surrey was chosen as the reference sample because it was the LHA with the largest population size. Finally the male gender was randomly chosen as the reference category for gender.

Based on the results of the univariate analysis, the second step involved selecting variables for entry into the full multivariate model. Any variable for which the univariate test had a *p* value of less than 0.25 was considered a candidate for the multivariate model. The 0.25 level has been suggested as an appropriate level for selection of candidate variables for both linear (Bendel and Afifi, 1977) and logistic regression (Mickey and Greenland, 1989) models. These authors have demonstrated that the use of the more traditional level of 0.05 for variable selection often fails to identify important variables. In addition, any variable of known or hypothesized significance was assessed in the full model regardless of the significance results in the univariate analysis.
The independent variables were then incorporated into the Binary Logistic Regression function of SPSS based on the explanatory power of the variable. Once all of the variables were assimilated in the model, each variable was sequentially removed in reverse order to assess the impact of the exclusion of each variable from the full or main effects model.

After the development of the main effects model, all possible two-way interactions were tested individually based on Wald statistics and their *p*-values (p<0.05). To assess these potential interactions in the model, the main effects were entered as a block and the potential two-way interactions were included as a second block using the Forward Stepwise (Likelihood Ratio) approach. This approach identified any two-way interactions that remained significant (p<0.05) after adjusting for the other variables in the model.

Potential three-way interactions were then tested based on the Wald statistic and its *p*-value (p<0.05) for the variables found to be significant in the two-way interactions. To assess these potential interactions in the model, the main effects were entered as a block and the significant two-way interactions and any potential three-way interactions were included as a second block using the Forward Stepwise (Likelihood Ratio) approach. This approach identified any two- and three-way interactions that remained significant after adjusting for the other variables in the model. These significant two- and three-way interactions were included with the main effects to generate the final fitted model.

Nagelkerke's R-Square (Nagelkerke, 1991) was used in measuring the strength of association between the independent and dependent variables. This measure seeks to make a statement about the percent of the variance in the dependent variable explained by the independent variable(s). Nagelkerke's R-Square was used to measure the strength of association between each independent and the dependent variable in the univariate analyses and to assess the

strength of the association between the independent variables selected for the final fitted multivariate models and the appropriate dependent variable.

Hosmer and Lemeshow's (1989) goodness-of-fit test was used in assessing the final multivariate model for goodness-of-fit. This test divides subjects into deciles based on predicted probabilities, then computes a chi-square from observed and expected frequencies. Then a probability (p) value is computed from the chi-square distribution with eight degrees of freedom to test the fit of the logistic regression model. A *p*-value of greater than 0.05 indicates that the model's estimates fit the data at an acceptable level.

CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

4.1 Description of the Study Population

4.1.1 Overview of Study Population

As discussed in *Chapter 3*, a cohort of 20,228 adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes was selected based on an algorithm of two or more physician service claims or one hospitalization with a diagnostic code of diabetes within the two year period from April 1, 1998 to March 31, 2001. The population of 20,228 excludes:

- those who moved in or out of the Fraser Health Authority geographic region during the five years from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001;
- incident cases;
- those who were under the age of 30 on April 1, 1998 (as a proxy for type 1 diabetes);
- those who died during the five year study period;
- those who had a serious illness (end stage renal disease, AIDS, high impact cancers) which likely would be the focus of care, potentially to the exclusion of adherence to the measures and services tracked in this study; and
- those 80 years of age and older.

The population of 20,228 represents a relatively stable cohort of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes for whom adherence to the measures and services tracked in this study could be expected to be appropriate.

Table 4-1 provides a summary of the population characteristics of this cohort over the five year period.

[Fable 4	-1 Stud	dy Popu	lation (Characte	eristics				
	199	6/97	199	7/98	1998	3/99	199	9/00	200	0/01
	#	%	#	%	#	%	#	%	#	%
Total Population	20,228		20,228		20,228		20,228		20,228	
By Sex										
Female	9,256	45.9%	9,256	45.9%	9,256	45.9%	9,256	45.9%	9,256	45.9%
Male	10,917	54.1%	10,917	54.1%	10,917	54.1%	10,917	54.1%	10,917	54.1%
By Age										
30-39	1,346	6.7%	1,197	5.9%	1,081	5.3%	914	4.6%	753	3.9%
40-49	3,389	16.9%	3,103	15.4%	2,795	13.8%	2,552	12.8%	2,306	11.8%
50-59	5,156	25.6%	5,122	25.4%	5,054	25.0%	4,881	24.5%	4,797	24.6%
60-69	6,358	31.6%	6,294	31.2%	6,205	30.7%	6,143	30.9%	5,991	30.7%
70-79	3,860	19.2%	4,448	22.1%	5,093	25.2%	5,422	27.2%	5,671	29.1%
By Socio-Economic Status										
Quintile 1 (Low)	3,998	21.3%	4,034	20.6%	4,026	20.3%	4,196	21.4%	4,221	21.5%
Quintile 2	4,215	22.5%	4,292	21.9%	4,330	21.8%	4,445	22.7%	4,421	22.5%
Quintile 3	4.380	23.4%	4,586	23.4%	4.638	23.4%	4.341	22.1%	4.350	22.1%
Quintile 4	3,709	19.8%	4.044	20.6%	4,121	20.8%	4.045	20.6%	4.090	20.8%
Quintile 5 (High)	2,433	13.0%	2,649	13.5%	2,706	13.7%	2,593	13.2%	2,573	13.1%
By Morbidity										
Verv Low	334	1 7%	334	1 7%	334	1 7%	334	1 7%	334	1 7%
	2 186	10.9%	2 186	10.9%	2 186	10.9%	2 186	10.9%	2 186	10.9%
Medium	4 500	22.4%	4 500	22.4%	4 500	22.4%	4 500	22.4%	4 500	22.4%
High	7 110	37.1%	7 110	37.1%	7 110	37 1%	7 //0	37.1%	7 449	37.1%
Very High	5,622	28.0%	5,622	28.0%	5,622	28.0%	5,622	28.0%	5,622	28.0%
By Disease Specific Severity Index										
No Complications	6 266	21 50/	6 266	21 50/	6 266	21 50/	6 266	21 E0/	6 266	21 50/
No Complications	0,300	31.3%	0,300	31.3%	0,300	31.3%	0,300	31.3%	0,300	31.3%
1 of More Intermediate Complications	6,951	34.4%	6,951	34.4%	6,951	34.4%	6,951	34.4%	6,951	34.4%
1 Or More Intermediate Complications	0,209	31.1%	0,209	31.1%	0,209	31.1%	0,209	31.1%	0,209	31.1%
2 or More Major Complications	284	1.7%	284	1.7%	284	1.7%	284	1.7%	284	1.7%
	201	1.170	201	1.170	201	1.170	201	1.170	201	1.170
By Patient Residence	1 0 2 0	5 10/	1 025	5 10/	1 025	5 10/	1.046	5 2%	1 042	5 2%
LHA 202 - S. Sulley / WR	1,020	0.1%	1,025	0.1%	1,035	0.1%	1,040	0.2%	1,043	0.2%
LHA 201 - Surrey	4,820	23.8%	4,845	24.0%	4,801	24.0%	4,882	24.1%	4,874	24.1%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	123	0.0%	123	0.0%	123	0.6%	125	0.6%	127	0.0%
LHA 075 - MISSION	558	2.8%	557	2.8%	560	2.8%	555	2.7%	562	2.8%
LHA 043 - Coquitiam	2,456	12.1%	2,437	12.0%	2,434	12.0%	2,434	12.0%	2,408	11.9%
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	1,037	5.1%	1,054	5.2%	1,056	5.2%	1,069	5.3%	1,085	5.4%
LHA 041 - Burnaby	3,365	16.6%	3,287	16.2%	3,253	16.1%	3,206	15.8%	3,184	15.7%
LHA 040 - New Westminster	903	4.5%	911	4.5%	903	4.5%	908	4.5%	915	4.5%
LHA 037 - Delta	1,442	7.1%	1,420	7.0%	1,404	6.9%	1,380	6.8%	1,369	6.8%
LHA 035 - Langley	1,549	7.7%	1,574	7.8%	1,564	7.7%	1,556	7.7%	1,573	7.8%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	1,781	8.8%	1,811	9.0%	1,837	9.1%	1,854	9.2%	1,861	9.2%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	1,038	5.1%	1,052	5.2%	1,065	5.3%	1,080	5.3%	1,090	5.4%
LHA 032 - Hope	130	0.6%	132	0.7%	133	0.7%	133	0.7%	137	0.7%

In the median year (fiscal 1998/99), 46% of the population was female. The majority (56%) of individuals were between the ages of 50 and 69. Few individuals were in the very low morbidity group (1.7%) with the majority being in either the high or very high morbidity groups (65.1%). One hundred and thirty seven individuals were in the 'pregnancy' ACG. Based on the disease-specific severity information, a substantial number of individuals (32%) were assessed as having no diabetes specific complicating conditions (as defined in section 3.6.2 Patient

Characteristics) while few individuals had one or more major diabetes specific complicating conditions (3%). The local health area with the largest contingent of patients was Surrey (24%) followed by Burnaby (16%) and Coquitlam (12%).

There were no missing variables for age, local health area, general morbidity or diseasespecific severity index. While information on age was available for the entire cohort, information on gender was missing for 55 (0.27%) individuals. Information on socio-economic status was missing for 1,493 (7.38%) individuals in 1996/97, 623 (3.08%) individuals in 1997/98, 407 (2.01%) individuals in 1998/99, 608 (3.00%) individuals in 1999/00 and 574 (2.84%) individuals in 2000/01.

4.1.2 Age and Gender

The mean age for the entire population is 60.3 years (SD 11.5), 60.8 years for females (SD 11.8) and 59.8 years for males (SD 11.3). The median age for the entire population is 62 years with an interquartile range (IQR) of 18, 63 years (IQR of 18) for females and 61 years (IQR of 17) for males. Information on the frequency distribution by age (on April 1, 1998) and gender is provided on Table 4-2 and Figure 4-1.

	Table 4-2 Frequency Distribution											
		For Ag	e (April 1,	1998) and	Gender							
					0/2	Cumulative	Cumulative %					
Age	Female	Male	Unknown	Total	Frequency	Frequency	Frequency					
0							1 7					
30	34	30	-	64	0.17%	64	0.32%					
31	28	27	-	55	0.14%	119	0.59%					
32	38	41	-	79	0.19%	198	0.98%					
33	40	39	-	79	0.20%	277	1.37%					
34	49	54	-	103	0.24%	380	1.88%					
35	62	65	-	127	0.31%	507	2.51%					
36	59	59	-	118	0.29%	625	3.09%					
37	62	66	-	128	0.31%	753	3.72%					
38	80	81	-	161	0.40%	914	4.52%					
39	79	88	-	167	0.39%	1,081	5.34%					
40	84	96	-	180	0.42%	1,261	6.23%					
41	91	113	-	204	0.45%	1,465	7.24%					
42	85	121	-	206	0.42%	1,671	8.26%					
43	114	123	-	237	0.56%	1,908	9.43%					
44	101	147	-	248	0.50%	2,156	10.66%					
45	109	190	-	299	0.54%	2,455	12.14%					
46	121	166	-	287	0.60%	2,742	13.56%					
47	155	162	-	317	0.77%	3,059	15.12%					
48	170	237	-	407	0.84%	3,466	17.13%					
49	186	224	-	410	0.92%	3,876	19.16%					
50	219	269	-	488	1.08%	4,364	21.57%					
51	220	270	-	490	1.09%	4,854	24.00%					
52	184	259	-	443	0.91%	5,297	26.19%					
53	195	277	-	472	0.96%	5,769	28.52%					
54	196	281	-	477	0.97%	6,246	30.88%					
55	232	289	2	523	1.15%	6,769	33.46%					
56	219	304	3	526	1.08%	7,295	36.06%					
57	253	307	1	561	1.25%	7,856	38.84%					
58	207	284	-	491	1.02%	8,347	41.26%					
59	222	358	3	583	1.10%	8,930	44.15%					
60	236	320	-	556	1.17%	9,486	46.90%					
61	218	306	-	524	1.08%	10,010	49.49%					
62	274	335	2	611	1.35%	10,621	52.51%					
63	243	350	3	596	1.20%	11,217	55.45%					
64	288	365	1	654	1.42%	11,871	58.69%					
65	303	332	2	637	1.50%	12,508	61.84%					
66	269	386	1	656	1.33%	13,164	65.08%					
67	323	358	2	683	1.60%	13,847	68.45%					
68	306	331	6	643	1.51%	14,490	71.63%					
69	289	352	4	645	1.43%	15,135	74.82%					
70	321	323	1	645	1.59%	15,780	78.01%					
71	295	290	3	588	1.46%	16,368	80.92%					
72	329	309	-	638	1.63%	17,006	84.07%					
73	301	289	2	592	1.49%	17,598	87.00%					
74	268	253	2	523	1.32%	18,121	89.58%					
75	234	259	4	497	1.16%	18,618	92.04%					
76	248	215	5	468	1.23%	19,086	94.35%					
77	221	206	5	432	1.09%	19,518	96.49%					
78	213	178	3	394	1.05%	19,912	98.44%					
79	183	133	-	316	0.90%	20,228	100.00%					
Total	9,256	10,917	55	20,228	100.00%							



Figure 4-1 Frequency Distribution By Age (April 1, 1998) and Gender

4.1.3 Prevalence and Incidence Rates

How does the population of adults with diagnosed type 1 and 2 diagnosis living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority compare to other published results on the prevalence of diagnosed diabetes?

The calculation of prevalence from this study population is based on the initial draw of 64,020 individuals less MSP exclusions (n=168), diagnostic rule-outs (n=18,054), children (n=800), and gestational diabetes (n=1,106) for a total of 43,998 individuals (see section 3.5.12 Summary). In addition, 141 of those who were under the age of 20 on April 1, 1996 were 20 or 21 by April 1, 1998. In total, there were 44,033 adults with diagnosed type 1 or 2 diabetes identified as of April 1, 1998. Patients with type 1 diabetes are included in the calculation of

prevalence and incidence rates for comparability with rates in other jurisdictions. As noted earlier, the identification of individuals with type 1 diabetes using administrative data is difficult and thus combined rates are usually calculated for type 1 and 2 diabetes.

The calculated prevalence per 100 population by age and gender is indicated on table 4-3. Furthermore, this prevalence is compared to the prevalence from Ontario for that same year (1998) as identified by Hux and Tang (2003).

-						
	Table 4-3	People	with Diag	gnosed [Diabetes	6
		Frase	r Health - 1	998		
			Age Gr	roup		
	20-34	35-49	50-64	65-74	75+	Total
Females	1,310	3,343	6,338	5,083	4,126	20,200
Males	1,011	4,498	8,773	5,845	3,588	23,715
Unknown		1	19	37	61	118
Total	2,321	7,842	15,130	10,965	7,775	44,033
			Popula	ntion		
	20-34	35-49	50-64	65-74	75+	Total
Females	142,722	161,847	93,667	47,053	42,876	488,165
Males	147,220	165,673	95,484	39,502	25,294	473,173
Total	289,942	327,520	189,151	86,555	68,170	961,338
		_ /	(5 (
		Prevalen	ce (Rate pe	er 100 Pop	oulation)	
	20-34	35-49	50-64	65-74	75+	Total
Females	0.92	2.07	6.77	10.80	9.62	4.14
Males	0.69	2.71	9.19	14.80	14.19	5.01
Total	0.80	2.39	8.00	12.67	11.41	4.58
		D				
		Prev	alence in C		998	
	~ ~ ~ /	Ra	ate per 100	Populatio	n 	
	20-34	35-49	50-64	65-74	/5+	l otal
Females	0.96	2.77	8.04	13.89	15.17	
Males	0.74	3.28	10.99	17.74	18.98	
Total						E 02
						5.02

The prevalence for this study population and those for Ontario as a whole are very similar for the 20-34 year age group for both males and females. The rates for the older cohorts, however, are consistently higher for the Ontario population than this study population. For all adults with diagnosed type 1 and 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority, the prevalence rate per 100 in 1998 was 4.58 compared to 5.82 for Ontario. These summary rates are not directly comparable as they have not been adjusted for differences in the age and gender structure of the two populations in 1998.

The incidence rate for the current study population is based on the 12,569 identified incident cases (Table 4-4). Furthermore, this incidence rate is compared to the incidence rate from Ontario for that same year (1998) as identified by Hux and Tang (2003).

Tab	Table 4-4 People with Newly Diagnosed Diabetes Fraser Health and Ontario - 1998											
			Age Gı	roup								
	20-34	35-49	50-64	65-74	75+	Total						
Females	620	1,222	1,808	1,162	932	5,744						
Males	380	1,704	2,540	1,385	787	6,796						
Unknown	-	1	4	9	15	29						
Total	1,000	2,927	4,352	2,556	1,734	12,569						
	Population 20-34 35-49 50-64 65-74 75+ Total											
	20-34	35-49	50-64	65-74	75+	Total						
Females	142,722	161,847	93,667	47,053	42,876	488,165						
Males	147,220	165,673	95,484	39,502	25,294	473,173						
Total	289,942	327,520	189,151	86,555	68,170	961,338						
		Incidenc	e (Rate per	⁻ 100 Popi	ulation)							
	20-34	35-49	50-64	65-74	75+	Total						
Females	0.43	0.76	1.93	2.47	2.17	1.18						
Males	0.26	1.03	2.66	3.51	3.11	1.44						
Total	0.34	0.89	2.30	2.95	2.54	1.31						
		Incio Ra	dence in Oi te per 100	ntario - 19 <i>Populatio</i>	98 n							
	20-34	35-49	50-64	65-74	75+	Total						
Females	0.17	0.41	0.99	1.32	1.28							
Males	0.12	0.51	1.30	1.66	1.56							
Total						0.66						

Unlike the comparison of prevalence between the study sample and the Ontario population, the incidence rates by age and gender for the study sample are consistently higher (almost 2-fold) than the Ontario incidence rates. This is likely due to the fact that we used a twoyear wash-out period. In other words, the data from the two years prior to April 1, 1998 was examined in order to discover newly diagnosed cases during the period of interest, which ran from April 1/96 to March 31, 1998 (i.e. no ICD9-250 codes during this two year period). The Ontario study used a three-year wash-out period. With a longer wash-out period, fewer cases would be identified as newly diagnosed rather than existing cases.

4.1.4 False Negative Results in Diagnostic Rule-outs

As noted earlier, Hux and colleagues (2002) in Ontario have tested two algorithms for assessing the prevalence of diabetes using an administrative data base, including one which required only one physician service claim. They found that using only a single physician service claim resulted in an unacceptable level of false positive identifications, possibly due to cases where diabetes was suspected but subsequent laboratory tests did not confirm this suspicion. In this study, we have called patients with only one MSP ICD9-250 claim during the two year period from April 1, 1998 to March 31, 2000 diagnostic rule-outs. As identified in section 3.5.3. Diagnostic Rule-Outs, this is a significant group of patients (18,054 in this study).

While the issue of false positive identifications using the one physician service code algorithm is an important one, is the issue of false negatives also significant? That is, are there a group of patients whom we have identified as diagnostic rule-outs that might indeed be individuals with diagnosed diabetes? To address this question, we examined the use of the ICD9-250 code for each of these 18,054 patients during the two-year period from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 1998. The results are indicated on table 4-5.

Table 4-5 Diagnostic Rule-Outs False Negatives									
Percent	Number	ICD9-250 Codes During April 1, 1996 to March 31, 1998							
85.68%	15,469	No 250 Codes							
11.23%	2,027	No Hospital But At Least Two MSP 250 Codes							
2.02%	364	At Least One Hospital and Two or More MSP 250 Codes							
0.63%	113	At Least One Hospital But No MSP 250 Codes							
0.45%	81	At Least One Hospital and One MSP 250 Code							
100.00%	18,054	Total							

Based on the use of the ICD9-250 code during April 1, 1996 to March 31, 1998 in either the physician or hospitalization data, 2,585 of the 18,054 diagnostic rule-outs (or 14.3%) would be identified as having diagnosed type 1 or 2 diabetes. That is, if the time frame used to identify individuals with diagnosed type 1 or 2 diabetes in this study population were expanded from a two-year period (April 1, 1998 to March 31, 2000) to a four-year period (April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2000), then we would have identified an additional 2,585 of the initial study population as having diagnosed diabetes as opposed to including these patients in the diagnostic rule-out group.

4.1.5 Comparison of the Generic Morbidity and Disease-Specific Severity Indices

As noted in section 3.6.2 Patient Characteristics, two measures of morbidity were utilized in this study. The first is a generic morbidity index used by Broemeling et al. (2005) in British Columbia while the second is a disease-specific severity index developed by Reid (1998). These two indices measure different concepts in that the general measure of morbidity provides a gauge of the level of co-morbidities experienced by the patient over time, regardless of whether these co-morbidities are directly associated with the patient's diabetes while the diabetes-specific disease severity index provides a measure of the level and severity of diabetes-specific complicating conditions that influence diabetes management. The following comparison clearly indicates this difference.

Table 4-6 presents information on the diabetes disease-specific severity index for the population as a whole and by age group. On the whole, diabetes related complicating conditions were fairly common, with 13,862 (69%) of the population having at least one such diagnosis. The majority of patients had relatively minor complicating conditions as only 622 (3.1%) patients were assigned diabetes related codes relating to a major complicating condition. This

low proportion may at least be partially due to the exclusion of individuals with high impact diseases from the final study population. Included in this exclusion group of high impact diseases, for example, were 282 individuals with diagnosed end stage renal disease. Renal disease is one of the major complicating conditions identified in the diabetes disease-specific severity index.

Tab	le 4-6 Dis	ease Spe By Age	cific Seve Group	Table 4-6 Disease Specific Severity Index By Age Group												
DSS Index	30-39	4 0-49	\ge Group 50-59	60-69	70-79	Total										
No Complications	645	1,335	1.817	1.573	996	6,366										
1 or More Minor	233	904	1.920	2.319	1.575	6,951										
1 or More Intermediate	139	478	1,182	2,135	2,355	6,289										
1 Major	32	38	65	100	103	338										
2 or More Major	32	40	70	78	64	284										
Total	1,081	2,795	5,054	6,205	5,093	20,228										
		1	Age Group													
DSS Index	30-39	40-49	50-59	60-69	70-79											
No Complications	60%	48%	36%	25%	20%	31%										
1 or More Minor	22%	32%	38%	37%	31%	34%										
1 or More Intermediate	13%	17%	23%	34%	46%	31%										
1 Major	3%	1%	1%	2%	2%	2%										
2 or More Major	3%	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%										
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%										

A total of 31% (6,366) of individuals had no diabetes-related complicating conditions. This proportion is substantially different when the age of the individual is taken into account. Fully 60% of individuals aged 30-39 had no diabetes-related complicating conditions compared

to just 20% of those aged 70-79.

The majority of the study population had one or more minor or intermediate complicating conditions (65% or 13,240). The proportion of the population with one or more minor or

intermediate complicating conditions also increased with age. Only 35% of the study population aged 30-39 fit within this category compared to 76% of those aged 70-79.

Information based on the generic morbidity index used in this study is presented in table 4-7 for the population as a whole and by age group. On the whole, 2% (334) of the study population were in the very low morbidity category, 11% (2,286) in the low category, 22% (4,500) in the medium category, 37% (7,449) in the high category and 28% (5,622) in the very high category.

ACG 3 Very Low Low Medium High	30-39 16 118 264 344	40-49 58 371 729	Age Group 50-59 109 646	60-69 100 669	70-79 51 382	Total
Very Low Low Medium High	16 118 264 344	58 371 729	109 646	100 669	51 382	334
Low Medium High	118 264 344	371 729	646	669	382	
Medium	264 344	729	1 256	000		2,186
High	344	0.05	1.200	1.350	901	4.500
		965	1,804	2,339	1,997	7,449
Very High	243	654	1,219	1,744	1,762	5,622
Pregnancy	96	18	20	3	-	137
Total	1,081	2,795	5,054	6,205	5,093	20,228
ACG (30-39	م 40-49	\ge Group 50-59	60-69	70-79	
Very Low	1%	2%	2%	2%	1%	2%
Low	11%	13%	13%	11%	8%	11%
Medium	24%	26%	25%	22%	18%	22%
High	32%	35%	36%	38%	39%	37%
Very High	22%	23%	24%	28%	35%	28%
Pregnancy	9%	1%	0%	0%	0%	1%
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%

The fact that 65% of the study population was in the top two morbidity groups is significantly different than the findings by Broemeling et al. (2005) who studied data from the entire province of British Columbia. In the current study, we followed the methodology of

Broemeling et al. (2005) in assigning individuals with an index condition of diabetes to five groups based on their co-morbidity level. The presence of co-morbidities was identified using ACGs (see Section 3.6.2 Patient Characteristics). A comparison of the proportion of adults with diagnosed diabetes in each of the five morbidity categories between the two studies is indicated below.

- Level 1 No co-morbidity (just diabetes) 9% in Broemeling vs. 1.7% in current study
- Level 2 Low co-morbidity (2 or 3 types of conditions) 29% vs. 10.9%
- Level 3 Medium co-morbidity (4 or 5 types of conditions) 30% vs. 22.4%
- Level 4 High co-morbidity (6 to 9 types of conditions) 25% vs. 37.1%
- Level 5 Very high co-morbidity (10+ types of conditions) 7% vs. 28.0%

One likely explanation for this difference is the exclusion of incident cases (N=12,569) from the current study population. Incident cases are more likely to be in the lower rather than the higher co-morbidity groups. In addition, individuals under the age of 30 were excluded from the study sample to reduce the possibility of including patients with type 1 diabetes. As with incident cases, however, these excluded younger patients are more likely to be in the lower rather than the higher co-morbidity groups. In the 30-39 year age group, for example, only 54% of the population was in the high or very high co-morbidity category compared with 74% of those aged 70-79.

A comparison of the results of the disease-specific severity index and the generic morbidity index is provided in table 4-8.

Table	Table 4-8 Comparison of Generic Morbidity Index (ACG) and											
		Disease	-specific Sev	erity Inde	ex							
		Disease-	Specific Sever	ity Index								
		Presei	nce of Complica	ations								
		1 or More	1 or More	One	2 or More							
ACG	None	Minor	Intermediate	Major	Major	Total						
Vervlow	208	121	5	-	-	334						
Low	1.174	786	221	2	3	2.186						
Medium	1,910	1,727	828	24	11	4,500						
High	2,113	2,586	2,551	125	74	7,449						
Very High	878	1,703	2,661	184	196	5,622						
Pregnancy	83	28	23	3	-	137						
Total	6,366	6,951	6,289	338	284	20,228						
		Disease-	Specific Sever	itv Index								
		Presei	nce of Complica	ations								
		1 or More	, 1 or More	One	2 or More							
ACG	None	Minor	Intermediate	Major	Major							
Verv Low	3%	2%	0%	0%	0%							
Low	18%	11%	4%	1%	1%							
Medium	30%	25%	13%	7%	4%							
High	33%	37%	41%	37%	26%							
Very High	14%	25%	42%	54%	69%							
Pregnancy	1%	0%	0%	1%	0%							
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%							

What is particularly noticeable in this comparison is the fact that 47% (2,991 of 6,366) of patients who had no diabetes-related complications were assigned to the high or very high generic morbidity category. This suggests that these individuals had a constellation of at least six co-morbidities unrelated to the specific complicating conditions identified by the disease-specific severity index.

4.2 Description of Individual Adherence Variables

4.2.1 Overview

A key aim of this study was to determine whether adherence to a series of recommended tests and procedures for adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority had changed during the five years from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001. Adherence was measured based on the receipt of the following recommended services:

- Two or more HbA1c tests during each fiscal year
- At least one retinal eye exam during each fiscal year
- At least one urinary microalbumin test during each fiscal year
- At least one serum lipid test every three years
- At least four blood pressure measurements each year. The proxy measure for this is whether or not at least four visits to a general practitioner had taken place during each fiscal year.

In addition, the overall receipt of recommended services was assessed for each individual on an annual basis to determine how many of the five recommended services they received. Individuals at either extreme (either they received all or none of the five recommended services) were identified.

A summary of all seven measures noted above is provided in table 4-9. A significant change was observed between 1996/97 and 2000/01 for all seven measures. As noted in Appendix C, however, there is considerable variability in the year by year changes. Figures 4-2 and 4-3 provide these same results in a graphic format.

Table 4-9 Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes														
		Receiv	ing the F	-ollowing	g Recomr	nendeo	d Servi	ces						
						Test for Trend								
	Fiscal Year					Linear			Quadratic			Cubic		
	1996/97	1997/98	1998/99	1999/00	2000/01	Mean	95%	6 CI	Mean	95%	6 CI	Mean	95%	6 CI
Two or More HbA1C Tests During the Year	34.8%	43.3%	45.9%	49.6%	51.7%	0.403	0.383	0.423	-0.117	-0.138	-0.096	0.043	0.025	0.062
At Least One Retinal Eye Exam During the Year	35.9%	40.2%	39.9%	40.8%	39.4%	0.076	0.059	0.095	-0.103	-0.122	-0.083	0.023	0.003	0.041
At least One Microalbumin Test During the Year	13.2%	20.4%	25.8%	34.1%	37.6%	0.626	0.609	0.643	-0.043	-0.062	-0.025	-0.032	-0.048	-0.015
At Least One Lipid Test		77.1%												
Every Three Years			80.4%											
				82.2%										
At least Four Blood Pressure														
Measurements During the Year	80.5%	84.6%	84.3%	86.1%	85.4%	0.112	0.097	0.128	-0.074	-0.090	-0.059	0.020	0.007	0.032
Received all Services	3.9%	6.1%	7.0%	9.9%	10.7%	0.175	0.163	0.186	-0.007	-0.019	0.006	-0.009	-0.020	0.002
Received None of the Services	3.0%	1.8%	1.7%	1.8%	2.2%	-0.017	-0.024	-0.010	0.034	0.027	0.040	-0.008	-0.014	-0.003
Note: N=20,228														

Figure 4-2 Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Who Received Recommended Services





Figure 4-3 Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Who Received Recommended Services

Are all (or most) of the eye exams being captured through the Medical Service Plan (MSP) data available through the BC Linked Health Data Set? Routine eye exams were delisted from MSP coverage effective November 19, 2001, part way through the 2001/02 fiscal year, i.e. after the end of the current study period. Even with the delisting of routine eye exams, eye exams for patients with diabetes are still covered through MSP. The following is a quote from the November 27, 2001 *MSCommunique*. "A <u>routine</u> (their emphasis) eye examination is not a benefit for individuals 19-64 when not associated with an ocular or systemic disease or condition....An eye examination will still be an insured service if medically required. Medically

required eye examination may include the following:....Systemic disease associated with significant ocular risk (e.g. diabetes)....¹²

The MSP fee codes used in capturing eye exams for this study are grouped in table 4-10 by the physician group who provided the eye exam. In 2000/01, 28% of eye exams were provided by ophthalmologists while 72% were provided by optometrists. The "other" group of providers consists of general practitioners (122 exams in 2000/01) and out-of-province providers (220 exams in 2000/01).

Table 4-10 Eye Ex And	ams by Phy I Fiscal Year	ysician Spe	ecialty		
MSP Fee Item	1996/97	1997/98	1998/99	1999/00	2000/01
Ophthalmologist					
2010 - Consultation-Ophthalmology	190,076	201,825	198,143	210,837	211,108
2015 - Eye Examination	150,260	149,706	139,760	134,267	121,016
2039 - Fundus Photography	13,114	13,821	13,230	14,057	15,191
2040 - Retinoscopy Under General Anaesthetic	256	214	197	254	269
2898 - Reexamination or minor exam	-	-	-	-	-
2899 - Full Optometric Diagnostic	-	-	-	-	-
Subtotal	353,706	365,566	351,330	359,415	347,584
Optometrist					
2010 - Consultation-Ophthalmology	-	-	-	-	-
2015 - Eye Examination	-	-	-	-	-
2039 - Fundus Photography	-	-	-	-	-
2040 - Retinoscopy Under General Anaesthetic	-	-	-	-	-
2898 - Reexamination or minor exam	96,722	87,284	94,937	103,713	110,651
2899 - Full Optometric Diagnostic	759,333	680,772	707,558	766,286	786,958
Subtotal	856,055	768,056	802,495	869,999	897,609
Other					
2010 - Consultation-Ophthalmology	66	74	66	69	81
2015 - Eye Examination	1,938	1,976	1,995	1,409	57
2039 - Fundus Photography	17	8	11	6	134
2040 - Retinoscopy Under General Anaesthetic	-	-	-	1	-
2898 - Reexamination or minor exam	-	-	1	1	-
2899 - Full Optometric Diagnostic	29	51	49	54	70
Subtotal	2,050	2,109	2,122	1,540	342
Total	1,211,811	1,135,731	1,155,947	1,230,954	1,245,535

No specific fee code exists in MSP for a dilated retinal eye exam. It is possible, therefore, that the broader approach used in this study to track this recommended procedure may overestimate the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received a retinal eye exam. Routine eye exams were only delisted from MSP coverage after the end of the current

¹² See http://www.healthservices.gov.bc.ca/msp/legislation/communiques/2001.html (accessed March 2006)

study period. Even after they were delisted, however, routine eye exams for people with diabetes were still explicitly covered by MSP. As such, it is probable that the vast majority of eye exams are being captured through MSP, and thus are included in the data source used for this study.

4.2.2 Trend Analysis

As noted in Section 3.7 Analytic Methods the annual proportions represent measures based on the same sample of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes throughout the five year period. As such, the assumption of independence required for a Chi-square for trend test is not met. To address this issue, Dr. Bob Prosser developed an SPSS algorithm (see Appendix B) which produces bootstrap samples, computes proportions of 1s for five indicator variables and tests three trend components (linear, quadratic and cubic) for these proportions. The significance testing performed in the algorithm takes into account the dependence among the proportions.

The linear component of trend analysis is used to test if there is an overall increase or decrease in the dependent variable (e.g. proportion of adults with diagnosed diabetes who received X services) over the five years of the study. The quadratic component of trend analysis is used to test whether the slope increases or decreases in the dependent variable. The cubic component of trend analysis is used to test whether the slope changes twice (decreasing and then increasing or increasing and then decreasing) in the dependent variable. The results of testing for the statistical significance for trend are provided in table 4-9 above.

The mean value of the linear component for the target services is as follows:

- Two or more HbA1c tests per year 0.40 (95% CI of 0.38 to 0.42)
- At least one eye exam per year 0.08 (95% CI of 0.06 to 0.10)
- At least one urinary microalbumin test per year 0.63 (95% CI of 0.61 to 0.64)
- At least four BP measurements per year 0.11 (95% CI of 0.10 to 0.13)

Since the 95% confidence interval does not contain 0 for either of these measures, this indicates that there is a significant positive linear trend over the five years for each measure. Since neither of the quadratic or cubic 95% CIs contains 0 for any of these measures, this indicates that there is also a significant non-linearity to the trend for each individual measure. Thus, it is safe to say that there was improvement in each measure, although the degree of improvement was not predictable from year to year.

Similarly, the mean value of the linear component for receiving all five services per year is about 0.18 (95% CI of 0.16 to 0.19). Since the 95% CI does not contain 0, this indicates that there is a significant positive linear trend over the five years for the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received all five services per year. Both the quadratic and cubic 95% CIs contain 0, indicating that this is a linear trend. Therefore, the improvement in the proportion of patients receiving all five procedures was consistent and the degree of improvement could be predicted from year to year.

The mean value of the linear component for receiving none of the five services per year is about -0.017 (95% CI of -0.024 to -0.010). Since the 95% CI does not contain 0, this indicates that there is a significant *negative* linear trend. Since neither of the quadratic or cubic 95% CIs contains 0, this indicates that there is also a significant non-linearity to the trend. Indeed, as noted in Appendix C, this is one variable in which a significant increase was observed between 1999/00 and 2000/01 compared to a significant decrease between 1996/97 and 1997/98. In other words, the favourable drop in the number of individuals with diabetes receiving no service was not sustained, but began creeping up again.

4.3 Description of Summary Adherence Variables

4.3.1 Adherence as a Continuous Variable

The frequency distribution for adherence scores is as follows:

Table 4-11 Frequency Distribution For Adherence Scores												
Adherence Level	Frequency	% Frequency	Cumulative Frequency	Cumulative % Frequency								
			· · ·									
0	6	0.03%	6	0.03%								
1	33	0.16%	39	0.19%								
2	60	0.30%	99	0.49%								
3	127	0.63%	226	1.12%								
4	229	1.13%	455	2.25%								
5	457	2.26%	912	4.51%								
6	600	2.97%	1,512	7.47%								
7	870	4.30%	2,382	11.78%								
8	1253	6.19%	3,635	17.97%								
9	1501	7.42%	5,136	25.39%								
10	1812	8.96%	6,948	34.35%								
11	1905	9.42%	8,853	43.77%								
12	1935	9.57%	10,788	53.33%								
13	2001	9.89%	12,789	63.22%								
14	1795	8.87%	14,584	72.10%								
15	1554	7.68%	16,138	79.78%								
16	1330	6.58%	17,468	86.36%								
17	1018	5.03%	18,486	91.39%								
18	757	3.74%	19,243	95.13%								
19	462	2.28%	19,705	97.41%								
20	294	1.45%	19,999	98.87%								
21	149	0.74%	20,148	99.60%								
22	59	0.29%	20,207	99.90%								
23	21	0.10%	20,228	100.00%								
Total	20,228	100.00%										

This same information is provided in graphical format on figure 4-4.



Figure 4-4 Frequency Distribution for Adherence Scores

Descriptive information on adherence as a continuous variable is provided in table 4-12. The overall mean score for the population of 20,228 was 12.14 (standard deviation of 3.87; median of 12). Only 6 patients received a score of 0 and 21 received a score of 23. These two scores represent the extremes of potential adherence.

Based on the mean adherence scores as presented in table 4-12, higher mean adherence scores in the study sample are observed in females, who scored 12.37 compared to males, who scored 11.94. In addition, overall mean adherence scores tend to increase with age (10.66 for 30-39 year olds to 12.88 for 60-69 year olds) and higher levels of morbidity (9.65 for very low morbidity to 13.07 for very high morbidity). There appears to be a marginal increase in the mean adherence score when comparing individuals with a higher socio-economic status (quintiles 4 or

5) to individuals with a low socio-economic status (quintile 1). The overall mean adherence

score by local health area ranges from a low of 11.21 in Mission to a high of 12.80 in Langley.

Table 4-12 Ac	Table 4-12 Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes												
	Mean	Adhere	ence Sc	ores									
					Gender								
		Female			Male			Total					
	Mean	95%	6 CI	Mean	95%	% CI	Mean	95%	6 CI				
Total Sample	12.37	12.29	12.45	11.94	11.87	12.01	12.14	12.08	12.19				
By Age (in year 3)													
30-39	10.66	10.30	11.02	10.35	10.03	10.66	10.50	10.27	10.74				
40-49	11.73	11.51	11.95	10.95	10.76	11.14	11.29	11.15	11.43				
50-59	12.45	12.29	12.61	11.58	11.44	11.72	11.95	11.84	12.05				
60-69	12.88	12.74	13.02	12.56	12.44	12.69	12.70	12.61	12.79				
70-79	12.42	12.27	12.56	12.49	12.33	12.64	12.45	12.34	12.55				
By Socio-Economic Status (in year 3)													
Quintile 1 (Low)	12 26	12 10	12 43	11 69	11 52	11 86	11 98	11 86	12 10				
Quintile 2	12.20	12.10	12.10	12.03	11.02	12 19	12 10	11.00	12.10				
Quintile 3	12.17	12.00	12.01	11.85	11.67	12.10	12.10	12 01	12.21				
Quintile 4	12.58	12 40	12.00	12 14	11.98	12 29	12.33	12 21	12 45				
Quintile 5 (High)	12.60	12.37	12.82	12.03	11.84	12.22	12.26	12.11	12.40				
By Morbidity													
Very Low	9.65	8.80	10.50	8.79	8.29	9.30	9.06	8.63	9.50				
Low	10.59	10.30	10.89	10.25	10.04	10.46	10.36	10.19	10.53				
	11.70	11.53	11.87	11.32	11.18	11.47	11.48	11.37	11.59				
High	12.69	12.57	12.82	12.38	12.26	12.49	12.53	12.44	12.61				
Very High	13.07	12.94	13.20	13.06	12.93	13.20	13.07	12.97	13.16				
By Disease-Specific Severity Index													
No Complications	11.19	11.03	11.35	10.89	10.76	11.01	11.01	10.91	11.11				
1 or More Minor Complications	12.35	12.23	12.48	11.97	11.85	12.08	12.14	12.06	12.23				
1 or More Intermediate Complications	13.30	13.17	13.42	13.08	12.95	13.21	13.19	13.10	13.28				
1 Major Complication	13.01	12.43	13.58	12.76	12.14	13.38	12.90	12.48	13.32				
2 or More Major Complications	13.19	12.56	13.82	12.75	12.15	13.36	12.96	12.53	13.40				
By Patient Pasidanas (in year 2)													
LHA 202 S Surroy / M/bito Book	12.02	12 69	12.26	12 40	12 11	12 70	12.69	12 45	12.00				
LHA 202 - S. Sulley / While Rock	12.02	12.00	10.00	12.40	14.11	12.70	12.00	12.40	12.90				
LHA 201 - Sulley	12.19	12.03	12.50	12.75	11.03	12.67	12.09	11.07	12.00				
LHA 075 Mission	11.74	10.90	12.57	12.75	10.81	11 72	12.00	10.88	12.72				
LHA 0/3 Coquitlam	12.40	10.70	12.63	11.27	11 51	11.72	12.02	11.00	12.18				
LHA 042 - Manle Ridge	11.70	12.10	12.00	11.72	10.96	11.52	11 55	11.07	12.10				
I HA 041 - Burnaby	12 94	12 75	13 14	12 27	12.08	12 46	12 58	12 44	12 72				
I HA 040 - New Westminster	12.04	12.70	12.85	12.27	12.00	12.40	12.00	12.44	12.72				
I HA 037 - Delta	12 19	11.89	12.50	11.86	11.59	12 12	12.01	11.81	12.00				
I HA 035 - Langley	13.02	12.73	13.31	12 62	12.35	12.89	12.80	12.61	13.00				
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	11.68	11,43	11.93	11.58	11.34	11.83	11.62	11.45	11,80				
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	12.47	12.14	12.80	11.97	11.67	12.26	12.17	11.95	12.39				
LHA 032 - Hope	11.36	10.33	12.40	12.30	11.26	13.34	11.82	11.10	12.54				

The overall mean score of 12.14 suggests that, on average, 53% of the recommended tests or procedures were received by the study population over the five year period from 1996/97 to 2000/01. This compares to the finding in the study by McGlynn and co-authors (2003) that individuals with diagnosed diabetes in the United States received just 45% of the processes recommended for basic care of diabetes.

The range by geographic location of residence from 11.21 (49% of recommended tests) to 12.80 (56% of recommended tests) is substantially narrower than the unadjusted range observed between US states. Work by Jencks et al. (2000), for example, found that adherence varied significantly by US state, from 52 to 85% for annual HbA1c testing, 56 to 80% for biennial eye exams and 39 to 73% for biennial lipid profiles. A key difference in the current study, however, is that the measure of adherence is based on the repeated receipt of recommended clinical procedures during a five year period.

Do the individual adherence measures cluster? Is a patient who visits their GP four or more times per year more likely to receive optimal levels of the diagnostic procedures recommended for the management of diabetes? The crosstabulation data in tables 4-13 to 4-15 was prepared to help address this question.

In the study design, it was assumed that every visit to a general practitioner would include a blood pressure reading, since this is common practice. The diagnostic tests were discreet billable procedures, clearly identifiable in the MSP database. Thus, it was possible to tabulate the diagnostic procedures for each patient and look for patterns.

Tables 4-13 through 4-15 provide crosstabulation data for the years from 1999 to 2001. Just 49% of patients who see there GP four or more times per year also receive two or more HbA1c tests. The findings reveal a slight improvement over time (to 55% for HbA1c). The same

result is seen for the other measures. There is no strong evidence that seeing a family physician four times a year resulted in optimal diagnostic care for patients with diabetes. Thus simply increasing the number of visits to a GP does not appear to assure that the recommended clinical procedures will be received in a timely fashion.

Table 4-13 Relationship Between														
In	ndividual	Adheren	ce Meası	ures										
	Γ	Fiscal 1998	/99											
		Individual A	Adherence	Measure										
HbA1C Eye Micro BP Lipid Population 20,228														
Population	20,228	20,228	20,228	20,228	20,228									
# with Measure	9,293	8,080	5,215	17,051	15,603									
% with Measure	45.9%	39.9%	25.8%	84.3%	77.1%									
	HbA1C	Eye	Micro	BP	Lipid									
HbA1C	9,293	4,267	3,441	8,386	7,838									
Eye	4,267	8,080	2,463	7,020	6,392									
Micro	3,441	2,463	5,215	4,534	4,560									
BP	8,386	7,020	4,534	17,051	13,312									
Lipid	7,838	6,392	4,560	13,312	15,603									
-														
	HbA1C	Eye	Micro	BP	Lipid									
HbA1C	100%	46%	37%	90%	84%									
Eye	53%	100%	30%	87%	79%									
Micro	66%	47%	100%	87%	87%									
BP	49%	41%	27%	100%	78%									
Lipid	50%	41%	29%	85%	100%									

Ta I	able 4-14 Individual	Relatior Adherer Fiscal 199	nship Be nce Meas 9/00	tween sures	
		Individual A	Adherence	Measure	
	HbA1C	Eye	Micro	BP	Lipid
Population	20,228	20,228	20,228	20,228	20,228
# w Measure	10,035	8,260	6,906	17,411	16,265
% w Measure	49.6%	40.8%	34.1%	86.1%	80.4%
	HbA1C	Eye	Micro	BP	Lipid
HbA1C	10,035	4,739	4,705	9,150	8,704
Eye	4,739	8,260	3,236	7,330	6,882
Micro	4,705	3,236	6,906	6,115	6,241
BP	9,150	7,330	6,115	17,411	14,114
Lipid	8,704	6,882	6,241	14,114	16,265
	HbA1C	Eye	Micro	BP	Lipid
HbA1C	100%	47%	47%	91%	87%
Eye	57%	100%	39%	89%	83%
Micro	68%	47%	100%	89%	90%
BP	53%	42%	35%	100%	81%
Lipid	54%	42%	38%	87%	100%

Ta	able 4-15	Relation	nship Be	tween	
	ndividua	I Adherer	nce Meas	sures	
		Fiscal 200	0/01		
		Individual A	Adherence	Measure	
	HbA1C	Eye	Micro	BP	Lipid
Population	20,228	20,228	20,228	20,228	20,228
# w Measure	10,468	7,977	7,607	17,279	16,641
% w Measure	51.8%	39.4%	37.6%	85.4%	82.3%
	HbA1C	Eye	Micro	BP	Lipid
HbA1C	10,468	4,815	5,354	9,513	9,332
Eye	4,815	7,977	3,421	7,085	6,800
Micro	5,354	3,421	7,607	6,742	7,039
BP	9,513	7,085	6,742	17,279	14,406
Lipid	9,332	6,800	7,039	14,406	16,641
	HbA1C	Eye	Micro	BP	Lipid
HbA1C	100%	46%	51%	91%	89%
Eye	60%	100%	43%	89%	85%
Micro	70%	45%	100%	89%	93%
BP	55%	41%	39%	100%	83%
Lipid	56%	41%	42%	87%	100%

4.3.2 Adherence Analyzed as a Categorical Variable (Low, Med, High)

Overall, 25.4% (5,136) of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes were in the low adherence group, 46.7% (9,448) were in the medium adherence group and 27.9% (5,644) were in the high adherence group. Descriptive information on adherence as a categorical variable is provided in table 4-16.

Table 4-16 Proportion With Low	of Adı w, Med	ults wi ium or	th Dia High A	agnos Adhere	ed Ty nce	pe 2 [Diabet	tes	
			U	А	dherend	ce			
	%	Low 95%	6 CI	%	Medium 95%	n 6 Cl	%	High 95%	% CI
Total Population	25.4%	24.8%	26.0%	46.7%	46.0%	47.4%	27.9%	27.3%	28.5%
By Sex									
Female	23.4%	22.6%	24.3%	46.6%	45.6%	47.7%	29.9%	29.0%	30.9%
Male	27.0%	26.2%	27.9%	46.8%	45.8%	47.7%	26.2%	25.4%	27.0%
By Age (in Year 3)									10.001
30-39	41.5%	38.6%	44.5%	41.5%	38.6%	44.5%	17.0%	14.9%	19.3%
40-49	32.7%	31.0%	34.5%	46.1%	44.2%	47.9%	21.2%	19.8%	22.8%
50-59	20.9%	25.7%	28.2%	47.2%	45.8%	48.0%	25.9%	24.7%	27.1%
70,70	20.4%	19.5%	21.3%	47.3%	40.3%	40.0%	32.0%	20.9%	33.2%
70-79	22.3%	21.4%	23.1%	40.7 %	45.3%	40.0%	30.0%	29.0%	32.1%
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)									
Quintile 1 (I ow)	27.2%	25.9%	28.6%	46.0%	44 5%	47 6%	26.7%	25.4%	28 1%
Quintile 2	25.4%	24.1%	26.7%	47.4%	45.9%	48.9%	27.2%	25.9%	28.6%
Quintile 3	25.6%	24.3%	26.8%	47.0%	45.6%	48.5%	27.4%	26.2%	28.7%
Quintile 4	23.7%	22.4%	25.0%	46.7%	45.2%	48.2%	29.6%	28.2%	31.0%
Quintile 5 (High)	24.5%	22.9%	26.1%	46.1%	44.2%	48.0%	29.5%	27.8%	31.2%
By Morbidity									
Very Low	53.0%	47.6%	58.3%	36.5%	31.6%	41.8%	10.5%	7.6%	14.2%
Low	42.5%	40.4%	44.5%	41.4%	39.3%	43.4%	16.2%	14.7%	17.8%
Medium	31.5%	30.2%	32.9%	46.8%	45.3%	48.2%	21.7%	20.5%	22.9%
High	21.4%	20.5%	22.4%	48.0%	46.9%	49.2%	30.5%	29.5%	31.6%
Very High	17.0%	16.0%	18.0%	48.0%	46.7%	49.3%	35.1%	33.8%	36.3%
By Disease-Specific Severity Index									
No Complications	36.4%	35.2%	37.6%	43.3%	42 1%	44 5%	20.3%	19.3%	21.3%
1 or More Minor Complications	24.4%	23.4%	25.5%	49.6%	48.4%	50.8%	26.0%	25.0%	27.0%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	16.0%	15.2%	17.0%	47.1%	45.9%	48.4%	36.8%	35.6%	38.0%
1 Major Complication	18.0%	14.3%	22.5%	45.6%	40.3%	50.9%	36.4%	31.4%	41.7%
2 or More Major Complications	18.2%	14.2%	23.2%	44.2%	38.6%	50.0%	37.5%	32.1%	43.3%
,									
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)									
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / White Rock	18.8%	16.6%	21.3%	47.7%	44.7%	50.8%	33.4%	30.6%	36.4%
LHA 201 - Surrey	26.5%	25.3%	27.8%	47.9%	46.5%	49.3%	25.6%	24.4%	26.9%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	21.1%	14.9%	29.2%	51.2%	42.5%	59.9%	27.6%	20.5%	36.1%
LHA 075 - Mission	34.8%	30.9%	38.8%	43.7%	39.6%	47.8%	21.6%	18.4%	25.2%
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	26.7%	25.0%	28.5%	46.1%	44.1%	48.1%	27.2%	25.5%	29.0%
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	28.5%	25.9%	31.3%	50.8%	47.8%	53.8%	20.7%	18.4%	23.3%
	22.8%	∠1.4%	24.3%	43.8%	42.1%	45.5%	33.4%	31.8%	35.0%
LHA 040 - New Westminster	23.4%	20.1%	20.2%	40.7%	43.5%	50.0%	29.9%	21.0%	33.0%
	20.0%	∠J.4% 18.2%	20.0%	41.0%	40.2%	00.4%	20.0%	24.3%	20.9% 37.00∕
LITA 033 - Langiey	20.2%	28 /0/	22.370	45.2%	+2.170	+1.1%	22 /0%	32.3% 20.5%	31.0%
LIA 034 - Abbolatola	23 1%	20.4%	25.8%	48 9%	45 9%	-+	27.4%	20.0%	24.4%
LHA 032 - Hope	33.8%	26.3%	42.2%	38.3%	30.5%	46.8%	27.8%	20.9%	36.0%

The data in table 4-16 confirms the findings in the previous section based on adherence as a continuous variable with only minor differences. A higher proportion of females (29.9%) are in the high adherence category compared to males (26.2%). The proportion of individuals in the high adherence category tends to increase with age and higher levels of morbidity. Interestingly, there appears to be a marginal increase in the proportion of individuals in the high adherence category with a higher socio-economic status (quintiles 4) compared to individuals with a low socio-economic status (quintile 1). The proportion of individuals in the high adherence category by local health area ranges from a low of 20.7% in Maple Ridge to a high of 34.6% in Langley.

4.3.3 Adherence Analyzed as a Binary Variable (Low, High)

Descriptive information on adherence as a binary variable is provided in table 4-17. Adherence scores from 0-12 were used to create the low adherence category and 13-23 to create the high adherence category. Overall, 53.3% (10,788) of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes were in the low adherence group while 46.7% (9,440) were in the high adherence group.

The data presented in table 4-17 confirms many of the earlier findings based on adherence as both a continuous and a categorical variable, again with some minor differences. A higher proportion of females (49.2%) are in the high adherence category compared to males (44.6%). In addition, the proportion of individuals in the high adherence category tends to increase with age and higher levels of morbidity. The tenuous relationship between adherence and socio-economic status is no longer statistically significant. The proportion of individuals in the high adherence category by local health area ranges from 38.1% in Mission to 54.1% in Langley.

Table 4-17 Pro	portic	on of A	Adults	j		
With Diagnosed	I Type	e 2 Dia	abetes	5		
With Low or H	-liah Δα	dheren	700101 re	-		
	iigii / k					
			Adhe	rence		
		Low			High	
	%	95%	6 <u>CI</u>	%	95%	6 <u>CI</u>
Total Population	53.3%	52.6%	54.0%	46.7%	46.0%	47.4%
By Sex						
Female	50.8%	49.8%	51.9%	49.2%	48.2%	50.2%
Male	55.4%	54.5%	56.4%	44.6%	43.6%	45.5%
By Age (In Year 3)	CO 50/	05.69/	74 00/	04 50/	00.00/	04 40/
30-39 40-49	62.3%	60.5%	/ 1.270 6/ 1%	31.5%	20.9%	34.470
40-49 50-59	55.8%	51 <u>1</u> %	57 2%	11 2%	10 8%	15 6%
60-69	17.4%	16 1%	19.6%	52.6%	42.070 51 <u>1</u> %	40.0%
70-79	40.4%	48.6%	51.3%	50.1%	48.7%	51 4%
	40.070	70.070	01.070	00.170	40.770	01.770
Bv Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)						
Quintile 1 (Low)	54.6%	53.0%	56.1%	45.4%	43.9%	47.0%
Quintile 2	53.5%	52.0%	55.0%	46.5%	45.1%	48.0%
Quintile 3	53.7%	52.3%	55.2%	46.3%	44.9%	47.7%
Quintile 4	51.8%	50.2%	53.3%	48.2%	46.7%	49.8%
Quintile 5 (High)	52.1%	50.3%	54.0%	47.9%	46.0%	49.7%
By Morbidity						
Very Low	79.0%	74.4%	83.1%	21.0%	16.9%	25.6%
LOW	70.6%	68.7%	72.5%	29.4%	27.5%	31.4%
	60.7%	59.2%	62.1%	39.3%	31.9%	40.0%
Very High	49.970	40.070	44.8%	56.5%	40.970	57.8%
v cry ringin	43.570	42.27V	44.070	50.570	00.270	01.070
By Disease-Specific Severity Index						
No Complications	64.3%	63.1%	65.5%	35.7%	34.5%	36.9%
1 or More Minor Complications	54.3%	53.1%	55.4%	45.7%	44.6%	46.9%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	42.2%	41.0%	43.4%	57.8%	56.6%	59.0%
1 Major Complication	43.2%	38.0%	48.5%	56.8%	51.5%	62.0%
2 or More Major Complications	43.0%	37.2%	48.6%	57.0%	51.4%	62.8%
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)	47 504		=0.00/		10 101	
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / White Rock	47.5%	44.5%	50.6%	52.5%	49.4%	55.5%
LHA 201 - Surrey	55.2%	53.8%	50.6%	44.8%	43.4%	46.2%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Hamson	51.2% 62.0%	42.3%	09.9% 65.9%	40.0%	40.1%	57.5% 12.2%
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	54.8%	52.0%	56.8%	45 2%	13 2%	42.2 /0
I HA 042 - Maple Ridge	61.6%	58 7%	64.5%	38.4%	35.5%	41.3%
I HA 041 - Burnaby	47.2%	45.5%	48.9%	52.8%	51.1%	54.6%
LHA 040 - New Westminster	51.2%	47.9%	54.4%	48.8%	45.6%	52.1%
LHA 037 - Delta	54.0%	51.4%	56.6%	46.0%	43.4%	48.6%
LHA 035 - Langley	45.9%	43.5%	48.4%	54.1%	51.6%	56.5%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	59.5%	57.2%	61.7%	40.5%	38.3%	42.8%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	54.0%	51.1%	57.1%	46.0%	43.0%	48.9%
LHA 032 - Hope	56.4%	47.9%	64.5%	43.6%	35.5%	52.1%

In conclusion, when assessing long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures, the results were similar for this study sample regardless of whether the summary adherence scores were provided as a continuous, categorical or binary variable. The robust findings were that:

- Females tended to have higher adherence scores than males.
- Adherence improved with increasing age and higher levels of morbidity.
- Several LHAs tended to remain on the lower (Mission and Maple Ridge) or higher end of adherence (Langley).

4.3.4 Adherence by Age, Morbidity and Gender

Tables 4-18 to 4-20 provide information on mean adherence scores by age, morbidity and gender. Overall, mean adherence scores increase significantly by age from 10.5 for 30-39 year olds to 12.7 for 60-69 years before declining to 12.5 for 70-79 year olds. Similar age-related trends are seen for both females and males.

Mean adherence scores also increase significantly with the level of morbidity. Individuals with a very low level of morbidity have a mean adherence score of 9.1 while those with a very high level of morbidity have a mean adherence score of 13.1 (95% CI of 13.0, 13.2). As with the trend for age, this trend is seen for both females and males.

	Table 4-18 Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mean Adherence Scores By Age and Level of Morbidity																	
Level of Morbidity																		
	Very Low Low Medium High Very High Total																	
	Mean 95% CI																	
By Age (in y	y Age (in year 3)																	
30-39	8.3	6.5	10.0	8.9	8.2	9.5	10.1	9.6	10.6	11.1	10.7	11.5	11.7	11.2	12.2	10.5	10.3	10.7
40-49	7.9	6.9	8.9	9.3	8.9	9.7	10.7	10.4	10.9	11.8	11.6	12.1	12.6	12.4	12.9	11.3	11.2	11.4
50-59	8.3	7.6	9.0	10.3	10.0	10.6	11.4	11.1	11.6	12.4	12.3	12.6	13.1	12.9	13.3	11.9	11.8	12.1
60-69	10.4	9.6	11.2	11.2	10.9	11.5	12.2	12.0	12.3	13.0	12.9	13.2	13.4	13.2	13.5	12.7	12.6	12.8
70-79	9.7	8.5	10.8	10.5	10.1	11.0	11.7	11.5	12.0	12.6	12.5	12.8	13.1	13.0	13.3	12.5	12.3	12.6
Total	9.1	8.6	9.5	10.4	10.2	10.5	11.5	11.4	11.6	12.5	12.4	12.6	13.1	13.0	13.2	12.1	12.1	12.2

	Table 4-19 Females with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mean Adherence Scores By Age and Level of Morbidity																	
Level of Morbidity																		
Very Low Medium High Very High Total																		
	Mean 95% CI																	
By Age (in y	y Age (in year 3)																	
30-39	7.5	1.2	13.9	8.4	7.3	9.6	10.2	9.4	11.0	11.3	10.6	11.9	12.0	11.4	12.6	10.7	10.3	11.0
40-49	9.1	6.3	12.0	9.4	8.6	10.2	10.9	10.4	11.3	12.2	11.8	12.5	12.7	12.3	13.0	11.7	11.5	12.0
50-59	7.9	6.4	9.4	10.7	10.2	11.3	11.7	11.4	12.1	12.7	12.5	13.0	13.4	13.1	13.7	12.5	12.3	12.6
60-69	11.5	10.1	12.9	11.2	1.1	11.7	12.4	12.1	12.7	13.1	12.9	13.4	13.5	13.2	13.7	12.9	12.7	13.0
70-79	9.5	7.7	11.2	10.7	10.0	11.3	11.7	11.4	12.1	12.7	12.4	12.9	12.8	12.6	13.1	12.4	12.3	12.6
Total	9.7	8.8	10.5	10.6	10.3	10.9	11.7	11.5	11.9	12.7	12.6	12.8	13.1	12.9	13.2	12.4	12.3	12.5

	Table 4-20Males with Diagnosed Type 2 DiabetesMean Adherence ScoresBy Age and Level of Morbidity																	
Level of Morbidity																		
	Very Low Low Medium High Very High Total Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl																	
	Mean 95% CI																	
By Age (in y	ear 3)																	
30-39	8.4	6.3	10.4	9.0	8.2	9.9	10.1	9.5	10.6	10.9	10.4	11.4	11.3	10.4	12.2	10.4	10.0	10.7
40-49	7.5	6.4	8.5	9.3	8.8	9.8	10.5	10.2	10.8	11.6	11.2	11.9	12.6	12.2	13.0	11.0	10.8	11.1
50-59	8.5	7.7	9.3	10.1	9.7	10.4	11.1	10.9	11.4	12.2	12.0	12.4	12.7	12.4	13.0	11.6	11.4	11.7
60-69	9.7	8.7	10.7	11.2	10.9	11.6	12.0	11.8	12.3	13.0	12.8	13.2	13.3	13.1	13.6	12.6	12.4	12.7
70-79	9.8	8.2	11.5	10.5	9.9	11.1	11.7	11.3	12.1	12.6	12.3	12.8	13.5	13.2	13.7	12.5	12.3	12.6
Total	8.8	8.3	9.3	10.3	10.0	10.5	11.3	11.2	11.5	12.4	12.3	12.5	13.1	12.9	13.2	11.9	11.9	12.0
1																		

Overall, females have a higher mean adherence score (12.4) than males (11.9). This difference in adherence between males and females is most noticeable in individuals who are still relatively healthy. At the very high level of morbidity, both male and female mean adherence scores are virtually identical at 13.1.

4.3.5 Trends in Adherence over Time for Low and High Adherence Groups

We noted in section 4.2.2 Trend Analysis that a significant positive linear trend was evident for the proportion of individuals who received all five recommended clinical procedures during the year. In other words there was a consistent, predictable improvement in this component in adherence. Conversely, the analysis of single diagnostic procedures revealed non linear improvement, which was not consistent and predictable, but nevertheless encouraging. Are there differences in this trend if only individuals in the low or high adherence groups are examined?

Table 4-21 provides information on the trends in adherence associated with each of the individual adherence variables for the low adherence group (n=5,136) while table 4-22 provides this information for the high adherence group (n=5,644).

For both low and high adherence groups, there was a significant positive linear trend with almost all individual adherence variables showing improvement from year one to year five. One exception was eye exams for the low adherence group, in which adherence improved during the first two years but then declined in the final two years. There was also a significant non-linear component to the trend for all individual adherence variables. This suggests significant improvements in adherence over time for the low and high adherence groups but that the improvement was not consistent and predictable as evidenced by a slope that fluctuated year by year.

	Table 4	1-21 Pro Receiv	oportion ing the f	of Adult Following	s with Dia g Recom	agnoseo mendeo	d Type d Servi	2 Dia ces	betes					
	1006/07	1997/98	Fiscal Yea		2000/01	Mean	Linear		Tes Q Mean	t for Tre uadrati	end c	Mean	Cubic	4 CI
	1990/97	1991/90	1990/99	1999/00	2000/01	Weatt	937		Wear	937	0.01	Weatt	937	
Two or More HbA1C Tests During the Year	62.1%	74.3%	77.2%	79.9%	82.3%	0.458	0.420	0.496	-0.198	-0.238	-0.160	0.088	0.057	0.120
At Least One Retinal Eye Exam During the Year	59.6%	64.9%	64.5%	66.1%	64.9%	0.118	0.084	0.153	-0.112	-0.159	-0.067	0.028	-0.007	0.063
At least One Microalbumin Test During the Year	28.3%	40.0%	47.8%	57.3%	61.0%	0.830	0.792	0.869	-0.142	-0.184	-0.100	-0.018	-0.057	0.019
At Least One Lipid Test		92.7%		•										
Every Three Years		_	95.2%											
				95.6%										
At least Four Blood Pressure Measurements During the Year	92.2%	94.4%	94.4%	95.1%	95.1%	0.065	0.046	0.086	-0.039	-0.060	-0.018	0.014	-0.002	0.031
Received all Services	11.7%	18.2%	20.8%	27.5%	28.6%	0.431	0.398	0.464	-0.067	-0.106	-0.029	-0.019	-0.051	0.013
Received None of the Services	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.000	-0.001	0.001	0.000	-0.001	0.001	0.001	-0.001	0.000
Note: N=5,644														

	Table 4	I-22 Pro	oportion	of Adult	s with Dia	gnose	d Type	2 Dia	betes					
		Receiv	ing the F	ollowing	g Recomr	nendeo	d Servi	ces						
			L	ow Adhe	rence Gr	oup								
									Tes	t for Tre	end			
		F	iscal Yea	r			Linear		Q	uadrati	c		Cubic	
	1996/97	1997/98	1998/99	1999/00	2000/01	Mean	95%	CI	Mean	95%	6 CI	Mean	95%	6 CI
Two or More HbA1C Tests During the Year	11.3%	14.5%	15.4%	17.3%	18.3%	0.168	0.138	0.199	-0.036	-0.070	-0.003	0.013	-0.017	0.042
At Least One Retinal Eye Exam During the Year	15.3%	17.3%	17.8%	16.9%	15.5%	0.000	-0.029	0.030	-0.082	-0.116	-0.045	0.008	-0.021	0.038
At least One Microalbumin Test During the Year	3.4%	6.5%	7.4%	13.5%	14.5%	0.291	0.267	0.317	0.008	-0.018	0.038	-0.027	-0.050	-0.004
At Least One Lipid Test		53.3%												
Every Three Years			56.1%											
				59.0%										
At least Four Blood Pressure Measurements During the Year	65.7%	70.9%	69.1%	71.6%	69.3%	0.080	0.042	0.119	-0.107	-0.145	-0.064	0.021	-0.009	0.052
Received all Services	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.4%	0.5%	0.010	0.005	0.015	0.005	0.000	0.011	0.000	-0.005	0.005
Received None of the Services	10.0%	6.6%	6.3%	6.9%	8.4%	-0.030	-0.054	-0.003	0.107	0.082	0.132	-0.022	-0.042	-0.004
Note: N=5,136														

4.4 Univariate Logistic Regression Models for Adherence

As stated earlier, medical staff and patients need to work together to reach optimal blood glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol levels. Which patient characteristics have a significant effect on whether or not adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes are in the high versus low adherence category? Table 4-23 provides the results of the univariate logistic regression models comparing the high versus low adherence groups.

	Tab	le 4-2	3 Un	ivariate	Logis	tic Regre	ession I	Models for	or				
				High v	s. Low	Adherenc	e						
						95% C.I. fo	or Exp(B)	-2 log	Model			Nagelkerke	
	BETA	S.E.	Wald	<i>p</i> -value	OR	Lower	Upper	likelihood	X2	df	p-value	R Square	Selection
By Sex													
Female	0.185	0.028	42.5	< 0.001	1.203	1.138	1.272	27,834.3	42.5	1	< 0.001	0.003	Yes
Male	******												
By Age (In Year 3)	0.540	0.071	57 A	< 0.001	0 583	0 507	0.670	27 633 7	318 /	4	< 0.001	0.021	Vec
40-49	-0.340	0.071	31.4	< 0.001	0.303	0.507	0.070	27,033.7	510.4	4	< 0.001	0.021	163
50-59	******	0.040	51.1	× 0.001	0.704	0.000	0.040						
60-69	0.339	0.038	79.2	< 0.001	1 403	1 302	1 512						
70-79	0.235	0.040	32.5	< 0.001	1.268	1.173	1.371						
Pu Sacia Economia Status (in Voor 2)													
Quintile 1 (Low)	-0.034	0.043	0.6	0.437	0.967	0.888	1.052	27,406.9	8.2	4	0.085	0.001	Yes
Quintile 2	0.010	0.042	0.1	0.817	1.010	0.929	1.097	21,100.0	0.2		0.000	0.001	
Quintile 3	******												
Quintile 4	0.079	0.043	3.4	0.067	1.082	0.995	1.177						
Quintile 5 (High)	0.062	0.048	1.7	0.197	1.064	0.968	1.170						
Pu Morhiditu													
	-0 894	0 138	42 1	< 0.001	0 409	0 312	0 536	27 047 7	710 3	4	< 0.001	0.047	Ves
Very Low	0.034	0.150	62.3	< 0.001	0.403	0.512	0.330	27,047.7	119.5	4	< 0.001	0.047	165
Medium	******	0.050	02.5	< 0.001	0.045	0.570	0.717						
High	0 437	0.038	130.0	< 0.001	1 548	1 4 3 6	1 668						
Very High	0.696	0.041	292.6	< 0.001	2.006	1.852	2.172						
By Disease-Specific Severity Index	0.000	0.007	000.0	. 0.004	0.400	0.070	0 400	07 000 7	050 4			0.040	
No Complications	-0.902	0.037	101.0	< 0.001	0.406	0.378	0.430	27,298.7	653.4	4	< 0.001	0.042	res
1 or More Intermediate Comp	-0.400	0.035	191.0	< 0.001	0.010	0.575	0.000						
1 Major Comp	-0 040	0 1 1 3	0.1	0 723	0.961	0 770	1 108						
2 or More Major Comp.	-0.030	0.123	0.1	0.805	0.970	0.763	1.234						
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)	0.000	0.000	00.0	10.001	4 00 1	4 400	4 557	07 707 4	404 7	40		0.040	
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	0.308	0.069	20.2	< 0.001	1.361	1.190	1.557	27,767.4	184.7	12	< 0.001	0.012	Yes
LHA 201 - Surrey	0 161	0 102	0.0	0 270	1 174	0 921	1 6 9 0						
	0.101	0.103	0.0	0.079	0.757	0.621	0.000						
LHA 0/3 Coguitlam	-0.279	0.052	9.2	0.002	1 015	0.032	1 1 1 0						
LHA 043 - Coquitani	-0.265	0.030	14.5	< 0.001	0.767	0.920	0.879						
I HA 041 - Burnaby	0.322	0.045	50.2	< 0.001	1 380	1 262	1 508						
LHA 040 - New Westminster	0.163	0.073	5.0	0.025	1.177	1.021	1.357						
LHA 037 - Delta	0.049	0.061	0.7	0.416	1.051	0.933	1.184						
LHA 035 - Langley	0.373	0.058	40.9	< 0.001	1.453	1.296	1.629						
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	-0.175	0.056	9.9	0.002	0.839	0.753	0.936						
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	0.049	0.068	0.5	0.467	1.051	0.920	1.200						
LHA 032 - Hope	-0.048	0.177	0.1	0.791	0.953	0.674	1.349						
Notes: ****** Reference Category													

In the absence of adjusting for other variables, females with diagnosed type 2 diabetes are 20.3% (odds ratio of 1.203) more likely to be in the high adherence category than men. On its own, however, the independent variable of gender explains just 0.03% (Nagelkerke R Square of 0.003) of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high adherence category.

As a next step in the analysis, adults in various age groups were compared to the reference group of adults aged 50 to 59. This reference group represented the middle of the age scale. Adults aged 30 to 39 were 41.7% less likely than were the reference group to be in the high adherence category. Likewise, adults aged 40 to 49 were 23.6% less likely to be in the high

adherence category. On the other hand, older individuals are more likely to be in the high adherence category. Those aged 60-69 were 40.3% more likely and those aged 70-79 were 26.8% more likely to be in the high adherence category compared to the reference group. The independent variable of age accounted for 2.1% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high adherence.

Socio-economic status was selected for inclusion as a variable in the multivariate model. As noted in Section 3.7 Analytic Methods, any variable for which the univariate test has a p value of < 0.25 will be considered a candidate for the multivariate model. The 0.25 level has been suggested as an appropriate level for selection of candidate variables as the use of the more traditional level of 0.05 for variable selection often fails to uncover subtle findings. The analysis revealed that SES did not achieve formal statistical significance.

Adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who were in the very low and low morbidity groups were considerably less likely (59.1% and 35.7%, respectively) to be in the high adherence group than are those in the medium morbidity group. On the other hand, adults in the high or very high morbidity groups are more likely to be in the high adherence category (54.8% and 100.6%, respectively). The independent variable of morbidity accounted for 4.7% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high adherence.

The reference group for disease-specific severity was those with one or more intermediate complications. Adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes with no diabetes disease-specific complications or just one or more minor complications were considerably less likely (59.4% and 38.4%, respectively) to be in the high adherence group than the reference group. On the other hand, no significant differences existed between adults with one or more major complications when compared to the reference group. The independent variable of the disease-
specific severity index accounted for 4.2% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high adherence.

Adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in certain local health areas (LHA) are more or less likely to be in the high adherence group than are those who live in the LHA of Surrey (the reference group). Individuals living in the LHAs of New Westminster, South Surrey/White Rock, Burnaby and Langley are 17.7%, 36.1%, 38.0% and 45.3%, respectively, more likely to be in the high adherence group than individuals who live in the LHA of Surrey. Individuals living in the LHAs of Abbotsford, Maple Ridge and Mission are 16.1%, 23.3%, and 24.3%, respectively, less likely to be in the high adherence group than individuals who live in the LHA of Surrey. The independent variable of patient residence accounts for 1.2% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high adherence.

4.5 Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for Adherence

4.5.1 Development of a Reduced Main Effects Model for Adherence

As noted in table 4-23, all six of the independent variables assessed in the univariate analysis were selected for inclusion in the multivariate model. The variables were entered into the Binary Logistic Regression function of SPSS based on the explanatory power of the variable. Thus the variable morbidity was entered first, followed by disease-specific severity index, age, patient residence, gender and socio-economic status. Once all of the variables were in the model, each variable was sequentially removed in reverse order to assess the impact of the exclusion of each variable from the full model. The results are provided in table 4-24.

	Та	ble 4-2	24 Dev	elopme	ent and	Testin	ig of a					
	Μ	ultivaria	ate Log	istic R	egress	ion Mo	del for					
			High	vs. Low	Adherei	nce						
						Euli	1	<u>۸</u>	occoina t	ha Imnaa	t of	
	Inte	ermediate	Models (0	Odds Rati	os)	Model		Remo	oving Indi	vidual Va	riables	
By Sex					1 102	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	1 109	<0.001		1 102
Male	******				1.102	1.112	1.100	1.125	1.103	1.115		1.102
By Age (in Year 3)			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
30-39			0.631	0.650	0.647	0.647	0.651	0.599		0.630	0.648	0.647
40-49			0.805	0.808	0.806	0.817	0.825	0.780		0.815	0.817	0.806
50-59	******											
60-69			1.293	1.288	1.286	1.294	1.295	1.358		1.299	1.294	1.286
70-79			1.040	1.030	1.021	1.035	1.069	1.136		1.045	1.044	1.021
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)						0.034	0.147	0.044	0.021	0.001	0.047	
Quintile 1 (Low)						0.895	0.919	0.895	0.897	0.907	0.896	
Quintile 2	*******					0.981	0.993	0.980	0.978	0.995	0.983	
Quintile 3						1 0 1 0	1 0 1 0	1 015	1 0 2 7	1 090	1 0 1 2	
Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High)						1.010	1.019	1.010	1.027	1.000	1.013	
By Morbidity	-0.001	-0.001	-0 001	-0 001	-0 001	-0.001	1.050	~0.001	~0.001	~0.001	-0 001	-0 001
Vervlow	0.409	0.462	0.451	0 445	0.452	0.453		0.408	0.463	0.458	0 448	0.452
Low	0.643	0.684	0.675	0.671	0.675	0.672		0.638	0.681	0.676	0.667	0.675
Medium	******											
High	1.548	1.402	1.398	1.410	1.403	1.402		1.516	1.407	1.392	1.409	1.403
Very High	2.006	1.657	1.663	1.682	1.668	1.680		1.958	1.676	1.664	1.695	1.668
By Disease-Specific Severity Index		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
No Complications		0.513	0.560	0.565	0.566	0.566	0.450		0.521	0.562	0.565	0.566
1 or More Minor Comp.		0.707	0.723	0.731	0.731	0.731	0.637		0.717	0.724	0.730	0.731
1 or More Intermediate Comp.	******											
1 Major Comp.		0.897	0.948	0.949	0.942	0.940	1.009		0.891	0.939	0.947	0.942
2 or More Major Comp.		0.881	0.954	0.966	0.966	0.977	1.080	0.004	0.908	0.962	0.977	0.966
LHA 202 S Surroy (MD				<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001
LHA 202 - S. Sulley / WR	******			1.324	1.330	1.271	1.275	1.242	1.317		1.209	1.550
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison				1 1 1 9	1 210	1 183	1 277	1 166	1 3 1 5		1 166	1 210
LHA 075 - Mission				0.765	0.771	0.762	0.766	0.744	0.769		0.754	0.771
LHA 043 - Coquitlam				1.038	1.041	1.006	0.971	1.019	1.017		1.005	1.041
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge				0.778	0.778	0.776	0.776	0.765	0.785		0.776	0.778
LHA 041 - Burnaby				1.404	1.404	1.384	1.331	1.381	1.423		1.385	1.404
LHA 040 - New Westminster				1.121	1.118	1.102	1.068	1.144	1.114		1.107	1.118
LHA 037 - Delta				1.060	1.059	1.004	0.991	1.018	1.002		1.008	1.059
LHA 035 - Langley				1.404	1.404	1.377	1.337	1.413	1.398		1.380	1.404
LHA 034 - Abbotsford				0.833	0.839	0.824	0.807	0.819	0.845		0.820	0.839
LHA 033 - Chilliwack				0.963	0.969	0.987	0.971	1.013	1.023		0.982	0.969
LHA 032 - Hope				0.875	0.887	0.856	0.910	0.826	0.884		0.844	0.887
-2 log likelihood	27,048	26,744	26,583	26,414	26,333	25,799	26,347	26,000	25,946	25,952	25,873	26,333
Likelihood Ratio Test X2	719	1,023	1,184	1,353	1,358	1,345	983	1,145	1,198	1,192	1,338	1,358
Degrees of Freedom	4	8	12	24	25	29	25	25	25	17	28	25
p - value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Nagelkerke R Square	0.047	0.066	0.076	0.087	0.088	0.088	0.065	0.076	0.079	0.079	0.088	0.088
Hosmer & Lemeshow GOF	1.000	0.014	< 0.001	0.321	0.504	0.351	0.417	0.349	0.532	0.043	0.371	0.504
Change in -2 Log Likelihood if Varia	ble Remo	ved					378.9	200.7	147.3	153.3	12.6	10.4
n - value of Change							< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.034

Significant Odds Ratios (OR) are highlighted in yellow. The p-value for each (grouped) variable is provided in **bolded italics** above the first OR value for that group. Table 4-25 presents the detailed results of the main effects model. All six variables,

including socio-economic status, were significant predictors of the probability of being in the

high adherence group.

Table 4-25 Main E	ffects Mu	ltivariat	e Logis	tic Re	gressior	n Mod	el for	
	High \	/s. Low A	dheren	се				
	p-value						95% C.I. fo	or Exp(B)
	For Group	BETA	S.E.	Wald	<i>p</i> -value	OR	Lower	Upper
By Sex	< 0.001							
Female	< 0.001	0.106	0.030	12.6	< 0.001	1.112	1.049	1.180
Male		******						
By Age (in Year 3)	< 0.001							
30-39		-0.436	0.077	32.0	< 0.001	0.647	0.556	0.752
40-49		-0.203	0.050	16.3	< 0.001	0.817	0.740	0.901
50-59		0.057	0.040	44 7	< 0.001	1 20 4	1 100	1 200
00-09 70-70		0.257	0.040	41.7	< 0.001	1.294	1.190	1.399
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)	0.034	0.035	0.043	0.7	0.410	1.055	0.952	1.125
Quintile 1 (Low)	0.034	-0 111	0.046	5.8	0.016	0 895	0.818	0.980
Quintile 2		-0.019	0.045	0.0	0.668	0.981	0.899	1 071
Quintile 3		0.0.0	01010	0	0.000	0.001	01000	
Quintile 4		0.018	0.045	0.1	0.700	1.018	0.931	1.113
Quintile 5 (High)		0.040	0.052	0.6	0.443	1.041	0.940	1.153
By Morbidity	< 0.001							
Very Low		-0.792	0.141	31.7	< 0.001	0.453	0.344	0.597
Low		-0.397	0.058	47.7	< 0.001	0.672	0.600	0.752
Medium		*******	0.040		. 0.004	4 400	4 007	4 5 4 7
High		0.338	0.040	/1./	< 0.001	1.402	1.297	1.517
Very High By Disease-Specific Soverity Index	- 0 001	0.519	0.044	141.0	< 0.001	1.680	1.542	1.830
No Complications	< 0.001	-0 569	0 041	103.0	< 0.001	0 566	0 523	0 614
1 or More Minor Comp		-0.314	0.041	70.8	< 0.001	0.300	0.679	0.014
1 or More Intermediate Comp.		******	0.007	10.0	0.001	0.701	0.010	0.100
1 Major Comp.		-0.062	0.117	0.3	0.598	0.940	0.748	1.182
2 or More Major Comp.		-0.023	0.127	0.0	0.857	0.977	0.762	1.254
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)	< 0.001							
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR		0.240	0.074	10.5	0.001	1.271	1.099	1.469
LHA 201 - Surrey		******						
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison		0.168	0.438	0.1	0.701	1.183	0.501	2.794
LHA 075 - Mission		-0.272	0.097	7.9	0.005	0.762	0.630	0.921
LHA 043 - Coquitiam		0.006	0.053	0.0	0.914	1.006	0.906	1.116
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge		-0.254	0.074	11.7	0.001	0.770	0.071	0.898
LHA 041 - Bulliaby		0.325	0.046	40.7	0.001	1.304	0.951	1.019
LHA 037 - Delta		0.007	0.070	0.0	0.954	1 004	0.883	1 142
LHA 035 - Langley		0.320	0.062	26.5	< 0.001	1.377	1.219	1.556
LHA 034 - Abbotsford		-0.193	0.059	10.9	0.001	0.824	0.735	0.925
LHA 033 - Chilliwack		-0.013	0.073	0.0	0.859	0.987	0.856	1.139
LHA 032 - Hope		-0.156	0.184	0.7	0.398	0.856	0.596	1.228
		-2 log likel	ihood		25 799 0			
		Likelihood	Ratio Tes	st X2	1.345.2			
		Degrees of	of Freedor	n –	29			
		p - value			< 0.001			
		Nagelkerk	e R Squa	re	0.088			
		Hosmer &	Lemesho	w GOF	0.351			
Notes: ******* Reference Category								

4.5.2 Development of a Final Fitted Model for Adherence

After the development of the main effects model, all possible two-way interactions were tested individually based on Wald statistics and their *p*-values. Each potential two-factor term was found to be significant. To assess these potential interactions in the model, the main effects were entered as a block and the potential two-way interactions were included as a second block using the Forward Stepwise (Likelihood Ratio) approach. This analysis identified two two-way interactions that remained significant after adjusting for the other variables in the model; morbidity by DSS Index (p=0.003) and age group by gender (p<0.001).

Each potential three-way interaction (based on the significant two-way interaction variables) was then tested individually based on Wald statistics and their *p*-values and found to be significant. The significant three-way interactions were then included with the two-way interactions in the second block. This analysis indicated that only the original two-way interactions remained significant after adjusting for the other variables in the model.

The interaction between age and gender is shown in figure 4-5. While younger females are consistently more likely to be in the high adherence category than males their age, this gap begins to close for individuals aged 60-69 and by age 70-79, closes completely. That is, males aged 70-79 are just as likely as females aged 70-79 to be in the high adherence category.





The interaction between general and disease specific morbidity is shown on table 4-26.

	Tabl	e 4-26 AC	G by DS	SI CrossT	ab	
		Low	v Adheren	се		
			DSSIndex			
ACG	None	1+ Minor	1+ Int	1 Major	2+ Major	Total
Very Low	176	85	3	-	-	264
Low	888	524	128	1	2	1,543
Medium	1,207	1,315	1,089	68	39	3,718
High	485	839	985	64	71	2,444
Very High	1,279	989	440	12	10	2,730
Total	4,035	3,752	2,645	145	122	10,699
		Hig	h Adheren	се		
		_	DSSIndex			
ACG	None	1+ Minor	1+ Int	1 Major	2+ Major	Total
Very Low	32	36	2	0	0	70
Low	286	262	93	1	1	643
Medium	906	1271	1462	57	35	3,731
High	393	864	1676	120	125	3,178
Very High	631	738	388	12	1	1,770
Total	2,248	3,171	3,621	190	162	9,392
		Percent	High Adh	erence		
			DSSIndex			
ACG	None	1+ Minor	1+ Int	1 Major	2+ Major	Total
Very Low	15%	30%	40%			21%
Low	24%	33%	42%	50%	33%	29%
Medium	43%	49%	57%	46%	47%	50%
High	45%	51%	63%	65%	64%	57%
Very High	33%	43%	47%	50%	9%	39%
Total	36%	46%	58%	57%	57%	47%

In figure 4-6, the same results are presented graphically but excluding unstable results caused by small cell sizes.



Figure 4-6 General by Disease-specific Morbidity Interaction

In general, adults with no disease-specific complications or one or more minor or intermediate disease-specific complications show a trend toward a higher probability of being in the high adherence category, regardless of their general morbidity status. The one significant interaction effect identified by the two-way interaction analysis (circled on figure 4-6, see also table 4-27) was that for the very high general morbidity by one or more minor disease-specific complications group.

The final fitted model, including the main effects and the two significant two-way interactions is shown on table 4-27.

	<i>p-valu</i> e For Group	BETA	S.E.	Wald	p-value	OR	95% C.I. fo Lower	r Exp(B Upper
By Sex	< 0.001							
Female Male		0.290	0.060	23.3	< 0.001	1.336	1.188	1.50
By Age (in Year 3)	< 0.001							
30-39		-0.437	0.106	16.9	< 0.001	0.646	0.525	0.7
40-49		-0.186	0.068	7.6	0.006	0.830	0.727	0.9
50-59		0 356	0.053	447	< 0.001	1 / 29	1 286	15
00-09 70-79		0.350	0.053	44.7 14.4	< 0.001	1.420	1.200	1.5
Bv Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)	0.054	0.222	0.000	14.4	- 0.001	1.240	1.110	1.0
Quintile 1 (Low)		-0.106	0.046	5.3	0.022	0.899	0.821	0.9
Quintile 2		-0.020	0.045	0.2	0.649	0.980	0.897	1.0
Quintile 3								
Quintile 4		0.014	0.046	0.1	0.753	1.014	0.928	1.1
Quintile 5 (High)		0.037	0.052	0.5	0.474	1.038	0.937	1.1
By Morbidity	< 0.001	0.440	0.047		0.040	0.050	0.400	
very Low		-0.419	0.917	0.2	0.648	0.658	0.109	3.9
LOW		-0.224 ******	0.107	2.0	0.104	0.799	0.000	1.0
High		0 433	0.082	27.8	< 0.001	1 542	1 313	18
Very High		0.685	0.082	69.1	< 0.001	1.984	1.688	2.3
By Disease-Specific Severity Index	< 0.001							
No Complications		-0.474	0.088	29.4	< 0.001	0.622	0.524	0.7
1 or More Minor Comp.		-0.114	0.087	1.7	0.189	0.892	0.752	1.0
1 or More Intermediate Comp.		******						
1 Major Comp.		0.184	0.419	0.2	0.660	1.202	0.529	2.7
2 or More Major Comp.	- 0.001	-1.924	1.055	3.3	0.068	0.146	0.018	1.1
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	< 0.001	0 237	0.074	10.2	0.001	1 268	1 096	1 /
LHA 202 - St. Surrey		******	0.074	10.2	0.001	1.200	1.030	1.7
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison		0.193	0.439	0.2	0.659	1.213	0.513	2.8
LHA 075 - Mission		-0.269	0.097	7.7	0.006	0.764	0.632	0.9
LHA 043 - Coquitlam		0.007	0.053	0.0	0.889	1.007	0.908	1.1
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge		-0.246	0.074	11.0	0.001	0.782	0.676	0.9
LHA 041 - Burnaby		0.325	0.048	46.4	< 0.001	1.383	1.260	1.5
LHA 040 - New Westminster		0.097	0.076	1.7	0.199	1.102	0.950	1.2
LHA 037 - Delta		0.001	0.066	0.0	0.984	1.001	0.880	1.1
LHA 035 - Langley		-0.200	0.062	20.0	< 0.001	0.810	1.215	1.0
I HA 033 - Chilliwack		-0.015	0.033	0.0	0.001	0.015	0.750	1 1
LHA 032 - Hope		-0.166	0.185	0.8	0.368	0.847	0.589	1.2
Morbidity by DSSIndex	0.003							
Very Low by No Complications		-0.570	0.939	0.4	0.544	0.565	0.090	3.5
Very Low by 1+ Minor Complications		-0.176	0.941	0.0	0.851	0.838	0.133	5.2
Low by No Complications		-0.210	0.179	1.4	0.241	0.811	0.571	1.1
Low by 1+ Minor Complications		-0.191	0.182	1.1	0.294	0.826	0.579	1.1
Low by 1 Major Complication		0.427	1.483	0.1	0.773	1.533	0.084	28.0
Low by 2+ Major Complications		-0.000	1.035 0.106	0.9	0.340 n arr	4.752	0.193	117.0
High by 1+ Minor Complications		-0.009	0.100	34	0.900	0.826	0.673	1.2
High by 1 Major Complication		-0.587	0.460	1.6	0.202	0.556	0.226	1.3
High by 2+ Major Complications		1.652	1.082	2.3	0.127	5.219	0.626	43.5
Very High by No Complications		-0.186	0.119	2.5	0.117	0.830	0.658	1.0
Very High by 1+ Minor Complications		-0.366	0.108	11.5	0.001	0.693	0.561	0.8
Very High by 1 Major Complication		-0.070	0.449	0.0	0.876	0.933	0.387	2.2
Very High by 2+ Major Complications		2.046	1.067	3.7	0.055	7.739	0.956	62.6
Age by Sex	< 0.001	0.040	0 454		0.044	0.000	0 700	4 -
40-49 by Female		-0.012	0.104	0.0	0.941	0.969	0.730	1.0
60-69 by Female		-0.229	0.080	8.2	0.070	0.795	0.783	0.9
70-79 by Female		-0.400	0.084	22.8	< 0.001	0.670	0.569	0.7
FITTED MODEL		-2 log likelih	nood		25,734.3			
-		Likelihood F	Ratio Test X	2	1,409.9			
		Degrees of	Freedom		47			
		p - value			< 0.001			
		Nagelkerke	R Square		0 092			

4.5.3 Interpretation of the Final Fitted Model for Adherence

The multivariate analysis revealed results that contrasted with the results of the univariate analysis.

After adjusting for numerous covariates and interactions (i.e., age, socio-economic status, morbidity, disease-specific severity index, patient residence, interactions between morbidity and disease-specific severity index and age and gender), females with diagnosed type 2 diabetes were 33.6% more likely to be in the high adherence category than men. The earlier univariate analysis placed the increase at only 20.3%.

Younger adults remained less likely to be in the high adherence group compared to adults in the reference group (i.e., aged 50-59) while older adults are more likely to be in the high adherence group. This difference, however, was tempered somewhat after adjustment for the covariates in the model.

Interestingly, individuals in the lowest socio-economic status group were 10.1% less likely to be in the high adherence category compared to individuals in the middle socioeconomic status group. This finding was masked in the univariate analysis.

After adjusting for the other variables in the multivariate model, adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who were in the very low and low morbidity groups were no longer less likely to be in the high adherence group than are those in the medium morbidity group. This was a dramatic change from the univariate model, which placed them at 59.1% and 35.7% less likely to be in the high adherence group. Adults in the high or very high morbidity groups, however, remained more likely to be in the high adherence category (i.e., 54.2% and 98.4%, respectively compared to 54.8% and 100.6% in the univariate model).

Adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes with no diabetes disease-specific complications continued to be considerably less likely (37.8% compared to 59.4% in the univariate model) to be in the high adherence group than the reference group (i.e., those who had one or more intermediate complications). On the other hand, no significant differences existed between adults with one or more minor or major complications and the reference group with respect to the likelihood of being in the high adherence category.

The LHA of Surrey served as the reference group for location. In the multivariate model, individuals living in the LHAs of South Surrey/White Rock, Burnaby and Langley, were more likely to be in the high adherence group than individuals in the reference group. Individuals living in the LHA of New Westminster were no longer distinct from the reference group of Surrey. Individuals living in the LHAs of Abbotsford, Maple Ridge and Mission remained less likely to be in the high adherence group than the reference group.

The overall final model explained a significant proportion of the variation in the probability of being in the high adherence group with a Chi-square test statistic of 1,409.9 (47 df) which corresponded to a *p*-value of less than 0.001. The Nagelkerke R Square was 0.092, indicating that 9.2% of the total variance was explained by the model.

The goodness of fit of the multivariate model was assessed using the Hosmer & Lemeshow GOF test. The Hosmer & Lemeshow statistic was 5.7 with 8 *df* which was not statistically significant (p = 0.677) indicating that the model was an adequate fit for the observed data.

In summary, the results of the statistical analysis indicated that, after adjusting for numerous covariates and interactions, a number of patient characteristics predicted whether an individual was more or less likely to be in the high or low adherence group. As anticipated, the

multivariate analysis strengthened certain findings highlighting the important contribution that patient characteristics have on long-term adherence to clinical procedures in the ongoing evaluation and treatment of diabetes. Thus, high adherence was most typical of females, older individuals and patients with a high to very high level of co-morbidity. High adherence was also common among people living in the LHA's of South Surrey/White Rock, Burnaby and Langley. In contrast, low adherence was typical of males, younger individuals, those in the lowest SES category, those with no diabetes disease-specific complications and those living in the LHAs of Mission, Maple Ridge and Abbotsford.

4.6 Description of Resource Use Variables

4.6.1 Overview of Resource Use Variables

In addition to assessing the influence of patient characteristics on adherence to recommended tests and procedures, a second goal of this study was to uncover the influence of patient characteristics on the utilization of health care services. Table 4-28 provides a summary of the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes with high utilization of health care services (*see Appendix D for a detailed description of each resource use variable*). The comparison was based on the average annual costs for visits to a general practitioner, visits to a specialist physician and treatment in acute care.

Prior to adjusting for covariates, the preliminary findings of the descriptive analysis revealed some interesting patterns in the seven patient characteristics that were examined. These variables were adherence, gender, age, socio-economic status, morbidity, disease-specific severity and patient residence.

Table 4-28 Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes With High Utilization of Average Annual GP, Specialist Physician, Acute Care and Total Costs

	G	P Dollars	Spec	ialist Do	ollars	Acute	Care D	ollars	То	tal Dolla	ars
	%	95% CI	%	95%	CI	%	95%	6 CI	%	95%	6 CI
Total Population	19.9%	19.4% 20.5%	20.0%	19.5%	20.6%	20.0%	19.5%	20.6%	20.0%	19.5%	20.6%
By Level of Adherence											
Low	14.5%	13.6% 15.5%	11.2%	10.4%	12.1%	17.1%	16.1%	18.2%	16.5%	15.5%	17.6%
Medium	20.5%	19.7% 21.3%	18.9%	18.1%	19.7%	20.0%	19.3%	20.9%	20.9%	20.1%	21.7%
Hilgh	23.9%	22.8% 25.1%	29.8%	28.6%	31.0%	20.9%	19.8%	21.9%	21.5%	20.5%	22.6%
By Sex	22 70/	22 00/ 24 70/	20.6%	10.00/	21 50/	10 70/	10 00/	20 50/	10 70/	10 00/	20 50/
Feinale	23.7%	22.9% 24.7%	20.0%	19.9%	21.5%	19.7%	10.9%	20.5%	19.7%	10.9%	20.5%
	10.0 %	10.1% 17.5%	19.4 /0	10.7 70	20.270	20.3%	19.5 %	21.070	20.270	19.070	21.0/0
30-39	18 1%	16.0% 20.6%	19.6%	17 4%	22 1%	10.1%	8.6%	12.2%	10.5%	8.0%	12 5%
40-49	16.1%	15.0% 17.8%	16.4%	15.0%	17.8%	10.1%	0.0%	12.270	10.5%	0.9%	12.3%
50-59	16.6%	15.7% 17.7%	10.4%	18.0%	20.2%	14.4%	13.4%	15.4%	14.8%	13.9%	15.9%
60-69	17.7%	16.7% 18.6%	19.1%	19.0%	20.2 %	20.5%	19.4%	21.6%	20.0%	19.0%	21.0%
70-79	28.4%	27.2% 29.6%	22.9%	21.8%	24.1%	32.5%	31.2%	33.8%	32.2%	31.0%	33.5%
1010	20.470	27.270 20.070	22.070	21.070	24.170	02.070	01.270	00.070	02.270	01.070	00.070
By Socio-Economic Status											
Quintile 1 (Low)	27.4%	26.1% 28.8%	21.9%	20.7%	23.2%	22.3%	21.1%	23.7%	23.1%	21.9%	24.5%
Quintile 2	21.1%	19.9% 22.4%	20.1%	18.9%	21.3%	20.3%	19.1%	21.5%	20.1%	18.9%	21.3%
Quintile 3	18.9%	17.8% 20.1%	18.0%	17.0%	19.2%	18.2%	17.2%	19.4%	18.0%	17.0%	19.2%
Quintile 4	16.5%	15.4% 17.7%	19.8%	18.7%	21.1%	19.4%	18.3%	20.7%	19.2%	18.0%	20.4%
Quintile 5 (High)	13.3%	12.1% 14.7%	21.0%	19.6%	22.6%	19.0%	17.6%	20.5%	18.8%	17.4%	20.3%
By Morbidity											
Very Low	0.0%		0.0%			2.4%	1.2%	4.7%	1.8%	0.8%	3.9%
Low	1.2%	0.8% 1.7%	1.6%	1.2%	2.2%	4.1%	3.3%	5.0%	3.3%	2.7%	4.2%
Medium	4.3%	3.7% 4.9%	4.8%	4.2%	5.4%	6.2%	5.6%	7.0%	5.5%	4.9%	6.2%
High	13.4%	12.7% 14.2%	15.9%	15.1%	16.8%	17.7%	16.9%	18.6%	17.1%	16.3%	18.0%
Very High	49.4%	48.1% 50.8%	45.2%	44.0%	46.6%	41.3%	40.1%	42.7%	42.9%	41.7%	44.3%
De Diana a Oracifia Oceanita la das											
By Disease-Specific Severity Index	10 40/	0.60/ 11.10/	10.00/	10.00/	11 00/	10.00/	0.20/	10.00/	0.00/	0.00/	10.00/
1 or More Minor Complications	10.4%	9.0% 11.1%	10.8%	10.0%	10.1%	10.0%	9.3%	10.8%	9.0%	0.9% 17.0%	10.3%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	20.1%	26.5% 28.7%	28.2%	27.1%	20.3%	28.1%	27 1%	20.3%	28.4%	27.4%	29.6%
1 Major Complication	32.5%	27.8% 37.7%	42 9%	37.7%	48 2%	44 4%	30.2%	49.7%	44 1%	38.0%	49.0%
2 or More Major Complications	48.2%	42 7% 54 2%	60.7%	55.3%	66.5%	69.0%	63.5%	74.2%	66.9%	61.2%	72 1%
	40.270	42.770 04.270	00.1 /0	00.070	00.070	00.070	00.070	74.270	00.070	01.270	72.170
By Patient Residence											
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	17.1%	14.9% 19.5%	20.3%	18.0%	22.9%	22.6%	20.2%	25.3%	22.2%	19.8%	24.9%
LHA 201 - Surrey	23.9%	22.7% 25.1%	21.0%	19.9%	22.2%	17.9%	16.9%	19.0%	18.6%	17.5%	19.7%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	18.7%	12.8% 26.5%	12.2%	7.5%	19.2%	23.6%	17.0%	31.8%	22.0%	15.6%	30.1%
LHA 075 - Mission	23.0%	19.9% 26.8%	14.3%	11.6%	17.4%	21.3%	18.2%	25.0%	21.3%	18.1%	24.8%
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	15.0%	13.6% 16.5%	19.4%	17.9%	21.0%	10.6%	17.3%	20.4%	18.2%	16.8%	19.8%
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	22.8%	20.4% 25.5%	17.5%	15.4%	19.9%	22.3%	19.9%	25.0%	22.7%	20.3%	25.4%
LHA 041 - Burnaby	17.0%	15.8% 18.4%	21.9%	20.6%	23.4%	16.5%	15.3%	17.9%	16.8%	15.5%	18.1%
LHA 040 - New Westminster	20.3%	17.8% 23.0%	24.0%	21.4%	26.9%	23.8%	21.2%	26.7%	24.1%	21.5%	27.0%
LHA 037 - Delta	19.4%	17.5% 21.6%	23.4%	15.1%	19.0%	18.9%	16.7%	21.1%	19.3%	17.3%	21.5%
LHA 035 - Langley	16.0%	14.3% 17.9%	18.8%	16.9%	20.8%	23.0%	21.1%	25.2%	22.1%	20.1%	24.2%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	22.5%	20.7% 24.5%	17.1%	15.5%	18.9%	22.9%	21.1%	25.0%	22.4%	20.6%	24.4%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	20.4%	18.1% 22.9%	15.6%	13.6%	18.0%	23.7%	21.3%	26.4%	22.9%	20.5%	25.5%
LHA 032 - Hope	36.1%	28.4% 44.5%	18.0%	12.4%	25.5%	32.3%	25.0%	40.7%	30.1%	22.9%	38.3%

Adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who are in the low adherence group are also more likely to be in the low utilization category of GP, specialist, acute care and total dollars than individuals in the medium or high adherence groups. The only significant gender differences appear in the use of GP dollars, with females (23.7%, CI of 22.9%, 24.7%) significantly more likely to be in the high utilization category than males (16.8%, CI of 16.1%, 17.5%).

Individuals aged 70-79 are more likely to be in the high utilization category for GP, specialist physician, acute care and total cost categories compared to younger individuals. There appears to be a clear trend in the probability of being in the high utilization of acute care cost category with increasing age. Given that acute care costs tend to dominate total costs, this trend is also seen in the total cost area.

Individuals in the lowest socio-economic status (SES) category (quintile 1) are more likely to be in the high utilization of GP, acute care and total costs categories, but not specialist costs, than individuals in the higher SES categories.

Individuals living in the local health area (LHA) of Hope have the highest probability (30.1%; 95% CI of 22.9%, 38.3%) of being in the high utilization of total cost category. Thirty six percent of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Hope LHA are in the high utilization of GP costs and 32.3% are in the high utilization of acute care cost category. The proportion of individuals in the high utilization of specialist physician cost category, on the other hand, is lower than average.

Individuals living in the LHA of Coquitlam are consistently below the average in the proportion of individuals in the high utilization category for all services. This is the only LHA in which this occurs. On the other hand, individuals living in the LHA of New Westminster are consistently *above* the average in the proportion of individuals in the high utilization category for all services. Again, this is the only LHA in which this occurs.

Table 4-29 provides an overall summary of resource use by adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who live in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority. On average over the five year period from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001, each individual used 1.62 acute care inpatient days per year at an estimated cost of \$1,148. In addition, they utilized an average of \$124 in surgical day care services per person per year. The average number of physician visits per person per year consisted of 9.74 GP visits at a cost of \$302 and 2.88 specialist physician visits at a cost of \$189. Average annual costs per person were \$1,762 consisting of \$491 (28%) in physician costs and \$1,272 (72%) in acute care costs.

		Tab	ole 4-2	9 Per	Capit By Ac	a Mea dults wi	an Utili th Diag	zation nosed	of Ho Type 2	ospital Diabet	and M es	ISP S	ervice	S				
	Mean	1996/97 95%	6 CI	Mean	1997/98 95%	6 CI	Mean	1998/99 95%	6 CI	Mean	1999/00 95%	6 CI	Mean	2000/01 95%	6 CI	Mean	All Years 95%	s 6 Cl
Acute Care																		
Discharges	0.19	0.18	0.20	0.21	0.20	0.22	0.22	0.21	0.23	0.22	0.21	0.23	0.23	0.22	0.24	0.21	0.21	0.22
Patient Days	1.25	1.16	1.35	1.45	1.35	1.56	1.49	1.38	1.60	1.77	1.64	1.90	2.13	1.97	2.29	1.62	1.55	1.69
Estimated Cost																		
Acute Care Inpatient	\$ 906	846	967	1,048	980	1,117	1,108	1,036	1,182	1,216	1,144	1,289	1,459	1,358	1,561	1,148	1,107	1,189
Surgical Day Care	\$ 107	101	112	110	105	115	116	110	121	142	136	149	145	139	152	124	121	127
Sub-Total	\$1,013	951	1,074	1,158	1,089	1,228	1,224	1,151	1,298	1,358	1,285	1,432	1,605	1,502	1,707	1,272	1,230	1,313
Medical Service Plan																		
GP Visits	9.05	8.95	9.16	9.83	9.73	9.94	9.63	9.52	9.73	10.60	9.96	10.17	10.11	10.00	10.22	9.74	9.65	9.83
GP Expenditures	\$ 272	268	275	303	299	306	297	294	301	310	307	314	327	323	331	302	299	304
Specialist Visits	2.55	2.49	2.61	2.87	2.81	2.94	2.85	2.79	2.92	3.00	2.93	3.06	3.10	3.03	3.17	2.88	2.83	2.92
Specialist Expenditures	\$ 164	160	169	189	185	194	187	183	192	194	190	199	209	204	213	189	186	192
Sub-Total	\$ 436	430	442	492	485	498	485	478	491	505	498	511	535	528	543	491	485	496
Total Cost	\$1,449	1,384	1,514	1,650	1,576	1,723	1,708	1,632	1,787	1,863	1,786	1,940	2,140	2,033	2,247	1,762	1,718	1,807
Annual % Increase				13.9%			3.6%			9.0%			14.9%					
Note: N=20,228																		
Costs are in constant 2000 Ca	anadian do	llars																

Between 1996/97 and 2000/01, the annual utilization of all resources increased

significantly. Mean acute care costs increased from \$1,013 in 1996/97 to \$1,605 in 2000/01. Mean physician costs increased from \$436 in 1996/97 to \$535 in 2000/01. Mean total costs increased from \$1,449 in 1996/97 to \$2,140 in 2000/01. On a year over year basis, total costs (in constant 2000/01 dollars) per person increased by 13.9% from 1996/97 to 1997/98 and by 3.6%, 9.0% and 14.9%, respectively, in each of the following years. It should be remembered that this is a cohort study in which the same subjects were followed during the five years of the study period. As such, they would be five years older on March 31, 2001 than on April 1, 1996. In addition, since incident cases are not included in the study population, the subjects would also have had type 2 diabetes for an additional five years by the end of the study period compared to the beginning of the study period.

4.6.2 Mean Annual per Capita Costs by Age, Morbidity and Gender

Tables 4-30 to 4-32 provide information on mean annual per capita costs by age, morbidity and gender. Overall, mean annual per capita costs increase significantly by age from age 40 and up. The mean annual per capita costs increase from \$1,183 for 40-49 year olds to \$1,367 for 50-59 year olds to \$1,743 for 60-69 year olds and to \$2,611 for 70-79 year olds. The mean annual per capita costs for 30-39 year olds vary significantly by gender, with costs substantially higher for females (\$1,504) compared to males (\$949). This is the only age-related significant difference between the sexes in mean annual per capita costs and may be explained by differences in resource use associated with childbearing in this age group.

Overall, mean annual per capita costs increase significantly by level of morbidity. Individuals in the very low morbidity group had mean annual per capita costs of \$259. These costs increase to \$473 for those in the low morbidity group, \$727 in the medium morbidity group, \$1,498 in the high morbidity group and \$3,529 in the very high morbidity group.

There were no significant gender differences in mean annual per capita costs by morbidity level with the exception of those individuals in the very high morbidity group. In this group, males on average had higher costs than females (i.e., \$3749 compared to \$3,316).

				T	able	4-30	Adults Mean By Ag	s wit Annu ge an	h Diag Ial Per d Level	Inosec Capita of Mor	I Type Costs bidity	2 Dia	betes					
	Level of Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Total																	
	Very Low Medium High Very High Total Mean 95% CI Mean 95% CI																	
	Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl														6 CI			
By Age (in y	(ear 3)																	
30-39	258	143	373	275	218	332	540	431	649	904	766	1,041	2,756	2,075	3,437	1,222	1,052	1,392
40-49	242	145	339	324	270	377	600	502	699	952	863	1,042	2,743	2,375	3,111	1,183	1,083	1,284
50-59	266	182	350	420	354	486	609	548	670	1,231	1,135	1,328	2,933	2,697	3,168	1,367	1,293	1,440
60-69	332	227	437	469	412	526	720	650	789	1,540	1,442	1,637	3,377	3,167	3,586	1,743	1,667	1,820
70-79	465	283	647	778	605	951	1061	939	1,183	2,055	1,922	2,189	4,492	4,244	4,740	2,611	2,500	2,721
Total	312	259	365	473	432	515	727	687	768	1,498	1,443	1,552	3,529	3,403	3,655	1,762	1,718	1,807

				Та	able 4	4-31 I	- Mean	es wi Annu	th Dia	gnose Canita	ed Typ Costs	e 2 Di	abete	S				
							By Ag	ge and	d Level	of Mor	bidity							
	Level of Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Total																	
	Level of Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Total <mark>Mean</mark> 95% CI <mark>Mean</mark> 95% CI																	
	Very Low Medium High Very High Total Mean 95% CI Mean 95% CI																	
Du Ann ()	Mean 95% CI Mean 95% CI Mean 95% CI Mean 95% CI Age (in year 3) Image (in year 3) Im																	
By Age (in y	ear 3)		4 065	214	206	400	660	407	0.00	1 060	011	1 014	2 602	1 600	2 606	4 504	4 207	4 904
30-39	404		4,005	201	200	422	00Z	407	606	1,002	707	1,314	2,093	1,090	3,090	1,504	1,207	1,001
40-49	201	09 117	271	301	230	520 557	202	444 527	705	1 000	191	1,039	2,001	2,129	3,032 2,702	1,272	1,122	1,423
50-59	196	150	400	417	270	120	649	557	700	1,099	903	1,200	2,479	2,175	2,100	1,340	1,235	1,401
70 70	504	257	214	000	327	400	040	007	1 1 2 9	2 024	1,313	1,000	3,100	2,007	3,473	2 612	2 455	2 771
10-19	594	257	932	031	490	1,171	903	000	1,120	2,034	1,045	2,220	4,300	4,030	4,107	2,013	2,433	2,771
Total	313	220	406	488	399	576	715	655	775	1,466	1,382	1,549	3,316	3,144	3,488	1,815	1,747	1,884

				7	Table	4-32	Male: Mean By Ag	s with Annu ge an	n Diag Ial Per d Level	nosed Capita of Mor	l Type Costs bidity	2 Dia	betes					
	Level of Morbidity Very Low Medium High Very High Total																	
	Very Low Medium High Very High Total Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl Mean 95% Cl																	
Mean 95% CI Mean 95\% Mean 95\% Mean 95\% Mea														95%	6 CI			
By Age (in y	rear 3)																	
30-39	230	123	337	260	192	329	472	332	612	769	632	906	2,853	2,045	3,660	949	779	1,119
40-49	262	136	387	302	251	353	623	482	765	981	851	1,111	2,936	2,333	3,539	1,114	979	1,250
50-59	256	159	353	421	348	495	577	516	639	1,335	1,200	1,470	3,429	3,068	3,789	1,384	1,286	1,481
60-69	422	255	588	525	438	611	757	656	859	1,601	1,479	1,722	3,559	3,257	3,860	1,758	1,657	1,859
70-79	350	168	532	710	562	858	1,155	974	1,337	2,087	1,900	2,274	4,598	4,243	4,953	2,601	2,448	2,754
Total	313	248	378	461	419	503	733	679	787	1,529	1,457	1,601	3,749	3,566	3,932	1,714	1,656	1,773

In the next three sections, the relationship between patient characteristics and three levels

of resource use (i.e., total physician costs, total acute care costs and total costs) will be assessed using both univariate and multivariate logistic regression.

4.7 Univariate Logistic Regression Models for Average Annual Total Physician Costs

Table 4-33 provides the results of the univariate logistic regression models comparing high versus low utilization of average annual total physician costs during the five year study period (April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001). Which patient characteristics had a significant effect on whether or not they were in the high versus low total physician cost category?

Patients in the low adherence category were 41.2% less likely to be in the high resource use group while adults in the high adherence category were 54% *more* likely to be in the high resource use category compared to adults in the medium adherence category (i.e., the reference group). The independent variable of adherence accounted for 2.9% of the variance (Nagelkerke R Square of 0.029) in the dependent variable of low or high average annual resource use.

In the absence of adjustment for other covariates in the model, females were 25.1% more likely to be in the high resource use category than males (the reference group). The independent variable of gender accounted for 0.5% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

With respect to age, the only group more likely to be in the high resource use group compared to the reference group (i.e., adults aged 50-59) was elderly individuals aged 70-79. The independent variable of age accounted for 1.3% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

Individuals in the lowest two socio-economic status (SES) quintiles were more likely to be in the high resource use group than those in the middle quintile (i.e., 49.5% for quintile 1 and 16.9% for quintile 2). The independent variable of SES accounted for 0.8% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

	Т	able 4-	33 Ur	ivariate	Logist	tic Regr	ession I	Models for	or				
	Н	igh vs. Lo	ow Utiliz	zation of	Average	e Annual	Total Ph	ysician Co	sts				
				n value		95% C.I. fo	or Exp(B)	-2 log	Model	.,		Nagelkerke	
	BETA	S.E.	Wald	<i>p</i> -value	OR	Lower	Upper	likelihood	X 2	đt	p-value	R Square	Selection
By Level of Adherence													
Low	-0.531	0.049	115.2	< 0.001	0.588	0.534	0.648	19,846.0	374.4	2	<0.001	0.029	Yes
Medium	******												
High	0.432	0.04	119.3	< 0.001	1.540	1.426	1.665						
By Sex	0.000	0.005		. 0.004	4.040	4 054	4 400	00 445 0			.0.004	0.005	
Female	0.293	0.035	69.0	< 0.001	1.340	1.251	1.436	20,115.8	69.0	1	<0.001	0.005	Yes
By Age (in Year 3)													
30-39	0.025	0.087	0.1	0.769	1.026	0.865	1.216	20,054.3	166.1	4	<0.001	0.013	Yes
40-49	-0.124	0.063	3.9	0.050	0.883	0.780	1.000						
50-59	******												
60-69	0.051	0.049	1.1	0.295	1.053	0.956	1.159						
70-79	0.490	0.049	101.4	< 0.001	1.632	1.484	1.795						
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year	3)												
Quintile 1 (Low)	0.402	0.053	58.4	< 0.001	1.495	1.348	1.657	19.712.4	99.0	4	<0.001	0.008	Yes
Quintile 2	0.156	0.053	8.6	0.003	1.169	1.053	1.298	- /					
Quintile 3	******												
Quintile 4	-0.032	0.056	0.3	0.569	0.969	0.869	1.080						
Quintile 5 (High)	-0.085	0.064	1.8	0.184	0.919	0.811	1.041						
By Morbidity													
Very Low	-17 680	2 199 3	0.0	0 994	0.368	0 000	0 000	14 718 1	5 313 4	4	<0.001	0.368	Yes
Low	-1.521	0.283	29.0	< 0.001	0.218	0.126	0.380	14,710.1	0,010.4	-	-0.001	0.000	100
Medium	******												
High	1.571	0.096	267.8	< 0.001	4.810	3.985	5.806						
Very High	3.602	0.093	1,492.4	< 0.001	36.670	30.545	44.022						
By Disease-Specific Severity Index													
No Complications	-1 371	0.051	723.0	< 0.001	0 254	0 230	0 280	19 120 5	1 099 9	4	<0.001	0 084	Yes
1 or More Minor Comp.	-0.583	0.001	197.9	< 0.001	0.558	0.515	0.606	10,120.0	1,000.0	-	-0.001	0.004	100
1 or More Intermediate Comp.	******												
1 Major Comp.	0.403	0.115	12.2	< 0.001	1.497	1.194	1.877						
2 or More Major Comp.	1.256	0.124	102.9	< 0.001	3.513	2.755	4.478						
By Patient Residence (in Vear 2)													
I HA 202 - S Surrey / WR	-0 202	0 086	55	0.019	0 817	0 690	0.968	20 156 9	63 5	12	<0 001	0.005	Yes
LHA 201 - Surrey	******	0.000	0.0	0.010	0.017	0.000	0.000	20,100.0	00.0	12	-0.001	0.000	100
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	-0.460	0.252	3.3	0.068	0.631	0.385	1.034						
LHA 075 - Mission	-0.102	0.110	0.9	0.352	0.903	0.728	1.120						
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	-0.348	0.064	29.5	< 0.001	0.706	0.623	0.801						
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	-0.118	0.084	2.0	0.158	0.889	0.754	1.047						
LHA 041 - Burnaby	-0.216	0.056	14.7	< 0.001 0 022	0.806	0.721	0.900						
LHA 040 - New Westminister	-0.005	0.087	0.0	0.922	0.995	0.851	1.195						
LHA 035 - Langley	-0.309	0.075	17.1	< 0.001	0.734	0.634	0.850						
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	-0.239	0.069	11.9	0.001	0.788	0.688	0.902						
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	-0.249	0.086	8.4	0.004	0.779	0.658	0.923						
LHA 032 - Hope	0.396	0.192	4.3	0.039	1.486	1.020	2.166						
Notes: ****** Reference Category													

٦.

Patients who were in the low morbidity group were considerably less likely (78.2%) to be in the high resource use category than the reference group (i.e., those with medium morbidity). On the other hand, adults in the high or very high morbidity groups were much more likely to be in the high resource use category (i.e., 4.8 times and 36.7 times, respectively). The independent variable of morbidity accounted for 36.8% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high physician resource use.

Patients with no complications or just one or more minor complications were also considerably less likely (74.6% and 44.2%, respectively) to be in the high resource use group than the reference group (i.e., those with one or more intermediate complications). Not surprisingly, adults with one major complication or two or more major complications were 1.5 times and 3.5 times, respectively, more likely to be in the high resource use category. The independent variable of disease-specific severity index accounted for 8.4% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

Adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in certain LHAs varied more from the reference group (i.e., those living in Surrey) in terms of likelihood of being high resource users. Before adjusting for covariates, only individuals living in the LHA of Hope were more likely (48.6%) to be in the high resource use group than the reference group. Adults living in the LHAs of Coquitlam (29.4%), Langley (26.6%), Chilliwack (22.1%), Abbotsford (21.2%), Burnaby (19.4%) and South Surrey / White Rock (18.3%) are all less likely to be in the high resource use group than the reference accounted for 0.5% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

4.8 Multivariate Logistic Regression Model Average Annual Total Physician Costs

4.8.1 Development of a Reduced Main Effects Model for Physician Costs

As noted in table 4-33, the seven independent variables assessed in the univariate analysis were all selected for inclusion in the multivariate model based on a *p*-value of less than 0.001. The seven patient characteristics were entered into the Binary Logistic Regression function of SPSS based on the explanatory power of the variable. Thus the variable morbidity was entered first, followed by disease-specific severity index, adherence, age, socio-economic status, patient residence and gender. Once all of the variables were in the model (the 'full model'), each

variable was sequentially removed in reverse order to assess the impact of the exclusion of each variable from the full model. The results are provided in table 4-34.

		Ta M	able 4-3 Iultivaria	34 Dev ate Loç	/elopmo	ent and egress ⁱ	J Testir	ng of a del for						
	Hi	gh vs. L	.ow Utiliz	zation of	Average	e Annua	Il Total F	Physician	Costs					ļ
			Intermedia	ate Models	3		Full Model		F	Assessi ≀emoving	ng the Imp Individual	bact of Variables		
By Level of Adherence			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.001	<0.001		<0.001	< 0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Medium	******		0.871	0.804	0.843	0.834	0.834	0.004	0.804		0.838	0.852	0.843	0.834
High By Sex			1.339	1.345	1.351	1.372	1.373 0.686	1.440 <0.001	1.393 0.731	0.841	1.366 0.866	1.367 0.813	1.352 0.718	1.372
Female							0.983	1.183	0.986	0.992	0.993	0.010	0.985	l
Male Bv Ace (in Year 3)	******			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
30-39				0.993	0.957	0.932	0.932	1.219	0.889	0.894		0.964	0.957	0.932
40-49 50-59	******			0.937	0.930	0.925	0.925	1.002	0.889	0.910		0.931	0.930	0.925
60-69				0.852	0.847	0.860	0.860	0.895	0.886	0.871		0.865	0.848	0.860
70-79 By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)				1.176	1.158 <0.001	1.185	1.191 <0.001	1.278 <0.001	1.244	1.185	<0.001	1.213 <0.001	1.164 <0.001	1.185
Quintile 1 (Low)					1.349	1.412	1.411	1.507	1.408	1.398	1.432	LU.UU	1.348	1.412
Quintile 2	******				1.127	1.177	1.176	1.213	1.169	1.176	1.182		1.125	1.177
Quintile 4					0.936	1.003	1.003	1.032	1.004	1.013	1.003		0.936	1.003
Quintile 5 (High)	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	0.956	0.974	0.976	0.958	0.975	0.995	0.975	-0.001	0.958	0.974
Very Low	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Low	0.218	0.232	0.238	0.239	0.242	0.244	0.244		0.233	0.237	0.243	0.241	0.242	0.244
Meaium High	4.810	4,428	4,305	4.276	4.230	4.212	4.215	, i	4.476	4.360	4.244	4.254	4.232	4.212
Very High	36.670	31.442	30.532	30.350	29.641	29.765	29.781		33.496	30.819	29.916	30.316	29.639	29.765
By Disease-Specific Severity Index		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
1 or More Minor Comp.		0.926	0.961	0.987	0.979	0.973	0.976	0.610		0.936	0.948	0.980	0.982	0.973
1 or More Intermediate Comp.	******	1 100	1 102	1 201	1 102	1 200	1 212	1 5 1 2		1 202	1 105	1 224	1 202	1 200
2 or More Major Comp.		2.480	2.510	2.569	2.546	2.582	2.566	3.592		2.543	2.487	2.599	2.531	2.582
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)						<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR LHA 201 - Surrey	******					0.853	0.853	0.809	0.837	0.875	0.901	0.755		0.853
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison						0.077	0.077	0.143	0.075	0.083	0.075	0.537		0.077
LHA 075 - Mission LHA 043 - Coguitlam						1.001 0.881	1.013 0.880	0.991	0.986	0.980 0.879	1.032	1.023		1.001 0.881
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge						1.028	1.026	0.976	1.037	1.004	1.039	0.979		1.028
LHA 041 - Burnaby						0.870	0.868	0.779	0.859	0.902	0.879	0.842		0.870
LHA 037 - Delta						1.291	1.291	1.152	1.294	1.290	1.305	1.137		1.291
LHA 035 - Langley						0.653	0.651	0.653	0.667	0.676	0.668	0.613		0.653
LHA 034 - Abbotsiord LHA 033 - Chilliwack						0.867	0.865	0.620	0.872	0.800	0.905	0.854		0.867
LHA 032 - Hope						1.397	1.431	1.803	1.406	1.410	1.498	1.232		1.397
-2 log likelihood	14,718	14,561	14,500	14,463	14,151	14,082	14,064	18,266	14,190	14,138	14,101	14,376	14,133	14,082
Likelihood Ratio Test X2	5,313	5,470 8	5,532 10	5,569 14	5,472 18	5,541	5,529	1,516	5,403 27	5,455 29	5,492 27	5,620 27	5,459 19	5,541 30
p - value	ہ 0.001>	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Nagelkerke R Square	0.368	0.378	0.381	0.384	0.385	0.389	0.389	0.117	0.381	0.384	0.386	0.387	0.384	0.389
Change in -2 Log Likelihood if Variab	le Remove	0.1∠o d	0.307	0.227	0.051	0.109	0.047	4,018.0	0.3∠1 126.5	0.201 74.5	37.2	0.844 41.1	0.0∠o 69.8	0.109
p - value of Change								< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.069
Notes: ****** Reterence Category Significant Odds Ratios (OR) are high	nlighted in y	yellow.												
The p-value for each (grouped) varial	ole is provir	ded in bc	olded itali	cs above	the first C)R value f	or that gro	oup.						

Table 4-35 presents the detailed results of the main effects model. Six of the seven patient characteristics, excluding gender, were significant predictors of the probability of being in the high utilization category.

Table 4-35 Main	Effects M	ultivaria	te Logi	stic Re	gression	Model	for	
High vs. Low	Utilization	of Averag	e Annua	al Total F	Physician (Costs		
J J		0			5			
	p-value						95% C.I. fo	or Exp(B)
	For Group	BETA	S.E.	Wald	<i>p</i> -value	OR	Lower	Upper
By Level of Adherence	<0.001						o - / o	
Low		-0.181	0.059	9.3	0.002	0.834	0.742	0.937
Medium		0.040	0.040	44.0	10.001	4 070	4 050	4 500
High	.0.001	0.316	0.048	44.3	< 0.001	1.372	1.250	1.506
By Age (In Year 3)	<0.001	0.070	0 1 1 2	0.4	0 500	0 0 0 0 0	0 747	1 104
30-39		-0.070	0.113	0.4	0.536	0.932	0.747	1.104
40-49		-0.078	0.076	1.0	0.500	0.925	0.796	1.074
50-59		0 151	0.050	6.6	0.010	0.960	0 766	0.065
70.79		-0.151	0.009	0.0 8 1	0.010	1 1 9 5	1 054	1 331
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)	~0.001	0.103	0.000	0.1	0.004	1.105	1.004	1.551
	<0.001	0 345	0.064	28.8	< 0.001	1 4 1 2	1 245	1 602
Quintile 2		0.040	0.004	6.4	0.001	1 177	1.240	1 334
Quintile 3		******	0.004	0.4	0.011	1.177	1.000	1.004
Quintile 3		0.003	0.067	0.0	0.967	1 003	0 879	1 143
Ouintile 5 (High)		-0.003	0.007	0.0	0.307	0.974	0.836	1 1 3 4
By Morbidity	-0.001	0.021	0.070	0.1	0.701	0.074	0.000	1.104
VervLow	20.001	-17 480	2 206 9	0.0	0 994	0 000	0 000	
Low		-1 412	0 283	24.9	< 0.004	0.000	0.000	0 4 2 4
Medium		******	0.200	21.0	0.001	0.211	0.110	0.121
High		1 438	0 098	217 4	< 0.001	4 212	3 479	5 099
Very High		3 393	0.095	1 265 0	< 0.001	29 765	24 689	35 885
By Disease-Specific Severity Index	<0.001	0.000	0.000	.,	0.001	20.000		00.000
No Complications		-0.467	0.062	56.6	< 0.001	0.627	0.555	0.708
1 or More Minor Comp.		-0.027	0.050	0.3	0.584	0.973	0.882	1.073
1 or More Intermediate Comp.		******						
1 Major Comp.		0.183	0.134	1.9	0.172	1.200	0.924	1.560
2 or More Major Comp.		0.948	0.144	43.6	< 0.001	2.582	1.948	3.421
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)	<0.001							
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR		-0.159	0.106	2.2	0.134	0.853	0.693	1.050
LHA 201 - Surrey		******						
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison		-2.561	1.049	6.0	0.015	0.077	0.010	0.603
LHA 075 - Mission		0.001	0.134	0.0	0.991	1.001	0.771	1.301
LHA 043 - Coquitlam		-0.127	0.078	2.6	0.104	0.881	0.756	1.026
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge		0.028	0.103	0.1	0.787	1.028	0.840	1.259
LHA 041 - Burnaby		-0.140	0.068	4.2	0.040	0.870	0.761	0.994
LHA 040 - New Westminster		0.043	0.104	0.2	0.679	1.044	0.851	1.280
LHA 037 - Delta		0.255	0.092	7.8	0.005	1.291	1.079	1.544
LHA 035 - Langley		-0.426	0.090	22.3	< 0.001	0.653	0.547	0.779
LHA 034 - Abbotsford		-0.120	0.083	2.1	0.149	0.887	0.753	1.044
LHA 033 - Chilliwack		-0.356	0.105	11.4	0.001	0.701	0.570	0.861
LHA 032 - Hope		0.334	0.233	2.1	0.152	1.397	0.884	2.206
FITTED MODEL		-2 loa likelil	hood		14,082.0			
-		Likelihood	Ratio Tes	st X2	5,540.5			
		Degrees of	Freedon	ı	30			
		p - value			<0.001			
		Nagelkerke	R Squa	е	0.389			
		Hosmer &	Lemesho	w GOF	0.109			
Notes: ****** Reference Category								

4.8.2 Development of a Final Fitted Model for Physician Costs

After the development of the main effects model, all possible two-way interactions were tested individually based on Wald statistics and their *p*-values. All but one potential two-factor term (i.e., adherence by gender) was found to be significant. To assess these potential interactions in the model, the main effects were entered as a block and the potential two-way interactions were included as a second block using the Forward Stepwise (Likelihood Ratio) approach. This analysis identified two two-way interactions that remained significant after adjusting for the other variables in the model; age group by DSS Index (p=0.043) and age group by adherence (p<0.001).

The potential three-way interaction between DSS Index, age and adherence was subsequently tested based on the Wald statistic and its *p*-value and found to be significant. This three-way interaction was included with the two-way interactions in the second block. This analysis indicated that only the original two-way interactions remained significant after adjusting for the other variables in the model.

The interaction between age and adherence is shown on table 4-36 and figure $4-7^{13}$.

¹³ The significant interactions are highlighted on table 4-36 and circled on figure 4-7.

Table 4-36: Age by Adherence CrossTab											
	Low Total F	Physician De	ollar Group								
		Adherence									
Age	Low	Medium	High	Total							
30-39	394	363	127	884							
40-49	836	1,073	436	2,345							
50-59	1,235	1,973	944	4,152							
60-69	1,124	2,434	1,492	5,050							
70-79	903	1,753	1,104	3,760							
Total	4,492	7,596	4,103	16,191							
High Total Physician Dollar Group											
		Adherence									
Age	Low	Medium	High	lotal							
30-39	54	86	57	197							
40-49	77	215	158	450							
50-59	126	413	363	902							
60-69	145	514	496	1,155							
70-79	242	624	467	1,333							
Total	644	1,852	1,541	4,037							
Pore	ont Ligh To	tal Dhysiaia	n Dollar Gr								
1 610	ent ngn 10	Adherence		Jup							
Age	Low	Medium	High	Total							
30-39	12%	19%	31%	18%							
40-49	8%	17%	27%	16%							
50-59	9%	17%	28%	18%							
60-69	11%	17%	25%	19%							
70-79	21%	26%	30%	26%							
Total	13%	20%	27%	20%							

Figure 4-7 Age by Adherence Interaction



The key interaction identified in the analysis was between 70-79 year olds and the probability of being in the high utilization group (see table 4-36). Specifically, there was an important rise in the probability of individuals aged 70-79 being in the high physician cost category regardless of their level of adherence. In other words, elderly patients with diabetes tended to require extensive services from their physicians, whether or not they received the recommended clinical procedures. More importantly, however, the interaction between age and adherence revealed that individuals aged 70-79 in the low adherence group were 44.3% more likely to be in the high utilization group while those in the high adherence group were 32.1% less likely to be in the high utilization group (see table 4-38). This was an important variation from the general relationship observed between level of adherence group were 27.9% less likely to be in the high utilization group while those in the high adherence group were 58.7% more likely to be in the high utilization group (see table 4-38).

The second significant interaction, between age and disease-specific morbidity index, is

shown on table 4-37. The significant interactions are highlighted in yellow.

Table 4-37 Age by DSSI CrossTab												
I	ow Total Pl	hysician Do	llar Group									
		DSSI										
Age	None	1+ Minor	1+ Int	Total								
30-39	574	187	87	884								
40-49	1,232	723	345	2,345								
50-59	1,664	1,587	829	4,152								
60-69	1,441	1,917	1,591	5,050								
70-79	852	1,236	1,601	3,760								
Total	5,763	5,650	4,453	16,191								
High Total Physician Dollar Group												
DSSI												
Age	None	1+ Minor	1+ Int	Total								
30-39	71	46	52	197								
40-49	103	181	133	450								
50-59	153	333	353	902								
60-69	132	402	544	1,155								
70-79	144	339	754	1,333								
Total	603	1,301	1,836	4,037								
-												
Perce	ent High To	ai Physicial	n Dollar Gro	bup								
A .co	Nono	DSSI 1+ Minor	1⊥ Int	Total								
Age 20.20	11.00/		27.40/	101di								
30-39	11.0%	19.7%	37.4%	10.2%								
40-49	7.7%	20.0%	27.0%	10.1%								
50-59	0.4%	17.3%	29.9%	17.0%								
00-09 70 70	0.4%	21 50/	20.0%	10.0%								
Total	0.5%	∠1.3% 18 70 /	3∠.0% 20.2%	20.2% 20.0%								
IUIdi	9.5%	10.7 70	ZJ.Z 70	∠U.U 70								

In figure 4-8, the same results are presented graphically but excluding the one major and two or more major complication categories with unstable results caused by small cell sizes. The significant interactions are circled on the graph.



Figure 4-8 Age by DSS Index Interaction

As expected, adults with one or more intermediate disease-specific complications were more likely to be in the high physician utilization category than are those with one or more minor complications. Those with no disease-specific complications were the least likely to be in the high physician utilization group. This relationship was consistent across all age groups.

In figure 4-8, two groups were circled because they were significantly different than the reference group (i.e., those with one or more intermediate complication). In the first of these two groups, the proportion of adults in the high utilization category decreased significantly between 50-59 and 60-69 year olds in the reference group but not in the one or more minor complications

group. In the second of these two groups, the proportion of adults in the high utilization category increased more substantially between 60-69 and 70-79 year olds in the no complications group compared to the reference group (from 8.4% to 14.5% compared to from 25.5% to 32.0%).

The final fitted model, including the main effects and the two significant two-way interactions is shown on table 4-38.

y Level of Adherence Low Medium High By Age (in Year 3) 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High) By Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Very Hig	p-value For Group <0.001 <0.001	BETA -0.327 ****** 0.462 0.311 -0.132	S.E. 0.127 0.099	Wald 6.6	<i>p</i> -value 0.010	OR	95% C.I. for Lower	r Exp(B) Upper
y Level of Adherence Low Medium High by Age (in Year 3) 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 by Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 5 (High) by Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Very High V	<0.001 <0.001	-0.327 ****** 0.462 0.311 -0.132	0.127 0.099	6.6	0.010			
Medium High High 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High) By Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Very H	<0.001	0.462 0.311 -0.132	0.099			0.721	0.563	0.925
High High High High High High High High High High Horizon High High High High High High High High High High Very Low Low Medium High Very High Very Hi	<0.001	0.462 0.311 -0.132	0.099					
30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 8y Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 2 Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High) Very Low Low Medium High Very High Very	20.001	0.311 -0.132		21.8	< 0.001	1.587	1.308	1.927
40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 by Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 2 Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High) by Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Very Hig		-0.132	0.268	1.3	0.246	1.365	0.807	2.309
sub-sp 60-69 70-79 by Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 2 Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High) by Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Very High			0.162	0.7	0.413	0.876	0.638	1.203
70-79 by Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 2 Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 5 (High) by Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Very High Very High Y Disease-Specific Severity Index No Complications 1 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 or More Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 1 Major 2 - S. Surrey / WR LHA 201 - Surrey LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison LHA 043 - Coquitlam I HA 042 - Maole Ridge		-0.378	0.114	11.1	0.001	0.685	0.549	0.856
y Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3) Quintile 1 (Low) Quintile 2 Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High) y Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Very		0.067	0.110	0.4	0.543	1.069	0.862	1.326
Quintile 2 Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High) Worbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High Very High) <0.001	0.347	0.065	29.0	< 0.001	1 4 1 6	1 247	1 606
Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High) by Morbidity Very Low Low Medium High Very High y Disease-Specific Severity Index No Complications 1 or More Minor Comp. 1 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 major Comp. 2 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 1 Ha 042 - Majole Bidge		0.170	0.064	7.0	0.008	1.185	1.045	1.344
Quintile 5 (High) An Antiper Composition of the form		*******	0.067	0.0	0.060	1 003	0 870	1 144
ty Morbidity Very Low Medium High Very High y Disease-Specific Severity Index No Complications 1 or More Minor Comp. 1 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Major Co		-0.025	0.078	0.0	0.748	0.975	0.837	1.137
Very Low Low Medium High Very High y Disease-Specific Severity Index No Complications 1 or More Minor Comp. 1 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 2	<0.001							
Medium High Very High y Disease-Specific Severity Index No Complications 1 or More Minor Comp. 1 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Major		-17.450 -1 409	2,197.2 0.283	0.0 24 7	0.994	0.000	0.000 . 0.140	0 426
High Very High Very High y Disease-Specific Severity Index No Complications 1 or More Minor Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 2 Surrey / WR LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR LHA 201 - Surrey LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison LHA 075 - Mission LHA 042 - Maole Ridge		******	0.200	24.7	0.001	0.211	0.140	0.120
y Disease-Specific Severity Index No Complications 1 or More Minor Comp. 1 or More Intermediate Comp. 1 Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. by Patient Residence (in Year 3) LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR LHA 201 - Surrey LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison LHA 075 - Mission LHA 043 - Coquitlam LHA 042 - Maole Ridge		1.430	0.098	214.7	< 0.001	4.178	3.451	5.059
No Complications 1 or More Minor Comp. 1 or More Intermediate Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. by Patient Residence (in Year 3) LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR LHA 201 - Surrey LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison LHA 075 - Mission LHA 042 - Maole Ridge	<0.001	3.392	0.095	1,201.7	< 0.001	29.729	24.054	35.845
1 or More Minor Comp. 1 or More Intermediate Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. by Patient Residence (in Year 3) LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR LHA 201 - Surrey LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison LHA 075 - Mission LHA 042 - Coquitlam LHA 042 - Maole Ridge		-0.664	0.123	29.2	< 0.001	0.515	0.405	0.655
1 Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp. by Patient Residence (in Year 3) LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR LHA 201 - Surrey LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison LHA 075 - Mission LHA 043 - Coquitlam LHA 042 - Maole Ridge		-0.264 ******	0.104	6.5	0.011	0.768	0.627	0.941
2 or More Major Comp. by Patient Residence (in Year 3) LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR LHA 201 - Surrey LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison LHA 075 - Mission LHA 043 - Coquitlam I HA 042 - Maole Ridge		0.035	0.304	0.0	0.907	1.036	0.570	1.881
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR LHA 201 - Surrey LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison LHA 075 - Mission LHA 043 - Maple Ridge	-0.001	0.683	0.289	5.6	0.018	1.980	1.124	3.486
LHA 201 - Surrey LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison LHA 075 - Mission LHA 043 - Coquitlam I HA 042 - Maple Ridge	<0.001	-0.147	0.106	1.9	0.168	0.864	0.701	1.064
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison LHA 075 - Mission LHA 043 - Coquitlam LHA 042 - Maple Ridge		******						
LHA 043 - Coquitlam		-2.546	1.048 0.134	5.9	0.015	0.078	0.010	0.612
I HA 042 - Maple Ridge		-0.135	0.078	3.0	0.084	0.874	0.750	1.018
Linter in apier adge		0.023	0.104	0.1	0.823	1.023	0.835	1.254
LHA 041 - Burnaby		-0.140	0.068	4.2	0.041	0.870	0.761	0.994
LHA 040 - New Westminster		0.047	0.104	0.2	0.649	1.049	0.855	1.28/
LHA 035 - Langlev		-0.426	0.092	22.1	< 0.004	0.653	0.547	0.780
LHA 034 - Abbotsford		-0.126	0.084	2.3	0.133	0.882	0.749	1.039
LHA 033 - Chilliwack		-0.373	0.106	12.5	< 0.001	0.688	0.560	0.847
ae by DSSIndex	0.043	0.338	0.234	2.1	0.149	1.402	0.886	2.217
30-39 by No Complications		-0.328	0.304	1.2	0.280	0.720	0.397	1.306
30-39 by 1 or More Minor Comp.		-0.331	0.320	1.1	0.301	0.718	0.384	1.344
30-39 by 1 Major Complication		-0.206	0.584	0.1	0.724	0.814	0.259	2.555
40-49 by No Complications		-0.234	0.009	0.2	0.049	0.770	0.259	2.318
40-49 by 1 or More Minor Comp.		0.276	0.186	2.2	0.138	1.318	0.915	1.899
40-49 by 1 Major Complication		0.016	0.503	0.0	0.975	1.016	0.379	2.724
40-49 by 2+ Major Complications		-0.209	0.481	0.2	0.663	0.811	0.316	2.084
60-69 by No Complications		0.295	0.170	3.0 g /	0.082	1.343	0.963	1.873
60-69 by 1 Major Complication		-0.082	0.398	0.0	0.837	0.921	0.423	2.009
60-69 by 2+ Major Complications		0.661	0.400	2.7	0.098	1.938	0.884	4.245
70-79 by No Complications		0.432	0.171	6.4	0.011	1.540	1.102	2.151
70-79 by 1 or More Minor Comp.		0.202	0.137	2.2	0.141	1.224	0.935	1.601
70-79 by 1 Major Complication 70-79 by 2+ Major Complications		0.440	0.366	0.4	0.254	1.291	0.729	2.919
ge by Adherence	<0.001							
30-39 by Low Adherence		-0.128	0.280	0.2	0.647	0.880	0.509	1.522
40-49 by Low Adherence		-0.018	0.207	0.0	0.929	0.982	0.654	1.474
70-79 by Low Adherence		0.128	0,165	4.9	0.457	1.443	1.044	1.993
30-39 by High Adherence		-0.155	0.278	0.3	0.577	0.856	0.497	1.476
40-49 by High Adherence		-0.031	0.173	0.0	0.858	0.969	0.690	1.361
60-69 by High Adherence 70-79 by High Adherence		-0.047 -0.387	0.129 0.131	0.1 8.8	0.717	0.954 0.679	0.740 0.526	1.230 0.877
		0.001		0.0	0.000	0.070	0.020	5.011
FITTED MODEL		-2 log likelih Likelihood F	lood Ratio Test 3	X2	14,050.0 5,599.4			
		Degrees of	Freedom	-	54.0			
		- المنا م			<0.001			
		p - value			-0.001			
lotes: ******* Reference Category		p - value Nagelkerke	R Square	GOF	0.392			

4.8.3 Interpretation of the Final Fitted Model for Physician Costs

After adjusting for the covariates and interactions in the model, patients in the low adherence group had a 27.9% lower probability of being in the high physician resource use group than patients in the medium adherence category. Individuals in the high adherence group, on the other hand, had a 58.7% higher probability of being in the high resource use group than individuals in the medium adherence category. These differences increased from 16.6% and 37.2% (in the univariate model) after adjusting for the covariates in the model.

The increased likelihood of being in the high resource use group associated with high adherence may be due to several reasons. Most probably, the higher costs associated with high adherence are due to more frequent visits to a physician to receive the recommended tests and procedures. We were not able to determine which physician costs were associated specifically with improved adherence to the recommended clinical procedures versus other care provided by physicians. This would be a question for further research.

Adults aged 60-69 were 31.5% less likely to be in the high physician utilization category compared to the reference group of 50-59 year olds. This finding was not expected given that increasing age is generally associated with increased physician utilization. Table 4-39 provides further information on the proportion of individuals in the high vs. low resource use groups by age and physician category (general practitioner, specialist physician and total physician). Based on age category alone, there were no significant differences between the 50-59 and 60-69 year age groups in the proportion of individuals in the high utilization category for either of the three physician categories. Yet after adjusting for the other covariates in the model, adults in the 60-69 year old group were less likely to be in the high utilization category for total physician costs.

One possible explanation for this finding is that individuals aged 50-59 with diagnosed type 2 diabetes have had their diagnosis confirmed for a shorter period of time, on average, than those aged 60-69 and may still be in the process establishing an appropriate treatment protocol for the control of their diabetes resulting in relatively more frequent physician visits. This would assume that establishing a treatment protocol would take some time since newly diagnosed adults were excluded from the study sample.

Table 4-39 Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Type 2 DiabetesHigh vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Physician Costs												
	Total N in		Low Util	lization								
	Year 3	N	N <mark>%</mark> 95% Cl				%	CI				
By Age (in Year	r 3)		General Practitioners									
30-39	1,081	885	81.9%	79.5%	84.0%	196	18.1%	16.0%	20.5%			
40-49	2,795	2,337	83.6%	82.2%	84.9%	458	16.4%	15.1%	17.8%			
50-59	5,054	4,209	83.3%	82.2%	84.3%	845	16.7%	15.7%	17.8%			
60-69	6,205	5,104	82.3%	81.3%	83.2%	1,101	17.7%	16.8%	18.7%			
70-79	5,093	3,638	71.4%	70.2%	72.7%	1,455	28.6%	27.3%	29.8%			
				Sp	ecialist l	Physiciar	ıs					
30-39	1,081	869	80.4%	77.9%	82.7%	212	19.6%	17.4%	22.1%			
40-49	2,795	2,335	83.5%	82.1%	84.9%	460	16.5%	15.1%	17.9%			
50-59	5,054	4,088	80.9%	79.8%	82.0%	966	19.1%	18.1%	20.2%			
60-69	6,205	4,963	80.0%	79.0%	81.0%	1,242	20.0%	19.0%	21.0%			
70-79	5,093	3,918	76.9%	75.8%	78.1%	1,175	23.1%	21.9%	24.3%			
					All Phy	sicians						
30-39	1,081	884	81.8%	79.4%	84.0%	197	18.2%	16.0%	20.6%			
40-49	2,795	2,345	83.9%	82.5%	85.2%	450	16.1%	14.8%	17.5%			
50-59	5,054	4,152	82.2%	81.1%	83.2%	902	17.8%	16.8%	18.9%			
60-69	6,205	5,050	81.4%	80.4%	82.3%	1,155	18.6%	17.7%	19.6%			
70-79	5,093	3,760	73.8%	72.6%	75.0%	1,333	26.2%	25.0%	27.4%			

As noted previously, the interaction between age and adherence revealed that individuals aged 70-79 in the low adherence group were 44.3% more likely to be in the high utilization group while those in the high adherence group were 32.1% less likely to be in the high utilization group.

Individuals in the lowest two socio-economic status groups were more likely to be in the high resource use group. Individuals in quintile one had a 41.6% higher probability of being in the high resource use group compared to those in the reference group of quintile three.

Individuals in quintile two had a 18.5% higher probability of being in the high resource use group compared to the reference group.

After adjusting for the covariates in the multivariate model, patients who were in the low morbidity group are considerably less likely (75.6%) to be in the high resource use group than are those in the medium morbidity group. Not surprisingly, adults in the high or very high morbidity groups are considerably more likely to be in the high resource use category (4.2 and 29.7 times, respectively).

Patients with no diabetes disease-specific complicating conditions were 48.5% less likely while those with one or minor complicating conditions were 23.2% less likely (OR=0.768) to be in the high resource use group than are those who have one or more intermediate complicating conditions (the reference group). On the other hand, adults with two or more major complicating conditions were 98% more likely to be in the high resource use category.

After adjusting for the covariates in the model, patients living in the LHA of Hope were no longer more likely to be in the high resource use category than the reference group of patients living in Surrey. The LHA of Delta now became the only LHA in which adults had a higher probability (30.0%) of being in the high resource use category compared to the reference group. Individuals living in Langley (34.7%), Chilliwack (31.2%), Burnaby (13.0%) and Agassiz/Harrison (92.2%) were all less likely to be in the high resource use group than individuals in the reference group.

The overall final model accounted for a significant proportion of the variation in the probability of being in the high resource use group with a Chi-square test statistic of 5,599.4 (54 df) which corresponds to a *p*-value of less than 0.001. The Nagelkerke R Square was 0.392, indicating that 39.2% of the total variance was explained by the model.

The goodness of fit of the multivariate model was assessed using the Hosmer & Lemeshow GOF test. The Hosmer & Lemeshow statistic was 4.6 with 8 *df* which was not statistically significant (p = 0.802) indicating that the model was an adequate fit for the observed data.

In summary, after adjusting for numerous covariates and interactions (i.e. the individual's level of adherence, age, socio-economic status, general morbidity, disease-specific morbidity, geographic location of residence, interactions between age and disease-specific morbidity and age and adherence), a number of patient characteristics predicted whether an individual was more or less likely to be in the high average annual total physician cost group. The populations that were less likely to be in the high physician cost category were:

- those in the low adherence category
- those aged 60-69
- those with a low level of co-morbidity
- those with no or only minor diabetes disease-specific complications, and
- those living in the LHAs of Langley, Chilliwack, Burnaby and Agassiz/Harrison

The populations that were more likely to be in the high physician cost category were:

- adults in the high adherence group
- those in the lowest two SES categories
- those with a high or very high level of co-morbidity
- those with two or more major diabetes disease-specific complications
- those living in the LHA of Delta

4.9 Univariate Logistic Regression Models for Average Annual Total Acute Care Costs

Acute care utilization was defined by average annual costs for treatment in hospital or in surgical day care. Table 4-40 provides the results of the univariate logistic regression models comparing high versus low utilization of acute care services during the five year study period (April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001). Which patient characteristics had a significant effect on whether or not adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes were in the high versus low categories for acute care utilization?

Prior to adjusting for covariates, patients in the low adherence category were 22.2% (OR = 0.778) *less* likely to be in the high acute care utilization category compared to adults in the medium adherence category (i.e., the reference group). The independent variable of adherence accounted for 0.3% of the variance (Nagelkerke R Square of .003) in the dependent variable of low or high average annual acute care costs.

In the absence of adjustment for other covariates in the model, there were no significant differences (p=0.287) in the probability of females or males being in the high acute care utilization category. As noted in Section 3.7 Analytic Methods, any variable for which the univariate test has a p value of < 0.25 will be considered a candidate for the multivariate model. The 0.25 level has been suggested as an appropriate level for selection of candidate variables as the use of the more traditional level of 0.05 often fails to identify important variables. In addition, any variable of known or hypothesized significance was assessed in the full model regardless of the significance results in the univariate analysis. Thus, the gender of the individual was assessed in the multivariate model, even though there were no significant findings in the initial analysis.

There was a clear relationship between the age of the individual and the probability of being in the high acute care cost category. As expected, those less likely to incur high acute care costs were younger than the reference group of 50-59 years (i.e., 46.0% less likely for 30-39 years; 42.9% less likely for 40-49 years). On the other hand, older individuals tended to incur high acute care costs. Those aged 60-69 were 54% more likely and those aged 70-79 were 290% more likely to be in the high resource use category compared to the reference group. The independent variable of age accounted for 6.4% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high average annual acute care costs.

Individuals in the lowest two socio-economic status (SES) quintiles were more likely (28.9% and 14.3%, respectively) to be in the high acute care utilization group than those in the middle quintile. The independent variable of SES accounted for 0.2% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high acute care utilization.

	BETA	S.E.	Wald	p-value	OR	95% C.I. fo Lower	or Exp(B) Upper	-2 log likelihood	Model X2	df	p-value	Nagelkerke R Square	Selection
By Level of Adherence													
Low	-0.221	0.045	31.4	< 0.001	0.778	0.712	0.849	20.195.8	35.8	2	<0.001	0.003	Yes
Medium	******							-,					
High	-0.009	0.041	0.0	0.832	0.991	0.914	1.075						
By Sex													
Female	-0.038	0.035	1.1	0.288	0.963	0.899	1.032	20,175.3	1.1	1	0.287	0.000	No
Male	******												
By Age (in Year 3)													
30-39	-0.403	0.109	13.7	< 0.001	0.669	0.540	0.827	19,401.8	829.7	4	<0.001	0.064	Yes
40-49	-0.414	0.075	30.6	< 0.001	0.661	0.571	0.765						
50-59	0 400	0.051	74.0	< 0.001	1 5 4 0	1 204	1 700						
00-09 70 70	1.052	0.051	11.9	< 0.001	1.540	1.394	3 160						
70-79	1.052	0.050	442.3	< 0.001	2.005	2.597	3.100						
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year	3)												
Quintile 1 (Low)	0.254	0.054	22.3	< 0.001	1.289	1,160	1.432	19.747.5	25.0	4	<0.001	0.002	Yes
Quintile 2	0.134	0.054	6.3	0.012	1.143	1.029	1.270		20.0		0.001	0.002	
Quintile 3	******												
Quintile 4	0.078	0.055	2.0	0.153	1.081	0.971	1.204						
Quintile 5 (High)	0.052	0.062	0.7	0.400	1.054	0.933	1.190						
By Morbidity				0.000		0.404	0 754	17 540 0				0.400	
Very Low	-0.998	0.363	7.6	0.006	0.368	0.181	0.751	17,512.0	2,611.2	4	<0.001	0.193	Yes
LOW	-0.451	0.125	13.1	< 0.001	0.637	0.499	0.813						
Medium	1 175	0.060	202.0	< 0.001	2 240	2 022	2 706						
High Very High	2 359	0.069	293.0	< 0.001	3.240	2.032 9.273	12 072						
tory mgn	2.000	0.001	.,0.0	0.001		0.2.0							
By Disease-Specific Severity Index													
No Complications	-1.262	0.050	628.0	< 0.001	0.283	0.257	0.312	19,093.7	1,137.8	4	<0.001	0.087	Yes
1 or More Minor Comp.	-0.540	0.042	167.7	< 0.001	0.583	0.537	0.632						
1 or More Intermediate Comp.	******												
1 Major Comp.	0.712	0.113	39.7	< 0.001	2.039	1.634	2.544						
2 or More Major Comp.	1.739	0.131	175.3	< 0.001	5.691	4.399	7.362						
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)													
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	0.291	0.083	12.3	< 0.001	1.338	1.137	1.575	20.134.3	97.2	12	<0.001	0.008	Yes
LHA 201 - Surrey	******							,					
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	0.346	0.216	2.6	0.109	1.143	0.926	2.157						
LHA 075 - Mission	0.212	0.110	3.7	0.054	1.236	0.997	1.533						
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	0.057	0.064	0.8	0.371	1.059	0.934	1.200						
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	0.276	0.083	11.1	0.001	1.318	1.121	1.551						
LHA 041 - Burnaby	-0.097	0.060	2.6	0.108	0.908	0.807	1.021						
LHA 040 - New Westminster	0.359	0.087	17.2	< 0.001	1.432	1.208	1.696						
LHA 037 - Delta	0.068	0.078	0.8	0.379	1.071	0.920	1.247						
LHA 035 - Langley	0.315	0.071	19.8	< 0.001	1.370	1.192	1.573						
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	0.309	0.067	21.3	< 0.001	1.362	1.195	1.553						
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	0.351	0.081	18.6	< 0.001	1.420	1.211	1.665						
LHA 032 - Hope	0.783	0.189	17.2	< 0.001	2.189	1.511	3.171						
Notes: ******* Reference Category													

Patients who were in the very low or low morbidity group were considerably less likely (63.2% and 36.3%, respectively) to be in the high acute care cost group than are those in the medium morbidity group. On the other hand, adults in the high or very high morbidity groups were much more likely to incur high acute care costs (3.2 times and 10.6 times, respectively).

The independent variable of morbidity accounted for 19.3% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high average annual acute care costs.

Those with no complications or just one or more minor complications were considerably less likely (71.7% and 41.7%, respectively) to be in the high acute care cost category than those who had one or more intermediate complications (i.e., the reference group). The adults with one major complication or two or more major complications differed dramatically from the reference group. They were 200% and 570%, respectively, more likely to be in the high acute care cost category. The independent variable of disease-specific severity index accounted for 8.7% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

Acute care utilization varied considerably between LHAs. In the absence of adjusting for covariates, adults living in the LHAs of South Surrey / White Rock (33.8%), Maple Ridge (31.8%), New Westminster (43.2%), Langley (37.0%), Abbotsford (36.2%), Chilliwack (42.0\$) and Hope (118.9%) were all more likely to be in the high acute care cost category than individuals who lived in the reference group of Surrey. The independent variable of patient residence accounted for 0.8% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

4.10 Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for Average Annual Total Acute Care Costs

4.10.1 Development of a Reduced Main Effects Model for Acute Care Costs

As noted in table 4-40, the six independent variables (i.e., adherence, age, SES, morbidity, disease-specific severity and patient residence) assessed in the univariate analysis were all selected for inclusion in the multivariate model based on a *p*-value < 0.001. Gender was included as of the seventh variable; it was of known or hypothesized significance. These seven independent variables were entered into the Binary Logistic Regression function of SPSS based

on the explanatory power of the variable. Thus the variable morbidity was entered first, followed by disease-specific severity index, age, patient residence, adherence, socio-economic status and gender. Once all of the variables were in the model (the 'full model'), each variable was sequentially removed in reverse order to assess the impact of the exclusion of each variable from the full model. The results are provided in table 4-41.

Table 4-41 Development and Testing of a														
Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for														
	Hig	jh vs. L	ow Utili	ization	of Aver	age An	nual A	cute Car	e Costs					1
						-		-						1
		1.	-tormodi	-ta Madu	-1-		Full Assessing the Impact of							
			itermedia	ate Mode	ls		Modei		к	emoving i	Individuai	Variables		
By Level of Adherence					<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.003	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001
Low					1.173	1.164	1.166	0.941	1.114	1.131	1.177		1.173	1.164
Medium	******													
High					0.774	0.768	0.775	0.858	0.803	0.794	0.765		0.779	0.768
By Sex							<0.001	< 0.001	<0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
гешае Маје	******						0.725	0.837	0.732	0.750	0.725	0.721	0.737	1
By Age (in Year 3)			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
30-39			0.581	0.581	0.558	0.561	0.568	0.688	0.599		0.566	0.590	0.566	0.561
40-49			0.668	0.670	0.659	0.654	0.655	0.695	0.644		0.653	0.665	0.662	0.654
50-59	******													
60-69			1.427	1.425	1.443	1.438	1.435	1.418	1.460		1.437	1.417	1.440	1.438
70-79			2.455	2.421	2.422	2.409	2.462	2.473	2.524		2.510	2.457	2.476	2.409
By Socio-Economic Status (In Year 3)						0.107	0.065	0.001	0.074	0.011	0.274	0.047		0.107
						1.130	1.155	1.250	1.150	1.222	1.115	1.102		1.130
Quintile 3	******					1.105	1.105	1.187	1.100	1.104	1.100	1.100		1.105
Quintile 4						1.104	1.086	1.085	1.088	1.081	1.083	1.079		1.104
Quintile 5 (High)						1.074	1.039	1.024	1.038	1.054	1.061	1.025		1.074
By Morbidity	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Very Low	0.368	0.427	0.421	0.415	0.396	0.409	0.407		0.372	0.415	0.413	0.427	0.394	0.409
Low	0.637	0.688	0.683	0.681	0.665	0.642	0.630		0.601	0.638	0.632	0.645	0.653	0.642
Medium	******													
High	3.240	2.894	2.825	2.818	2.901	2.912	2.983		3.217	3.049	3.001	2.899	2.964	2.912
Very High	10.58	8.4/7	8.533	8.602	8.992	8.991	9.354	-0.001	10.927	9.244	9.317	8.957	9.330	8.991
No Complications		<0.001	0.679	0.678	0.645	0.640	<0.001	0.359		0.487	0.634	0.668	0 641	0.640
1 or More Minor Comp.		0.832	0.970	0.975	0.943	0.939	0.944	0.665		0.817	0.936	0.977	0.948	0.939
1 or More Intermediate Comp.	******	0.002	, 0.0.0	0.010	0.0.0	0.000	0.011	0.000		0.01.	0.000	0.01	0.0.0	0.001
1 Major Comp.		1.746	2.045	2.061	2.059	1.994	2.028	2.354		1.718	2.012	2.033	2.092	1.994
2 or More Major Comp.		4.514	6.250	6.186	6.240	6.035	5.980	7.292		4.322	6.067	5.929	6.184	6.035
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)				<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR				1.152	1.188	1.215	1.225	1.209	1.189	1.551		1.197	1.178	1.215
LHA 201 - Surrey	******			4 409	4 400	0 454	0 107	0.557	0.440	0 507		0 400	4 260	0 454
LHA U/b - Agassiz-Harrison				1.408	1.433	0.404	0.437	0.557	0.410	1 372		1 307	1.300	0.404
LHA 0/3 - Coguitlam				1.303	1.272	1.200	1.270	1.250	1.241	1.372		1 198	1.203	1.200
I HA 042 - Manle Ridge				1 390	1 368	1 431	1 446	1 385	1 458	1.553		1 466	1 376	1 431
LHA 041 - Burnaby				0.890	0.917	0.919	0.925	0.850	0.911	1.024		0.899	0.920	0.919
LHA 040 - New Westminster				1.377	1.394	1.387	1.412	1.256	1.437	1.520		1.397	1.410	1.387
LHA 037 - Delta				1.136	1.145	1.170	1.181	1.116	1.176	1.221		1.178	1.138	1.170
LHA 035 - Langley				1.266	1.306	1.305	1.309	1.206	1.334	1.447		1.274	1.301	1.305
LHA 034 - Abbotsford				1.435	1.410	1.431	1.424	1.290	1.389	1.606		1.453	1.394	1.431
LHA 033 - Chilliwack				1.265	1.273	1.256	1.255	1.15/	1.282	1.426		1.249	1.267	1.256
LHA U32 - Hope				1.707	1.750	1.929	1.978	2.301	1.920	2.344		1.997	1.795	1.929
-2 loa likelihood	17,512	17,146	16,621	16,552	16,494	16,107	16.003	17.965	16.304	16.509	16.070	16.057	16.320	16,107
Likelihood Ratio Test X2	2,611	2,977	3,502	3,571	3,629	3,557	3,615	1,761	3,314	3,181	3,548	3,561	3,676	3,557
Degrees of Freedom	4	8	12	24	26	30	31	27	27	27	19	29	27	30
p - value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Nagelkerke R Square	0.193	0.218	0.253	0.257	0.261	0.262	0.266	0.135	0.246	0.232	0.262	0.263	0.265	0.262
Hosmer & Lemeshow GOF	1.000	0.082	0.007	0.633	0.656	0.627	0.526	0.024	0.458	0.108	0.029	0.142	0.335	0.627
Change in -2 Log Likelihood it variable	le Remov	/ed						1,856	302	507	67 -0.001	54 -0.001	9	65
D - value of Change								<0.00 i	<0.00 i	<0.00 i	<0.00 i	<0.00 i	0.004	<0.001
Significant Odds Ratios (OR) are high	hliahted ir	n vellow												
The p value for each (grouped) varial	hle is pro	wided in	boldod	italice (above the	first OF	valua fr	r that arou	un					
Table 4-42 presents the detailed results of the main effects model. Six of the seven

variables were significant predictors of the probability of being in the category of high acute care

utilization, defined by average annual acute care costs. Only SES was not a significant predictor.

Table 4-42	Main	Effects I	Multivaria	ate Logi	stic Reg	gression	Model	for	
High	vs. L	ow Utilizati	on of Aver	age Ann	ual Acute	e Care Co	sts		
		n-value						95% C I fo	vr Evn(B)
		For Group	BETA	S.E.	Wald	<i>p</i> -value	OR	Lower	Upper
By Level of Adherence		<0.001							
	Low		0.159	0.051	9.650	0.002	1.173	1.061	1.297
Me	dium		******						
	High		-0.249	0.046	29.009	< 0.001	0.779	0.712	0.853
By Sex		<0.001							
F	emale		-0.305	0.040	59.025	< 0.001	0.737	0.682	0.797
	Male		******						
By Age (in Year 3)		<0.001							
	30-39		-0.569	0.126	20.519	< 0.001	0.566	0.443	0.724
	40-49		-0.413	0.080	26.510	< 0.001	0.662	0.565	0.774
	50-59		*******			0.004			
	60-69		0.364	0.056	43.103	< 0.001	1.440	1.291	1.605
Des Marsh istitus	70-79	0.004	0.907	0.055	267.039	< 0.001	2.476	2.221	2.761
		<0.001	0.004	0.005	0 540	0.044	0.004	0.400	0.000
Ver	y Low		-0.931	0.365	0.510	0.011	0.394	0.193	0.806
			-0.420	0.120	11.325	0.001	0.653	0.510	0.837
IVIE IVIE			1 097	0.071	222 202	< 0.001	2 064	2 5 9 1	2 402
Von			1.007	0.071	237.302	< 0.001	2.904	2.001	3.403 10 715
By Discase-Specific Soverity In		-0.001	2.235	0.071	999.709	< 0.001	9.330	0.124	10.715
No Complications	uex	<0.001	0 4 4 5	0.057	60 300	< 0.001	0.641	0 573	0 717
1 or More Minor Comp			-0.445	0.037	1 337	0.001	0.041	0.575	1 038
1 or More Intermediate Con	n		******	0.047	1.007	0.240	0.540	0.000	1.000
1 Major Comp	·P·		0 738	0 124	35 597	< 0.001	2 092	1 642	2 667
2 or More Major Comp			1 822	0.124	161 233	< 0.001	6 184	4 668	8 192
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)	<0.001	1.022	0.110	101.200	0.001	0.101		0.102
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	/		0.164	0.093	3.081	0.079	1.178	0.981	1,414
LHA 201 - Surrey			******	0.000	0.001	0.010		0.001	
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison			0.308	0.244	1.593	0.207	1.360	0.844	2.193
LHA 075 - Mission			0.250	0.122	4.190	0.041	1.283	1.011	1.630
LHA 043 - Coguitlam			0.162	0.071	5.137	0.023	1.175	1.022	1.352
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge			0.320	0.093	11.901	0.001	1.376	1.148	1.651
LHA 041 - Burnaby			-0.084	0.067	1.581	0.209	0.920	0.807	1.048
LHA 040 - New Westminster			0.344	0.097	12.538	0.000	1.410	1.166	1.706
LHA 037 - Delta			0.129	0.086	2.236	0.135	1.138	0.961	1.347
LHA 035 - Langley			0.263	0.079	10.945	0.001	1.301	1.113	1.520
LHA 034 - Abbotsford			0.332	0.075	19.720	< 0.001	1.394	1.204	1.615
LHA 033 - Chilliwack			0.237	0.091	6.773	0.009	1.267	1.060	1.515
LHA 032 - Hope			0.584	0.214	7.415	0.006	1.793	1.178	2.730
FITTED MODEL			-2 log likelih	ood		16,391.9			
			Likelihood F	Ratio Test 2	X 2	3,676.3			
			Degrees of	Freedom		27			
			p - value			<0.001			
			Nagelkerke	R Square		0.265			
			Hosmer & L	emeshow	GOF	0.335			
Notes: ******* Reference Category	/								

4.10.2 Development of a Final Fitted Model for Acute Care Costs

After the development of the main effects model, all possible two-way interactions were tested individually based on Wald statistics and their *p*-values. All but one (i.e., adherence by gender) potential two-factor term was found to be significant. To assess these potential interactions in the model, the main effects were entered as a block and the potential two-way interactions were included as a second block using the forward stepwise (likelihood ratio) approach. This analysis identified three two-way interactions that remained significant after adjusting for the other variables in the model; general morbidity by DSS Index (p=0.023), general morbidity by adherence (p=0.002) and age group by DSS Index (p=0.001).

Potential three-way interactions were selected (based on the significant two-way interaction variables). The three-way interactions were then tested individually based on Wald statistics and their *p*-values and found to be significant. The significant three-way interactions were then included with the two-way interactions in the second block. After adjusting for the main effects in the model and potential interactions (i.e., both two-way and three-way), none of the interactions remained significant. They were subsequently excluded from the final fitted model. The final fitted model was therefore identical to the main effects model shown in table 4-42.

4.10.3 Interpretation of the Final Fitted Model for Acute Care Costs

After adjusting for the covariates in the model, patients in the low adherence group were 17.3% more likely to be in the high acute care cost category than patients in the medium adherence category. Individuals in the high adherence group, on the other hand, were 22.1% less likely to be in the high acute care cost category than the reference group.

This relationship between adherence and the probability of high acute care utilization was directly opposite that of the relationship between adherence and high physician utilization. Specifically, after adjusting for the covariates in the models, individuals in the low adherence group were 16.6% less likely to be in the high physician resource category but 17.3% more likely to be in the high acute care resource category. Individuals in the high adherence group, on the other hand, were 37.2% more likely to be in the high physician resource category but 22.1% less likely to be in the high acute care resource category.

The preliminary univariate analysis indicated no significant difference between males and females in the probability of being in the high resource use category. After adjusting for the covariates in the model, however, it became obvious that there was a difference between the sexes. Females were 26.3% less likely (OR=0.737) to be in the high acute care cost group than males.

The clear relationship between the age of the individual and the probability of being in the high resource use category remained even after adjusting for the covariates in the model. Younger adults were less likely to be in the high resource use category compared to the reference group of 50-59 year olds. Older individuals were more likely to be in the high resource use category. Those aged 60-69 were 44.0% more likely and those aged 70-79 were 250 % (OR=2.476) more likely to be in the high resource use category compared to the reference group.

The multivariate analysis confirmed the strong relationship between poor health and acute care utilization. Adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who were in the very low and low morbidity group remained considerably less likely (60.6% and 34.7%, respectively) to be in the high resource use group than those in the medium morbidity group. Adults in the high or very high morbidity groups were considerably more likely to be in the high resource use category (OR

of 2.964 and 9.330, respectively). Similarly, the multivariate analysis confirmed that patients with no complications were 35.9% less likely to be in the high resource use group than are those who had one or more intermediate complications (i.e., the reference group). On the other hand, adults with one or multiple major complications were 2.1 and 6.2 times more likely to be in the high resource use category.

The LHA of Surrey, which was the reference group for place of residence, compared favourably with the other LHAs. Patients living in the LHAs of Mission (28.3%), Coquitlam (17.5%), Maple Ridge (37.6%), New Westminster (41.0%), Langley (30.1%), Abbotsford (39.4%), Chilliwack (26.7%) and Hope (79.3%) were all more likely to be in the high resource use group than individuals who live in the LHA of Surrey.

The overall final model explained a significant proportion of the variation in the probability of being in the high acute care resource use group with a Chi-square test statistic of 3,676.3 (27 *df*) which corresponds to a *p*-value of less than 0.001. The Nagelkerke R Square was 0.265, indicating that 26.5% of the total variance was explained by the model.

The goodness of fit of the multivariate model was assessed using the Hosmer & Lemeshow GOF test. The Hosmer & Lemeshow statistic was 9.1 with 8 *df* which was not statistically significant (p = 0.335) indicating that the model was an adequate fit for the observed data.

In summary, after adjusting for six factors (i.e., the individual's level of adherence, gender, age, general morbidity, disease-specific morbidity and geographic location of residence) a number of patient characteristics predicted whether an individual is more or less likely to be in the high or low average annual acute care cost category. The patients who were less likely to be in the high acute care costs category were:

- females
- younger adults
- those with a very low or low level of co-morbidity
- those with no diabetes disease-specific complications

The patients who were more likely to be in the high acute care costs category were:

- males
- older individuals
- those in the lowest SES category
- those with a high or very high level of co-morbidity
- those with one or more major diabetes disease-specific complications
- those living in the LHAs of Mission, Coquitlam, Maple Ridge, New Westminster, Langley, Abbotsford, Chilliwack and Hope

4.11 Univariate Logistic Regression Models for Average Annual Total Costs

In this section, physician and acute care costs are combined into total costs.

Table 4-43 provides the results of the univariate logistic regression models comparing high versus low utilization of average annual total costs during the five year study period (April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001). Which patient characteristics had a significant effect on whether or not individuals are in the high versus low total cost category?

Patients in the low adherence category were 25.0% (OR of 0.750) less likely to be in the high resource use group compared to adults in the medium adherence category (i.e., the reference group). On its own, however, the independent variable of adherence accounted for just 0.04% of the variance (Nagelkerke R Square of .004) in the dependent variable of low or high average annual resource use.

		2				050/ 01/		0.1	Madel			Negalised		
	BETA	S.E.	Wald	p-value	OR	95% C.I. fo Lower	Upper	-2 log likelihood	X2	df	p-value	R Square	Selection	
By Level of Adherence														
Low	-0.287	0.045	40.2	< 0.001	0.750	0.687	0.820	20,169.9	53.3	2	< 0.001	0.004	Yes	
Medium High	0 040	0 041	0.9	0 335	1 040	0 960	1 128							
By Sex	0.010	0.0.1	0.0	0.000		0.000								
Female	-0.030	0.035	0.7	0.393	0.970	0.905	1.040	20,170.2	0.7	1	0.393	0.000	No	
Male	******													
30-39	-0 391	0 107	13 4	< 0.001	0 677	0 549	0 834	19 458 3	764.9	4	< 0 001	0 059	Yes	
40-49	-0.394	0.073	28.9	< 0.001	0.675	0.584	0.779	10,100.0		Ċ	0.001	01000		
50-59	******													
60-69	0.358	0.051	49.7	< 0.001	1.430	1.295	1.580							
70-79	1.004	0.040	409.4	< 0.001	2.730	2.477	3.010							
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year	3)													
Quintile 1 (Low)	0.315	0.053	34.7	< 0.001	1.370	1.234	1.521	19,721.6	39.7	4	< 0.001	0.003	Yes	
Quintile 2	0.134	0.054	6.2	0.013	1.144	1.029	1.271							
Quintile 3	******				4 070									
Quintile 4	0.076	0.055	1.9	0.169	1.079	0.968	1.201							
Quintile 5 (Figh)	0.052	0.062	0.7	0.401	1.054	0.933	1.190							
By Morbidity														
Very Low	-1.160	0.417	7.7	0.005	0.314	0.138	0.710	17,121.5	2,974.0	4	< 0.001	0.218	Yes	
Low	-0.524	0.136	14.9	< 0.001	0.592	0.454	0.773							
Medium	1 265	0.072	207.1	< 0.001	2 5 4 4	2.076	4 002							
High Very High	2 555	0.072	1 307.1	< 0.001	12 874	11 209	4.065							
voryrngn	2.000	0.071	1,007.1	0.001	12.07	11.200	11.100							
By Disease-Specific Severity Index													.,	
No Complications	-1.326	0.051	676.1	< 0.001	0.266	0.240	0.294	19,051.8	1,171.4	4	< 0.001	0.089	Yes	
1 or More Intermediate Comp.	-0.545	0.042	172.2	< 0.001	0.580	0.534	0.629							
1 Major Comp	0 685	0 113	36.7	< 0.001	1 983	1 589	2 475							
2 or More Major Comp.	1.626	0.129	158.5	< 0.001	5.084	3.947	6.549							
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)	0.005	0 002	7.0	0.007	1 050	1 064	1 475	20 1 17 2	75.0	10	< 0.001	0.006	Vaa	
	0.225 ******	0.065	7.5	0.007	1.252	1.004	1.475	20,147.3	75.9	12	< 0.001	0.006	res	
LHA 201 - Sulley	0 209	0 221	0.9	0 344	1 233	0 799	1 900							
LHA 075 - Mission	0.168	0.110	2.3	0.126	1.183	0.954	1.466							
LHA 043 - Coguitlam	-0.025	0.064	0.2	0.696	0.975	0.860	1.106							
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	0.254	0.082	9.6	0.002	1.289	1.097	1.514							
LHA 041 - Burnaby	-0.125	0.060	4.4	0.036	0.882	0.785	0.992							
LHA 040 - New Westminster	0.333	0.086	15.0	< 0.001	1.395	1.178	1.651							
LHA 037 - Delta	0.047	0.077	0.4	0.539	1.048	0.901	1.219							
LHA 035 - Langley	0.219	0.071	9.5	0.002	1.245	1.083	1.432							
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	0.237	0.067	12.5	< 0.001	1.267	1.111	1.445							
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	0.264	0.082	10.5	0.001	1.303	1.110	1.529							
	0.034	0.193	10.8	0.001	C00.1	1.292	2.750							
Notes: ******* Reference Category														

Table 4-43 Univariate Logistic Regression Models for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Costs

In the absence of adjustment for other covariates in the model, there were no significant differences (p=0.393) in the probability of females or males being in the high resource use category. As noted in Section 3.6 Analytic Methods, any variable of known or hypothesized significance was assessed in the full model regardless of the significance results in the univariate

analysis. Therefore, the gender of the individual was assessed in the multivariate model, even thought it was not statistically significant in the preliminary analysis.

There is a clear relationship between the age of the individual and the probability of being in the high resource use category. Adults aged 30-49 were approximately 22% less likely to be in the high resource use group compared to adults aged 50-59 (i.e., the reference group). On the other hand, older individuals were more likely to be in the high resource use category. Those aged 60-69 were 43% more likely and those aged 70-79 were 173% more likely to be in the high resource use category compared to the reference group. The independent variable of age accounted for 5.9% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

Individuals in the two lowest socio-economic status (SES) quintiles were more likely to be in the high resource use group than those in quintile 3, the reference group. Those in quintile 1 were 37.0% more likely to be in the high resource use group and those in quintile 2 were 14.4% more likely to be in the high resource use group. The independent variable of SES accounted for 0.3% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

Patients in the very low and low morbidity groups were considerably less likely (68.6% and 40.8%, respectively) to be in the high resource use category than those in the medium morbidity group. As expected, patients in the high or very high morbidity groups were more likely to be in the high resource use category (3.5 times and 12.9 times, respectively). The independent variable of morbidity accounted for 21.8% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

Patients with one major complication or two or more major complications were 2.0 and 5.1 times, respectively, more likely to be in the high resource use category. The analysis confirmed that patients with no complications or just one or more minor complications were

considerably less likely (73.4% and 42.0%, respectively) to be in the high resource use group. The independent variable of disease-specific severity index accounted for 8.9% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

In the analysis for place of residence, the results for total health care utilization mirrored the findings for acute care utilization. That is, individuals living in the majority of LHA's were more likely to be in the high resource use category than the reference group living in Surrey. Specifically, individuals living in the LHAs of Hope (88.5%), New Westminster (39.5%), Chilliwack (30.3%), Maple Ridge (28.9%), Abbotsford (26.7%), South Surrey/White Rock (25.2%) and Langley (24.5%) were all more likely to be in the high resource use group. Only individuals living in the LHA of Burnaby (OR=0.882) were less likely to be in the high resource use group than individuals who lived in the LHA of Surrey. The independent variable of patient residence accounted for 0.6% of the variance in the dependent variable of low or high resource use.

As noted in table 4-41, the six independent variables (i.e., adherence, age, SES, morbidity, disease-specific severity and patient residence) assessed in the univariate analysis were all selected for inclusion in the multivariate model based on a *p*-value of less 0.001. A seventh variable, the independent variable of gender, was included for assessment due to the probable significance of this variable on resource use.

4.12 Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for Average Annual Total Costs

4.12.1 Development of a Reduced Main Effects Model for Total Costs

The seven independent variables were entered into the Binary Logistic Regression function of SPSS based on the explanatory power of the variable. Thus the variable of morbidity was entered first, followed by disease-specific severity index, age, patient residence, adherence, socio-economic status and gender. Once all of the variables were in the model, each variable was sequentially removed in reverse order to assess the impact of the exclusion of each variable from the full model. The results are provided in table 4-44.

		Tab	le 4-4	4 Dev	/elopn	nent a	nd Tes	sting of	а					
		Mul	tivaria	te Loo	istic R	eares	sion M	lodel fo	or					
		High ve	slowl	Utilizati	on of A	verage	Annua	I Total C	Costs					
		i ligit v	J. LOW	otinzuti	011 01 71	veruge	7 411144	i i otai c	/0010					
							Full			Assessir	na the Imr	act of		
		Ir	termedia	ate Mode	els		Model		R	emoving I	Individual	Variables		
By Level of Adherence					<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.033	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001
Low					1.148	1.137	1.140	0.902	1.087	1.110	1.150		1.151	1.137
Medium	******				0.040	0.044	0.040	0.011	0.040	0.004	0.007		0.000	0.011
High					0.816	0.811	0.819	0.911	0.846	0.834	0.807	-0.001	0.823	0.811
By Sex							<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Male	******						0.705	0.007	0.710	0.755	0.711	0.707	0.724	
By Age (in Year 3)			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
30-39			0.563	0.561	0.542	0.543	0.550	0.715	0.570		0.551	0.567	0.550	0.543
40-49			0.681	0.682	0.673	0.667	0.668	0.716	0.653		0.668	0.676	0.675	0.667
50-59	******													
60-69			1.305	1.305	1.317	1.308	1.304	1.293	1.334		1.303	1.291	1.315	1.308
70-79			2.315	2.293	2.292	2.265	2.316	2.314	2.389		2.349	2.314	2.345	2.265
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)						0.034	0.013	<0.001	0.013	0.001	0.062	0.008		0.034
Quintile 1 (Low)						1.208	1.228	1.335	1.228	1.293	1.188	1.234		1.208
Quintile 2						1.158	1.158	1.191	1.148	1.155	1.123	1.157		1.158
Quintile 3														
Quintile 4						1.108	1.089	1.089	1.091	1.085	1.079	1.083		1.108
Quintile 5 (Hign)	.0.004		0.004		0.004	1.084	1.048	1.031	1.046	1.062	1.065	1.036	.0.004	1.084
By Morbialty	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Very Low	0.314	0.304	0.300	0.350	0.342	0.350	0.354		0.321	0.300	0.358	0.308	0.340	0.350
Low	******	0.041	0.037	0.030	0.023	0.597	0.564		0.000	0.591	0.565	0.595	0.010	0.597
High	3 544	3 167	3 003	3 083	3 157	3 1 8 5	3 270		3 5 2 8	3 3/1	3 200	3 105	3 23/	3 1 8 5
Very High	12.87	10 35	10.43	10 40	10.88	10 01	11 40		13 205	11 263	11 365	11 012	11 340	10 01
By Disease-Specific Severity Index	12.07	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	10.200	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
No Complications		0.501	0.649	0.648	0.622	0.617	0.613	0.335		0.477	0.611	0.638	0.619	0.617
1 or More Minor Comp.		0.846	0.980	0.983	0.956	0.950	0.955	0.659		0.831	0.949	0.982	0.961	0.950
1 or More Intermediate Comp.	******													
1 Major Comp.		1.685	1.955	1.969	1.967	1.897	1.930	2.247		1.653	1.917	1.935	2.000	1.897
2 or More Major Comp.		3.963	5.333	5.276	5.304	5.119	5.071	6.248		3.775	5.145	5.046	5.257	5.119
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)				<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR				1.089	1.116	1.154	1.163	1.148	1.130	1.462		1.142	1.106	1.154
LHA 201 - Surrey	******													
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison				1.220	1.238	0.266	0.256	0.343	0.242	0.302		0.248	1.236	0.266
LHA 075 - Mission				1.263	1.237	1.213	1.218	1.194	1.184	1.309		1.243	1.247	1.213
LHA 043 - Coquitlam				1.093	1.096	1.116	1.125	0.977	1.137	1.186		1.127	1.094	1.116
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge				1.368	1.351	1.416	1.431	1.372	1.442	1.533		1.448	1.359	1.416
LHA 041 - Burnaby				0.873	0.895	0.900	0.907	0.828	0.894	0.999		0.887	0.897	0.900
LHA 040 - New Westminster				1.362	1.375	1.3/1	1.397	1.222	1.425	1.503		1.386	1.393	1.3/1
LHA 037 - Delta				1.119	1.126	1.165	1.176	1.108	1.173	1.215		1.174	1.118	1.165
LHA 035 - Langley				1.144	1.173	1.182	1.184	1.092	1.210	1.311		1.159	1.107	1.182
LHA 034 - Abbotstord				1.040	1.325	1 140	1.344	1.210	1.312	1.000		1 13/	1 164	1.331
				1.105	1.171	1.140	1.130	2 000	1.100	1.207		1.134	1.104	1.140
LIN 052 - Hope				1.470	1.405	1.042	1.000	2.000	1.005	1.551		1.034	1.457	1.042
-2 log likelihood	17.122	16.775	16.308	16.255	16.217	15.825	15.713	17.995	15.990	16.164	15.769	15.746	16.109	15.825
Likelihood Ratio Test X2	2,974	3.321	3,788	3.841	3.879	3.809	3.874	1.720	3.597	3.424	3.818	3.840	3.934	3.809
Degrees of Freedom	4	8	12	24	26	30	31	27	27	27	19	29	27	30
p - value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
Nagelkerke R Square	0.218	0.241	0.272	0.275	0.278	0.279	0.284	0.132	0.265	0.253	0.280	0.281	0.282	0.279
Hosmer & Lemeshow GOF	1.000	0.119	0.071	0.420	0.391	0.867	0.464	0.001	0.186	0.350	0.253	0.075	0.208	0.867
Change in -2 Log Likelihood if Variab	le Remov	/ed						2,147	277	450	56	34	13	72
p - value of Change								<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.0013
Notes: ******* Reference Category														
Significant Odds Ratios (OR) are high The p-value for each (grouped) variat	hlighted ir ble is pro	n yellow. <i>vided in</i>	bolded	italics a	bove the	e first OR	value fo	r that arou	ın					

Table 4-45 presents the detailed results of the main effects model. All seven of the patient characteristics, including gender, were significant predictors of the probability of being in the high utilization of average annual total cost category.

	<i>p</i> -value For Group	BETA	S.E.	Wald	p-value	OR	95% C.I. fo Lower	or Exp(B) Upper
Bv Level of Adherence	<0.001							
Low		0.131	0.053	6.1	0.013	1.140	1.027	1.264
Medium		******						
High		-0.199	0.047	18.1	< 0.001	0.819	0.747	0.898
By Sex	<0.001	0.044	0.044	- 4 4	. 0. 00 1	0 700	0.055	0 70
Female		-0.344	0.041	71.1	< 0.001	0.709	0.655	0.768
Ry Age (in Vear 3)	~0.001							
30-39	<0.001	-0 598	0 127	22.1	< 0.001	0 550	0 429	0.706
40-49		-0.403	0.080	25.2	< 0.001	0.668	0.571	0.782
50-59		******	0.000	_0	0.00	0.000	0.011	0.1.01
60-69		0.265	0.056	22.1	< 0.001	1.304	1.167	1.456
70-79		0.840	0.056	221.4	< 0.001	2.316	2.074	2.587
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)	0.013							
Quintile 1 (Low)		0.205	0.062	11.0	0.001	1.228	1.088	1.386
Quintile 2		0.147	0.061	5.7	0.017	1.158	1.027	1.306
Quintile 3		******						
Quintile 4		0.086	0.063	1.9	0.173	1.089	0.963	1.233
Quintile 5 (High)		0.047	0.073	0.4	0.519	1.048	0.909	1.208
By Morbidity	<0.001							
Very Low		-1.038	0.419	6.1	0.013	0.354	0.156	0.805
Low		-0.538	0.142	14.3	< 0.001	0.584	0.442	0.77
Medium		4 405	0.075	040.0	< 0.001	0.070	0.000	2 700
Hign		1.185	0.075	248.0	< 0.001	3.270	2.822	3.78
Very night By Disease-Specific Severity Index	-0.001	2.434	0.075	1050.4	< 0.001	11.400	9.040	13.207
No Complications	<0.001	-0.489	0 050	68 7	< 0.001	0.613	0 546	0 689
1 or More Minor Comp		-0.409	0.000	00.7	0.332	0.015	0.540	1 049
1 or More Intermediate Comp.		******	0.047	0.0	0.002	0.000	0.071	1.040
1 Major Comp.		0.658	0.127	27.0	< 0.001	1.930	1.506	2.474
2 or More Major Comp.		1.624	0.143	129.3	< 0.001	5.071	3.833	6.709
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)	<0.001							
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR		0.151	0.098	2.4	0.122	1.163	0.960	1.409
LHA 201 - Surrey		******						
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison		-1.362	0.765	3.2	0.075	0.256	0.057	1.147
LHA 075 - Mission		0.198	0.125	2.5	0.115	1.218	0.953	1.557
LHA 043 - Coquitlam		0.118	0.074	2.6	0.110	1.125	0.974	1.301
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge		0.359	0.096	14.0	< 0.001	1.431	1.187	1.727
LHA 041 - Burnaby		-0.098	0.067	2.1	0.145	0.907	0.795	1.034
LHA 040 - New Westminster		0.334	0.098	11.7	0.001	1.397	1.153	1.693
LHA 037 - Delta		0.162	0.090	3.2	0.072	1.176	0.986	1.403
LHA 035 - Langley		0.169	0.083	4.2	0.041	1.184	1.007	1.393
		0.296	0.077	14.8	< 0.001	1.344	1.156	1.562
		0.129	0.096	1.8 5.4	0.178	1.138	0.943 1 095	1.3/4
LIA USZ - HUPE		0.519	0.223	5.4	0.020	1.000	1.000	2.00
		-2 log likelih	ood		15 713 4			
		Likelihood F	Ratio Test 2	X 2	3.873.9			
		Degrees of	Freedom		31			
		p - value			<0.001			
		Nagelkerke	R Square		0.284			
		Hosmer & I	emeshow	GOF	0 464			

Table 4-45 Main Effects Multivariate Logistic Regression Model for High vs. Low Utilization of Average Annual Total Costs

4.12.2 Development of a Final Fitted Model for Total Costs

After the development of the main effects model, all possible two-way interactions were tested individually based on Wald statistics and their *p*-values. All but one potential two-factor term (i.e., adherence by gender) was found to be significant. To assess these potential interactions in the model, the main effects were entered as a block and the potential two-way interactions were included as a second block using the Forward Stepwise (Likelihood Ratio) approach. This analysis identified four two-way interactions that remained significant after adjusting for the other variables in the model: morbidity by adherence (p=0.033); age group by DSS Index (p=0.036); age group by adherence (p=0.005); and, socio-economic status by gender (p=0.032).

Potential three-way interactions were selected based on the significant two-way interaction variables. These were then tested individually based on Wald statistics and their *p*-values and found to be significant. The significant three-way interactions were subsequently included with the two-way interactions in the second block. Three of the original four two-way interactions remained significant: age group by adherence (p=0.001); morbidity by adherence (p=0.035); and socio-economic status by gender (p=0.027). These three significant two-way interactions were included with the main effects in the final fitted model.

The relationship between age, adherence, and health care utilization is shown on figure 4-9. The key interactions are circled on figure 4-9 (see also table 4-46). In the younger age groups (ages 30-59), there was a clear relationship between adherence and the probability of being in the higher resource use category. Specifically those in the low adherence category were less likely to be in the high resource use group while those in the high adherence category were more likely to

be in the high resource use group. This relationship was not upheld in older individuals (ages 60-79).



Figure 4-9 Age by Adherence Interaction

The relationship between morbidity, adherence and health care utilization is shown in figure 4-10. There were two significant interactions identified for the low adherence group. These results are circled on figure 4-10 (see also table 4-46). The graph displays that patients in the low adherence category were generally less likely to be in the high resource use group compared to individuals in the high adherence category. This relationship, however, was not sustained in the high or very high morbidity categories. In these two categories, individuals in the low adherence group were more likely to be in the high resource use category compared to individuals in the high adherence group. Thus the data once again highlighted the high cost of

caring for elderly patients with diabetes, particularly those whose diabetes was not wellmanaged.



Figure 4-10 Morbidity by Adherence Interaction

The interaction between socio-economic status and gender is shown on figure 4-11. While this overall two-way interaction is significant, no individual interaction between a specific SES quintile and gender is significant (see table 4-46). Figure 4-11 does reveal that males were more likely to be in the high resource use category at every SES quintile, with the exception of the lowest SES quintile (quintile 1). In quintile 1, females were more likely to be in the high resource use category.



Figure 4-11 Socio-economic Status by Gender Interaction

The final fitted model, including the main effects and the three significant two-way interactions, is shown on table 4-46.

	<i>p</i> -value For Group	BETA	S.E.	Wald	p-value	OR	95% C.I. fo Lower	r Exp(B) Upper
By Level of Adherence	0.049	0.204	0 102	4.2	2.041	0.674	0.460	0.084
Mediu	m	-0.394 ******	0.193	4.2	0.041	0.074	0.40∠	0.984
Hi	gh -0.001	0.116	0.190	0.4	0.542	1.123	0.774	1.628
Fema	le	-0.375	0.086	19.0	< 0.001	0.687	0.581	0.813
Ma Rv Age (in Year 3)	le <0.001	******						
30-1	39	-0.668	0.195	11.7	0.001	0.513	0.350	0.752
40- 50-	19 59	-0.402 ******	0.115	12.2	< 0.001	0.669	0.534	0.838
60-	59 59	0.318	0.080	15.8	< 0.001	1.375	1.175	1.608
-u (Bv Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)	79 0.215	0.854	0.080	113.4	< 0.001	2.348	2.007	2./4/
Quintile 1 (Lo	N)	0.125	0.087	2.1	0.147	1.134	0.957	1.343
Quintile Quintile	2 3	0.102	0.084	1.5	0.224	1.107	0.940	1.304
Quintile	4	0.176	0.083	4.5	0.034	1.192	1.013	1.402
Quintile 5 (Hig Rv Morbiditv	h) <0.001	0.020	0.094	0.0	0.832	1.020	0.849	1.226
Very Lo	W	-18.306	3,686.4	0.0	0.996	0.000	0.000 .	
Lo Mediu	w m	-0.596 ******	0.215	7.7	0.006	0.551	0.361	0.840
Hi	gh	1.123	0.106	113.0	< 0.001	3.075	2.500	3.782
Very Hi By Disease-Specific Severity Index	gh <0.001	2.330	0.105	496.8	< 0.001	10.277	8.373	12.614
No Complications		-0.499	0.059	71.4	< 0.001	0.607	0.541	0.681
1 or More Minor Comp. 1 or More Intermediate Comp.		-0.063 ******	0.048	1.8	0.184	0.939	0.855	1.030
1 Major Comp.		0.657	0.127	26.7	< 0.001	1.929	1.504	2.474
2 or More Major Comp.	-0.001	1.616	0.144	126.7	< 0.001	5.031	3.797	6.665
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	NO.00	0.158	0.098	2.6	0.107	1.171	0.966	1.419
LHA 201 - Surrey		*******	0 765	3.1	0.076	0 258	0.058	1 154
LHA 075 - Mission		0.188	0.126	2.2	0.134	1.207	0.030	1.545
LHA 043 - Coquitlam		0.110	0.074	2.2	0.139	1.116	0.965	1.290
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge		-0.094	0.050	1.9	0.164	0.911	0.798	1.039
LHA 040 - New Westminster		0.337	0.098	11.8	0.001	1.400	1.156	1.697
LHA 037 - Della LHA 035 - Langley		0.102	0.080	3.2 4.2	0.012	1.185	1.008	1.394
LHA 034 - Abbotsford		0.293	0.077	14.4	< 0.001	1.340	1.152	1.559
LHA 033 - Chilliwack LHA 032 - Hope		0.123	0.096	1.0 5.8	0.203	1.713	0.936 1.105	1.305 2.657
Age by Adherence	0.001	0.000	0.004	0.0	2 002	0.007	0.550	1 000
30-39 by Low Adherence 40-49 by Low Adherence		-0.003 0.127	0.304 0.201	0.0 0.4	0.993 0.525	0.997	0.550 0.767	1.809 1.683
60-69 by Low Adherence		0.098	0.151	0.4	0.517	1.103	0.820	1.484
70-79 by Low Adherence		0.360 0.430	0.146 0.311	6.1 1.9	0.014	1.434 1.537	1.076 0 835	1.911 2 829
40-49 by High Adherence		-0.064	0.193	0.1	0.739	0.938	0.643	1.368
60-69 by High Adherence		-0.260	0.128 0.128	4.1 5.6	0.043	0.771	0.599	0.992 0.949
Morbidity by Adherence	0.035	-0.002	0.120	0.0	0.010	0.100	0.070	0.010
Very Low by Low Adherence		17.773	3,686.4	0.0	0.996	52,339,057	0.000 .	
Low by Low Adherence		0.119	0.328	0.0	0.990	1.126	0.592	2.142
Low by High Adherence		0.290	0.369	0.6	0.431	1.337	0.649	2.754
High by High Adherence		-0.228	0.162 0.185	5.∠ 1.5	0.022	0.796	0.554	2.109
Very High by Low Adherence		0.430	0.183	5.5	0.019	1.537	1.074	2.200
Very High by High Adherence SES by Sex	0.027	-0.081	0.180	0.2	0.000	0.922	0.648	1.312
Quintile 1 by Female		0.153	0.121	1.6	0.204	1.166	0.920	1.477
Quintile 2 by Female Quintile 4 by Female		0.093	0.121 0.125	0.o 3.4	0.440	1.096 0.795	0.800 0.622	1.39∠ 1.016
Quintile 5 by Female		0.078	0.143	0.3	0.586	1.081	0.817	1.430
FITTED MODEL		-2 log likelih	nood		15,653.3			
		Likelihood F	Ratio Test X	2	3,934.0			
		p - value	Freedom		51 <0.001			
		÷						

4.12.3 Interpretation of the Final Fitted Model for Total Costs

After adjusting for the covariates and interactions in the model, the adherence variable just achieved statistical significance (p=0.049). This is in contrast to the individual models for physician and acute care costs in which the association between adherence and the probability of being in the high resource use category was strongly significant (p < 0.001). In the analysis of physician costs, individuals in the low adherence category were less likely to incur high costs while those in the high adherence category were more likely to incur high costs. In the analysis of acute care costs, individuals in the low adherence category were more likely to incur high costs while those in the high adherence category were less likely to incur high costs. In the analysis of total costs, the acute care and physician costs were combined, so it is not surprising that the contrasting utilization patterns of the two almost cancelled each other out. In the total cost model, individuals in the low adherence category were 32.6% less likely (OR=0.674) than those in the medium adherence category (i.e., the reference group) to be in the high resource use category. Individuals in the high adherence, however, are no longer less likely to be in the high resource use category. By combining physician and acute care costs into total costs, clinically valuable insights regarding adherence and health care costs were lost.

After adjusting for the covariates in the model, females were significantly less likely (31.3%) to be in the high resource use category than men.

Age continued to be an important predictor of the probability of being in the high resource use category, even after adjusting for the other covariates in the model. Younger adults (i.e., aged 30-39 and 40-49) were 48.7% and 33.1%, respectively, less likely to be in the high resource use category compared to the reference group of 50-59 year olds. Those aged 60-69

were 37.5% more likely to be in the high resource use category. The elderly, aged 70-79 years of age were 135% more likely to be in the high resource use category than the reference group.

After adjusting for the covariates and interactions in the model, socio-economic status is no longer a significant variable (p=0.215).

The analysis confirmed that healthier patients incurred lower health care costs. Patients in the low morbidity group were 44.9% less likely to be in the high resource use group than are those in the medium morbidity group. The results for the very low morbidity group were non-significant as only six individuals in this category were in the high average annual total cost category. Adults in the high or very high morbidity groups remain dramatically more likely to be in the high resource use category (3.1 and 10.3 times, respectively).

Adults with no complications were significantly less likely (39.3%) to be in the high resource use group than those with one or more intermediate complications (i.e., the reference group). On the other hand, adults with one major or two or more major complications were 1.9 and 5.0 times, respectively, more likely to be in the high resource use category.

After adjusting for the covariates and interactions in the model, patients living in certain LHAs remained more likely to be in the high resource use category than those living in Surrey (i.e., the reference group). Individuals living in the LHAs of Hope (71.3%), New Westminster (40.0%), Maple Ridge (42.3%), Abbotsford (34.0%) and Langley (18.5%) were all more likely to be in the high resource use group than individuals who lived in Surrey.

The overall final model explained a significant proportion of the variation in the probability of being in the high average annual cost group with a Chi-square test statistic of 3,934.0 (51 *df*) which corresponded to a *p*-value of less than 0.001. The Nagelkerke R Square was 0.288, indicating that 28.8% of the total variance was accounted for by the model.

The goodness of fit of the multivariate model was assessed using the Hosmer & Lemeshow GOF test. The Hosmer & Lemeshow statistic was 9.6 with 8 *df* which was not statistically significant (p = 0.293) indicating that the model was an adequate fit for the observed data.

In summary, after adjusting for seven variables and the interactions between these variables (i.e., level of adherence, gender, age, socio-economic status, general morbidity, disease-specific morbidity, geographic location of residence), a number of patient characteristics predicted the likelihood of high versus low health care utilization, as defined by average annual total costs. Low health care costs were more likely in:

- individuals in the low adherence category
- females
- younger individuals
- those with a low level of co-morbidity
- those with no diabetes disease-specific complications

Higher health care costs were more likely in:

- males
- older individuals
- those with a high or very high level of co-morbidity
- those with one or more major diabetes disease-specific complications
- those living in the LHAs of Hope, Maple Ridge, New Westminster, Abbotsford and Langley

4.13 Analysis of Mean Annual Per Capita Physician and Acute Care Costs

The multivariate logistic regression analysis summarized above uncovered the importance of a number of patient characteristics in predicting the probability of high utilization of physician, acute care and total health care services. The patients general level of morbidity as measured by ACGs was consistently the most important variable in determining whether an adult with diagnosed type 2 diabetes was more or less likely to be in the high resource use category, whether for physician, acute care or total costs. Level of adherence to recommended clinical procedures was a strong predictor in determining the probability of being in the high resource use category. As noted earlier, this was likely due to the opposite influence of adherence on the probability of high acute care utilization. Adding physician and acute care costs into a total cost variable cancelled out these clinically relevant findings. Gender and age were important variables in the acute care and total cost models but less so in the physician cost model.

In the next sections, we will examine the average annual per capita physician and acute care costs in more detail taking into account the variables of general morbidity, adherence, gender and age.

4.13.1 Comparison of Annual Costs by Adherence and Morbidity

Table 4-47 provides summary information on the average annual per capita costs based on an individual's adherence and morbidity category. Mean annual per capita costs are subdivided into acute care costs and physician costs.



The average annual per capita physician costs increased with the level of adherence. That is, individuals in the low adherence category incurred, on average, \$378 in physician costs per year compared to \$495 for those in the medium adherence category and \$585 for those in the high adherence category. This progression remained consistent regardless of the level of morbidity. Figure 4-12 provides a graphic comparison of mean annual physician and acute care costs per capita by morbidity level for the low and high adherence groups.

year compared to \$2,241 for those in the high adherence category. Thus, even when patients were seriously ill, following the recommended clinical protocols for the treatment of diabetes reduced the acute care costs for this population. It should be noted that 65% (13,071) of the 20,228 people in this study population were in the high or very high morbidity categories.



4.13.2 Comparison of Annual Costs By Adherence, Morbidity and Gender

Table 4-48 provides summary information on the average annual costs per capita based on level of adherence and level of morbidity for females.

The average use of physician costs increases with the level of adherence. That is, females in the low adherence category incurred, on average, \$427 in physician costs per year compared to \$519 for those in the medium adherence category and \$607 for those in the high adherence

category. This increased use of physician costs in the high vs. low adherence groups remained

consistent regardless of the level of morbidity.



In the bottom three morbidity categories, there were no significant differences in annual acute care costs between the low and high adherence categories. The pattern was markedly different for females in the top two morbidity groups. In both of these groups, acute care costs were significantly higher in the low adherence group than in the high adherence group. Females in the low adherence group used, on average, \$1,424 in acute care services per year compared to \$791 for females in the high adherence category. High acute care costs were most apparent in females with very high morbidity and low adherence. Females in this group used, on average, \$3,365 in acute care services per year compared to \$1,934 for those in the high adherence category.

Figures 4-13 provides a graphic comparison of resource use by morbidity level for the female low and high adherence groups.



Table 4-49 provides summary information on the average annual costs per capita based

on level of adherence and level of morbidity for males.



The average physician costs increased with the level of adherence. That is, males in the low adherence category incurred, on average, \$341 of physician resources per year compared to \$475 for those in the medium adherence category and \$565 for those in the high adherence category. This increased level of physician costs in the high vs. low adherence groups remained consistent regardless of the level of morbidity.

In the bottom three morbidity categories, there were no significant differences in annual acute care costs between the low and high adherence categories. As with females, the pattern was dramatically different for males in the high and very high morbidity groups. In both of these groups, acute care costs were significantly higher in the low adherence group than in the high adherence group. Males in the low adherence group incurred, on average, \$1,185 in acute care costs per year compared to \$906 for those in the high adherence category. Males with low

adherence who were in the very high morbidity group incurred, on average, \$3,833 in acute care costs per year compared to \$2,597 for with high adherence category.

Figure 4-14 provides a graphic comparison of resource use by morbidity level for the male low and high adherence groups.



4.13.3 Comparison of Annual Costs By Adherence, Morbidity and Age

Table 4-50 provides summary information on the average annual costs per capita based on level of adherence and level of morbidity for individuals from 30 to 59 years of age.

The average use of physician costs increased with the level of adherence. That is, younger individuals (aged 30-59) in the low adherence category incurred, on average, \$336 in physician costs per year compared to \$475 for those in the medium adherence category and \$607

for those in the high adherence category. This increased level of physician costs in the high vs.

low adherence groups remained consistent regardless of the level of morbidity.



There were no significant differences in annual acute care costs between the low and high

adherence categories based on level of morbidity for younger individuals.

Figures 4-15 provides a graphic comparison of resource use by morbidity level for

younger individuals in the low and high adherence groups.



Table 4-51 provides summary information on the average annual costs per capita based

on level of adherence and level of morbidity for individuals from 60 to 79 years of age.



The average physician costs increased with the level of adherence. That is, older individuals (ages 60-79) in the low adherence category incurred, on average, \$426 (95% CI of \$412, \$439) in physician costs per year compared to \$510 (95% CI of \$501, \$520) for those in the medium adherence category and \$573 (95% CI of \$562, \$584) for those in the high adherence category. This increased level of physician costs in the high vs. low adherence groups remained consistent regardless of the level of morbidity, with the exception of those in the very high morbidity group. In this category, there were no significant difference in the average annual physician costs between individuals in the low (\$774) and high (\$818) adherence groups.

In the bottom three morbidity categories, there were no significant differences in annual acute care costs between the low and high adherence categories. This pattern was markedly different for older individuals in the high and very high morbidity groups. In both of these

groups, acute care costs were significantly higher in the low adherence group than in the high adherence group. Older individuals with low adherence who were in the high morbidity incurred, on average, \$1,820 in acute care costs per year compared to \$977 for those in the high adherence category. Similarly, those with low adherence who were in the very high morbidity incurred, on average, \$4,388 in acute care costs compared to \$2,469 for those in the high adherence category.

Figures 4-16 provides a graphic comparison of resource use by morbidity level for older individuals in the low and high adherence groups.



4.13.4 Utilization of Acute Care Services By Older Adults with High Morbidity

The most important difference in acute care costs associated with being in the high or low adherence groups occurred in older adults (i.e., aged 60-79) in the high or very high morbidity categories. When comparing the low and high adherence groups, average per capita annual acute care costs were 86% higher (\$1,820 vs. \$977) in the high morbidity group and 76% higher (\$4,338 vs. \$2,469) in the very high morbidity group for those in the low adherence category. Of the total study population, 7,842 individuals (37% of 20,288) were older adults with high or very high morbidity categories.

In this section we analyse differences in acute care utilization between the low and high adherence groups (for older adults in the high and very high morbidity categories) to determine the key drivers of these cost differences.

Table 4-52 provides an analysis of the individuals who were hospitalized during the study period. During the five years from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001, a total of 64.3% (95% CI of 61.8%, 66.8%) of individuals in the low adherence group were hospitalized compared to 55.8% (95% CI of 54.0%, 57.7%) in the high adherence group. The proportion of individuals hospitalized in any given year ranged from a low of 16.1% (i.e., in 1996/97 for the high adherence group) to a high of 29.8% (i.e., in 1999/00 for the low adherence group). The proportion of the study population which was hospitalized was consistently lower for the high adherence group, though this difference achieves statistical significance only during the three middle years (i.e., 1997/98, 1998/99, 1999/00).

For both the high and low adherence group, the proportion hospitalized appears to decrease in the final year (2000/01) after four years of consecutive increases. In the low adherence group, the proportion hospitalized increased from 18.7% in 1996/97 to 29.8% in

1999/00 before declining to 22.1% in 2000/01. The decrease observed in 2000/01 may be due to incompleteness of data for the final year of study. Specifically, a hospital stay in any given year is only identified once the patient is discharged from hospital. Thus, patients who were admitted near the end of the 2000/01 fiscal year but who were not discharged by March 31, 2001 could not be identified. This only applies to the 2000/01 year and appears to differentially affect individuals in the low adherence group, perhaps due to their longer average hospital stay than patients in the high adherence group (see below).

			Tab	e 4-52	2 Utili:	zation	of Ac	ute Ca	are Se	rvices							
			By Adu	lts Age	ed 60 -	79 with) Diagr	nosed ⁻	Type 2	Diabet	es						
			,	In the	High or	· Very H	ligh M	orbidit	y Group	os							
		1006/07		1007/00	2		1008/00			1000/00			2000/01		1		•
	%	95% CI	%	95	, % CI	%	95	% CI	%	95%	4 CI	%	2000/01	6 CI	%	95%	% CI
Pecent Hospitalized	/2				,,				, .	,		,,,	,			,	
Low Adherence (N=1,374)	18.7%	16.7% 20.	20.9%	18.8%	20.9%	27.4%	25.1%	29.8%	29.8%	27.5%	32.3%	22.1%	19.9%	24.3%	64.3%	61.8%	66.8%
High Adherence (N=2,736)	16.1%	14.8% 17.	3% <mark>17.1%</mark>	15.7%	18.5%	20.4%	19.0%	22.0%	20.9%	19.4%	22.5%	20.0%	18.5%	21.5%	55.8%	54.0%	57.7%
							Но	spitaliz	ed Coho	ort							
		1996/97		1997/98	3		1998/99	199/00					2000/01		All Years		
	Mean	95% CI	Mean	95	% CI	Mean	95	% CI	Mean	95%	6 CI	Mean	95%	6 CI	Mean	95%	% CI
Low Adherence																	
# Hospitalized	257		287			376			410			303			884		
Discharges	1.67	1.52 1	.82 1.67	1.53	1.81	1.52	1.42	1.62	1.63	1.52	1.74	1.68	1.55	1.82	0.60	0.56	0.64
Patient Days	18.39	14.33 22	46 16.53	13.82	19.24	17.33	14.41	20.24	21.05	17.79	24.31	22.99	18.06	27.92	7.15	6.45	7.85
ALOS	11.01		9.90			11.40			12.91			13.68			11.92		
Estimated Cost																	
Acute Care Inpatient	\$11,066	8,705 13,4	27 10,388	8,658	12,117	10,572	9,030	12,115	11,708	10,282	13,134	12,844	10,458	15,230	4,184	3,822	4,546
Cost per Day	\$ 602		628			610			556			559			585		
High Adherence																	
# Hospitalized	441		467			559			572			546			1,528		
Discharges	1.42	1.35 1	49 1.52	1.42	1.61	1.47	1.39	1.55	1.44	1.37	1.51	1.54	1.45	1.63	0.50	0.48	0.52
Patient Days	8.15	7.24 9	06 9.29	8.18	10.41	8.48	7.50	9.46	10.33	8.98	11.67	12.56	10.74	14.38	3.33	3.08	3.58
ALOS	5.74		6.11			5.77			7.17			8.16			6.66		
Estimated Cost																	
Acute Care Inpatient	\$ 6,527	5,910 7,	43 <mark>7,814</mark>	6,917	8,711	7,011	6,333	7,689	7,897	7,152	8,641	9,219	7,977	10,460	2,617	2,453	2,782
Cost per Day	\$ 801		841			827			764			734			786		
Costs are in constant 2000/01 Cana	adian dollars																

Table 4-52 also provides a summary of the hospital discharges, average length of stay¹⁴ and costs¹⁵ for the hospitalized cohort only. As noted earlier, individuals in the high adherence category were consistently less likely to be hospitalized than individuals in the low adherence category. The analysis revealed that when individuals in the high adherence category were

¹⁴ The average length of stay (ALOS) was calculated by dividing the mean patient days for the hospitalized cohort by the mean hospital discharges for the same cohort.

¹⁵ The mean acute care inpatient costs were calculated based on the total hospital costs for the hospitalized cohort in the given year (or the average over the five year period) divided by the number of individuals in the hospitalized cohort. The cost per day was calculated by dividing the mean hospital cost for the hospitalized cohort by the ALOS for the same cohort.

hospitalized, they tended to stay for a shorter period of time. During the five year study period, the average length of stay for hospitalized patients in the high adherence category was 6.66 days compared to 11.92 days for patients in the low adherence category. This difference in average length of stay (ALOS) is consistent during each of the five years, as shown graphically in figure 4-17.



Figure 4-17 Adults Aged 60-79 with Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes In the High or Very High Morbidity Groups Proportion Hospitalized and ALOS

In this analysis of hospitalization, individuals in the high adherence category were both less likely to be hospitalized and, when they were hospitalized, tended to stay in hospital for shorter periods of time. As depicted above, this resulted in overall lower acute care costs for those in the high adherence group compared to the low adherence group.

4.14 Summary of Key Results

This summary is structured based on the key aims set out at the beginning of the study.

Aim 1: To determine whether adherence to recommended clinical procedures for adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority has changed during the five years from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001.

The proportion of patients receiving the recommended clinical procedures increased between 1996/97 and 2000/01 as follows:

- From 35% to 52% for two or more HbA1c tests per year
- From 36% to 39% for at least one eye exam per year
- From 13% to 38% for at least one urinary microalbumin test per year
- From 77% to 82% for at least one lipid test every three years
- From 81% to 85% for at least four BP measurements per year

In addition, the proportion of patients who received all five tests in a given year increased from 3.9% to 10.7% while the proportion of patients receiving none of the services in a given year decreased from 3.0% to 2.2%. These positive trends were seen for individuals in both the low and high adherence groups.

While these trends are encouraging, the fact is that during the entire five year study period, just 53% of recommended clinical procedures were received by patients.

Aim 2: To determine which patient characteristics are associated with improved

long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures.

Individuals in the high adherence category received, on average, 67.3% of recommended clinical procedures during the five year study period while those in the low adherence category received 40.0%.¹⁶

Based on the multivariate analysis, the following patient characteristics were associated with being in the high or low long-term adherence category (see also table 4-54 below):

Table 4-53: Patient Characteristics Associated with High or Low Adherence										
Patient Characteristic	High Adherence	Low Adherence								
Gender	Female	Male								
Age	Older	Younger								
Socio-economic status		Low (Quintile 1)								
General morbidity	High or very high									
Disease-specific severity		No complications								
Patient residence	South Surrey / White Rock Burnaby Langley	Mission Maple Ridge Abbotsford								

¹⁶ In this section, low and high adherence is based on adherence as a binary variable.

	OR for Being in Adherence C	n the High Category	Odds Ratio for Being in the High Average Annual Cost C Physician Acute Care Tota						
	Bi- Variat	Multi- e	Bi- Vari	Multi- ate	Bi- Varia	Multi- ate	Bi- Varia	Multi- nte	
By Level of Adherence			0 588	0 721	0 778	1 173	0 750	0 674	
Medium			******	4 507		0.770			
High By Sex			1.540	1.587	NS	0.779	NS	NS	
Female	1.203	1.336	1.340	NS	NS	0.737	NS	0.687	
Male	*****		******						
By Age (<i>III Year 3)</i> 30-39	0 583	0.646	NS	NS	0 669	0 566	0 677	0 513	
40-49	0.764	0.830	NS	NS	0.661	0.662	0.675	0.669	
50-59	******		******						
60-69	1.403	1.428	NS 1 COO	0.685	1.540	1.440	1.430	1.375	
70-79	1.268	1.248	1.632	NS	2.865	2.476	2.730	2.348	
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)									
Quintile 1 (Low)	NS	0.899	1.495	1.416	1.289	NS	1.370	NS	
Quintile 2	NS	NS	1.169	1.185	1.143	NS	1.144	NS	
Quintile 3 Quintile 4	NIS	NS	NIS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NG	
Quintile 5 (High)	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	
		-	_						
By Morbidity	0.400	NO		NO	0.000	0.004	0.044		
Very Low	0.409	NS	NS 0.218	NS 0.244	0.368	0.394	0.314	NS 0 551	
Medium	******	NO	******	0.244	0.007	0.000	0.032	0.551	
High	1.548	1.542	4.810	4.178	3.240	2.964	3.544	3.075	
Very High	2.006	1.984	36.670	29.729	10.580	9.330	12.874	10.277	
By Disease-Specific Severity Index									
No Complications	0.406	0.622	0.254	0.515	0.283	0.641	0.266	0.607	
1 or More Minor Comp.	0.616	NS	0.558	0.768	0.583	NS	0.580	NS	
1 or More Intermediate Comp.	******		******				4.000		
1 Major Comp. 2 or More Major Comp	NS	NS	1.497	NS 1 980	2.039	2.092	1.983 5.084	1.929	
	NO	NO	0.010	1.300	5.031	0.104	5.004	5.001	
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)									
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	1.361	1.268	0.817	NS	1.338	NS	1.252	NS	
LHA 201 - Surrey	NS	NS	NS	0.078	NS	NS	NS	NG	
LHA 075 - Mission	0.757	0.764	NS	0.078 NS	NS	1.283	NS	NS	
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	NS	NS	0.706	NS	NS	1.175	NS	NS	
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	0.767	0.782	NS	NS	1.318	1.376	1.289	1.423	
LHA 041 - Burnaby	1.380	1.383	0.806	0.870	NS	NS	0.882	NS	
LHA 040 - New Westminster	1.177	NS	NS	NS	1.432	1.410	1.395	1.400	
	1 453	1 373	0 734	0.653	011 1 370	1 301	1 245	1 185	
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	0.839	0.819	0.788	NS	1.362	1.394	1.267	1.340	
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	NS	NS	0.779	0.688	1.420	1.267	1.303	NS	
I HA 032 - Hope	NS	NS	1 486	NS	2,189	1 793	1 885	1 713	
Aim 3: To determine whether the utilization of physician and acute care services has changed during the five year study period.

The average annual number of physician visits (i.e., including both general practitioner and specialist) increased from 11.6 in 1996/97 to 13.2 in 2000/01, an increase of 13.9%. The cost of these visits increased from \$436 to \$535 (22.8%).

The average annual number of hospitalizations increased from 0.19 to 0.23 (21.1%) while the number of patient days increased from 1.25 to 2.13 (70.4%). Average annual acute care costs (both inpatient and surgical day care) increased from \$1,013 to \$1,605 (58.4%).

Average annual total costs increased from \$1,449 to \$2,140, an increase of 47.7%.

While the increases in annual physician, acute care and total costs from the beginning to the end of the study period were substantial, it should be remembered that this is a cohort study in which the same subjects were assessed during the entire time period. Thus they were both older and their diabetes had progressed from the beginning to the end of the study time period. Older patients with a higher general level of morbidity use more health care resources, particularly expensive acute care services.

Aim 4: To assess the relationship between patient characteristics and the utilization

of physician, acute care and total health care costs.

Based on the multivariate analysis, the following patient characteristics were associated with being in the high or low physician cost¹⁷ category (see also table 4-54 above):

Table 4-55: Patient Characteristics Associated with High or Low Use of Physician Costs						
Patient Characteristic	High Cost Category	Low Cost Category				
Adherence ¹⁸	High	Low				
Gender						
Age		60-69 years old				
Socio-economic status	Low (Quintiles 1&2)					
General morbidity	High or very high	Low				
Disease-specific severity	2 or more major complications	No or 1+ minor complications				
Patient residence	Delta	Agassiz - Harrison Burnaby Langley Chilliwack				

¹⁷ Physician cost categories are based on average annual utilization during the entire five year study period. This binary variable was based on 20% of patients with the highest utilization allocated to the high cost category while the remaining 80% where allocated to the low cost category. Mean costs in the low group were \$350 per year compared to \$1,053 in the high group. Of the \$49.6 million in physician costs used by the study cohort over the five year period, \$21.3 million (43%) was used by the 20% of patients allocated to the high utilization category.
¹⁸ In this section, low and high adherence is based on adherence as a categorical variable including three levels (low, medium and

¹⁸ In this section, low and high adherence is based on adherence as a categorical variable including three levels (low, medium and high). Individuals in the low, medium and high adherence categories received, on average, 31%, 52% and 73% of recommended clinical procedures, respectively.

Based on the multivariate analysis, the following patient characteristics were associated with being in the high or low acute care $cost^{19}$ category (see also table 4-54 above):

E

Table 4-56: Patient Characteristics Associated with High or Low Use of Acute Care Costs						
Patient Characteristic	High Cost Category	Low Cost Category				
Adherence	Low	High				
Gender	Males	Females				
Age	Older	Younger				
Socio-economic status						
General morbidity	High or very high	Very low or low				
Disease-specific severity	1 or more major complications	No complications				
Patient residence	Mission Coquitlam Maple Ridge New Westminster Langley Abbotsford Chilliwack Hope					

Several observations are noteworthy in comparing the summary results for physician and acute care costs. First, patients with high adherence were more likely to be in the high physician cost category but less likely to be in the high acute care cost category. Conversely, patients with

¹⁹ Acute care cost categories are based on average annual utilization during the entire five year study period. This binary variable was based on 20% of patients with the highest utilization allocated to the high cost category while the remaining 80% where allocated to the low cost category. Mean costs in the low group were \$299 per year compared to \$5,169 in the high group. Of the \$128.6 million in acute care costs used by the study cohort over the five year period, \$104.4 million (81%) was used by the 20% of patients allocated to the high utilization category.

low adherence were less likely to be in the high physician cost category but more likely to be in the high acute care cost category.

Second, patients with a low socio-economic status were more likely to be in the high physician cost category. Based on the univariate analysis they were also more likely to be in the high acute care cost category, but this significant effect disappeared after adjusting for other patient characteristics.

Third, there appeared to be an association between being in the high physician cost category and the lower utilization of acute care services. For example, only patients living in the LHA of Delta were more likely to be in the high physician cost category than patients in the LHA of Surrey. In contrast, patients in eight of the twelve LHAs were more likely to be in the high acute care cost category than patients in the LHA of Surrey. Furthermore, patients in the LHA of Delta, with their relatively high use of physician services, lived in only one of four LHAs that were equivalent to the LHA of Surrey in their use of acute care costs. Based on the multivariate analysis, the following patient characteristics were associated with being in the high or low total $cost^{20}$ category (see also table 4-54 above):

Table 4-57: Patient Characteristics Associated with High or Low Use of Total Costs						
Patient Characteristic	High Cost Category	Low Cost Category				
Adherence		Low				
Gender	Males	Females				
Age	Older	Younger				
Socio-economic status						
General morbidity	High or very high	Low				
Disease-specific severity	1 or more major complications	No complications				
Patient residence	Maple Ridge New Westminster Langley Abbotsford Hope					

When physician and acute care costs were combined into total costs, the results were similar to the analysis for acute care costs only, largely due to the dominance of these costs in the total. That is, of the total \$178.2 million dollars of health care resources used by patients in this study over the five year period, \$128.6 million (72%) was in acute care services.

There is, however, one very important difference. Combining physician and acute care costs into total costs essentially masked the significant and opposite relationship between

²⁰ Total costs include both physician and acute care costs. Total cost categories are based on average annual utilization during the entire five year study period. This binary variable was based on 20% of patients with the highest utilization allocated to the high cost category while the remaining 80% where allocated to the low cost category. Mean costs in the low group were \$690 per year

adherence and the use of these services. In fact, the multivariate analysis of total costs suggested that patients with low adherence were less likely to be in the high total cost category than are patients with high adherence. As noted earlier, this result was just marginally significant (p=0.041). Nevertheless, it was not expected given the analysis between adherence and physician and acute care costs.

Aim 5: To determine whether adults with better adherence utilize varying levels of different types of health care.

The most important result of this study was the observed relationship between long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures and the use of health care resources. Patients with high long-term adherence (receiving an average of 73% of recommended clinical procedures) were 59% *more* likely to use a high level of physician resources but 22% *less* likely to use a high level of acute care resources. On the other hand, patients with low long-term adherence (receiving on average of 31% of recommended clinical procedures) were 28% *less* likely to use a high level of physician resources but 22% *less* likely to use a high level of physician resources.

The key difference in costs associated with being in the high or low adherence groups occurred in older adults (i.e., aged 60-79) in the high or very high morbidity categories. Average annual costs in the low adherence category were \$2,696 (\$2,161 in acute care costs and \$535 in physician costs) compared to \$2,159 (\$1,495 in acute care costs and \$664 in physician costs) in the high adherence group. When comparing the low and high adherence groups, average per capita annual acute care costs were 86% higher (\$1,820 vs. \$977) in the high morbidity group and 76% higher (\$4,338 vs. \$2,469) in the very high morbidity group for those in the low adherence category. Of the total study population, 7,842 individuals (37% of 20,288) were older

compared to \$6,063 in the high group. Of the \$178.2 million in total costs used by the study cohort over the five year period, \$122.4 million (69%) was used by the 20% of patients allocated to the high utilization category.

adults with high or very high morbidity categories. Individuals in the low adherence groups were both more likely to be hospitalized and, when they were hospitalized, tended to stay in hospital for longer periods of time.

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

This concluding chapter begins with a summary of the key strengths of this study followed by a discussion of several limitations including the generalizability of the findings. The next section presents several important issues that require further research. Finally, the major findings of the study and potential policy implications are discussed.

5.1 Study Strengths

5.1.1 Administrative Data Set

This research analyzed patient data from the BC Linked Health Data set. There are some recognized advantages in using large administrative data sets for research purposes (Roos and Nichol, 1999; Reid et al., 2003; Roos et al., 2004; Roos et al., 2005). Thus, one clear strength of the study was the access to person-specific utilization histories over time that were population based, thus allowing for a population based perspective. This prevented any selection bias. Secondly, large data sets are inexpensive compared to a similar study using primary data. Thirdly, they are unobtrusive, protecting both the individual's privacy and the confidentiality of the data. Fourthly, large data sets are relatively complete. They often include not only utilization data and standard demographic data (e.g. age, gender, etc.) but also such demographic data as location of residence, socio-economic status, marital status, family size, etc. Finally, large data sets are not subject to the recall bias associated with self-report data, or selection bias associated with clinical samples.

The rich detail of the BC Linked Health Data set was a strength. For instance, the data allowed for the capture of age, gender and location of residence. More importantly, the comprehensiveness of the data allowed for the development of novel measures. It was possible

to create an ecologic measure of socio-economic status, a general measure of co-morbidity, and a disease-specific severity index. In addition, the utilization histories in the data set were relatively complete, including an estimated 77% of specialist physician services, 99% of general practitioner services and virtually 100% of acute care services.

A unique strength of this study was the development of an adherence variable based on the repeated receipt (i.e., from three to five times) of recommended clinical procedures over a five year period. The linked health data provided the necessary information to allow for the construction of a measure of long-term adherence. To our knowledge this is the first study to construct a long-term measure of adherence to recommended clinical procedures for patients with type 2 diabetes. Other studies have assessed adherence using a cross-sectional approach by assessing the proportion of individuals who received a specific test or procedure during a recommended time-frame.

There are also concerns about using a linked health data set, the most important of which is associated with the quality of the data. A considerable amount of research attention has been paid to the quality of the data in large administrative data sets. The focus of this research is usually on reliability, or the extent to which agreement exists between two or more data sets (Roos et al., 2005).

Two major approaches used to evaluate data quality are record linkage and re-abstraction. "Record linkage joins two or more separate sources of information to specific individuals present on both files. When both files are supposed to contain the same individuals, the overall match gives an indication of completeness. For matched individuals, the degree of agreement between items on both records provides a degree of reliability" (Roos et al., 2005, page 155). Re-

abstraction focuses on how reliably information moves from a high quality data set (e.g. hospital charts) into computerized form (Roos et al., 2005).

Roos and colleagues (2005) summarize the results of 49 original studies evaluating the reliability of four important Canadian data sets: registries, hospital discharge abstracts, physician visits and prescription drugs. The reliability of the first three of these data sets is of particular relevance to the current study.

In general, Roos et al. (2005) found that agreement (using record linkage) between registries ranged from 91% to 99.8%. Agreement in hospital discharge abstracts (based on re-abstraction) varied between 58% and 100%. As noted in section 3.4.3, this variability is highly dependent on the data field. A review of the Canadian Institute of Health Information's 1999/00 Discharge Abstract Database Data indicated a discrepancy rate between the original and the re-abstracted information of 13.4% with respect to the *most responsible diagnosis* field, 10.0% for the *principal procedure* field, 9.0% for the *postal code* field, 6.5% for the *entry code* field, and so on (Richards et al., 2001). Previous studies have also indicated that the reliability of the main or primary diagnosis and procedure on hospital discharge abstracts is usually above 90% (Roos et al., 1982; Roos et al., 1996). The most common reasons for these discrepancies include the original coder missing information that is included in the medical chart and differences in the interpretation of the documentation (Richards et al., 2001).

Researchers have found that variability ranges, depending on the item. One analysis showed that demographic items are quite accurate with an approximate concordance of 95% between the hospital record and the computerized data base (Hawker et al., 1997; Rawson et al., 1997). Co-morbidities and complications, however, tended to show less agreement with a particularly high level of false negative rates because the complex information available in the

hospital records was not consistently and reliably being captured on the computer database (Malenka et al., 1994; Hawker et al., 1997; Humphries et al., 2000). Thus administrative data sets tend to underestimate the level of co-morbidities and complications. Quan and colleagues (2002) assessed the level of agreement between hospital charts and administrative data for a random group of patients on the 17 co-morbidity variables used in constructing the Charlson index in Alberta. They found that when compared to chart data, administrative data had a lower prevalence in 10 co-morbidities, a higher prevalence in 3 and a similar prevalence in 4. The kappa values ranged from a high of 0.87 to a low of 0.34. Overall, agreement was nearly perfect for one variable, substantial for six, moderate for nine and only fair for one. Similar positive results were found by Tu et al. (2002) in using administrative data to develop an acute myocardial mortality prediction rule in Ontario. Outside of fee-for-service arrangements, the completeness of physician visit records may be a problem (Roos et al., 2005). Relatively little information is available on the completeness and quality of prescription drug databases.

Evidence on the completeness of the BC linked Health Data set, which is the primary data source for this study, has been provided in a number of published studies. Anderson and Kerluke (1996) found they were able to link 94.8% of B.C. Pharmacare Plan A data to individuals in a central population registry based on the patient's date of birth. Hertzman et al. (1997) studied 26,675 sawmill workers from throughout the province who had worked in a sawmill for at least one year between 1950 and 1985. They used probabilistic record linkage (i.e., based on name, birth date, and social insurance number) between the Canadian Mortality Data Base and the British Columbia Cancer Registry. They found that the vital status of the workers was not verifiable for only 14% of the cohort of 26,675. Chamberlayne et al. (1998) assessed the percentage of program file records that were successfully linked to a coordinating

file in the BC Linked Health Data set. A total of 97.0% of hospital separation records, 99.8% of MSP payment records, 97.1% of death records, 96.6% of birth records, 96.0% of long term care records and 98.5% of prescription records for the elderly were successfully linked. Rankin et al. (1999) linked data in the British Columbia Cardiac Registry to the British Columbia Patient Hospitalization Data Base with the use of a unique identifier. They validated the linked data for their study with a chart review of 817 patients at a single hospital (kappa, 0.52 to 0.83).

Roos et al. (2005) concluded that Canadian registries, hospital discharge abstracts and physician files are generally of satisfactory quality, though a significant amount of work remains to be done. They also noted that data quality does not vary systematically between provinces.

5.1.2 Inclusion Criteria

Our research study also improved upon earlier studies on adherence in adults with type 2 diabetes by setting a more stringent standard for inclusion. The majority of other studies assessing adherence to recommended clinical procedures have generally used a population of adults with type 2 diabetes without excluding, in particular, those with newly diagnosed diabetes, those who died, those with other severe competing illnesses and those who were transient. In excluding these sub-populations we removed groups in whom adherence to the recommended clinical procedures could reasonably be expected to be sub-optimal.

Using the standard case finding algorithm of at least two physician visits or one hospital discharge during a two year period coded as having diabetes (i.e., ICD9-250 code, see section 3.5.1 Ascertaining Diabetic Cases for more details), an initial 44,033 individuals with diabetes were found living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority. During the first round of eliminations, we removed any individuals with newly diagnosed diabetes, gestational diabetes, and juvenile diabetes. Incident cases were excluded as adherence patterns

would not be available during the entire five year study period. In addition, adherence patterns in newly diagnosed patients would require some time to establish.

Patients who died (N=3,268) during the five year study period were excluded as their resource use during the final months of life could be expected to be unusually high. In addition, adherence to recommended clinical procedures is not likely a priority during the last stages of an individual's life. Information on patient deaths after March 31, 2001 was not included in the study database. Therefore, patients who died shortly after the end of the study period (March 31, 2001) could still be included in the final study sample, potentially contaminating resource use in the final year with patients who may have died shortly after the end of the study period. This issue is addressed to some degree by the exclusion of patients who had been diagnosed with high impact cancers (N=330), end-stage renal disease (N=282) and AIDS (N=3). In addition, elderly patients over the age of 80 were excluded from the final sample. A key reason for the exclusion of these sub-groups, in addition to high patterns of resource use potentially unrelated to their diabetes, is that issues of adherence may have been usurped by a focus on other existing conditions.

The ability to distinguish between type 1 and type 2 diabetes was problematic, but it is doubtful that this had much of an impact on the outcomes of the research. The administrative database used for this study was not designed to distinguish between patients with type 1 diabetes versus patients with type 2 diabetes. We used an age criterion of 30 years to identify patients with type 1 diabetes (see section 3.5.10 Identification of Specific Sub-Groups). In excluding patients under the age of 30 from the final sample, it is highly likely that a number of patients with type 2 diabetes were caught in this exclusionary net. Furthermore, there are likely a small number of patients with type 1 diabetes remaining in the final sample. The extent of this

cannot be verified using the administrative data, although the proportion of type 1 diabetes in the overall population of individuals with diabetes is estimated at less than 10% versus approximately 90% for type 2 diabetes.

5.2 Study Limitations

There are a number of potential limitations of this study which may have an impact on the validity of conclusions reached and the generalizability of the findings.

5.2.1 Potential Utilization Bias

In using ACGs to assign individuals to morbidity categories, there is the possibility of systematic bias in the measurement of case mix due to differences in physician coding and depth of diagnostic coding. As noted by Reid et al. (2001), "as patients make a greater number of physician visits, they may acquire a greater variety of diagnostic codes. This may drive ACG assignment, but it is difficult to separate cause from effect. Similarly, the lack of coded secondary diagnosis and the use of less specific 3-digit ICD-9 codes may bias in favour of lower acuity ACG assignment" (p.95).

In this study, individuals in the high and very high morbidity categories were 54.2% and 98.4%, respectively, more likely to be in the high adherence group compared to the medium morbidity category (see table 4-54). No significant differences were observed between the very low or low morbidity and the medium morbidity categories. It is possible that this observed relationship is at least partly due to the potential relationship between utilization of the measures tracked in this study and ACG assignment.

The adherence measures used in this study relate largely to lab testing and monitoring rather than diagnostic tests. Nevertheless, if a person has more lab tests, there may be an increase

in diagnosis (e.g. hypercholesterolemia discovered and coded after cholesterol testing) or the specificity of the recorded diagnosis (e.g. change from signs and symptoms to a very specific diagnosis code). Thus more lab tests (i.e. higher adherence) could lead to a greater variety of diagnostic codes potentially influencing ACG assignment. The fact that the adherence measures used in this study tend not to be diagnostic tests mitigates this potential bias to some degree. Nevertheless, if individuals receive one lab test, they are more likely to receive other lab tests which may result in additional diagnoses that may influence ACG assignment.

5.2.2 Missing Drug Cost Variable

In this study we tracked two major sources of health care costs, namely, acute care and physician services. Unfortunately, information on drug costs, a third major source of health care costs, was not available in the BC Linked Health Data set for the entire study population at the time of this research.

Simpson et al. (2003) estimated the health care expenditures for people with diagnosed diabetes in Saskatchewan, including drug costs. They found that of the average annual costs per capita of \$3,524, \$836 (23.8%) was for prescription drugs. Rubin et al. (1998) suggest a somewhat lower proportion (16%) of total health care costs. Based on these studies, prescription drug costs likely account for approximately 20% of the overall health care costs.

Several studies have assessed the change in prescription drug use associated with improving the planned management of people with diabetes. Villagra et al. (2004) noted an increase in drug costs after the implementation of a diabetes disease management program. They indicated that this was not surprising, "since the program actively promoted use of appropriate drugs and adherence to pharmacologic regimens." Rubin et al. (1998) found a similar increase in drug costs but further analysis (i.e. adjusting for inflation and cost increases in the control group)

indicated that these costs increased by just 2.1% after the implementation of a diabetes disease management program.

In the study by Simpson et al. (2003), prescription drug costs are a higher proportion of total costs (23.8%) than are physician costs (16.6%). It is possible that an increase in prescription drug costs associated with improved adherence with recommended clinical procedures, together with the observed increases in physician costs, could erode the savings seen in acute care costs. This is clearly an area that requires further research.

5.2.3 Issues of External Validity

External validity is concerned with the extent to which one can generalize the results of the study to broader populations and settings. This study is based on patients with diagnosed diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority for the entire five year time period between April 1, 1996 and March 31, 2001.

Table 5-1 provides a summary comparison of selected population and health care utilization aspects between residents of the five British Columbia health authorities. This summary is based on research presented in three health atlases produced by the UBC Centre for Health Services and Policy Research (McGrail and Schaub, 2002; McGrail et al., 2004; Watson et al., 2004).

The results summarized in table 5-1 suggested some important differences between residents living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority and residents of other health authorities. The Fraser Health area has seen a substantially more rapid population growth between 1991 and 2001 than any other region. In addition, the population tended to be younger, healthier and had relatively poor access to family practitioners (i.e., as measured by GPs per 10,000 population). Their use of acute care services (i.e., as measured by days per

10,000 population) was also the second lowest in the province. This comparison suggested that the results of the current study may not be directly applicable to others regions in British Columbia.

Table 5-1: Patient Characteristics Of BC Health Authority Residents						
	Fraser Health	Vancouver Coastal Health	Vancouver Island Health	Interior Health	Northern Health	
Pop. Growth (1991 to 2001)	32.4%	20.7%	14.8%	18.6%	4.6%	
% of Pop. 65+ (2001)	11.6%	12.5%	16.6%	16.3%	7.6%	
PMR	2.67	2.71	2.88	2.91	3.41	
# of FTE FP per 10,000 Pop. (Age/sex adjusted)	7.3	9.7	9.3	8.8	9.4	
FP \$ per Capita (Age adjusted)	\$159	\$157	\$169	\$166	\$196	
Continuity of Physician Care ²¹	0.68	0.72	0.68	0.67	0.67	
Hospital Separations per 1,000 Pop. (Age/sex adjusted)	148	126	160	172	189	
Acute Care Days per 1,000 Pop. (Age/sex adjusted)	503	496	596	602	734	
Notes: FTE = Full-time Equivalent FP = Family Practitioner PMR = Premature Mortality Rate						

Because of the number of exclusions that were made to arrive at the final study

population, the results in this study may have only limited applicability to the general population

of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes. The study population consisted of the subset of

patients in which long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures could reasonably be expected.

5.3 Issues for Further Research

5.3.1 Development of Adherence Measures

The appropriate control of blood glucose, blood pressure and cholesterol levels is vital to the management of diabetes and the avoidance or delay of both acute and long-term complications associated with the disease. In addition, assessing for the early appearance of complications such as retinopathy, nephropathy, neuropathy, cardiovascular disease, etc. is an important component of overall care. In this study we developed a measure of long-term adherence based on the receipt of the following services:

- Two or more HbA1c tests during each fiscal year
- At least four blood pressure measurements each fiscal year
- At least one lipid test every three years
- At least one eye exam during each fiscal year
- At least one microalbumin test during each fiscal year

These services were chosen for the following reasons: 1) clinical importance; 2) ability to track the procedures in the B.C. Linked Health Data set; and 3) recommended as key process variables by the B.C. Chronic Disease Management (BCCDM) program, the Canadian and American Diabetes Associations (i.e., in their clinical practice guidelines), the Veteran's Health

²¹ Continuity of care "relates to the receipt of services by a single physician over time. The specific measure of continuity used is the Usual Provider of Care. All payments were aggregated to the patient level and specialty services were attributed back to the referring practitioner. The general practitioner with whom a patient had the most contacts was deemed the 'usual provider'. The Usual Provider of Care measure was constructed as a simple proportion of number of contacts with the usual provider divided by total number of physician contacts". (McGrail et al., 2004, p.102).

Administration in the United States and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).

As noted in section 2.4.2 Assessing Adherence to Recommended Clinical Procedures, researchers do not consistently use a standard frequency for assessing adherence to HbA1c testing. The frequency can range from at least once per year to three times every two years to twice per year. On average, however, the assessment of adherence is based on the receipt of at least one HbA1c test per year. The BCCDM has set a standard of a minimum of two HbA1c tests per year. This concurs with recommendations by the American Diabetes Association (2005). Specifically, the ADA recommends at least two HbA1c tests per year in patients who are meeting glycaemic treatment goals and four times per year in those who are not. By using the frequency of two or more tests per year, our measure of adherence to this procedure is likely more stringent than that used in the majority of research studies.

The 2003 Canadian Clinical Practice Guidelines indicates that blood pressure should be measured at least four times per year (i.e., at every visit to the family physician). Measuring and controlling blood pressure is clinically very important in the appropriate management of people with diabetes. Nevertheless, determining whether or not an individual received a blood pressure measurement is not possible from information contained within the BC Linked Health Data set. As a proxy for this measure, we made the reasonable assumption that a blood pressure reading would take place at every GP visit. Thus, if a patient made at least four visits to a GP in a fiscal year (i.e., data available in the data set) we assumed that they had received four blood pressure measurements.

The 2003 Canadian Guidelines recommended a lipid profile every 1-3 years noting that "a fasting lipid profile (TC, HDL-C, TG and calculated LDL-C) should be conducted at the time

of diagnosis of diabetes and then every 1 to 3 years as clinically indicated....More frequent testing should be done if treatment for dyslipidemia is initiated" (p. S60). The OECD, on the other hand, recommended tracking annual cholesterol testing (Greenfeld et al., 2004). Finally, the BCCDM recommended at least one lipid test every three years rather than an annual test. By following the recommendations of the BCCDM, our measure of adherence (one test every three years) to this procedure was likely less stringent than that used in the majority of research studies (one test every year).

A retinal eye exam is recommended at least once every two years, more frequently if the patient has retinopathy. The 2003 Canadian Guidelines noted that "in people with type 2 diabetes, screening and evaluation for retinopathy by an experienced professional should be performed at the time of diagnosis. The interval for follow-up assessments should be tailored to the severity of the retinopathy. In those with no or minimal retinopathy, the recommended interval is 1 to 2 years" (p. S77).

No specific fee code existed in MSP for a retinal eye exam. Instead we used the broader approach recommended by the BCCDM in tracking the following MSP fee items:

- 2010 (consultation ophthalmology)
- 2015 (eye examination)
- 2039 (fundus photography)
- 2040 (retinoscopy under general anesthetic)
- 2898 (re-examination or minor exam)
- 2899 (full optometric diagnostic).

It is possible that the broader approach used in this study to track this recommended procedure may have overestimated the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received a retinal eye exam. A similarly broad approach, however, was also used by other researchers (Arday et al., 2002).

The 2003 Canadian Guidelines recommended the measurement of serum creatinine levels via a microalbumin test at diagnosis and at least annually thereafter. After a diagnosis of nephropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes, these guidelines noted that the preferred treatment is an angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor or angiotensin receptor blocker (ARB) if the creatinine clearance is >60 mL/min or an ARB if the creatinine clearance is ≤60 ml/min. Furthermore, the guidelines suggested that serum creatinine and potassium levels be checked "within 2 weeks of initiation of therapy and periodically thereafter" (p. S69). The American Diabetes Association (2005) noted that "the role of annual microalbumin assessment is less clear after diagnosis of microalbuminuria and institution of ACE inhibitor or ARB therapy and blood pressure control. Most experts, however, recommend continued surveillance to assess both response to therapy and progression of disease." The controversy associated with whether or not microalbumin assessment should take place after initiation of treatment for microalbuminuria, however, suggests that 100% adherence to this recommended clinical procedure may not be reasonable.

Two general approaches have been used in research assessing adherence to recommended clinical procedures. The first is to provide a detailed assessment of adherence to each recommended clinical procedure (e.g. Saddine et al., 2002) while the second is to combine a series of recommended clinical procedures into a composite score (e.g. McGlynn et al., 2003). In this study we used each of these approaches.

In developing a composite score we combined the five measures into a single measure of long-term adherence by assigning each measure an equal weight. This general approach, rather

than attempting to weight different measures, has been used by the majority of researchers in this area. McGlynn and colleagues (McGlynn et al., 2003; Asch et al., 2004; Asch et al., 2006), for example, used 439 indicators to assess the quality of care provided for 30 different conditions. Each of the indicators received an equal weight, thus allowing the researchers to identify the proportion of recommended procedures received overall as well as for each specific condition.

By including four or more annual visits to a general practitioner as a proxy for blood pressure measurement, it is possible that we double-counted other visit based procedures. That is, patients who saw their physician regularly were also more likely to receive the other procedures tracked in this study. The analysis presented in section 4.3.1 Adherence as a Continuous Variable suggests simply seeing a physician more often does not necessarily lead to receiving appropriate clinical procedures. For example, only 50% of individuals who saw their GP four or more times per year also received two or more HbA1c tests that year. Thus simply increasing the number of visits to a GP or increasing the proportion of patients who see a GP at least four times per year does not appear to assure that the recommended clinical procedures will be received in a timely fashion. Visit-based approaches to improving adherence do not seem to work. This is an issue we will return to in section 5.4 Policy Implications below.

5.3.2 Provider or System Variables

In this study, patients living in the LHAs of South Surrey / White Rock, Burnaby and Langley were more likely to be in the high adherence group while those living in the LHAs of Mission, Maple Ridge and Abbotsford were more likely to be in the low adherence group after adjusting for age, gender, socio-economic status, general morbidity and diabetes disease-specific severity. The reason for the observed association between LHA and adherence was not immediately clear, but may be related to provider or system variables not captured in the study.

Similar variability between adherence and geography was observed by Jencks et al. (2000). These researchers found that adherence varied significantly by US state for annual HbA1c testing, biennial eye exams and biennial lipid profiles. The median rate for HbA1c testing was 71% with a range from 52 to 85%. Similarly, it was 69% for eye exams, with a range from 56 to 80%, and 57% lipid profiles, with a range from 39 to 73%. The authors noted that they "do not yet understand the reasons for these differences or whether aspects of the systems in high-performing states can be easily replicated in low-performing states" (Jencks et al., 2000).

In a follow-up study, Arday et al. (2002) adjusted for patient characteristics such as age, gender, race and socio-economic status. These adjustments reduced the variance between US states in HbA1c tests, eye examinations and lipid profiles by 30, 23 and 27%. But even after adjusting for these patient characteristics, the majority of the variation among states remained unexplained. The authors suggested a number of other possible reasons for the remaining variability, including differences in health care systems, clinical practice patterns, characteristics of state residents not measured in the study such as lack of transportation, other access barriers and cultural factors. In addition they raise the possibility of differential access to physicians and physician reimbursement policies. Arday and coauthors note that further research is required to explore the impact of these potential factors on the observed variability in adherence among US states.

Other studies have assessed variability in adherence to recommended clinical procedures based on the gender of the physician (Kim et al., 2005), whether the physician is a generalist or a specialist (Greenfield et al., 2002), whether the care takes place in a general practice or diabetes clinic setting (De Berardis et al., 2004) and other components of physician's practice (Keating et

al., 2004). In general these studies have found variability in adherence within the range of 5% to 10% based on physician characteristics.

One possibility explaining the variability in adherence by geographic location is differences in the continuity of physician care between LHAs. For example, based on data from 2000/01, the LHAs of Mission and Maple Ridge have the lowest continuity of care score in the Fraser Health Authority (McGrail et al., 2004). These are also two of the three LHAs identified in our analysis in which patients are more likely to be in the low adherence group.

Having a regular primary care provider with whom a patient concentrates his or her care has been associated with improved adherence to prescribed screening, treatment and immunization protocols (Ettlinger and Freeman, 1981; Charney et al., 1967; Safran et al., 1998; Kelly and Shank, 1992; Christakis et al., 2000; Gordis, 1973). In addition, such continuity in care has been credited with positive outcomes such as:

- Fewer acute care hospitalizations (Gill and Mainous, 1998; Harrison, 1998; Smeenk et al., 2000; Bauer et al., 1997; Reid et al., 2003).
- Lower use of emergency rooms (Gill et al., 2000; Christakis et al., 1999; Wasson et al., 1984).
- A general reduction in healthcare costs as continuity of care improves (Raddish et al., 1999; Weiss et al., 1996).
- Better recognition of unidentified health problems (Becker et al., 1974; Gulbradsen et al., 1997).
- Improved patient satisfaction (Hjortdahl and Laerum, 1992; Weyrauch, 1996).

This research suggests that physician variables may influence both adherence to recommended clinical procedures and the use of several of the key outcome variables followed

in this study. Indeed, the observed association between patient residence (i.e., the local health area variable) and adherence and resource use variables may actually be a proxy for physician variables. It would be important to assess this relationship in future research.

One issue that should be assessed is the influence of continuity of care on adherence. General practitioners value the ability of being able to provide accessible, comprehensive and continuous care (Braunack-Mayer, 2005; Stokes et al., 2005) and, as noted above, previous research has suggested that continuity of care has a measurable influence on adherence and health care resource use.

In studying the concept of *continuity of care*, researchers have identified three types of continuity (Reid et al., 2002; Haggerty et al., 2003). *Informational continuity* means that information on prior events is used to give care that is appropriate to the patient's current circumstances. *Relational continuity* recognizes the importance of the patient as a person; an ongoing relationship between patients and providers is the under girding that connects care over time and bridges discontinuous events. *Management continuity* ensures that care received from different providers is connected in a coherent way. Management continuity is usually focused on specific, often chronic, health problems. Reid et al. (2003) assumed that relational continuity exists when "patients concentrate their care with particular physicians or see the same physician sequentially" (p. 3).

Reid also stated that "continuity is the result of a combination of adequate access to care for patients, good interpersonal skills, good information flow and uptake between providers and organizations, and good care coordination between providers to maintain consistency. For patients, it is the experience of care as connected and coherent over time. For providers, it is the experience of having sufficient information and knowledge about a patient to best apply their

professional competence and the confidence that their care is recognized and pursued by other providers" (Reid et al., 2002; p. iv).

Reid et al. (2003) investigated ways of measuring continuity in the context of primary care, with a focus on relational continuity. "In general, the measures constructed over a two year data window outperformed those constructed over only one year, both in their concurrence with self report of a regular source of care and in prediction of future hospitalizations. Similarly, the measures constructed with primary care visits with the specialist visits referrals attributed back to the originating physician significantly outperformed those that included primary care visits only. This finding is consistent with the notion that speciality and primary care visits are 'connected' (and thus continuous) through the process of referral." (p. ii-iii).

The potential impact of relational continuity of care, in addition to other potential provider or system variables, on long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures for patients with diagnosed type 2 diabetes is an important future research question.

5.4 The Study Findings in Perspective

5.4.1 Adherence Rates

Despite carefully removing any group of individuals for whom long-term adherence might not be appropriate, the overall rate of adherence in this study was far from optimal. Just 53% of recommended clinical procedures were received over the five years. This, of course, just reflects whether the appropriate tests were done, not whether they resulted in appropriate management decisions. When the study population was divided into low, medium and high adherence groups, the overall rates of adherence were 31%, 52% and 73%, respectively. Thus 5,136 patients (the low adherence group) in Fraser Health received just 31% of recommended clinical procedures throughout the five year study period. On a more positive note, we did

discover that adherence to the individual measures tracked in this study improved over time but it would take a *long* time to reach optimal adherence given this trend.

The proportion of patients receiving the recommended clinical procedures increased between 1996/97 and 2000/01 as follows:

- From 35% to 52% for two or more HbA1c tests per year
- From 36% to 39% for at least one eye exam per year
- From 13% to 38% for at least one urinary microalbumin test per year
- From 77% to 82% for at least one lipid test every three years
- From 81% to 85% for at least four BP measurements per year

The literature indicated that a substantial proportion of people with diagnosed diabetes were not receiving the recommended clinical procedures. Rubin and co-workers (1998) noted that only 34% of people with diabetes in their study population had at least one HbA1c test per year, only 23% had an annual eye exam, and only 39% received a yearly cholesterol screening. McGlynn et al. (2003) found that only 24% of adults with diabetes had received three or more glycosylated haemoglobin tests over a two-year period, and a bare 14% had an annual eye exam. They noted that 58% had their total serum cholesterol and HDL cholesterol tests documented. Overall, the study by McGlynn and colleagues revealed that people with diabetes received just 45% of the processes recommended for basic care of their chronic condition. The United States Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality published a report (i.e., *National Healthcare Quality Report*, 2003) which noted that only 21% of patients with diabetes reported having the following five major tests done over a two year time period: influenza vaccination, foot exam, retinal eye exam, HbA1c measurement and lipid profile.

In Winnipeg, Manitoba, Katz et al. (2004) found that 54% of patients with diabetes had a cholesterol screening test and 37% had an eye exam during a one year period. In Ontario, Harris et al. (2003) found that 84% of their random sample of patients with diabetes had at least one HbA1c test ordered in the previous year, 28% were tested for microalbuminuria, 15% were examined for diabetes-related foot problems, 88% had their blood pressure measured, and 48% had their lipid profiles documented in their chart.

The British Columbia Chronic Disease Management (BCCDM, 2003) department of the BC Ministry of Health Services accessed administrative data to determine whether patients throughout the province were receiving the series of services recommended in current clinical practice guidelines. In the fiscal year 2002/03, only 39% of people with diagnosed diabetes in the province had two or more HbA1c tests (see section 3.5.1 Ascertaining Diabetic Cases for the BCCDM algorithm used to identify individuals with diagnosed diabetes). A higher number (i.e., 43%) had an eye exam, but only 34% had a microalbumin test. The most encouraging finding was that 78% had at least one lipid test in the three years from 2000/01 to 2002/03 (BCCDM, 2003).

The literature also revealed that while overall results suggest suboptimal adherence, there has been some improvement in adherence over time, at least in certain jurisdictions. Using a retrospective chart review, Stolar et al. (1995) gauged the impact of the ADA's 1988 clinical practice guidelines for patients with type 2 diabetes. They assessed adherence to recommended clinical procedures for the three years before and after the 1988 guidelines were published and found significant improvements in the proportion of patients receiving an eye exam, an HbA1c test, a lipid test and a urinary microalbumin test during the six year period. Jencks et al. (2003) assessed changes in the proportion of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes who received at least

one HbA1c test per year, at least one eye exam every two years and at least one lipid profile every two years. Between 1998/99 and 2000/01, these proportions increased from 70% to 78%, 69% to 70% and 58% to 74% respectively.

In England, Campbell and colleagues (2005) used medical records data to assess changes in the receipt of recommended care between 1998 and 2003. They found a significant improvement in the quality of care provided to individuals with type 2 diabetes during that time. More specifically, the proportion of individuals who had at least one HbA1c tests during the previous 15 months increased from 87.6% to 92.7%. Similar increases were observed for the measurement of serum creatinine levels (from 79.8% to 89.5%) and serum cholesterol levels (from 74.9% to 97.6%). Increases for eye exams (from 70.8% to 71.8%) and blood pressure (from 92.8% to 94.6%) were more modest.

The move toward better care has been evident in British Columbia. In this province, the proportion of people with diagnosed diabetes who received two or more HbA1c tests per year increased from 31% in 1999/00 to 39% in 2002/03. Similarly, the proportion with at least one microalbumin test per year increased from 22% to 34%. The proportion with at least one lipid tests in three years increased from 61% to 78%. Unfortunately, the proportion of people with at least one eye exam per year decreased from 47% to 43% (BCCDM, 2004).

Thus neither the relatively low adherence nor the subsequent improvement in adherence observed in this study was unusual or unexpected. It is important to note, however, that this suboptimal level of adherence is not isolated to patients with diabetes (McGlynn et al., 2003) nor to specific countries (Schoen et al., 2005).

5.4.2 Patient Characteristics Associated with Low Adherence

Several patient characteristics were associated with the probability of being in the low adherence group. These include being male, younger age, low socio-economic status, having no diabetes-specific complicating conditions and living in certain geographic areas (i.e., Mission, Maple Ridge and Abbotsford).

In the current study, after adjusting for sex, age, socio-economic status, morbidity, disease-specific severity and geographic location, females were 33.6% more likely than males to be in the high adherence category (see table 4-54). Woodward et al. (2006) found that females with diabetes were 13% less likely to receive at least one HbA1c test per year. This study adjusted for age, sex, rural residence and utilization of the health care system but not for patient morbidity or socio-economic status. Furthermore, this study provided a one year snapshot of adherence to HbA1c testing. Arday et al. (2002) found that females were 5.2% more likely to receive an annual HbA1c test, 34.2% more likely to receive a biennial eye exam and 9.9% less likely to receive a biennial lipid profile. This study adjusted for age, sex, race, eligibility for both Medicare and Medicaid, ESRD, socio-economic status, number of outpatient visits, comorbidities and illness severity. As with the Woodward et al. study, however, adherence is based on a single measure over the two-year study period. In a broader study of adherence to recommended care received by patients with a variety of chronic conditions, Asch et al. (2006) found that males were just marginally less likely to receive recommended care than females. The relatively strong association between gender and adherence observed in the current study may be due to the fact that we observed long-term, repeated adherence to recommended care rather than an annual or biennial snapshot of adherence.

In the current study, age was an important predictor of adherence. Individuals with diagnosed type 2 diabetes between the ages of 30-39 were 35.4% less likely to be in the high adherence group than those aged 50-59 while those aged 40-49 were 17% less likely to be in the high adherence group. On the other hand, those aged 60-69 were 42.8% more likely and those 70-79 were 24.8% more likely to be in the high adherence group compared to 50-59 years olds (see table 4-54). Both Woodward et al. (2006) and Asch et al. (2006) found a similar relationship between adherence and age, with adherence improving with increasing age but then decreasing somewhat for the oldest age group. Arday et al. (2002) found a small but significant increase in adherence to annual HbA1c testing (1.0%), the receipt of a biennial eye exam (3.8%) and lipid profile (1.2%) for those over the age of 65 compared to those less than 65 years of age.

In the current study, individuals in the lowest socio-economic quintile were 10.1% less likely to be in the high adherence group than those in the middle socio-economic quintile (see table 4-54). Arday et al. (2002) found a small but significant increase in adherence to annual HbA1c testing (1.4%), the receipt of a biennial eye exam (1.5%) and lipid profile (1.7%) for individuals with a higher compared to lower socio-economic status. Asch et al. (2006) noted that individuals with a household income of greater than \$50,000 were significantly more likely to receive the recommended care associated with their chronic condition than those with a household income of less than \$15,000. The Canadian study by Woodward et al. (2006) did not measure socio-economic status.

In the current study, individuals with no disease-specific complicating conditions were 37.8% less likely to be in the high adherence group than those with one or more complicating conditions. Arday et al. (2002) found a significant increase in adherence to annual HbA1c testing (41.1%), the receipt of a biennial eye exam (99.8%) and lipid profile (1.0%) for

individuals with at least one diabetes-specific complication compared to those with no diabetesspecific complications.

The geographic location of the patient's residence also proved to be an important variable associated with whether or not an individual was in the high adherence group. Individuals living in the LHAs of Mission (23.6%), Maple Ridge (21.8%) and Abbotsford (18.1%) were all less likely to be in the high adherence group compared to those living in the LHA of Surrey, even after adjusting for covariates. On the other hand, individuals living in the LHAs of South Surrey/White Rock (26.8%), Langley (37.3%) and Burnaby (38.3%) were all more likely to be in the high adherence group compared to those living in the LHA of Surrey (see table 4-54). This relationship between geographic location and adherence to recommended clinical procedures has been observed previously in the United States (Jencks et al., 2000; Arday et al., 2002). As noted in section 5.3.2 Provider or System Variables above, the observed association between geographic location and long-term adherence may be explained by provider or system variables not captured in the current study.

We identified several patient characteristics associated with the probability of being in the low adherence group. It is important to note that the literature also identifies a number of patient characteristics associated with non-adherence not included in the current research. These characteristics include depression, lack of social support, family conflict and poor communication between the patient and their health care professional (Devine and Pearcy, 1996; DiMatteo et al., 2000; DiMatteo, 2004a; DiMatteo, 2004b, DiMatteo and Haskard, 2006). The relationship between poor adherence and a number of patient characteristics is particularly important given the unequivocal relationship between the tight control of blood glucose and blood pressure levels in patients with diabetes and a reduction in both acute and chronic

complications. To quote the American Diabetes Association: "it is time for all health professionals to treat diabetes aggressively. It is also time for patients to take their diabetes with the utmost seriousness. And it is incumbent upon the health care system to provide the necessary resources for both to be successful. Compromise or acceptance of a disadvantageous and dangerous status quo in people with diabetes should not be tolerated any longer" (Genuth et al., 2003, p. S32). In addition to reducing a patient's longevity and quality of life, the complications associated with poorly managed diabetes result in significant costs to the health care system.

5.4.3 Utilization of Health Care Resources

On average over the five year period from April 1, 1996 to March 31, 2001, each individual in the current study used 1.62 acute care inpatient days per year at an estimated cost of \$1,148. In addition, they utilized an average of \$124 in surgical day care services per person per year. The average number of physician visits per person per year consisted of 9.74 GP visits at a cost of \$302 and 2.88 specialist physician visits at a cost of \$189. Average annual costs per person were \$1,762 consisting of \$491 (28%) in physician costs and \$1,272 (72%) in acute care costs.

Between 1996/97 and 2000/01, the annual utilization of all resources increased significantly. Mean acute care costs increased from \$1,013 in 1996/97 to \$1,605 in 2000/01 (58%). Mean physician costs increased from \$436 in 1996/97 to \$535 in 2000/01 (23%). Mean total costs increased from \$1,449 in 1996/97 to \$2,140 in 2000/01 (48%). On a year over year basis, total costs (in constant 2000/01 dollars) per person increased by 13.9% from 1996/97 to 1997/98 and by 3.6%, 9.0% and 14.9%, respectively, in each of the following years.

It should be remembered that this is a cohort study in which the same subjects were followed during the five years of the study period. As such, they would be five years older on

March 31, 2001 than on April 1, 1996. In addition, since incident cases are not included in the study population, the subjects would also have had type 2 diabetes for an additional five years by the end of the study period compared to the beginning of the study period.

During the same time period, adherence to the individual recommended clinical procedures tracked in this study improved. What impact has this trend in improved adherence over time had on physician and hospital costs? It would be important in future research to examine the increasing costs observed over time for the study cohort in the context of the increasing age, disease duration and improved adherence of the patient cohort. That is, how do these three critical variables interact with physician and hospital costs and what is the impact of each in determining overall system costs over time?

How did the overall utilization of health care resources in our study population compare to other studies? The closest research, in both time and geography, which we found to help us answer this question, was the research by Simpson et al. (2003). These researchers estimated the health care expenditures for people with diagnosed diabetes in Saskatchewan in 1996 (N=38,124). Average costs per capita were \$3,524 consisting of \$1,889 (53.7% of the total) in hospitalization costs, \$836 (23.8%) in prescription drug costs, \$583 (16.6%) in physician services costs, \$115 (3.3%) in dialysis costs and \$96 (2.7%) in day surgery costs.

The mean annual acute care costs in the current study over the five year period from 1996/97 to 2000/01 of \$1,272 include both hospitalization and day surgery and are thus comparable to \$1,985 (\$1,889 in hospitalization costs plus \$96 in day surgery costs) in the Simpson et al. (2003) study. The mean annual physician costs in the current study of \$491 are comparable to \$583 in the Simpson et al. (2003) study.

A key difference between the two studies was the selection of the target population. The Simpson et al. (2003) study included all individuals with diagnosed diabetes in Saskatchewan. The current study began with a population of 44,033 (all individuals with diagnosed diabetes living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority). This population of individuals with diagnosed diabetes was then reduced to 20,228 (see section 3.5 Subject Sample). Part of the process of exclusion involved the elimination of the sickest patients from the study population (i.e. those who died, had been diagnosed with high impact cancers, end-stage renal disease and AIDS or were over the age of 80). If the sicker and older patients had not been excluded, the average resource use would likely have been higher in the current study.

5.4.4 The Relationship between Long-Term Adherence and Use of Health Care Resources

The most important result of this study is the observed relationship between long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures and the use of health care resources. Patients with high long-term adherence (receiving an average of 73% of recommended clinical procedures) are 59% *more* likely to use a high level of physician resources but 22% *less* likely to use a high level of acute care resources. On the other hand, patients with low long-term adherence (receiving on average of 31% of recommended clinical procedures) are 28% *less* likely to use a high level of physician resources but 17% *more* likely to use a high level of acute care resources.

The observed increased physician costs in the high adherence group include the costs of that improved adherence. That is, seeing the physician more often and receiving the recommended clinical procedures on a more routine basis likely result in an increase in physician costs. How much of the observed increase is due to increased adherence and how much is due to other factors is an important question for future research. The key difference in costs associated with being in the high or low adherence groups occurred in older adults (i.e., aged 60-79) in the high or very high morbidity categories. Average annual costs in the low adherence category were \$2,696 (\$2,161 in acute care costs and \$535 in physician costs) compared to \$2,159 (\$1,495 in acute care costs and \$664 in physician costs) in the high adherence group. When comparing the low and high adherence groups, average per capita annual acute care costs were 86% higher (\$1,820 vs. \$977) in the high morbidity group and 76% higher (\$4,338 vs. \$2,469) in the very high morbidity group for those patients in the low adherence category. Of the total study population, 7,842 individuals (37% of 20,288) were older adults with high or very high morbidity categories. Individuals in the low adherence groups were more likely to be hospitalized and, when they were hospitalized, tended to stay in hospital for longer periods of time.

5.5 Policy Implications

There are a number of policy implications associated with the results of this research. After adjusting for age, gender, socioeconomic status, general morbidity, disease-specific severity and patient residence, several patient-level characteristics were associated with a higher likelihood of poor adherence to recommended clinical procedures. Thus patients who were younger males, without disease-specific complications, and/or in the lowest socio-economic group were found in this category. The fact that patients living within the geographic boundaries of the Mission, Maple Ridge and Abbotsford LHAs were also in the low adherence category deserves further research, specifically to determine if the association involved system or physician specific characteristics.
As noted earlier, this finding is particularly important given the unequivocal relationship between the tight control of blood glucose and blood pressure levels in patients with diabetes and a reduction in both acute and chronic complications.

Our research supports the idea that long-term adherence to recommended clinical procedures can result in a reduction in overall health care resources, particularly for specific patient groups. High adherence was more strongly associated with reduced acute care costs as patients became older and developed higher levels of morbidity. While we measured adherence over a five year time period, it is likely that these same patterns of adherence held prior to the study period. We hypothesize that patterns of high adherence sustained over a much longer time for this group of elderly patients ultimately accounted for the positive results observed in our study. In this light, it would be important from a policy perspective to have people with lower adherence move into higher adherence categories as early as possible.

We estimated the potential cost impact if people with diagnosed type 2 diabetes improved in adherence based on the following scenarios:

- If all individuals in the **low** adherence category moved into the **medium** adherence category
- If all individuals in the low adherence category moved into the high adherence category
- If all individuals in the **medium** adherence category moved into the **high** adherence category
- If all individuals in the **low** adherence category moved into the **medium** adherence category and those in the **medium** category moved into the **high** category
- If all individuals moved into the **high** adherence category

The results of this analysis are summarized in table 5-2 below (see appendix E for details).

271

Table 5-2: Potential Annual Acute Care, Physician and Total Costs Based on Improving Adherence (in \$millions)

Individuals in the low adherence category moved into the medium adherence category

	Current	Expected	Variance	% Variance
•	05 70	04.50	(4.00)	4 70/
Acute	25.72	24.52	(1.20)	-4.7%
Physician	9.92	10.20	0.28	2.8%
Total	35.65	34.72	(0.93)	-2.6%

Individuals in the low adherence category moved into the high adherence category

	Current	Expected	Variance	% Variance
Acute Physician	25.72 9 92	23.77 10.46	(1.96)	-7.6% 5.4%
Total	35.65	34.23	(1.42)	-4.0%

Individuals in the medium adherence category moved into the high adherence category

	Current	Expected	Variance	% Variance
Acute	25.72	23.67	(2.05)	-8.0%
Physician	9.92	10.41	0.49	4.9%
Total	35.65	34.08	(1.56)	-4.4%

Individuals in the low adherence category moved into the medium adherence category and those in the medium category moved into the high category

	Current	Expected	Variance	% Variance
Acute	25.72	22.47	(3.26)	-12.7%
Physician	9.92	10.69	0.77	7.7%
Total	35.65	33.16	(2.49)	-7.0%

All individuals moved into the high adherence category

	Current	Expected	Variance	% Variance
Acute	25.72	21.58	(4.15)	-16.1%
Physician	9.92	11.01	1.08	10.9%
Total	35.65	32.58	(3.06)	-8.6%

The same information is provided in graphical format in figure 5-1 below.



Figure 5-1: Potential Annual Acute Care and Physician Costs Based on Improving Adherence

Based on the current study sample of 20,288 individuals with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living within the geographic region of the Fraser Health authority, moving the 5,136 individuals currently in the low adherence category (with an average adherence rate of 31%) to the medium adherence category (with an average adherence rate of 52%) would increase annual physician costs by \$0.28 million while resulting in an avoidance of \$1.20 million in acute care costs.

If, on the other hand, all individuals were moved into the high adherence category (with an average adherence rate of 73%), annual physician costs would increase by \$1.08 million while acute care costs would decrease by \$4.15 million, resulting in \$3.06 million in costs avoided. For every dollar of increased physician costs, acute care costs would be reduced by four dollars.

Could this analysis be extended to the entire population of individuals with diagnosed diabetes in British Columbia? To do so would require the assumption that the observed relationship between adherence and health care utilization for patients with type 2 diabetes living within the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health authority held for all patients with diagnosed diabetes in the province. Furthermore, the proportion of individuals in the low, medium and high adherence categories would need to be the same throughout the province as that observed in the current study.

To extend the analysis to the entire province, we calculated the per capita change in acute care, physician and total costs associated with the scenarios noted above (see table 5-3).

Table 5-3: Potential Annual per Capita Change in Acute Care, Physician and Total Costs Based on Improving Adherence						
	Lov	w to Med	Low to High	Med. To High	Low & Med. To High	All to High
Acute Physician Total	\$ \$ \$	(59.24) 13.63 (45.62)	(96.39) 26.47 (69.92)	(101.26) 24.20 (77.06)	(160.51) 37.83 (122.68)	(204.37) 53.37 (151.00)

In 2003/04, the BC Chronic Disease Management (BCCDM, 2004b) estimated that there were 228,013 individuals living in the province with diagnosed diabetes. We multiplied these per capita costs to the entire population of people with diagnosed diabetes in the province assuming a distribution to adherence category similar to the cohort in the current study. This resulted in a range of annual costs avoided of \$10.4 million to \$34.4 million. If, for example, individuals in the low adherence category were moved into the medium adherence category, then physician costs would increase by \$3.1 million while acute care costs avoided would increase by \$13.5 million. If all individuals with diagnosed diabetes were moved into the high adherence category,

then physician costs would increase by \$12.2 million while acute care costs avoided would increase by \$46.6 million.

While our research focused on the health care costs associated with adherence to recommended clinical procedures, of more importance, at least to the patient, are potential differences in morbidity and quality of life associated with higher adherence. Although we did not assess this relationship in the current study, fewer hospitalizations (especially over a five year time period) suggest a lower level of morbidity, one of the important outcomes related to appropriate care for patients with type 2 diabetes.

How can adherence be improved? Our research indicated that an approach based simply on general practitioner visits is not a likely solution. Patients who visit their GP regularly still do not receive the recommended clinical procedures. For example, in 2001, just 55% of patients who saw there GP four or more times per year also received two or more HbA1c tests. Research that examined solutions applied in other organizations indicated that a systems-based approach is more likely to lead to improved adherence.

A systematic review by Grimshaw et al. (2001) of interventions designed to change provider behaviour noted that multifaceted interventions targeting different barriers to care were likely to be more effective than single interventions. The most successful programs addressed: 1) clinician behaviour; 2) changes to the organization of practice; 3) information system enhancement; 4) and educational or supportive programs aimed at patients (Renders et al., 2001; Rothman and Wagner, 2003). Renders et al. (2004) noted that key aspects of successful CPG implementation in the care of diabetic patients included: 1) organizational interventions that improved regular prompted recall and review of patients; 2) a stress on patient-oriented

275

interventions; and, 3) the utilization of nurses in patient education and the facilitation of adherence to treatment.

Wagner and colleagues in Seattle have developed a chronic care model which includes: 1) key linkages with community resources; 2) active leadership support; 3) more consistent and collaborative self-management support; 4) system redesign to include non-physician personnel in practice teams; 5) clinical information system enhancements to include reminders and feedback on the care provided; and, 6) attention to co-morbid conditions (Wagner et al., 1996; Wagner et al., 2001; Bodenheimer et al., 2002a, 2002b, 2002c; Heisler and Wagner, 2004).

An important aspect of the chronic care model is the concept of patient self-management. "Patients with chronic conditions make day-to-day decisions about – self-manage – their illnesses. This reality introduces a new chronic disease paradigm: the patient-professional partnership, involving collaborative care and self-management education" (Bodenheimer et al., 2002c). As noted in the background section, Bodenheimer et al. (2002c) provide the following comparison of traditional and collaborative care in chronic illness.

Table 5-4 Comparison of Traditional and Collaborative Care in Chronic Illness					
Issue	Traditional Care	Collaborative Care			
What is the relationship between patient and health professional?	Professionals are the experts who tell patients what to do. Patients are passive.	Shared expertise with active patients. Professionals are experts about the disease and patients are experts about their lives.			
Who is the principal caregiver and problem solver? Who is responsible for outcomes?	The professional.	The patient and professional are the principal caregivers; they share responsibility for solving problems and for outcomes.			
What is the goal?	Compliance with instructions. Non- compliance is a personal deficit of the patient.	The patient sets goals and the professional helps the patient make informed choices. Lack of goal achievement is a problem to be solved by modifying strategies.			
How is behaviour changed?	External motivation.	Internal motivation. Patients gain understanding and confidence to accomplish new behaviours.			
How are problems identified?	By the professional, e.g. changing unhealthy behaviours.	By the patient, e.g., pain or inability to function; and by the professional.			
How are problems solved?	Professional solve problems for patients.	Professionals teach problem-solving skills and help patients in solving problems.			

Early results, in terms of both adherence and outcomes, from the implementation of this chronic care model (CCM) in a variety of settings are very positive (Bodenheimer et al., 2002), though more formal evaluations need to be carried out, including assessment of longer term patient outcomes (Narayan et al., 2004). Tsai et al. (2005) surveyed the available literature to determine whether interventions that incorporate at least one element of the chronic care model result in improved outcomes for individuals with asthma, congestive heart failure, depression and diabetes. They concluded that "interventions with at least 1 CCM element had consistently beneficial effects on clinical outcomes and processes of care across all conditions studied".

Beginning in 1995, the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) in the US embarked on a nation-wide effort to reengineer its services with a view towards improving both efficiency and effectiveness of delivery. Kerr et al. (2004) compared the outpatient care received by patients with diabetes in the VA system to that found in commercial managed-care systems. The results showed that patients in the VA system were more likely to receive HbA1c testing, counselling about aspirin use, and eye and foot examinations. They also had better lipid control. A review of 177 Veteran's Affairs clinics in the United States found that programs "associated with better diabetes control simultaneously have teams that actively involve physicians in quality improvement, use electronic health information systems, have authority to respond to staffing and programmatic issues, and engage patients in care." (Jackson et al., 2005, p. 225)

In conclusion, while adherence to recommended clinical procedures for diabetes is generally poor, a number of organizational factors which can improve adherence have been identified in the literature. These include:

- the inclusion of non-physician personnel in practice teams
- information systems designed to provide timely reminders and feedback
- active leadership support
- enhanced patient education and self-management support
- attention to co-morbid conditions
- key linkages with community resources

Reengineering the primary health care system to include these organizational factors should result in improved adherence to recommended clinical procedures for individuals with diagnosed type 2 diabetes leading to an overall reduction in health care system costs while improving the patient's quality of life.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Agency for Healthcare and Quality. 2003. *National Healthcare Quality Report* [online]. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Available at http://www.qualitytools.ahrq.gov/qualityreport/archive/2003/browse/browse.aspx.

Albareda M, A. Caballero, G. Badell, et al. 2003. Diabetes and abnormal glucose tolerance in women with previous gestational diabetes. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 26(4):1199-1205.

Alberti K.G.M.M., P. Zimmet, J. Shaw, 2005. The metabolic syndrome-a new worldwide definition. <u>The Lancet</u> 366: 1059-62.

Almdal T, H. Scharling, J.S. Jensen, et al. 2004. The independent effect of Type 2 diabetes mellitus on Ischemic Heart Disease, stroke, and death: A population-based study of 13 000 men and women with 20 years of follow-up. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 164: 1422-26.

American Diabetes Association, 2003. Economic costs of diabetic care in the U.S. in 2002. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 26(3): 917-932.

American Diabetes Association, 2005. Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 28(Suppl 1): S4-S36.

Amiel S.A., R.S. Sherwin, D.C. Simonson, et al. 1986. Impaired insulin action in puberty. A contributing factor to poor glycemic control in adolescents with diabetes. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 315(4): 215-9.

Anderson G., K. Kerluke, 1996. Distribution of prescription drug exposures in the elderly: description and implications. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 49(8): 929-35.

Anderson R.M., J.T. Fitzgerald and M.S. Oh, 1993. The relationship between diabetes-related attitudes and patients' self-reported adherence. <u>The Diabetes Educator</u> 19(4): 287-92.

Anderson R.M., M.B. Donnelly, R.F. Dedrick, et al. 1991. The attitudes of nurses, dieticians, and physicians toward diabetes. <u>The Diabetes Educator</u> 17(4): 261-8.

Anderson R.M., M.M. Funnell, 2000. Compliance and adherence are dysfunctional concepts in diabetes care. <u>Diabetes Education</u> 26(4): 597-604.

Apelqvist J., J. Larsson, 2000. What is the most effective way to reduce incidence of amputation in the diabetic foot? <u>Diabetes Metabolism Research and Reviews</u> 16 (Suppl 1): S75-S83.

Arday D.R., B.B. Fleming, D.K. Keller, et al. Variation in Diabetes Care Among States: Do patient characteristic matter? <u>Diabetes Care</u> 25(12): 2230-2237.

Aro S., T. Kangas, A. Reunanen, et al. 1994. Hospital use among diabetic patients and the general population. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 17(11): 1320-9.

Ary D.V., D. Toobert, W. Wilson, et al. 1986. Patient perspective on factors contributing to nonadherence to diabetes regimen. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 9(2): 168-172.

Asch S.M., E.A. Kerr, J. Keesey, et al. 2006. Who is at greatest risk for receiving poor-quality health care? <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 354(11): 1147-1156.

Asch S.M., E.A. McGlynn, M.M. Hogan, et al. 2004. Comparison of quality of care for patients in the Veterans Health Administration and patients in a national sample. <u>Annals of Internal</u> <u>Medicine</u> 141(12): 938-945.

Atkinson M.A., N.K. Maclaren, 1994. The pathogenesis of insulin dependent diabetes. <u>New</u> <u>England Journal of Medicine</u> 331: 1428-1436.

Auditor General of British Columbia, 2003. <u>Alternative Payments to Physicians: A Program in</u> <u>Need of Change</u>. Report; 2003/2004:4

Bagust A., P.K. Hopkinson, W. Maier, et al. 2001. An economic model of the long-term health care burden of Type II diabetes. <u>Diabetologia</u> 44: 2140-55.

Bauer M.S., L. McBride, N. Shea, et al. 1997. Impact of an easy-access VA clinic-based program for patients with bipolar disorder. <u>Psychiatric Services</u> 48(4): 491-6.

Becker M.H., R.H. Drachman, J.P. Kirscht, 1974. Continuity of pediatrician: new support for an old shibboleth. Journal of Pediatrics 84(4): 599-605.

Beckman J.A., M.A. Creage, P. Libby, 2002. Diabetes and atherosclerosis: Epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management. Journal of the American Medical Association 287(19): 2570-2581.

Beerstecher H.J., 2005. Improvements in data recording, not in quality of clinical care. <u>British</u> <u>Medical Journal</u>, rapid responses (www.bmj.bmjjournals.com/cgi/eletters/331/7525/1121)

Bendel R.B., A.A. Afifi, 1977. Comparison of stopping rules in forward regression. Journal of the American Statistical Association 72: 46-53.

Ben-Haroush A., Y. Yogev, M. Hod. 2003. Epidemiology of gestational diabetes mellitus and its association with Type 2 diabetes. <u>Diabetic Medicine</u> 21:103-113.

Berg G.D., A. Wadhwa, 2002. Diabetes disease management in a community-based setting. <u>Managed Care</u> June: 42-50.

Birmingham C.L., J.L. Muller, A. Palepu, et al. 1999. The cost of obesity in Canada. <u>Canadian</u> <u>Medical Association Journal</u> 160: 483-8.

Blanchard J.F., H. Dean, K. Anderson, et al. 1997. Incidence and prevalence of diabetes in children aged 0-14 years in Manitoba, Canada, 1985-1993. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 20(4):512-5.

Blanchard J.F., S. Ludwig, A. Wajda, et al. 1996. Incidence and prevalence of diabetes in Manitoba, 1986 - 1991. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 19: 807-811. Bobrow E.S., T.W. Avruskin, J. Siller, 1985. Mother-daughter interaction and adherence to diabetes regimens. Diabetes Care 8(2): 146-141.

Bodenheimer T., E.H. Wagner, K. Grumbach. 2002a. Improving primary care for patients with chronic illness. Journal of the American Medical Association 288(14): 1775-1779.

Bodenheimer T., E.H. Wagner, K. Grumbach. 2002b. Improving primary care for patients with chronic illness: The Chronic Care Model, Part 2. <u>Journal of the American Medical Association</u> 288(15): 1909-1949.

Bodenheimer T., K. Lorig, H. Holman. 2002c. Patient self-management of chronic disease in primary care. Journal of the American Medical Association 288(19): 2469-2475.

Bonora E., G. Targher, G. Formentini, et al. 2003. The Metabolic Syndrome is an independent predictor of cardiovascular disease in Type 2 diabetic subjects. Prospective data from the Verona Diabetes Complications Study. <u>Diabetic Medicine</u> 21:52-58.

Booth G.L., J. Fang, 2003. Acute complications of diabetes: In Hux J.E., G.L. Booth, P.M. Slaughter, A. Laupacis (eds). <u>Diabetes in Ontario: An ICES Practice Atlas.</u> Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. 1.1 - 1.18.

Booth G.L., Rothwell D.M. Fung K, and Tu J.V. 2003. Diabetes and cardiac disease: In Hux J.E., G.L. Booth, P.M. Slaughter, A. Laupacis (eds). <u>Diabetes in Ontario: An ICES Practice Atlas.</u> Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. 5.95 – 5.128.

Borsa, J., A. Anis, 2005. The cost of hospital care in Canada: a comparison of two alternatives. <u>Healthcare Management Forum</u> 18(1): 19-27.

Boulton A.J.M., A.I. Vinki, J.C. Arezzo, et al. 2005. Diabetic neuropathies: A statement by the American Diabetic Association. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 28(4): 956-62.

Boulton A.J.M., R.A. Malik, J.C. Arezzo, J.M. Sosenko, 2004. Diabetic somatic neuropathies. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 27(6): 1458-86.

Boyd C.M., J. Darer, C. Boult, et al. 2005. Clinical practice guidelines and quality of care for older patients with multiple comorbid diseases: Implications for pay for performance. Journal of the American Medical Association 294(6): 716-24.

Brancati F.L., P.K. Whelton, B.L. Randall, et al. 1997. Risk of end-stage renal disease in diabetes mellitus: A prospective cohort study of men screened for MRFIT. Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Journal of the American Medical Association 278(23): 2069-2074.

Braunack-Mayer A., 2005. What makes a good GP? An empirical perspective on virtue in general practice. Journal of Medical Ethics 31: 82-7.

Brechner R.J., C.C. Cowie, L.J. Howie, et al. 1993. Ophthalmic examination among adults with diagnosed diabetes mellitus. Journal of the American Medical Association 270(14): 1714-8.

British Columbia Chronic Disease Management. 2002. <u>A Snapshot of Diabetes Care in British</u> <u>Columbia 2000/01.</u>

British Columbia Chronic Disease Management. 2003. *People with Diabetes and Proportion Receiving Recommended Services*. *British Columbia*, 1999/00 to 2002/03 [online]. Available at http://www.healthservices.gov.bc.ca/cdm/research/diabetes_rec_servs_agegender_02-03.pdf (accessed April 18, 2006).

British Columbia Chronic Disease Management. 2004a. *People with Diabetes and Proportion Receiving Recommended Services by Age and Gender, 2002/03* [online]. Available at http://www.healthservices.gov.bc.ca/cdm/research/diabetes_rec_servs_99-03.pdf (accessed July 29, 2004).

British Columbia Chronic Disease Management. 2004b. *Number of People with Specific Chronic Diseases, by Age, 2003/04* [online]. Available at http://www.healthservices.gov.bc.ca/cdm/research/index.html (accessed May, 2006).

British Columbia Vital Statistics Agency. 2003. <u>Selected vital statistics and health status</u> indicators. Annual Report.

Broemeling A, D. Watson, C. Black, 2005. Chronic conditions and co-morbidity among residents of British Columbia. <u>Centre for Health Services and Policy Research</u>. February 2005.

Brook R.H., 1989. Practice guidelines and practicing medicine: Are they compatible? Journal of the American Medical Association 262(21): 3027-3030.

Brook R.H., M.R. Chassin, A. Fink, et al. 1986. A method for the detailed assessment of the appropriateness of medical technologies. <u>International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care</u> 2(1): 53-63.

Brown A., J. Richards, 2002. Quality measurement of the Canadian discharge abstract database. <u>Canadian Institute for Health Information</u> 1-10.

Buhrmann R., D. Assaad, J.E. Hux, et al. 2003. Diabetes and the Eye: In Hux J.E., G.L. Booth, P.M. Slaughter, A. Laupacis (eds). <u>Diabetes in Ontario: An ICES Practice Atlas</u> Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. 10.193 – 10.208.

Cabana M.D., C.S. Rand, N.R. Powe, et al. 1999. Why don't physicians follow clinical practice guidelines: A framework for improvement. <u>American Medical Association</u> 282(15): 1458-1465.

Caird F.L., A.F. Burditt, G.J. Draper, 1968. Diabetic retinopathy: A further study of prognosis for vision. <u>Diabetes</u> 17(3):121-123.

Campbell S.M., M.O. Roland, E. Middleton, et al. 2005. Improvements in quality of clinical care in English general practice 1998-2003: longitudinal observational study. <u>British Medical Journal</u> 331 (7525): 1121.

Canadian Diabetes Association, 2003. 2003 Clinical Practise Guidelines for the Prevention and Management of Diabetes in Canada [online]. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 27 (suppl 2): S1-152. Available at http://www.diabetes.ca/cpg2003/download.aspx (accessed November 16, 2005).

Canadian Institute for Health Information. 2004. <u>Database Background Documentation:</u> <u>Discharge Abstract Database 2003-2004</u>.

Canadian Institute for Health Information. 2001. <u>2001 Report, Volume 1: Dialysis and Renal</u> <u>Transplantation, Canadian Organ Replacement Register</u>. Ottawa, Ontario.

Canadian Institute for Health Information. 2001. <u>Data quality framework, version 1: a meta-</u> evaluation and future directions. Practice Orientated Paper. 1-34.

Carlsson E., P. Poulsen, H. Storgaard, et al. 2005. Genetic and nongenetic regulation of *CAPN10* mRNA expression in skeletal muscle. <u>Diabetes</u> 54:3015-3020.

Chamberlayne R, B. Green, M.L. Barer, et al. 1998. Creating a population-based linked health database: A new resource for health services research. <u>Canadian Journal of Public Health</u> 89(4): 270-273.

Chan B, M. Harju. 2003. Supply and utilization of health care services for diabetes: In Hux J.E., G.L. Booth, P.M. Slaughter, A. Laupacis (eds). <u>Diabetes in Ontario: An ICES Practice Atlas</u> Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. 12.219-12.230.

Chassin M.R., J. Kosecoff, R.E. Park, et al. 1987. Does inappropriate use explain geographic variations in the use of health care services? A study of three procedures. <u>Journal of the American Medical Association</u> 263(23): 3149-50.

Chassin M.R., R.H. Brook, R.E. Park, et al. 1986. Variations in the use of medical and surgical services by the Medicare population. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 314(5): 285-90.

Chasuk R.M., P.J. Brantley, P.D. Martin. 2001. Knowledge and attitudes of family physicians about clinical practice guidelines and the care of patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Journal of the Louisiana State Medical Society 153: 31-44.

Charney E., R. Bynum, D. Eldridge, et al. How well do patients take oral penicillin? A collaborative study in private practice. 1967. <u>Pediatrics</u> 40(2): 188-95.

Christakis D.A., L. Mell, J.A. Wright, et al. 2000. The association between greater continuity of care and timely measles-mumps-rubella vaccination. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> 90(6): 962-5.

Christakis D.A., J.A. Wright, T.D. Koepsell, et al. 1999. Is greater continuity of care associated with less emergency department utilization? <u>Pediatrics</u> 103(4 Pt 1): 738-42.

Clark C.M., J.E. Fradkin, R.G. Hiss, et al. 2000. Promoting early diagnosis and treatment of Type 2 diabetes. Journal of the American Medical Association 284(3): 363-365.

Clarke P., A. Gray, R. Holman, 2002. Estimating Utility Values for Health States of Type 2 Diabetic Patients Using the EQ-5D (UKPDS 62). <u>Medical Decision Making</u> 22: 340-349.

Clarke P., A. Gray, R. Legood, et al. The impact of diabetes-related complications on healthcare costs: results from the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS Study No. 65). Diabetic Medicine 20: 442-50.

Clouse J.C., M. Zitter, M.E. Herman, 2002. Health economic considerations in the management of Type 2 diabetes. <u>Managed Care Interface</u> 15(1): 66-71.

Coffey J.T., M. Brandle, H. Zhou, et al. 2002. Valuing health-related quality of life in diabetes. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 25(12): 2239-43.

Costantini O., K.K. Papp, J. Como, et al. 1999. Attitudes of faculty, house staff, and medical students toward clinical practice guidelines. <u>Academic Medicine</u> 74(10): 1138-43.

Coster S., M.C. Gulliford, P.T. Seed, et al. 2000. Self-monitoring in Type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. <u>Diabetic Medicine</u> 17: 755-61.

Cowie C.C., M.I. Harris, 1995. Physical and metabolic characteristics of persons with diabetes. In: Harris M.I., C.C. Cowie, G. Reiber, et al. (eds.) <u>Diabetes in America. 2nd ed.</u> Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office 117.

Crosson F.J., P. Madvig. 2004. Does population management of chronic disease lead to lower costs of care? <u>Health Affairs</u> 23(6): 76-9.

Curry S.J., 2000. Organizational interventions to encourage guideline implementation. <u>Chest</u> 118(2 Suppl): 40S-46S.

Dawson K.G., D. Gomes, H. Gerstein, et al. 2002. The economic cost of diabetes in Canada, 1998. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 25(8): 1303-7.

DeBernardais G., F. Pellegrini, M. Franciosi, et al. 2004. Quality of care and outcomes in type 2 diabetic patients. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 27(2): 398-406.

Deeb L.C., F.P. Pettijohn, J.K. Shira, 1988. Interventions among primary-care practitioners to improve care for preventable complications of diabetes. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 11(3): 275-280.

DeFerranti S.D., K. Gauvreau, D. Ludwig, et al. 2004. Prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome in American adolescents: Findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. <u>Circulation</u> 110:2494-2497.

Devine E.C., J. Pearcy. 1996. Meta-analysis of the effects of psychoeducational care in adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. <u>Patient Education and Counseling</u> 29:167-78.

DeFronzo R.A., R.C. Bonadonna, E. Ferrannini, 1992. Pathogenesis of NIDDM: A balanced overview. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 15: 318-368.

Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group, 1993. The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 329 (14): 977-986.

Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group, 1994. Effect of intensive diabetes treatment on the development and progression of long-term complications in adolescents with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Journal of <u>Pediatrics</u> 125(2): 228-9.

Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group, 1995. Resource utilization and costs of care in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 18: 1468-78.

Diabetes Control and Complications Trial / Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Research Group, 2002. Effect of intensive therapy on the microvascular complications of Type 1 diabetes mellitus. Journal of the American Medical Association 287: 2563-2569.

Diabetes Control and Complications Trial / Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Research Group, 2000. Retinopathy and nephropathy in patients with Type 1 diabetes four years after a trial of intensive therapy. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 342: 381-389. [published correction appears in the <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 2000; 342: 1376.]

Diabetes Control and Complications Trial / Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Research Group, 2003. Sustained effect of intensive treatment of Type 1diabetes mellitus on development and progression of diabetic nephropathy. <u>Journal of the American</u> <u>Medical Association</u> 290: 2159-2167.

DiMatteo M.R., K.B. Haskard. 2006. Further challenges in adherence research; Measurements, methodologies, and mental health care. <u>Medical Care</u> 44(4): 297-9.

DiMatteo, M.R. 2004a. Variations in patient's adherence to medical recommendations: a qualitative review of 50 years of research. <u>Medical Care</u> 42(3): 200-9.

DiMatteo, M.R. 2004b. Social Support and patient adherence to medical treatment: a metaanalysis. <u>Health Psychology</u> 23(2): 207-18.

DiMatteo, M.R., H.S. Lepper, T.W. Croghan. 2000. Depression is a risk factor for noncompliance with medical treatment. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 160: 2101-7.

Donohoe, M.T. 1998. Comparing generalist and specialty care: discrepancies, deficiencies, and excesses. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 158: 1596-608.

Dorr, D.A., A. Wilcox, S.M. Donnelly, et al. 2005. Impact of generalist care managers on patients with diabetes. <u>Health Services Research</u> 40(5): 1400-21.

Dudley, R.A. 2005. Pay-for-Performance Research: How to learn what clinicians and policy makers need to know. Journal of American Medical Association 294(14)): 1821-23.

Duncan, G.E. 2006. Prevalence of diabetes and impaired fasting glucose levels among US adolescents. <u>Archives of Paediatric Adolescent Medicine</u> 160:523-28.

Dyck P.J., K.M. Kratz, J.L. Karnes, et al. 1993. The prevalence by staged severity of various types of diabetic neuropathy, retinopathy, and nephropathy in a population- based cohort: the Rochester Diabetic Neuropathy Study. <u>Neurology</u> 43(4): 817-24.

Dyck R., H. Klomp, L.K. Tan, et al. 2002. A comparison of rates, risk factors, and outcomes of gestational diabetes between aboriginal and non-aboriginal women in the Saskatoon Health District. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 25:487-493.

Eastman R.C., J.C. Javitt, W.H. Herman, et al. 1997. Model of complications of NIDDM, II: analysis of the health benefits and cost effectiveness of treating NIDDM with the goal of normo-glycaemia. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 20: 735-44.

Eddy D.M., 1984. Variations in physician practice: the role of uncertainty. <u>Health Affairs</u> 3(2): 74-89.

Eddy D.M., J. Billings, 1988. The quality of medical evidence: implications for quality of care. <u>Health Affairs</u> 7(1): 19-32.

Elbein S.C., 2002. Perspective: The search for genes for Type 2 diabetes in the post-genome era. <u>Endocrinology</u> 143(6):2012-2018.

Elbein S.C., W. Chu, Q. Ren, et al. 2002. Role of calpain-10 gene variants in familial Type 2 diabetes in caucasians. <u>The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 87(2):650-654.

Engelgau M.M., L.S. Geiss, J.B. Saaddine, et al. 2004. The evolving diabetes burden in the United States. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u>. 140(11):945-950.

Engelgau M.M., W.H. Herman, P.J. Smith, et al. 1988. The epidemiology of diabetes and pregnancy in the U.S. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 18: 1029-1033.

Ettlinger P.R. and G.K. Freeman. 1981. General practice compliance study: Is it worth being a doctor? <u>British Medical Journal (Clin Res Ed)</u> 282: 1192-94.

Faas A., F.G. Schellevis, J.T. Van Eijk, 1997. The efficacy of self-monitoring of blood glucose in NIDDM subjects. A criteria-based literature review. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 20(9): 1482-6.

Fagot-Campagna A., K.M. Venkat Narayan, G. Imperatore, 2001. Type 2 diabetes in children. British Medical Journal 322:377-78.

Faich G.A., H.A. Fishbein, S.E. Ellis, 1983. The epidemiology of diabetic acidosis: a populationbased study. <u>American Journal of Epidemiology</u> 117(5): 551-8.

Farquhar C.M., E.W. Kofa, J.R. Slutsky, 2002. Clinicians' attitudes to clinical practice guidelines: a systematic review. <u>Medical Journal of Australia</u> 177: 502-506.

Fertig B.J., D.A. Simmons, D.B. Martin, 1995. Therapy for diabetes. Chapter in <u>Diabetes in</u> <u>America</u>. 2nd ed. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health. 519-40.

Field M.J., K.N. Lohr, 1992. <u>Guidelines for Clinical Practice: From Development to Use</u>.Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.Fireman B., J. Bartlett, J. Selby, 2004. Can disease management reduce health care costs by improving quality? <u>Health Affairs</u> 23(6): 63-75.

Fisher W.D. 1958. On grouping for maximum homogeneity. <u>Journal of the American Statistical</u> <u>Society</u> 53: 789-798.

Ford E.S., W.H. Giles, A.H. Mokdad, 2004. Increasing prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among U.S. adults. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 27(10): 2444-2449.

Fowles J.B., K. Rosheim, E.J. Fowler, et al. 1999. The validity of self-reported diabetes quality of care measures. <u>International Journal for Quality in Health Care</u> 11(5): 407-12.

Franciosi M., F. Pellegrini, G. De Berardis, et al. 2001. The impact of blood glucose selfmonitoring on metabolic control and quality of life in Type 2 diabetic patients. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 24(11): 1870-7.

Fransoo R., P. Martens, et al. 2005. <u>Sex differences in health status, health care use, and quality</u> of care: A population-based analysis for Manitoba's regional health authorities. Manitoba Centre for Health Policy.

Frayne S.M., J.H. Halanych, D.R. Miller, et al. 2005. Disparities in Diabetes Care: Impact of Mental Illness. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 165: 2631-2638.

Full Service Family Practice Incentive Program. 2003. *BC Ministry of Health Services, Chronic Disease Management Program* [online]. Available at http://www.healthservices.gov.bc.ca/cdm/practitioners/fsfpibooklet.pdf (accessed December, 2004)

Gæde P., P. Vedel, N. Larsen, et al. 2003. Multifactorial intervention and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 348(5): 383-393.

Gavin J.R., K.G.M.M. Alberti, M.B. Mayer, et al. 2003. Report of the expert committee on the diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 26 (Supp 1): S5-S20.

Genuth S., R. Eastman, R. Kahn, et al. 2003. Implication of the United Kingdom prospective diabetes study. Position statement of the American Diabetes Association. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 2003; 26 (Supplement 1): S28-S32.

Gijsen R., N. Hoeymans, F.G. Schellevis, et al. 2001. Causes and consequences of comorbidity: a review. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 54: 661-74.

Gill J.M., A.G. Mainous 3rd, 1998. The role of provider continuity in preventing hospitalizations. <u>Archives of Family Medicine</u> 7(4): 352-7.

Gill J.M., A.G. Mainous 3rd, M. Nsereko, 2000. The effect of continuity of care on emergency department use. <u>Archives of Family Medicine</u> 9(4): 333-8.

Gilmer T.P., P.J. O'Conner, W.G. Manning, W.A. Rush, 1997. The cost to health care plans of poor glycaemic control. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 20: 1847-1853.

Ginsberg B.H., 1996. Preliminary results of a disease management program for diabetes. Journal of Clinical Outcomes Management 3(4): 45-51.

Glasgow R.E., K.D. McCaul, L.C. Schafer, 1987. Self care behaviors and glycaemic control in Type 1 diabetes. Journal of Chronic Diseases 40(5): 399-412.

Glasgow R.E., R.M. Anderson. 1999. In diabetes care, moving from compliance to adherence is not enough: something entirely different is needed. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 22(12): 2090-1.

Godwin M, M. Muirhead, J. Huynh, et al. 1999. Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus among Swampy Cree women in Moose Factory, James Bay. <u>Canadian Medical Association</u> Journal 160:1299-1302.

Goldberg H.I., E.H. Wagner, S.D. Fihn, et al. 1998. A randomized controlled trial of CQI teams and academic detailing: Can they alter compliance with guidelines? <u>The Joint Commission</u> 24(3): 130-142.

Golin C.E., M.R. DiMatteo, L. Gelberg, 1996. The role of patient participation in the doctor visit. Implications for adherence to diabetes care. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 19(10): 1153-64.

Gordis L, 1973. Effectiveness of comprehensive-care programs in preventing rheumatic fever. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 289(7): 331-5.

Graham I.D., S. Beardall, A.O. Carter, et al. 2003. The state of the science and art of practice guidelines development, dissemination and evaluation in Canada. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice 9(2): 195-202.

Grant R.W., P.A. Pirraglia, J.B. Meigs, et al. 2004. Trends in complexity of diabetes care in the United States from 1991 to 2000. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 164: 1134-9.

Gray A., M. Raikou, A. McGuire, et al. 2000. Cost effectiveness of an intensive blood glucose control policy in patients with Type 2 diabetes: economic analysis alongside randomised controlled trial (UKPDS 41). <u>British Medical Journal</u> 320: 1373-8.

Greenfield G., Kaplan S.H. 2004. Creating a culture of quality: The remarkable transformation of the Department of Veterans Affairs health care system. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 141(4): 316-318.

Greenfield G., Kaplan S.H., R. Kahn, et al. 2002. Profiling care provided by different groups of physicians: Effects of patient-mix (bias) and physician-level clustering on quality assessment results. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 136: 111-21.

Greenfield S., A. Nicolucci, S. Mattke. 2004. Selecting indicators for the quality of diabetes care at the health systems level in OECD countries. <u>OECD Health Technical Papers</u> 15: 1-19.

Griffen S., A.L. Kinmouth, 2004. Systems for routine surveillance for people with diabetes mellitus. <u>The Cochrane Library</u> Issue 3:[no pg.#].

Grimshaw J.M., L. Shirran, R. Thomas, et al. 2001. Changing provider behavior. An overview of systematic reviews of interventions. <u>Medical Care</u> 39(8 Suppl 2): II-2-II-45.

Grol, R. 2001. Successes and failures in the implementation of evidence-based guidelines for clinical practice. <u>Medical Care</u> 39(8 Suppl 2): II-46-II-54.

Grol R., T. Siep, R. Roberts, 1995. Development and implementation of guidelines for family practice: Lessons from the Netherlands. <u>The Journal of Family Practice</u> 40(5): 435-439. Gu K., C.C. Cowie, M.L. Harris, 1998. Mortality in adults with and without diabetes in a national cohort study of the US population, 1971-1993. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 21: 1138-1145.

Gulbrandsen P., P. Hjortdahl, P. Fugelli, 1997. General practitioners' knowledge of their patients' psychosocial problems: multipractice questionnaire survey. <u>British Medical Journal</u> 314(7086): 1014-8.

Gupta L., J.E. Ward, R.S. Hayward. 1997. Clinical practice guidelines in general practice: a national survey of recall, attitudes and impact. <u>Medical Journal of Australia</u> 166: 69-72.

H. Krueger & Associates Inc. Primary Health Care and Chronic Disease Management: Fraser Health Authority. November 2003. Unpublished document.

Haggerty J.L., R.J. Reid, G.K. Freeman, et al. 2003. Continuity of care: a multidisciplinary review. <u>British Medical Journal</u> 327: 1219-21.

Halm E.A., S.J. Atlas, L.H. Borowsky, et al. 1999. Change in physician knowledge and attitudes after implementation of a pneumonia practice guideline. Journal of General Internal Medicine 14: 688-694.

Hamblin P.S., D.J. Topliss, N. Chosich, et al. 1989. Deaths associated with diabetic ketoacidosis and hyperosmolar coma. 1973-1988. <u>Medical Journal of Australia</u> 151(8): 439,441-2, 444.

Hanlon J.T., G.G. Fillenbaum, M. Kuchibhatla, et al. 2002. Impact of inappropriate drug use on mortality and functional status in representative community dwelling elders. <u>Medical Care</u> 40(2): 166-76.

Hanna F.W.F., R. Neary, 2004. The metabolic syndrome. Lipidology 15:487-489.

Hanna F.W.F., J.R. Peters, 2002. Screening for gestational diabetes; past, present and future. <u>Diabetic Medicine</u> 19:351-58.

Harris M.I., 1990. Testing for blood glucose by office-based physicians in the U.S. <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Care</u> 13(4): 419-426.

Harris M.I., 1996. Medical care for patients with diabetes: epidemiologic aspects. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 124(1 pt 2): 117-22.

Harris M.I. 2001. Racial and ethnic differences in health care access and health outcomes for adults with Type 2 diabetes. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 24(3): 454-59.

Harris M.I., C.C. Cowie, L.J. Howie. 1993. Self-monitoring of blood glucose by adults with diabetes in the United States population. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 16(8): 1116-23.

Harris M.I., R.C. Eastman, 1996. Early detection of undiagnosed non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Journal of the American Medical Association 276(15):1261-1262.

Harris M.I., R.C. Eastman, C.C. Cowie, et al. 1999. Racial and ethnic differences in glycaemic control in adults with Type 2 diabetes. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 22(suppl 3): C65-C70.

Harris M.I., K.M. Flegal, C.C. Cowie, et al. 1998. Prevalence of diabetes, impaired fasting glucose, and impaired glucose tolerance in U.S. adults. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 21: 518-524.

Harris M.I., R. Klein, T.A. Welborn, et al. 1992. Onset of NIDDM occurs at least 4-7 yr before clinical diagnosis. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 15(7):815-819.

Harris M.I., D.C. Robbins, 1994. Prevalence of adult-onset IDDM in the U.S. population. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 17: 1337-1340.

Harris S.B., L.E. Caulfield, M.E. Sugamori, et al. 1997. The epidemiology of diabetes in pregnant Native Canadians. A Risk Profile. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 20:1422-1425.

Harris S.B., J. M. Ekoe, Y. Zdanowicz, et al. 2005. Glycaemic control and morbidity in the Canadian primary care setting (results of the diabetes in Canada evaluation study). <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Reasearch and Clinical Practice</u> 70: 90-97.

Harris S.B., M. Stewart, J.B. Brown, et al. 2003. Type 2 diabetes in family practice: Room for improvement. <u>Canadian Family Physician</u>. 49: 778-785.

Harrison M.B. 1998. Transition form hospital to home: continuity of care for congestive heart failure. National Health Research and Development Program. Available at http://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/4055.html.

Harrold L.R., T.S. Field, J.H. Gurwitz, 1999. Knowledge, patterns of care, and outcomes of care for generalists and specialists. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 14: 499-511.

Hartigan J. 1975. Clustering Algorithms. New York: Wiley.

Hawker G.A., P.C. Coyte, J.G. Wright, et al. 1997. Accuracy of administrative data for assessing outcomes after knee replacement surgery. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 50(3): 265-73.

Haynes R.B., D.W. Taylor, and D.L. Sackett. 1979. <u>Compliance in health care</u>. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Press.

Hayward R.A., T.P. Hofer, E.A. Kerr, et al. 2004. Quality improvement initiatives: Issues in moving from diabetes guidelines to policy. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 27(Suppl. 2): B54-B60.

Hayward R.S.A., G.H. Guyatt, K. Moore, et al. 1997. Canadian physicians' attitudes about and preferences regarding clinical practice guidelines. <u>Canadian Medical Association Journal</u> 156: 1715-23.

Health Canada. 2002a. *Diabetes in Canada, Second Edition* [online], Available at http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/pphb-dgspsp/publicat/dic-dac2/english/46chap5_e.html (accessed September 15, 2004).

Health Canada. 2002b. <u>Economic Burden of Illness in Canada, 1998</u>. Catalogue. No. H21-136/1998, Ottawa.

Health Canada. 2002c. *Healthy Canadians - A Federal Report on Comparable Health Indicators 2002* [online], Available at http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/iacb-dgiac/arad-draa/english/accountability/indicators.html (accessed August 28, 2003).

Health Care Financing Administration. 1987. <u>Medicare Hospital Mortality Information, 1986</u>. HCFA publication 01-002. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services.

Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group. 2002. MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol lowering with simvastatin in 20 536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. <u>The Lancet</u> 360: 7-22.

Heisler M., E. Wagner, 2004. Improving diabetes treatment quality in managed care organizations: some progress, many challenges. <u>The American Journal of Managed Care</u> 10(2): 115-117.

Heisler M., D.M. Smith, R.A. Hayward, et al. 2003. Racial disparities in diabetes care processes, outcomes, and treatment intensity. <u>Medical Care</u> 41(11): 1221-32.

Henry O.A., N.A. Beischer, 1991. Long-term implications of gestational diabetes for the mother. Baillieres Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology 5(2):461-83.

Hertzman C., K. Teschke, A. Ostry, et al. 1997. Mortality and cancer incidence among sawmill workers exposed to chlorophenate wood preservatives. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> 87(1): 71-9.

Hicks, V., J. Zhang, 2003. <u>Hospital price index feasibility study</u>. Canadian Institute for Health Information.

Higashi T., P.G. Shekelle, J.L. Adams, et al. 2005. Quality of care is associated with survival in vulnerable older patients. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 143: 274-81.

Hiss R.G., 1996. Improvements in diabetes care: International experiences. <u>Annals of Internal</u> <u>Medicine</u> 124(1 part 2): 146-148.

Hjortdahl P., E. Laerum, 1992. Continuity of care in general practice: effect on patient satisfaction. <u>British Medical Journal</u> 304(6837):1287-90.

Hoffman C., D. Rice, and H. Sung. 1996. Persons with chronic conditions: Their prevalence and costs. Journal of the American Medical Association 18: 1473-9.

Hoffman R.M., J.H. Shah, C.S. Wendel, et al. 2002. Evaluating once- and twice-daily selfmonitored blood glucose testing strategies for stable insulin-treated patients with Type 2 diabetes: the diabetes outcomes in veterans study. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 25(10): 1744-8.

Hosmer D., S. Lemeshow. 1989. Applied Logistic Regression. NY: Wiley & Sons.

Hu F.B., M.J. Stampfer, C.G. Solomon, et al. 2001. The impact of diabetes mellitus on mortality from all causes and coronary heart disease in women. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 161: 1717-1723.

Humphries K.H., J.M. Rankin, R.G. Carere, et al. 2000. Co-morbidity data in outcomes research: are clinical data derived from administrative databases a reliable alternative to chart review? Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 53(4): 343-9.

Hux J.E., F. Ivis, V. Flintoft, et al. 2002. Diabetes in Ontario: Determination of prevalence and incidence using a validated administrative algorithm. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 25: 512-516.

Hux J.E., M. Tang, 2003. Patterns of prevalence and incidence of diabetes: In Hux J.E., G.L. Booth, P.M. Slaughter, A. Laupacis (eds). <u>Diabetes in Ontario: An ICES Practice Atlas</u>, Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. 1.1 - 1.18.

Icks A., J. Rosenbauer, R.W. Holl, et al. 2001. Hospitalization among diabetic children and adolescents and the general population in Germany. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 24(3): 435-40.

Institute of Medicine, November 1999. <u>To Err Is Human: Building a Safer Health System</u>. National Academy of Sciences.

Isomaa B., M. Hendricsson, P. Almgren, et al. 2001. The metabolic syndrome influences the risk of chronic complications in patients with Type II diabetes. <u>Diabetologia</u> 44:1148-1154.

Jackson G.L., E.M. Yano, D. Edelman, et al. 2005. Veterans affairs primary care organizational characteristics associated with better diabetes control. <u>The American Journal of Managed Care</u> 11(4) 225-237.

James P.A., T.M. Cowan, R.P. Graham, 1998. Patient-centered clinical decisions and their impact on physician adherence to clinical guidelines. Journal of Family Practice 46(4): 311-8.

James P.A., T.M. Cowan, R.P. Graham, et al. 1997. Family physicians' attitudes about and use of clinical practice guidelines. <u>The Journal of Family Practice</u> 45(4): 341-7.

James P.T., N. Rigby, R. Leach, 2004. The obesity epidemic, metabolic syndrome and future prevention strategies. <u>European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation</u> 11(1): 3-8.

Jamrozik K., R.J. Broadhurst, S. Forbes, et al. 2000. Predictors of death and vascular events in the elderly. The Perth Community Stroke Study. <u>Stroke</u> 31: 863-868.

Javitt J.C., L.P. Aiello, 1996. Cost-effectiveness of detecting and treating diabetic retinopathy. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 124(1 part 2): 164-169.

Javitt J.C., L.P. Aiello, L.J. Bassi, et al. 1991. Detecting and treating retinopathy in patients with Type 1 diabetes mellitus: savings associated with improved implementation of current guidelines. <u>Ophthalmology</u> 98: 1565-74.

Javitt J.C., L.P. Aiello, Y. Chiang, et al. 1994. Preventive eye care in people with diabetes is cost-saving to the federal government: Implications for health-care reform. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 17(8): 909-17.

Jawa A, J. Kcomt, V.A. Fonseca. 2004. Diabetic nephropathy and retinopathy. <u>Medical Clinics</u> of North America 88: 1001-1036.

Jencks S.F., J. Daley, D. Draper et al. 1988. Interpreting hospital mortality data. The role of clinical risk adjustment. Journal of the American Medical Association 260(24): 3611-6

Jencks S.F., T. Cuerdon, D.R. Burwen. 2000. Quality of medical care delivered to Medicare beneficiaries: A profile at state and national levels. Journal of the American Medical Association 284(13): 1670-1676.

Jencks S.F., E.D. Huff, T. Cuerdon. 2003. Change in quality of care delivered to Medicare beneficiaries, 1998-1999 to 2000-2001. Journal of the American Medical Association 289(3): 305-312.

Johnson S.B., 1992. Methodological issues in diabetes research. Measuring adherence. <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Care</u> 15(11): 1658-67.

Jönsson B., 2002. Revealing the cost of Type II diabetes in Europe. Diabetologica 45: S5-S12.

Jorgensen H., H. Nakayama, H.O. Raaschou, et al. 1994. Stroke in patients with diabetes: The Copenhagen Stroke Study. <u>Stroke</u> 25: 1977-1984.

Kahn K.L., L.V. Rubenstein, D. Draper, et al. 1990. The effects of the DRG-based prospective payment system on quality of care for hospitalized medicare patients. An introduction to the series. Journal of the American Medical Association 264(15): 1953-5.

Kannel W.B., D.L. McGee, 1979. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease. The Framingham study. Journal of the American Medical Association 241: 2035-8.

Karter A.J., H.H. Moffet, J. Liu, et al. 2005. Achieving good glycemic control: Initiation of new antihyperglycemic therapies in patients with type 2 diabetes from the Kaiser Permanente northern California diabetes registry. The American Journal of Managed Care 11(4): 262-270.

Katz A., C. DeCoster, B. Bogdanovic, et al. 2004. <u>Using administrative data to develop</u> indicators of quality in family practice. Manitoba Centre for Health Policy.

Keating N.L., M.B. Landrum, B.E. Landon, et al. 2004. The influence of physician's practice management strategies and financial arrangements on quality of care among patients with diabetes. <u>Medical Care</u> 42(9): 829-39.

Kelly R.B., J.C. Shank, 1992. Adherence to screening flexible sigmoidoscopy in asymptomatic patients. <u>Medical Care</u> 30(11): 1029-42.

Kenny S.J., P.J. Smith, M.G. Goldschmid, et al. 1993. Survey of physician practice behaviors related to diabetes mellitus in the U.S.: Physician adherence to consensus recommendations. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 16(11): 1507-10.

Kerr E.A., R.B. Gerzoff, S.L. Krein, et al. 2004. Diabetes care quality in the veterans affairs health care system and commercial managed care: the TRIAD study. <u>Annals of Internal</u> <u>Medicine</u> 141(4): 272-81.

Khunti K., M. Davies, 2005. Metabolic syndrome independently raises cardiovascular risk and should be picked up in primary care. <u>British Medical Journal</u> 331: 1153-4.

Killilea T., 2002. Long-term consequences of Type 2 diabetes mellitus: Economic impact on society and managed care. <u>The American Journal of Managed Care</u> 8(16): 5441-9.

Kim C., L.N. McEwen, R.B. Gerzoff, et al. 2005. Is physician gender associated with the quality of diabetes care? <u>Diabetes Care</u> 28(7): 1594-98.

Kirkman M.S., S.R. Williams, H.H. Caffrey, et al. 2002. Impact of a program to improve adherence to diabetes guidelines by primary care physicians. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 25(11): 1946-51.

Kissela B.M., J. Khoury, D. Kleindorfer, et al. 2005. Epidemiology of ischemic stroke in patients with diabetes the greater Cincinnati/Northern Kentucky stroke study. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 28(2): 355-59.

Klarenbach S.W., P. Jacobs, 2003. International comparison of health resource utilization in subjects with diabetes: An analysis of Canadian and American national health surveys. <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Care</u> 26(4): 1116-22.

Klein R., B.E. Klein, S.E. Moss, et al. 1984a. The Wisconsin epidemiologic study of diabetic retinopathy. II. Prevalence and risk of diabetic retinopathy when age at diagnosis is less than 30 years. <u>Archives of Ophthalmology</u> 102(4): 520-526.

Klein R., B.E. Klein, S.E. Moss, et al. 1984b. The Wisconsin epidemiologic study of diabetic retinopathy. III. Prevalence and risk of diabetic retinopathy when age at diagnosis is 30 or more years. <u>Archives of Ophthalmology</u> 102(4): 527-532.

Knight K., E. Badamgarav, J.M. Henning, et al. 2005. A systematic review of diabetes disease management programs. <u>The American Journal of Managed Care</u> 11(4): 242-50.

Knowler W.C., E. Barrett-Conner, S.E. Fowler, et al. 2002. Reduction in the incidence of Type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 346: 393-403.

Laakso M., K. Pyorala, 1985. Age of onset and type of diabetes. Diabetes Care 8(2):114-7.

Laditka S.B., M.P. Mastanduno, J.N. Laditka, 2001. Health care use of individuals with diabetes in an employer-based insurance population. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 161: 1301-1308.

Landy J., J. Stein, M.M. Brown, et al. 2002. Patient, community and clinician perceptions of the quality of life associated with diabetes mellitus. <u>Medical Science Monitor</u> 8(8): CR 543-8.

Lanting L.C., I.M.A. Joung, J.P. Mackenbach, et al. 2005. Ethnic differences in mortality, end stage complications, and quality of care among diabetic patients. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 28(9): 2280-2288.

LaPorte R.E., N.Tajima, H.K. Akerbloom, et al. 1985. Geographic differences in the risk of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: The importance of registries. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 8(Suppl 1): 101-107.

Larme A.C., J.A. Pugh, 1998. Attitudes of primary care providers toward diabetes. Barriers to guideline implementation. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 21(9): 1391-6.

Larme A.C. and J.A. Pugh. 2001. Evidence-based guidelines meet the real world. The case of diabetes care. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 24(10): 1728-33.

Larsen M.L., M. Horder, E.F. Mogensen. 1990. Effect of long-term monitoring of glycosylated haemoglobin levels in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 323(15): 1062-1064.

Larson E., 2003. Status of practice guidelines in the United States: CDC guidelines as an example. <u>Preventive Medicine</u> 36: 519-524.

Lawler F.H., N. Viviani, 1997. Patient and physician perspectives regarding treatment of diabetes: compliance with practice guidelines. Journal of Family Practice 44(4): 369-73.

Leibson C.L., P.C. O'Brien, E. Atkinson, et al. 1997. Relative contributions of incidence and survival to increasing prevalence of adult-onset diabetes mellitus: A population based study. <u>American Journal of Epidemiology</u> 146: 12-22.

Leiter L.A., A. Barr, A. Belanger, et al. 2001. Diabetes screening in Canada (DIASCAN) Study: Prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes and glucose intolerance in family physician offices. <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Care</u> 24(6): 1038-43.

Lomas J., 1991. Words without action? The production, dissemination and impact of consensus recommendations. <u>Annual Review of Public Health</u> 12: 41-65.

Lomas J., G.M. Anderson, K.D. Pierre, et al. 1989. Do practice guidelines guide practice? The effect of a consensus statement on the practice of physicians. <u>The New England Journal of Medicine</u> 321(19): 1306-1311.

Ludwig D.S. and C.B. Ebbeling. 2001. Type 2 diabetes mellitus in children: Primary care and public health considerations. Journal of the American Medical Association 286(12): 1427-30.

Lotufo P.A., M. Gaziano, C.U. Chae, et al. 2001. Diabetes and all-cause and coronary heart disease mortality among U.S. male physicians. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 161: 242-247.

Lutfey K.E., W.J. Wishner, 1999. Beyond "compliance" is "adherence": Improving the prospect of diabetes care. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 22(4): 635-9.

MacIsaac R.J., L.Y. Lee, K.J. McNeil, et al. 2002. Influence of age on the presentation and outcome of acidotic and hyperosmolar diabetic emergencies. <u>Journal of Internal Medicine</u> 32(8): 379-85.

Mackenbach J.P., C.W. Looman, J.B. van der Meer, 1996. Differences in the misreporting of chronic conditions, by level of education: the effect of inequalities in prevalence rates. <u>American</u> <u>Journal of Public Health</u> 86:706-711.

Maddigan S.L., D.H. Feeny, J.A. Johnson, 2000. The impact of diabetes and comorbidity on health-related quality of life: Findings from the 1996-97 National Population Health Survey. Institute of Health Economics Working Paper 04-01

Mainous A.G., D.E. King, D.R. Garr, et al. 2004. Race, rural residence, and control of diabetes and hypertension. <u>Annals of Family Medicine</u> 2(6): 563-68.

Malenka D.J., D. McLerran, N. Roos, et al. 1994. Using administrative data to describe casemix: a comparison with the medical record. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 47(9): 1027-32.

Manson J.E., P.J. Skerrett, P.Greenland, et al. 2004. The escalating pandemics of obesity and sedentary lifestyle: A call to action for clinicians. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 164: 249-58.

Manual D.G., S.E. Schultz. 2004. Health-related quality of life and health-adjusted life expectancy of people with diabetes in Ontario, Canada, 1996-1997. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 27(2): 407-414.

Marrero D.G., P.S. Moore, N.S. Fineberg, et al. 1991. The treatment of patients with insulinrequiring diabetes mellitus by primary care physicians. <u>Journal of Community Health</u> 16(5): 259-267.

Martens P.J., R. Fransoo, E. Burland, et al. 2003. <u>The Manitoba RHA Indicators Atlas:</u> <u>Population -Based Comparisons of Health and Health Care Use.</u> Manitoba Centre for Health Policy.

Martin L.M., M. Leff, N. Cologne, et al. 2000. Validation of self-reported chronic conditions and health services in a managed care population. <u>American Journal of Preventative Medicine</u> 18: 215-218.

Martin T.L., J.V. Selby, D. Zhang, 1995. Physician and patient prevention practices in NIDDM in a large urban managed-care organization. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 18(8): 1124-32.

McElduff P., G. Lyratzopoulos, R. Edwards, et al. 2004. Will changes in primary care improve health outcomes? Modelling the impact of financial incentives introduced to improve quality of care in the UK. <u>Quality and Safety in Health Care</u> 13: 191-7.

McGlynn E.A., S.M. Asch, J. Adams, et al. 2003. The quality of health care delivered to adults in the United States. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 384(26): 2635-45.

McGRail K, P. Schaub. 2002. <u>British Columbia Health Atlas</u>, 1st edition. Centre for Health Services and Policy Research, University of British Columbia.

McGrail K, P. Schaub, C. Black. 2004. <u>British Columbia Health Atlas</u>, 2nd edition. Centre for Health Services and Policy Research, University of British Columbia.

McMahon L.F. Jr., R.A. Wolfe, P.J. Tedeschi, 1989. Variation in hospital admissions among small areas. A comparison of Maine and Michigan. <u>Medical Care</u> 27(6): 623-31.

McNemar, 1947. Note on the sampling error of the difference between correlated proportions or percentages. <u>Psychometrika</u> 12: 153-157.

McPherson K., J.E. Wennberg, O.B. Hovind, et al. 1982. Small-area variations in the use of common surgical procedures: an international comparison of New England, England and Norway. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 307(21): 1310-4.

Meltzer S, L. Leiter, D. Daneman, et al. 1998. 1998 clinical practice guidelines for the management of diabetes in Canada. <u>Canadian Medical Association Journal</u> 159(8 Suppl): S1-S29.

Ménard J., H. Payette, J. Baillargeon, et al. 2005. Efficacy of intensive multitherapy for patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. <u>Canadian Medical Association</u> Journal 173(12): 1-10.

Menzin J., C. Langley-Hawthorne, M. Friedman, et al. 2001. Potential short-term economic benefits of improved glycaemic control. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 24(1): 51-5.

Michie S., M. Johnston, 2004. Changing clinical behaviour by making guidelines specific. <u>British Medical Journal</u> 328: 343-5.

Mickey J, S.Greenland, 1989. The impact of confounder-selection criteria on effect estimation. <u>American Journal of Epidemiology</u> 129: 125-137.

Millar W.J., T.K. Young, 2003. Tracking diabetes: prevalence, incidence and risk factors. <u>Health</u> <u>Reports</u> 14(3): 35-47.

Miller K.L., I.B. Hirsch, 1994. Physicians' practices in screening for the development of diabetic nephropathy and the use of glycosylated hemoglobin levels. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 17(12): 1495-97.

Mokdad A.H., E.S. Ford, B.A. Bowman, et al. 2000. Diabetes trends in U.S.: 1990-1998. Diabetes Care 23: 1278-83.

Mokdad A.H., E.S. Ford, B.A. Bowman, et al. 2001. The continuing epidemics of obesity and diabetes in the United States. Journal of the American Medical Association 286: 1195-1200. Moss S.E., R. Klein, B.E.K Klein, 1999. Risk factors for hospitalization in people with diabetes. Archives of Internal Medicine 159: 2053-7.

Murata G.H., J.H. Shah, R.M. Hoffmann, et al. 2003. Intensified blood glucose monitoring improves glycaemic control in stable, insulin-treated veterans with Type 2 diabetes: the Diabetes Outcomes in Veterans Study (DOVES). <u>Diabetes Care</u> 26(6): 1759-63.

Nagelkerke N.J.D. 1991. A note on a general definition of the coefficient of determination. <u>Biometrika</u> 78(3): 691-2.

Narayan K.M.V., E. Benjamin, E.W. Gregg, et al. 2004. Diabetes translation research: Where are we and where do we want to be? <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 140(11): 958-963.

National Diabetes Audit. 2005. *Key findings about the quality of care for people with diabetes in England. Report for the audit period 2003/04* [online]. Available at www.icservices.nhs.uk/ncasp/pages/audit topics/diabetes. (Accessed October, 2005).

National Diabetes Information Clearinghouse (NDIC) website. Available at http://diabetes.niddk.nih.gov/dm/pubs/neuropathies/ (Accessed September, 2004).

National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. 2001. <u>U.S. Renal Data System, USRDS 2001 Annual Data Report: Atlas of End-Stage Renal</u> <u>Disease in the United States</u>. Bethesda, MD.

Newcombe, R.G., 1998. Two sided confidence intervals for the single proportion: comparison of seven methods. <u>Statistics in Medicine</u> 17: 857-872.

Ng E., R. Wilkins, J. Pole, O.R. Adams, 1997. How far to the nearest physician? <u>Health Reports</u> 8(4): 19-31.

O'Connor P.J., J. Desai, W.A. Rush, et al. 1998. Is having a regular provider of diabetes care related to intensity of care and glycaemic control? <u>The Journal of Family Practice</u> 47(4): 290-7.

Ohinmaa A., P. Jacobs, S. Simpson, et al. 2004. The Projection of Prevalence and Cost of Diabetes in Canada: 2000 to 2016. <u>Canadian Journal of Diabetes</u> 28(1): 116-23.

Osborn D.P.J., 2001. The poor physical health of people with mental illness. <u>Western Journal of Medicine</u> 175:329-32.

Park R.E., R.H. Brook, J. Kosecoff, et al. 1990. Explaining variations in hospital death rates. Randomness, severity of illness, quality of care. Journal of the American Medical Association 265(4): 458-60.

Patrick A.W., G.V. Gill, I.A. MacFarlane, et al. 1994. Home glucose monitoring in Type 2 diabetes: is it a waste of time? <u>Diabetes Medicine</u> 11(1): 62-5.

Perneger T.V., F.L. Brancati, P.K. Whelton, et al. 1994. End-stage renal disease attributable to diabetes mellitus. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 121(12): 912-918.

Peters A.L., R.C. Ossorio, A.P. Legorreta, et al. 1996. Quality outpatient care provided to diabetic patients: A health maintenance organization experience. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 19(6): 601-605.

Peyrot M., J.F. McMurry Jr., R. Hedges, 1987. Living with diabetes: the role of personal and professional knowledge in symptom and regimen management. <u>Research Social Health Care</u> 6: 107-46.

Piette J.D., C. Richardson, M. Valenstein, 2004. Addressing the needs of patients with multiple chronic illnesses: the case of diabetes and depression. <u>American Journal of Managed Care</u> 10(part 2): 152-62.

Poole, B., S. Robinson, M. MacKinnon, 1998. Resource intensity weights and Canadian hospital costs: some preliminary data. <u>Healthcare Management Forum</u> 11(1): 22-6.

Pugh J.A., V. Gallegos, A. Monterrosa, et al. 1996. Standards of care and intermediate outcomes in non-insulin dependent diabetic patients in south Texas. <u>Friday Morning SGIM Poster Session</u> 44(1): 83A.

Practice Incentives Program. 2001. *An Outline of the Practice Incentives Program*[online]. Department of Health and Aged Care, Australia. Available at http://www.hic.gov.au/providers/resources/incentives_allowances/pip/outline_pip_whole.pdf (accessed December 2004).

Quan H., G.A. Parsons, W.A. Ghali, 2002. Validity of information on comorbidity derived from ICD-9-CCM administrative data. <u>Medical Care</u> 40(8): 675-85.

Raddish M., S.D. Horn, P.D. Sharkey, 1999. Continuity of care: is it cost effective? <u>American</u> Journal of Managed Care 5(6): 727-34.

Ramsey S., K.H. Summers, S.A. Leong, et al. 2002. Productivity and medical costs of diabetes in a large employer population. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 25(1): 23-9.

Rankin J.M., J.J. Spinelli, R.G. Carere, et al. 1999. Improved clinical outcome after widespread use of coronary-artery stenting in Canada. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 341(26): 1957-65.

Rawson N.S., E. Malcolm, C. D'Arcy, 1997. Reliability of the recording of schizophrenia and depressive disorder in the Saskatchewan health care datafiles. <u>Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology</u> 32(4): 191-9.

Reid R., J. Haggerty, R. McKendry, 2002. Defusing the Confusion: Concepts and Measures of Continuity of Healthcare. <u>Canadian Health Services Research Foundation</u>

Reid R., L. MacWilliam, L. Verhulst, et al. 2001. Performance of the ACG case-mix system in two Canadian provinces. <u>Medical Care</u> 39(1): 86-99.

Reid R., L. MacWilliam, N.P. Roos, et al. 1999. <u>Measuring Morbidity in Populations:</u> <u>Performance of the Johns Hopkins Adjusted Clinical Group (ACG) Case-Mix Adjustment</u> <u>System in Manitoba</u> Manitoba Centre for Health Policy and Evaluation.

Reid R., N.P. Roos, L. MacWilliam, et al. 2002. Assessing population health care need using claims-based ACG morbidity measure: A validation analysis in the province of Manitoba. <u>Health</u> <u>Services Research</u> 37(5): 1345-64.

Reid R.J., 1998. <u>Patterns of referral for newly-diagnosed patients with diabetes in Alberta</u>. PhD Dissertation. Johns Hopkins University School of Hygiene and Public Health, Baltimore, Maryland.

Reid R.J., M.L. Barer, R. McKendry, et al. 2003. Patient-focused care over time: Issues related to measurement, prevalence, and strategies for improvement among patient populations. Canadian Health Services Research Foundation

Renders C.M., G.D. Valk, S.J. Griffin, et al. 2001. Interventions to improve management of diabetes mellitus in primary care, outpatient and community settings. <u>The Cochrane Library</u> 2: [no page #].

Richards J., A. Brown, C. Homan, 2001. The data quality study of the Canadian discharge abstract database. <u>Proceedings of statistics Canada Symposium 2001</u>.

Roberts S.G., M.J. Goldacre, A.W. Neil, 2004. Mortality in young people admitted to hospital for diabetes: database study. <u>British Medical Journal</u> 328: 741-742.

Rodrigues S., E. Robinson, K. Gray-Donald, et al. 1999. Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus among James Bay Cree women in northern Quebec. <u>Canadian Medical Association</u> Journal 160:1293-1297.

Roland M., 2004. Linking physician's pay to the quality of care – a major experiment in the United Kingdom. <u>The New England Journal of Medicine</u> 351(14): 1448-54.

Roos L.L., J.P. Nicol, 1999. A research registry: uses, development, and accuracy. Journal of <u>Clinical Epidemiology</u> 52(1): 39-47.

Roos L.L., N.P. Roos, S.M. Cageorge, et al. 1982. How good are the data? Reliability of one health care data bank. <u>Medical Care</u> 20(3): 266-76.

Roos L.L., R. Walld, A. Wajda, et al. 1996. Record linkage strategies, outpatient procedures, and administrative data. <u>Medical Care</u> 34(6): 570-82.

Roos L.L., S. Gupta, R. Soodeen, et al. 2004. Data quality in an information-rich environment: Canada as an example. <u>Canadian Journal on Aging</u> 24(suppl 1): 153-170. Roos L.L., V. Menec, R.J. Currie, 2004. Policy analysis in an information-rich environment. <u>Social Science & Medicine</u> 58: 2231-41.

Roper W.L., G.M. Hackbarth, 1988. HCFA's agenda for promoting high-quality care. <u>Health</u> <u>Affairs</u> 7(1): 91-8.

Roper W.L., W. Winkenwerder, G.M. Hackbarth, et al. 1988. Effectiveness in health care. An initiative to evaluate and improve medical practice. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u>. 319(18): 1197-202.

Rosenthal M.B., R.G. Frank, Z. Li, et al. 2005. Early experience with pay-for-performance from concept to practice. Journal of American Medical Association 294(14):1788-93.

Rothman A.A., E.H. Wagner, 2003. Chronic Illness Management: What is the role of primary care? <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 138: 256-61.

Rothman R.L., T.A. Elasy. 2005. Can diabetes management programs create sustained improvements in disease outcomes? <u>Canadian Medical Association Journal</u> 173(12): 1467-1468.

Rubin R.J., K.A. Dietrich, A.D. Hawk, 1998. Clinical and economic impact of implementing a comprehensive diabetes management program in managed care. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 83(8): 2635-42.

Rubin J.R., W.M. Altman, D.N. Mendelson, 1994. Health care expenditures for people with diabetes mellitus, 1992. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 78: 809A-809F.

Rydall A.C., G.M. Rodin, M.P. Olmsted, et al. 1997. Disordered Eating Behavior and Microvascular Complications in Young Women with Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus. <u>New</u> <u>England Journal of Medicine</u> 336(26): 1849-54.

Saaddine J.B., M.M. Engelgau, G.L. Beckles, et al. 2002. A diabetes report card for the United States: quality of care in the 1990s. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 136(8): 565-74.

Saely C.H., S.Aczel, T.Marte, et al. 2005. The metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance, and cardiovascular risk in diabetic and nondiabetic patients. <u>The Journal of Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> 90:5698-5703.

Safran D.G., D.A. Taira, W.H. Rogers, et al. 1998. Linking primary care performance to outcomes of care. Journal of Family Practice 47(3): 213-20.

Saudek C.D., R.L. Derr, R.R. Kalyani. 2006. Assessing glycemia in diabetes using selfmonitoring blood glucose and hemoglobin A_{1c}. Journal of the American Medical Association 295(14): 1688-1697.

Saver B.G., 1996. Whose guideline is it, anyway? <u>Archives of Family Medicine</u> 5: 532-4. Saydah S.H., J. Frandkin, C.C. Cowie, 2004. Poor control of risk factors for vascular disease among adults with previously diagnosed diabetes. <u>Journal of the American Medical Association</u> 291(3): 335-42.

Schellevis F.G., J. van der Velden, E. van de Lisdonk, et al. 1993. Comorbidity of chronic diseases in general practice. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 46(5): 469-473.

Schoen C., R. Osborn, P.T. Huynh, et al. 2005. Taking the pulse of health care systems: experiences of patients with health problems in six countries. <u>Health Affairs-web exclusive</u> November 3: w5-509-525.

Selby J.V., T. Peng, A.J. Karter, et al. 2004. High rates of co-occurrence of hypertension, elevated low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and diabetes mellitus in a large managed care population. <u>American Journal of Managed Care</u> 10(part2): 163-70.

Sharp P., S. Rainbow, 2002. Continuous glucose monitoring and haemoglobin A(1c). <u>Annals of Clinical Biochemistry</u> 39(5): 516-7.

Shiffman R.N., G. Michel, A. Essaihi, E. Thornquist. 2004. Bridging the guideline implementation gap: A systematic, document-centered approach to guideline implementation. Journal of The American Medical Informatics Association 11(5): 418-26.

Siegel J.E., A.S. Krolewski, J.H. Warram, et al. 1992. Cost-effectiveness of screening and early treatment of nephropathy in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. <u>Journal of the American Society of Nephrology</u> 3: S111-9.

Simon G.E., 2001. Treating depression in patients with chronic disease. <u>Western Journal of</u> <u>Medicine</u> 175:292-3.

Simpson S.H., P. Corabian, P. Jacobs, J.A. Johnson. 2003. The cost of major co-morbidity in people with diabetes mellitus. <u>Canadian Medical Association Journal</u> 168(13): 1661-67.

Siriwardena A.N., 1995. Clinical guidelines in primary care: a survey of general practitioners' attitudes and behaviour. <u>British Journal of General Practice</u> 45: 643-647.

Smeenk F.W., L.P. de Witte, I.W. Nooyen, et al. 2000. Effects of transmural care on coordination and continuity of care. <u>Patient Education and Counseling</u> 41(1): 73-81.

Snorgaard O., P.C. Eskildsen, S. Vadstrup, et al. 1989. Diabetic ketoacidosis in Denmark: epidemiology, incidence rates, precipitating factors and mortality rates. <u>Journal of Internal Medicine</u> 226(4): 223-8.

Solomon C.G. 2003. Reducing cardiovascular risk in type 2 diabetes. <u>New England Journal of</u> <u>Medicine 348(5): 457-459.</u>

Songer T.J., 1995. <u>Disability in Diabetes</u>. Chapter in <u>Diabetes in America</u>. 2nd ed. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health. 259-82.

Sperl-Hillen J.M., P.J. O'Connor, 2005. Factors driving diabetes care improvement in a large medical group: ten years in progress. <u>The American Journal of Managed Care</u> 11(5): S177-85.

Sperl-Hillen J., P.J. O'Connor, R.R. Carlson, et al. 2000. Improving diabetes care in a large health care system: an enhanced primary care approach. <u>Joint Commission Journal on Quality</u> <u>Improvement</u> 26(11): 615-22.

Stamler J., O. Vaccaro, J.D. Neaton, et al. 1993. Diabetes, other risk factors, and 12-yr cardiovascular mortality for men screened in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 16: 434-44.

Stelfox, H.Y., S. Palmisani, C. Scurlock, et al. 2006. The "To Err is Human" report and the patient safety literature. <u>Quality and Safety in Health Care</u> 15:174-8.

Stokes T., C. Tarrant, A.G. Mainous III, et al. 2005. Continuity of care: is the person doctor still important? A survey of general practitioners and family physicians in England and Wales, the United States, and the Netherlands. <u>Annals of Family Medicine</u> 3(4): 353-9.

Stolar M.W. and the Endocrine Fellows Foundation Study Group. 1995. Clinical management of the NIDDM Patient. Impact of the American Diabetes Association practice guidelines, 1985-1993. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 18(5): 701-707.

Sundström J., U. Risérus, L. Byberg, et al. 2006. Clinical value of the metabolic syndrome for long term prediction of total cardiovascular mortality: prospective, population based cohort study. <u>British Medical Journal</u> doi:10.1136/bmj.38766.624097.1F.

Svoren B.M., D. Butler, B. Levine, et al. 2003. Reducing Acute Outcomes in Youth With Type 1 Diabetes: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. <u>Pediatrics</u> 112(4): 914-22.

Tan M.H., D.R. MacLean, 1995. Epidemiology of diabetes mellitus in Canada. <u>Clinical</u> <u>Investigative Medicine</u> 18: 240-6.

Testa M.A., D.C. Simonson, 1998. Health economic benefits and quality of life during improved glycaemic control in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized, controlled, double-blind trial. Journal of the American Medical Association 280: 1490-6.

Thomas J.W., J.J. Holloway, K.E. Guire, 1993. Validating risk-adjusted mortality as an indicator for quality of care. <u>Inquiry</u> 30(1): 6-22.

Tierney W.M., 2001. Improving clinical decisions and outcomes with information: a review. International Journal of Medical Informatics 62: 1-9.

To T., J.R. Curtis, D. Daneman, 2003. Diabetes in Children: In Hux J.E., G.L. Booth, P.M. Slaughter, A. Laupacis (eds). <u>Diabetes in Ontario: An ICES Practice Atlas</u>, Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. 12.219 - 12.230.

Toth E.L., K.C. Lee, R.M. Couch, et al. 1997. High incidence of IDDM over 6 years in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. <u>Diabetes Care 20(3):311-3</u>.

TRIAD Study Group, 2002. The translating research into action for diabetes (TRIAD) study: A multicenter study of diabetes in managed care. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 25(2): 386-9.

Tsai, A.C., S.C. Morton, C.M. Mangione, E.B. Keeler. 2005. A meta-analysis of interventions to improve care for chronic illnesses. <u>The American Journal of Managed Care</u> 11:478-88.

Tu J.V., P.C. Austin, R. Walld, et al. 2001. Development and validation of the Ontario acute myocardial infarction mortality prediction rules. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 37(4): 992-7.

Tunis S.R., R.S.A. Hayward, M.C. Wilson, et al. 1994. Internists' attitudes about clinical practice guidelines. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 120(11): 956-63.

Tuomilehto J, J. Lindstrom, J.G. Eriksson, et al. 2001. Prevention of Type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 344: 1343-1350.

United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study Group. 1998a. Cost effectiveness analysis of improved blood pressure control in hypertensive patients with Type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 40. British Medical Journal 317: 720-726.

United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study Group. 1998b. Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular complications in Type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. <u>British Medical Journal</u> 317: 703-713.

Verhulst L., R.J. Reid, C.B. Forrest, 2001. Hold it – my patients are sicker! <u>BC Medical Journal</u> 43(6): 328-33.

Verhulst L. and D. Starr. 2003. *A Guide to the Interpretation of the Medical Services Plan Practitioner Profiles*. May 31, 2003. Ministry of Health and Ministry Responsible for Seniors (See appendix 6a). Villagra V.G., T. Ahmed, 2004. Effectiveness of a disease management program for patients with diabetes. <u>Health Affairs</u> 23(4): 255.

Vinik A.I., E.M. Raelene, 2003. Diabetic autonomic neuropathy. Diabetes Care 26(5): 1553-79.

Wagner E.H., N. Sandhu, K.M. Newton, et al. 2001. Effect of improved glycaemic control on health care costs and utilization. Journal of the American Medical Association 285(2): 182-189.

Wagner H., B.T. Austin, M. Von Korff, 1996. Organizing care for patients with chronic illness. <u>The Milbank Quarterly</u> 74(4): 511-44.

Ward M.M., T.E. Vaughn, T. Uden-Holman, et al. 2002. Physician knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding a widely implemented guideline. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice 8(2): 155-62.

Wasson J.H., A.E. Sauvigne, R.P. Mogielnicki, et al. 1984. Continuity of outpatient medical care in elderly men. A randomized trial. Journal of the American Medical Association 252(17): 2413-7.

Watson D.E., H. Krueger, D. Mooney, C. Black, 2005. Planning for renewal mapping primary health care in British Columbia. <u>Centre for Health Services and Policy Research</u>

Watson D., B. Bogdanovic, P. Heppner, et al. 2003. <u>Supply, Availability and Use of Family</u> <u>Physicians in Winnipeg.</u> Manitoba Centre for Health Policy.

Weinberger M., S.J, Cohen, S.A. Mazzuca, 1984. The role of physicians' knowledge and attitudes in effective diabetes management. <u>Social Science and Medicine</u> 19(9): 965-9.

Weiner J.P., C. Abrams, A. Millman, 2005. The Johns Hopkins ACG Case-Mix System: Reference Manual Version 7.0. Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health

Weingarten S., E. Stone, R. Hayward, et al. 1995. The adoption of preventative care practice guidelines by primary care physicians: Do actions match intentions? <u>Journal of General Internal</u> <u>Medicine</u> 10: 138-44.

Weinstein A.R., H.D. Sesso, I.M. Lee, et al. 2004. Relationship of physical activity vs. body mass index with Type 2 diabetes in women. Journal of the American Medical Association 292 (10): 1188-1194.

Weiss L.J., J. Blustein, 1996. Faithful patients: the effect of long-term physician-patient relationships on the costs and use of health care by older Americans. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> 86(12): 1742-7.

Wennberg, J., A. Gittelsohn, 1973. Small area variation in health care delivery. <u>Science</u> 142: 1102-8.
Wennberg J.E., 1984. Dealing with medical practice variations: A proposal for action. <u>Health</u> <u>Affairs</u> 3: 6-32.

Wennberg J.E., J.L. Freeman, W.J. Culp, 1987. Are hospital services rationed in New Haven or over-utilised in Boston? <u>Lancet</u> 1(8543): 1185-1189.

Wennberg J.E., L. Blowers, R. Parker, et al. 1977. Changes in tonsillectomy rates associated with feedback and review. <u>Pediatrics</u> 59(6): 821-826.

Weyrauch K.F., 1996. Does continuity of care increase HMO patients' satisfaction with physician performance? Journal of the American Board of Family Practice 9(1): 31-6.

White J.R. Jr., 2002. Economic considerations in treating patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. <u>American Journal of Health-System Pharmacists</u> 59(Suppl 9): 514-517.

WHO Consultation. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Part 1: Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus*. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1999.

Wibell L., L. Nyström, J. Östman, et al. 2001. Increased mortality in diabetes during the first 10 years of the disease. A population-based study (DISS) in Swedish adults 15-34 years old at diagnosis. Journal of Internal Medicine 249: 263-270.

Wilder R.P., S. Majumbar, S. Klarenbach, et al. 2005. Socio-economic status and undiagnosed diabetes. <u>Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice</u>. 70:26-30.

Williams R., L. Van Gaal, C. Lucioni, 2002. Assessing the impact of complications on the costs of Type II diabetes. <u>Diabetologica</u> 45: S13-S17.

Williams S.V., 2005. Improving patient care can set your brain on fire. <u>Annals of Internal</u> <u>Medicine</u> 143(4): 305-6.

Wilson, E.B., 1927. "Probable Inference, the law of succession, and statistical inference". Journal of American Statistical Association 22: 209-12.

Wishner W.J., K.E. Lutfey, 2000. Response to Glasgow and Anderson. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 23(7): 1034-5.

Woodward G., C. van Walraven, J.E. Hux. 2006. Utilization and outcomes of HbA_{1c} testing: a population-based study. <u>Canadian Medical Association Journal</u> 174(3): 327-329.

Wolfe R.M., L.K. Sharp, R.M. Wang. 2004. Family physicians' opinions and attitudes to three clinical practice guidelines. Journal of the American Board of Family Practice 17(2): 150-157.

Wolff J., B. Starfield, G. Anderson. 2002. Prevalence, expenditures, and complications of multiple chronic conditions in the elderly. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 162: 2269-76.

Wolff M., D.J. Bower, A.M. Marbella, et al. 1998. U.S. family physicians' experiences with practice guidelines. <u>Family Medicine</u> 30(2): 117-21.

Wolfsdorf J.I., 1999. Improving Diabetes Control in Adolescents. Diabetes Care 22(11): 1767-8.

Woolf S.H., 1990. Practice guidelines: A new reality in medicine. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u> 150: 1811-1818.

Woolf S.H., 1995. Practice guidelines: What the family physician should know. <u>American</u> Family Physician 51(6): 1455-1463.

Woolf S.H., R. Grol, A. Hutchinson, et al. 1999. Clinical guidelines: Potential benefits, limitations, and harms of clinical guidelines. <u>British Medical Journal</u> 318(7182): 527-530.

Worral G., N. Moultan, 1992. The ratio of diagnosed to undiagnosed diabetes in patients 40 years and older. <u>Canadian Journal of Public Health</u> 83(5): 379-81.

Wysocki T., A. Taylor, B.S. Hough, et al. 1996. Deviation from developmentally appropriate self-care autonomy. Association with diabetes outcomes. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 19(2): 119-25.

Young M.J., A.J. Boulton, A.F. MacLeod, et al. 1993. A multicentre study of the prevalence of diabetic peripheral neuropathy in the United Kingdom hospital clinic population. <u>Diabetologia</u> 36(2): 150-4.

Young T.K., C.A. Mustard, 2001. Undiagnosed diabetes: Does it matter? <u>Canadian Medical</u> <u>Association Journal</u> 164(1): 24 - 28.

Yusuf S., 2002. Two decades of progress in preventing vascular disease. The Lancet 360:2-3.

Zhang P., M.M. Engelgau, S.L. Norris, et al. 2004. Application of Economic Analysis to Diabetes and Diabetes Care. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u> 140(11): 972-977.

Appendix A: Allocation of ACGs Into Morbidity Levels

The following ACGs were allocated into each of the five categories:

- Level 1 Very low co-morbidity
- Level 2 Low co-morbidity (2 or 3 types of conditions)
- Level 3 Medium co-morbidity (4 or 5 types of conditions)
- Level 4 High co-morbidity (6 to 9 types of conditions)
- Level 5 Very high co-morbidity (10+ types of conditions)

Level 1 – Very low co-morbidity

- o 0100 Acute Minor, Age 1
- o 0200 Acute Minor, Age 2-5
- o 0300 Acute Minor, Age 6+
- o 0400 Acute: Major
- o 0500 Likely to Recur, without Allergies
- o 0600 Likely to Recur, with Allergies
- o 0700 Asthma
- o 0800 Chronic Medical, Unstable
- o 0900 Chronic Medical, Stable
- o 1000 Chronic Specialty
- o 1100 Eye/Dental
- o 1200 Chronic Specialty, Unstable
- o 1300 Psychosocial, without Psychosocial: Unstable
- o 1400 Psychosocial, with Psychosocial: Unstable, without Psychosocial: Stable
- o 1500 Psychosocial, with Psychosocial: Unstable and Psychosocial: Stable
- o 1600 Preventive/Administrative

Level 2 – Low co-morbidity (2 or 3 types of conditions)

- o 1800 Acute Major and Acute Minor
- o 1900 Acute Minor and Likely to Recur, Age 1
- o 2000 Acute Minor and Likely to Recur, Age 2-5
- o 2100 Acute Minor and Likely to Recur, Age > 5, without Allergy
- o 2200 Acute Minor and Likely to Recur, Age > 5, with Allergy
- o 2300 Chronic Medical: Stable and Acute Minor
- o 2400 Eye/Dental and Acute Minor
- o 2500 Psychosocial without Psychosocial: Unstable and Acute Minor
- 2600 Psychosocial with Psychosocial: Unstable, without Psychosocial: Stable and Acute Minor

- 2700 Psychosocial with Psychosocial: Unstable and Psychosocial: Stable and Acute Minor
- o 2800 Acute Major and Likely to Recur
- o 2900 Acute Major/Acute Minor/Likely to Recur, Age 1
- o 3000 Acute Major/Acute Minor/Likely to Recur, Age 2-5
- o 3100 Acute Major/Acute Minor/Likely to Recur, Age 6-11
- o 3200 Acute Major/Acute Minor/Likely to Recur, Age> 12, without Allergy
- o 3300 Acute Major/Acute Minor/Likely to Recur, Age> 12, with Allergy
- 3400 Eye & Dental/Acute Minor/Likely to Recur
- o 3500 Psychosocial/Acute Minor/Likely to Recur
- 3800 2-3 Other ADG Combinations, Age < 17
- o 3900 2-3 Other ADG Combinations, Males Age 18-34
- o 4000 2-3 Other ADG Combinations, Females Age 18-34
- 4100 2-3 Other ADG Combinations, Age > 34

Level 3 – Medium co-morbidity (4 or 5 types of conditions)

- o 3600 Chronic Medical: Stable/Acute Major/Likely to Recur/Acute Minor
- o 3700 Psychosocial/Acute Minor/Acute Major/Likely to Recur
- o 4210 4-5 Other ADG Combinations, Age 1-17, no major ADG
- o 4220 4-5 Other ADG Combinations, Age 1-17, 1+ major ADGs
- o 4310 4-5 Other ADG Combinations, Age 18-44, no major ADG
- o 4320 4-5 Other ADG Combinations, Age 18-44, 1 major ADG
- o 4330 4-5 Other ADG Combinations, Age 18-44, 2+ major ADGs
- 4410 4-5 Other ADG Combinations, Age > 45, no major ADG
- o 4420 4-5 Other ADG Combinations, Age > 45, 1 major ADG
- 4430 4-5 Other ADG Combinations, Age > 45, 2+ major ADGs

Level 4 – High co-morbidity (6 to 9 types of conditions)

- o 4510 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Age 1-5, no major ADG
- o 4520 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Age 1-5, 1+ major ADGs
- o 4610 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Age 6-17, no major ADG
- 4620 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Age 6-17, 1+ major ADGs
- o 4710 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Males Age 18-34, no major ADG
- o 4720 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Males Age 18-34, 1 major ADG
- o 4730 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Males Age 18-34, 2+ major ADGs
- o 4810 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Females Age 18-34, no major ADG
- o 4820 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Females Age 18-34, 1 major ADG
- o 4830 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Females Age 18-34, 2+ major ADGs
- 4910 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Age > 35, 0-1 major ADG
- 4920 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Age > 35, 2 major ADGs
- 4930 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Age > 35, 3 major ADGs
- 4940 6-9 Other ADG Combinations, Age > 35, 4+ major ADGs

Level 5 – Very high co-morbidity (10+ types of conditions)

- o 5010 10+ Other ADG Combinations, Age 1-17, no major ADG
- o 5020 10+ Other ADG Combinations, Age 1-17, 1 major ADG
- o 5030 10+ Other ADG Combinations, Age 1-17, 2+ major ADGs
- 5040 10+ Other ADG Combinations, Age >18, 0-1 major ADG
- o 5050 10+ Other ADG Combinations, Age >18, 2 major ADGs
- o 5060 10+ Other ADG Combinations, Age >18, 3 major ADGs
- 5070 10+ Other ADG Combinations, Age >18, 4+ major ADGs

Appendix B: PROSSER's Algorithm

The following SPSS algorithm was developed by Dr. Bob Prosser specifically for this study. It produces bootstrap samples, computes proportions of 1s for 5 indicator variables and tests 3 trend components (linear, quadratic and cubic) for these proportions. The significance testing performed in the algorithm takes into account the dependence among the proportions.

*** Step 1: Open your data file. (The following GET FILE command is an example.)

GET FILE='K:\December 7 (N=20,242).sav'.

*** Step 2: Create a folder c:\testing on your c:\ drive.

***** Step 3**: Chose the five variables you will work with (e.g. HbA1c for each of the five years) and insert their names in in the following commands.

*** Then run these commands.

compute var1a = HbA1c1. compute var2a = HbA1c2. compute var3a = HbA1c3. compute var4a = HbA1c4. compute var5a = HbA1c5. execute.

*** Step 4: create a new variable called ONE in your data file.

compute one = 1. execute.

******* Step 5: Save the data file in c:\testing . (The following is an example.)

SAVE OUTFILE='C:\testing\boot_test.sav'.

***** Step 6**: Define the macro for doing the bootstrap sampling and computation of proportions by.

*** running the following commands (i.e., every line from DEFINE to !ENDDEFINE, inclusive).

DEFINE trend_test_bootstrap (samples=!TOKENS(1) /size =!CMDEND)

!DO !other=1 !TO !samples

SET SEED RANDOM. WEIGHT OFF. FILTER OFF. DO IF \$casenum=1. - COMPUTE #samplesize=!size. - COMPUTE #filesize=!size. END IF. DO IF (#samplesize>0 and #filesize>0). - COMPUTE sampleWeight=rv.binom(#samplesize, 1/#filesize). - COMPUTE #samplesize=#samplesize-sampleWeight. - COMPUTE #filesize=#filesize-1. ELSE. - COMPUTE sampleWeight=0. END IF.

WEIGHT BY sampleWeight. FILTER BY sampleWeight.

MEANS TABLES = var1a var2a var3a var4a var5a BY one /CELLS MEAN .

!DOEND !ENDDEFINE.

***** Step 7**: Run the following commands to set up a file (called out1.sav) to collect up the output from each bootstrap iteration.

*** These OMS commands tell SPSS to save all the output tables from the MEANS procedure into a file for use as data later.

PRESERVE. SET TVARS NAMES.

* The first OMS command just suppresses Viewer output.

OMS /DESTINATION VIEWER=NO /TAG='suppressall'.

* Select MEANS output table and write to data file called c:\testing\out1.sav.

OMS

/SELECT TABLES
/IF COMMANDS = ["Means"]
SUBTYPES = ["Report"]
/DESTINATION FORMAT = SAV NUMBERED = TableNumber_
OUTFILE = "C:\testing\out1.sav".

*** **Step 8**: Call the macro defined earlier, and specify number of samples to draw. *** Usually we'd set samples = 1000. *** Also, specify the number of cases in your original data file: size = # of cases.

trend_test_bootstrap samples=1000 size = 20242.

* The OMSEND command finishes up the writing of the data to out1.sav .

OMSEND.

*** Step 9: Open and clean up the output file.

GET FILE 'c:\testing\out1.sav'.

select if (substr(var1,1,1) = '1').
rename variables (tablenumber_ = sample_number).
execute.
delete variables command_ subtype_ label_ var1 var2.

SAVE OUTFILE = "C:\testing\out1.sav".

*** Step 10: Compute the values of linear, quadratic & cubic trends in the five proportions.

compute linear = 2 * var5a + var4a - var2a - (2 * var1a). compute quad = 2 * var5a + 2 * var1a - var4a - var2a - (2 * var3a). compute cubic = var5a + (2 * var2a) - var1a - (2 * var4a).

formats linear quad cubic (f8.4).

***** Step 11**: Test the significance of each component of trend by looking at the sampling distributions.

*** and tail cutoff values of the three statistics.

FREQUENCIES

VARIABLES= linear quad cubic /FORMAT NOTABLE /STATISTICS = MEAN STDDEV /PERCENTILES= 2.5 97.5 /HISTOGRAM NORMAL.

RESTORE. *********

Appendix C: Description of Individual Adherence Variables

Haemoglobin A1c Test

Information on the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received two or more HbA1c tests per fiscal year is provided in table C-1. The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received two or more HbA1c tests per fiscal year increased from 34.8% in 1996/97 to 51.7% in 2000/01. The difference between these two proportions is highly significant (McNemar test, Chi-square = 1,434, p<.001). Indeed, a significant increase was observed in each year (p<.001).

Table	C-1	Propo	ortion	of Adu	ults wi	th Dia	agnos	ed Ty	pe 2 l	Diabe	tes				
		Rec	eiving	2 OF IV	ore Ho	ATCT	ests pe	er year							
	0/	1996/97		0/	1997/98		0/	1998/99		0/	1999/00		0/	2000/01	
	%	95%	6 CI	%	95%	6 CI	%	95%	% CI	%	95%	% CI	%	95%	6 CI
Total Population	34.7%	34.1%	35.3%	43.0%	42.4%	43.7%	45.7%	45.0%	46.3%	49.2%	48.5%	49.8%	51.0%	50.3%	51.6%
By Sex															
Female	35.2%	34.3%	36.1%	43.6%	42.6%	44.5%	45.3%	44.3%	46.2%	49.5%	48.5%	50.4%	51.0%	50.0%	51.9%
Male	34.3%	33.5%	35.1%	42.5%	41.6%	43.4%	49.4%	48.5%	50.3%	48.9%	48.0%	49.8%	51.0%	50.1%	51.9%
By Age															
20-29	26.4%	22.4%	30.9%	36.5%	31.7%	41.6%	37.9%	32.5%	43.6%	43.1%	37.0%	49.4%	35.4%	29.0%	42.5%
30-39	27.1%	24.8%	29.5%	37.1%	34.4%	39.8%	38.7%	35.8%	41.6%	41.3%	38.2%	44.4%	45.1%	41.9%	48.5%
40-49	30.2%	28.7%	31.8%	39.8%	38.2%	41.6%	42.1%	40.3%	43.9%	45.1%	43.2%	47.0%	45.0%	43.0%	47.0%
50-59	33.5%	32.2%	34.8%	41.5%	40.2%	42.9%	45.9%	44.6%	47.3%	49.5%	48.1%	50.9%	50.6%	49.2%	52.0%
60-69	38.5%	37.3%	39.6%	46.1%	44.9%	47.3%	48.3%	47.1%	49.5%	51.9%	50.7%	53.2%	55.4%	54.2%	56.6%
70-79	37.9%	36.5%	39.3%	46.1%	44.7%	47.5%	47.5%	46.1%	48.8%	50.8%	49.5%	52.1%	53.4%	52.1%	54.7%
80+	31.0%	28.3%	33.9%	37.0%	34.4%	39.7%	40.9%	38.5%	43.4%	44.8%	42.6%	47.1%	43.0%	41.0%	45.1%
By Socio-Economic Status															
Quintile 1 (Low)	32.5%	31.1%	33.8%	40.0%	38.7%	41.5%	42.8%	41.4%	44.2%	47.2%	45.8%	48.5%	49.4%	48.0%	50.8%
Quintile 2	33.5%	32.1%	34.8%	42.1%	40.8%	43.6%	44.1%	42.7%	45.5%	48.0%	46.6%	49.4%	49.2%	47.8%	50.6%
Quintile 3	35.2%	33.9%	36.5%	43.4%	42.0%	44.7%	45.5%	44.2%	46.9%	49.8%	48.4%	51.2%	52.1%	50.7%	53.5%
Quintile 4	37.1%	35.7%	38.6%	45.9%	44.4%	47.4%	48.9%	47.5%	50.4%	50.2%	48.8%	51.7%	51.4%	49.9%	52.8%
Quintile 5 (High)	38.2%	36.4%	40.1%	45.6%	43.8%	47.4%	49.4%	47.6%	51.2%	52.5%	50.6%	54.3%	54.8%	53.0%	56.6%
By Morbidity	00.00/	05 404	o . oo/	05.00/			10 -01	0.5. 30/	10 00/	00.00/	a . aa/				=0.00/
Very Low	29.9%	25.4%	34.9%	35.6%	30.8%	40.8%	40.7%	35.7%	46.0%	39.9%	34.9%	45.1%	47.0%	41.9%	52.2%
Low	32.2%	30.4%	34.2%	40.9%	38.9%	42.9%	40.6%	38.6%	42.6%	45.5%	43.5%	47.6%	48.4%	46.4%	50.4%
Medium	33.1%	31.8%	34.4%	40.8%	39.4%	42.2%	44.3%	42.9%	45.7%	47.0%	40.2%	49.0%	49.0%	48.2%	51.1%
High Ver / High	35.0%	34.0%	30.0%	44.7%	43.0%	45.8%	47.3%	40.2%	48.3%	51.3%	50.3%	52.4%	52.0%	50.9%	53.1%
very High	30.2%	35.1%	37.4%	43.9%	42.0%	43.1%	47.0%	45.0%	40.2%	49.0%	40.4%	50.0%	52.1%	50.9%	55.5%
By Disease-Specific Severity Index															
No Complications	32.7%	31.6%	33.8%	40.0%	38.9%	41.2%	42.8%	41.7%	44.0%	45.0%	43.9%	46.2%	47.6%	46.4%	48.8%
1 or More Minor Complications	33.3%	32.3%	34.4%	43.0%	41.9%	44.1%	45.5%	44.4%	46.6%	50.3%	49.2%	51.5%	51.5%	50.3%	52.6%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	37.2%	36.1%	38.3%	45.3%	44.1%	46.4%	47.7%	46.6%	48.9%	51.6%	50.5%	52.8%	53.1%	52.0%	54.3%
1 Major Complication	36.0%	31.7%	40.7%	45.5%	40.9%	50.2%	47.8%	43.1%	52.5%	48.5%	43.8%	53.2%	47.8%	43.1%	52.5%
2 or More Major Complications	44.4%	40.5%	48.5%	48.6%	44.7%	52.7%	55.2%	51.2%	59.2%	53.7%	49.7%	57.7%	59.6%	55.6%	63.5%
Pu Potiont Popidanoa															
LUA 202 S Surroy / WP	27 20/	24 50/	40.0%	52 6%	10 00/	55 A0/	E4 70/	51 00/	57 5%	56 6%	F2 0%	50 404	60.0%	50 20/	62 6%
LHA 202 - S. Sulley / WR	37.2%	34.5%	40.0%	20.6%	49.0%	35.4%	04.7 %	51.9%	57.5%	30.0%	53.9%	09.4%	47.00/	00.2%	40.20/
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	16.8%	11 1%	2/ 1%	32.0%	24 0%	41.0 %	30.5%	40.1%	42.7 /0	43.0%	35.6%	40.9 %	47.0%	38.8%	49.2 /0
LHA 075 - Mission	23.7%	20.5%	27.1%	32.0%	24.3%	36.7%	38 1%	34.6%	40.270	38 / %	34.6%	12 3%	47.0%	13 5%	51 1%
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	38.0%	36.2%	30.8%	44 7%	42.8%	46.6%	48.4%	46.5%	50.3%	52 3%	50.4%	54 2%	52.9%	51 0%	54.8%
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	32.1%	29.5%	34.9%	38.8%	36.1%	41 7%	38.2%	35.5%	41 0%	44.2%	41 5%	47 1%	43.8%	41 0%	46.6%
LHA 041 - Burnaby	41 1%	39.5%	42.6%	47.8%	46.2%	49.4%	50.8%	49.2%	52.4%	55.0%	53.4%	56.6%	56.0%	54 4%	57.6%
LHA 040 - New Westminster	37.1%	34.3%	40.1%	47.8%	44.9%	50.8%	50.5%	47.5%	53.5%	54.4%	51.4%	57.3%	54.9%	52.0%	57.9%
LHA 037 - Delta	35.3%	33.0%	37.7%	43.0%	40.6%	45.4%	45.3%	42.9%	47.8%	49.6%	47.1%	52.1%	52.9%	50.4%	55.4%
LHA 035 - Langlev	37.8%	35.5%	40.1%	46.4%	44.1%	48.8%	47.2%	44.9%	49.5%	52.4%	50.0%	54.7%	53.4%	51.1%	55.7%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	29.7%	27.8%	31.7%	38.5%	36.5%	40.6%	43.1%	41.0%	45.2%	42.4%	40.4%	44.6%	44.0%	42.0%	46.2%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	26.1%	23.7%	28.7%	39.5%	36.8%	42.3%	45.1%	42.3%	47.9%	46.9%	44.1%	49.7%	47.7%	45.0%	50.6%
LHA 032 - Hope	40.4%	32.8%	48.5%	34.4%	27.3%	42.3%	35.3%	28.1%	43.3%	41.3%	33.8%	49.3%	47.4%	39.7%	55.3%

Eye Exam

Information on the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least one eye exam per fiscal year is provided in table C-2. The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least one eye exam per fiscal year increased from 35.9% in 1996/97 to 39.4% in 2000/01. The difference between these two proportions is highly significant (McNemar test, Chi-square = 70, p<.001). Unlike the results for two or more HbA1c tests, the changes over time for an annual eye exam are more mixed. A significant increase in the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least one eye exam per fiscal year was seen between 1996/97 and 1997/98 (McNemar test, Chi-square = 101, p<.001). After 1997/98, no significant changes in the proportion were observed in any of the following years (compared to 1997/98).

Table	C-2	Prop Rec	ortion eiving	of Ad At Lea	lults w st One	/ith Di Eye E	agnos xam p	sed Ty er Yea	ype 2 r	Diabe	etes				
		1996/97	,		1997/98	3		1998/99)		1999/00)		2000/01	
	%	95%	6 CI	%	95%	% CI	%	95%	∕₀ CI	%	95%	% CI	%	95%	6 CI
Total Population	36.9%	36.3%	37.6%	40.9%	40.3%	41.6%	40.4%	39.8%	41 1%	41.3%	40.6%	41.9%	39.3%	38 7%	39.9%
By Sex	00.070	00.070	01.070	10.070	10.070			00.070			10.070		00.070	00.170	00.070
Female	39.5%	38.6%	40.4%	43.3%	42.4%	44.3%	42.5%	41.5%	43.4%	43.5%	42.6%	44.5%	41.3%	40.3%	42.2%
Male	34.6%	33.8%	35.5%	38.9%	38.0%	39.7%	38.6%	37.7%	39.5%	39.3%	38.4%	40.1%	37.6%	36.7%	38.4%
By Age															
20-29	30.8%	26.5%	35.4%	32.9%	28.2%	37.9%	32.8%	27.6%	38.4%	36.0%	30.2%	42.2%	24.9%	19.3%	31.5%
30-39	25.5%	23.3%	27.9%	29.5%	21.0%	32.1%	21.4%	24.8%	30.1%	29.3%	26.6%	32.2%	29.1%	26.2%	32.2%
40-49	20.1%	20.0%	29.0%	35.7%	31.0%	37.0%	35.2%	29.0%	36.5%	35 3%	30.3%	36.7%	29.5%	21.1%	31.4%
60.69	30.8%	38.7%	JZ.7 /0	JJ.1 /0	12 0%	15 3%	13 1%	12 2%	14 6%	1/ 8%	13.6%	46.0%	11 6%	10 1%	12 8%
70-79	47.5%	46.0%	48.9%	49.2%	47.8%	50.6%	48.1%	46.8%	49.5%	47.4%	46.1%	48.7%	47.1%	45.8%	48.3%
80+	47.7%	44.7%	50.8%	48.7%	46.0%	51.5%	46.6%	44.2%	49.1%	46.3%	44.0%	48.6%	41.9%	39.9%	43.9%
		, .													
By Socio-Economic Status															
Quintile 1 (Low)	35.9%	34.5%	37.3%	40.9%	39.5%	42.3%	39.9%	38.5%	41.3%	40.9%	39.6%	42.3%	40.1%	38.7%	41.5%
Quintile 2	36.5%	35.1%	37.9%	40.1%	38.7%	41.5%	40.1%	38.7%	41.4%	40.6%	39.3%	42.0%	39.4%	38.0%	40.7%
Quintile 3	35.5%	34.1%	36.8%	39.6%	38.3%	41.0%	39.0%	37.7%	40.4%	40.9%	39.6%	42.3%	38.1%	36.7%	39.5%
Quintile 4	38.6%	37.1%	40.1%	42.7%	41.2%	44.1%	41.8%	40.4%	43.3%	41.4%	39.9%	42.8%	40.2%	38.8%	41.6%
Quintile 5 (High)	39.1%	37.3%	41.0%	42.0%	40.3%	43.8%	42.6%	40.9%	44.4%	42.9%	41.1%	44.8%	38.9%	37.1%	40.7%
De March Lille															
By Morbiality	21 70/	17 70/	26.20/	22.20/	10 20/	26.0%	16 50/	12 00/	20.00/	17.00/	14 20/	22.20/	27 10/	22 70/	22.00/
Very Low	21.7%	17.7%	20.3%	22.2%	18.2%	20.9%	10.5%	13.0%	20.8%	17.9%	14.3%	22.3%	27.1%	22.7%	32.0%
Low	20.3%	20.5%	30.1%	31.1%	29.3%	35.0%	27.9%	20.1%	29.7%	29.4%	27.0%	36.0%	3/ 0%	33.6%	36.3%
High	38.3%	23.0%	30 1%	12.8%	/1 8%	13 0%	12.3%	11 1%	13 5%	13 2%	12 1%	11 2%	10 2%	30.0%	11 3%
Very High	43.7%	42.6%	44.9%	47.9%	46.8%	49.1%	49.4%	48.2%	50.6%	49.4%	48.2%	50.6%	44.4%	43.3%	45.6%
t or y t light					10.070			10.270	00.070		10.270	00.070		10.070	.0.070
By Disease-Specific Severity Index															
No Complications	30.0%	29.0%	31.1%	32.8%	31.7%	33.9%	30.1%	29.1%	31.2%	31.2%	30.1%	32.3%	32.4%	31.3%	33.5%
1 or More Minor Complications	31.2%	30.2%	32.3%	34.9%	33.8%	35.9%	31.1%	30.1%	32.2%	32.3%	31.3%	33.4%	34.1%	33.0%	35.2%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	47.7%	46.5%	48.8%	52.9%	51.8%	54.1%	58.2%	57.0%	59.3%	58.6%	57.5%	59.7%	50.7%	49.5%	51.8%
1 Major Complication	52.4%	47.7%	57.1%	58.2%	53.5%	62.8%	58.4%	53.7%	63.0%	52.4%	47.7%	57.1%	47.6%	42.9%	52.3%
2 or More Major Complications	49.0%	45.0%	53.0%	55.9%	51.9%	59.9%	51.5%	47.5%	55.5%	53.7%	49.7%	57.7%	42.2%	38.3%	46.3%
By Detiont Booidanaa															
LUA 202 S Surroy / WP	11 204	11 104	47 0%	50 1%	47 20/	F2 0%	47 70/	11 0%	50 5 %	10 50/	45 70/	51 20 /	45 70/	12 00/	10 10/
LHA 202 - S. Sulley / WR	31.3%	30.0%	32.5%	35.0%	47.3%	36.3%	35.9%	34.6%	37.2%	40.5%	40.7 %	36.8%	45.7%	42.9%	40.4 % 37 0%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	29.8%	22.6%	38.1%	44.6%	36.4%	53.2%	44.2%	35.9%	52.8%	43.8%	35.6%	52.4%	40.3%	32.4%	48.8%
LHA 075 - Mission	33.5%	29.9%	37.3%	41.7%	37.9%	45.7%	37.4%	33.7%	41.3%	36.9%	33.2%	40.9%	36.5%	32.8%	40.3%
LHA 043 - Coguitlam	34.6%	32.9%	36.5%	39.5%	37.6%	41.3%	38.7%	36.8%	40.5%	37.8%	36.0%	39.7%	38.3%	36.5%	40.2%
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	32.2%	29.6%	35.0%	34.3%	31.7%	37.1%	30.6%	28.1%	33.3%	33.5%	30.9%	36.2%	32.0%	29.4%	34.6%
LHA 041 - Burnaby	40.0%	38.5%	41.6%	44.3%	42.7%	45.9%	43.5%	42.0%	45.1%	47.0%	45.4%	48.6%	44.7%	43.1%	46.4%
LHA 040 - New Westminster	44.9%	42.0%	47.9%	50.0%	47.1%	53.0%	51.5%	48.6%	54.5%	50.7%	47.8%	53.7%	47.3%	44.3%	50.3%
LHA 037 - Delta	34.0%	31.7%	36.4%	35.3%	33.0%	37.7%	34.6%	32.2%	37.0%	35.7%	33.4%	38.2%	34.2%	31.9%	36.7%
LHA 035 - Langley	50.1%	47.7%	52.4%	50.5%	48.1%	52.8%	53.6%	51.3%	55.9%	53.0%	50.7%	55.4%	49.2%	46.8%	51.5%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	36.6%	34.5%	38.7%	40.0%	37.9%	42.1%	37.8%	35.8%	39.9%	39.9%	37.8%	42.0%	33.6%	31.6%	35.6%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	36.8%	34.1%	39.6%	44.4%	41.6%	47.3%	43.1%	40.3%	45.9%	44.8%	42.1%	47.7%	38.5%	35.8%	41.3%
LHA 032 - Hope	25.3%	19.0%	33.0%	33.1%	26.1%	41.0%	28.0%	21.4%	35.7%	25.3%	19.1%	32.9%	37.7%	30.4%	45.5%

Microalbumin Test

Information on the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least one urinary microalbumin test per fiscal year is provided in table C-3. The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least one urinary microalbumin test per fiscal year increased from 13.2% in 1996/97 to 37.6% in 2000/01. The difference between these two proportions is highly significant (McNemar test, Chi-square = 3,280, p<.001). Indeed, a significant increase was observed in each year (p<.001).

Receiving At Least One Microalburnin Test per Year 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1996/07 1990/00 2000/01 2000/01 1806/01 2000/01 1806/01 2000/01<	Table	C-3	Prop	ortion	of Ad	ults w	ith Di	agnos	sed Ty	ype 2	Diabe	etes				
Image: biolog Image: b		R	eceivin	ig At L	east O	ne Mic	roalbu	min Te	est per	Year						
Ye 95% CI Total Population By Sax Female 12.7% 12.3% 13.2% 19.6% 19.0% 24.7% 24.7% 25.3% 26.8% 32.6% 35.2% 35.8% 36.5% By Age 20-29 16.3% 12.6% 13.8% 12.0% 13.8% 12.0% 25.3% 26.6% 26.0% 34.2% 36.8% 35.8% 36.8% 35.9% 36.8% 35.9% 36.8% 35.9% 36.8% 35.9% 36.8% 35.9% 36.8% 35.9% 36.8% 35.9% 36.8% 35.9% 36.8% 35.9% 36.8% 36.9% 36.8% 36.9% 36.8% 36.9% 36.8% 37.8% 36.8% 36.9% 36.8% 36.9% 36.8% 36.9% 36.8% 36.9% 37.8% 36.8% 36.9% 37.8% 36.8% 36.9% 36.8% 36.9% 37.8% 37.8% 36.8% <td< th=""><th></th><th></th><th>1996/97</th><th>,</th><th></th><th>1997/98</th><th>8</th><th></th><th>1998/99</th><th>)</th><th></th><th>1999/00</th><th>)</th><th></th><th>2000/01</th><th></th></td<>			1996/97	,		1997/98	8		1998/99)		1999/00)		2000/01	
Total Population By Sex Female Male 12.7% 12.3% 13.2% 19.6% 21.7% 24.2% 25.3% 32.6% 32.9% 35.9% <t< th=""><th></th><th>%</th><th>95%</th><th>6 CI</th><th>%</th><th>95%</th><th>% CI</th><th>%</th><th>95%</th><th>% CI</th><th>%</th><th>95%</th><th>% CI</th><th>%</th><th>95%</th><th>6 CI</th></t<>		%	95%	6 CI	%	95%	% CI	%	95%	% CI	%	95%	% CI	%	95%	6 CI
By Ser Earnale Earnal	Total Population	12 7%	12.3%	13.2%	19.6%	19.0%	20.1%	24 7%	24.2%	25.3%	32.6%	32.0%	33.2%	35.9%	35.2%	36.5%
Female 12.2% 11.6% 12.9% 11.8% 10.0% 10.5% 24.2% 23.4% 26.0% 30.9% 30.9% 31.8% 34.7% 33.8% 35.6% By Age 20.29 16.3% 13.1% 22.2% 22.8% 18.7% 27.4% 31.0% 26.0% 36.7% 32.4% 35.7% 36.9% 31.1% 46.5% 31.1% 46.5% 31.1% 46.5% 31.1% 46.5% 31.1% 46.5% 31.1% 46.5% 31.5% 45.5% 26.9% 25.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 2	By Sex	/0	.2.070	.0.270	10.070		20/0	/0	/0	20.070	02.070	02.070	00.270	00.070	00.270	00.070
Male 13.2% 12.6% 13.8% 20.3% 19.6% 21.0% 25.3% 24.5% 26.0% 31.4% 31.4% 35.7% 30.4% 37.8% By Age 20-29 16.3% 13.7% 22.7% 23.6% 24.5% 26.8% 24.3% 22.5% 26.8% 23.7% 25.6% 32.8% 36.7% 37.8% 46.4% 40.4% 40.4% 40.4% 40.4% 13.4% 12.3% 14.5% 21.5% 26.9% 26.9% 26.9% 35.0% 32.8% 36.7% 36.8% 40.5% 40.4% 40.4% 40.4% 40.4% 21.5% 21.6% 20.7% 26.9% 22.9% 26.5% 27.3% 20.7% 36.0% 32.6% 37.4% 40.4% 32.4% 36.4% 36.4% 36.4% 36.4% 36.4% 37.4% 36.4% 37.4% 36.4% 37.4% 37.4% 36.4% 37.4% 37.4% 36.4% 37.4% 37.4% 36.4% 37.4% 37.4% 36.4% 37.4% 37.4% 37.4% 37.4% 37.4% 37.4% 37.4% 37.4% 37.4% 3	Female	12.2%	11.6%	12.9%	18.8%	18.0%	19.5%	24.2%	23.4%	25.0%	30.9%	30.0%	31.8%	34.7%	33.8%	35.6%
By Age D <thd< th=""> D <thd< th=""> <thd< th=""></thd<></thd<></thd<>	Male	13.2%	12.6%	13.8%	20.3%	19.6%	21.0%	25.3%	24.5%	26.0%	34.2%	33.4%	35.1%	36.9%	36.1%	37.8%
20-29 16.3% 13.1% 20.2% 22.8% 18.7% 27.4% 31.0% 26.0% 36.6% 40.2% 34.2% 46.5% 38.1% 31.5% 45.2% 34.4% 04.8% 45.2% 30.9% 13.4% 12.5% 13.8% 17.7% 23.1% 20.8% 25.5% 25.8% 24.3% 25.5% 25.9% 24.9% 35.1% 32.4% 38.5% 34.3% 04.5% 50.59 14.3% 13.4% 15.3% 14.5% 12.4% 24.4% 22.6% 27.5% 25.9% 24.9% 35.1% 32.4% 38.5% 34.3% 04.5% 50.59 14.3% 13.4% 13.5% 14.5% 20.4% 22.6% 27.5% 25.9% 24.9% 35.1% 32.4% 38.5% 37.8% 39.9% 35.5% 31.5% 37.4% 38.8% 37.6% 40.0% 70.79 10.4% 9.5% 11.3% 16.6% 16.5% 17.7% 21.8% 20.7% 22.9% 26.5% 23.3% 31.1% 37.4% 38.8% 37.6% 40.0% 70.79 10.4% 9.5% 11.3% 16.6% 15.6% 17.7% 21.4% 20.5% 23.4% 22.5% 27.3% 24.9% 22.7% 34.0% 38.2% 32.4% 32.4% 22.1% 24.5% 23.4% 24.5% 23.4% 24.5% 23.4% 24.5% 24.3% 32.4% 32	By Age															
30-39 15.7% 13.8% 17.7% 22.1% 20.8% 25.5% 26.8% 23.0% 32.2% 38.1% 37.6% 34.4% 40.8% 50-59 14.3% 13.4% 15.3% 21.5% 20.4% 22.6% 27.5% 28.0% 32.0% 32.2% 38.1% 35.5% 35.2% 37.8% 39.9% 38.5% 41.3% 13.4% 15.3% 21.5% 20.4% 22.6% 27.5% 28.5% 22.9% 28.5% 27.3% 28.7% 36.2% 37.4% 38.8% 35.2% 37.6% 40.4% 32.4% 36.2% 31.1% 30.4% 32.2% 38.0% 32.2% 38.0% 32.2% 34.0% 32.4% 36.2% 31.1% 30.4% 32.4% 32.4% 32.4% 32.4% 32.4% 32.4% 32.4% 32.4% 32.4% 33.5% 34.5% 32.4% 35.5% 34.5% 32.4% 35.5% 34.5% 32.4% 35.5% 34.5% 32.4% 35.5% 32.4% 35.5% 36.5% 33.4% 32.4% 35.5% 35.5% 35.5% 35.5% 35.5%	20-29	16.3%	13.1%	20.2%	22.8%	18.7%	27.4%	31.0%	26.0%	36.6%	40.2%	34.2%	46.5%	38.1%	31.5%	45.2%
40.49 13.4% 12.3% 14.6% 21.1% 19.7% 22.6% 27.5% 28.3% 28.7% 36.5% 35.6% 33.5% 36.8% 35.5% 37.8% 39.8% 35.6% 41.3% 60-69 13.1% 12.3% 13.9% 20.6% 18.6% 21.6% 25.9% 28.4% 27.6% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 27.8% 28.5% 31.9% 32.4% 36.9% 35.5% 37.2% 38.9% 35.5% 37.2% 38.5% 36.5% 37.8% 30.9% 35.5% 37.2% 38.9% 37.5% 32.9% 38.5% 36.5% 37.8% 32.9% 35.5% 37.2% 38.5% 36.5% 37.8% 38.9% 37.5% 35.9% 38.5% 36.5% 37.8% 35.9% 3	30-39	15.7%	13.8%	17.7%	23.1%	20.8%	25.5%	26.8%	24.3%	29.5%	35.1%	32.2%	38.1%	37.6%	34.4%	40.8%
b0-59 14.3% 13.4% 15.3% 21.5% 22.6% 22.6% 24.9% 27.6% 36.2% 37.4% 39.9% 39.9% 39.5% 41.3% B0-69 13.3% 12.3% 13.9% 20.6% 15.6% 17.7% 21.9% 22.9% 28.5% 27.3% 29.7% 34.0% 32.8% 32.2% By Socio-Economic Status Quintile 1 13.0% 12.0% 14.0% 16.7% 19.8% 21.2% 21.3% 23.2% 30.9% 35.5% 31.4% 32.4% 32.4% 33.4% 32.4% 32.4% 32.4% 33.4% 32.4% 32.4% 33.4% 32.4% 33.4% 32.4% 33.4% 33.4% 33.4% 32.4% 33.8% 35.5%	40-49	13.4%	12.3%	14.6%	21.1%	19.7%	22.6%	27.5%	25.9%	29.2%	35.0%	33.2%	36.8%	38.5%	36.6%	40.5%
010-09 13.1% 12.3% 13.9% 20.0% 19.0% 21.6% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 20.7% 22.4% 21.8% 21.8% 22.4% 21.8% 21.8% 22.4% 21.8% 21.8% 21.8% 21.8% 21.8% 21.8% 21.8% 21.8% 21.8% 21.8% 21.8% 31.9% 31.3% 32.4% 33.5% 36.3% 37.1% 35.7% 38.8% 32.9% 32.5% 36.5% 31.1% 31.3% 32.5% 36.5% 31.1% 31.9% 32.5% 36.5% 31.1% 31.9% 32.5% <t< td=""><td>50-59</td><td>14.3%</td><td>13.4%</td><td>15.3%</td><td>21.5%</td><td>20.4%</td><td>22.6%</td><td>27.5%</td><td>26.3%</td><td>28.7%</td><td>36.5%</td><td>35.2%</td><td>37.8%</td><td>39.9%</td><td>38.5%</td><td>41.3%</td></t<>	50-59	14.3%	13.4%	15.3%	21.5%	20.4%	22.6%	27.5%	26.3%	28.7%	36.5%	35.2%	37.8%	39.9%	38.5%	41.3%
Bo+ 93.76 11.35 10.476 21.37 22.977 22.977 22.977 22.977 22.977 32.978 34.078 32.978 34.078 32.978 34.078 32.978 35.98 35.98 35.98 35.98 35.98 35.98 35.98 35.98 35.98 35.98 35.98 35.98 36.98 37.78 35.98 <	60-69 70-70	13.1%	12.3%	13.9%	20.6%	19.6%	21.6%	25.9%	24.9%	27.0%	30.2%	35.1%	37.4%	38.8%	37.6%	40.0%
burget	70-79	10.4%	9.5%	6 40/	0.40/	15.0%	11.170	21.0%	20.7%	22.9%	20.0%	21.3%	29.7%	34.0%	32.0%	30.2%
By Socio-Economic Status 12.4% 11.5% 13.0% 12.0% 14.0% 18.7% 17.6% 19.8% 24.4% 21.2% 23.6% 29.8% 28.5% 31.5% 34.5% 33.2% 35.9% 34.5% 33.2% 35.9% 34.5% 32.2% 35.9% 35.5% 34.5% 32.2% 35.9% 36.6% 31.2% 12.5% 12.5% 12.5% 12.5% 12.5% 12.5% 22.9% 25.8% 24.1% 25.5% 22.9% 25.8% 24.5% 27.9% 31.5% 35.3% 37.9% 38.5% 31.1% 41.1% Quintile 1 (High) 12.6% 11.4% 13.9% 12.6% 11.8% 20.4% 26.9% 21.6% 30.8% 22.9% 26.4% 32.9% 36.4% 39.9% 31.1% 41.1% Mobility Uow 13.2% 11.2% 13.0% 12.6% 14.8% 20.4% 26.9% 21.6% 30.8% 32.9% 31.9% 31.9% 31.9% 31.9% 31.9% 31.9% 31.9% 31.9% 31.9% 31.9% 31.9% 32.9% 32.4% 33.5%	00+	4.9%	3.1%	0.4%	9.4%	7.9%	11.170	12.9%	11.3%	14.770	10.9%	15.2%	10.0%	20.4%	10.0%	22.1%
Outnitie 1 (Low) 12.4% 11.5% 13.3% 18.0% 16.9% 19.1% 22.4% 23.6% 28.5% 31.1% 33.4% 32.1% 34.7% Quintile 2 13.0% 12.0% 14.0% 18.7% 17.6% 19.8% 23.2% 25.5% 32.2% 35.6% 31.1% 31.1% 41.1% 1.1% 13.0% 12.6% 14.0% 10.2% 12.6% 21.6% 21.6% 25.6% 21.4% 26.3% 35.6% 35.6% 37.0% 37.0%	By Socio-Economic Status															
Quintile 2 13.0% 12.0% 14.0% 18.7% 17.6% 19.8% 24.4% 22.2% 25.6% 32.2% 30.9% 33.5% 32.5% 35.2% 32.4% 35.9% 35.2% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9% 35.9%	Quintile 1 (Low)	12.4%	11.5%	13.3%	18.0%	16.9%	19.1%	22.4%	21.2%	23.6%	29.8%	28.5%	31.1%	33.4%	32.1%	34.7%
Quintile 3 13.3% 12.3% 14.2% 19.7% 18.6% 20.8% 25.8% 24.1% 25.8% 34.8% 32.5% 35.2% 37.2% 35.7% 37.2% 35.9% 31.1% 41.1% 12.1% 11.2% 13.4% 19.4% 12.7% 12.6% 21.4% 25.7% 24.0% 25.9% 32.5% 35.5% 35.9% 31.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 45.7% 24.1% 25.4% 34.9% 35.9% 34.9% 35.9% 34.9% 35.9% 31.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1% 41.1%	Quintile 2	13.0%	12.0%	14.0%	18.7%	17.6%	19.8%	24.4%	23.2%	25.6%	32.2%	30.9%	33.5%	34.5%	33.2%	35.9%
Quintile 4 12.5% 11.5% 13.5% 21.7% 20.5% 22.9% 26.8% 24.5% 27.1% 34.5% 36.3% 37.1% 35.7% 35.9% 39.5% By Morbidity Very Low 8.0% 5.6% 11.3% 19.9% 18.5% 21.4% 25.7% 24.8% 27.9% 33.2% 31.5% 35.7% 35.9% 39.5% By Morbidity Very Low 8.0% 5.6% 11.3% 13.0% 19.4% 18.5% 21.6% 30.8% 29.9% 25.4% 34.9% 35.9% 34.9% 37.7% 35.9% 34.9% 37.7% 40.5% Medium 12.1% 11.2% 13.0% 19.4% 18.3% 20.6% 25.1% 23.9% 26.4% 35.5% 34.2% 35.9% 34.9% 37.7% 35.9% 34.9% 37.7% 37.9	Quintile 3	13.3%	12.3%	14.2%	19.7%	18.6%	20.8%	25.3%	24.1%	26.5%	33.8%	32.5%	35.2%	37.2%	35.8%	38.6%
Quintile 5 (High) 12.6% 11.4% 13.9% 19.9% 18.5% 21.4% 26.3% 24.8% 27.9% 33.2% 31.5% 35.0% 37.7% 35.9% 31.5% 35.9% 31.5% 35.9% 31.5% 35.9% 31.5% 35.9% 31.1% 41.1% By Morbidity Very Low 8.0% 5.6% 11.3% 20.4% 18.8% 22.1% 25.7% 24.9% 25.4% 34.9% 35.9% 31.1% 40.5% Medium 12.1% 11.2% 13.0% 14.6% 20.2% 19.4% 21.1% 23.9% 26.4% 35.5% 32.9% 36.8% 39.1% 37.0% 40.9% Medium 12.7% 11.9% 13.5% 14.6% 20.2% 19.4% 21.1% 23.9% 26.3% 33.5% 32.6% 31.0% 32.9% 35.9% 34.9% 37.0% 40.9% I or More Minor Complications 13.0% 12.2% 13.8% 19.9% 19.9% 20.9% 25.3% 24.3% 26.3% 31.4% 33.3% 35.5% 36.7% 35.7% 37.9% 31.	Quintile 4	12.5%	11.5%	13.5%	21.7%	20.5%	22.9%	25.8%	24.5%	27.1%	34.9%	33.5%	36.3%	37.1%	35.7%	38.5%
By Morbiaity Very Low 8.0% 5.6% 11.3% 23.4% 19.2% 21.6% 30.8% 29.9% 24.5% 34.9% 35.9% 31.1% 41.1% Low 13.2% 11.9% 14.6% 20.4% 18.8% 22.1% 25.7% 24.0% 75.8% 34.9% 32.9% 36.9% 35.9% 40.9% High 13.3% 12.6% 14.0% 20.2% 19.4% 21.1% 23.9% 26.4% 24.5% 26.9% 36.9% 30.1% 31.5% 34.5% 35.9% 34.2% 36.9% 30.1% 32.6% 34.5% 35.9% 34.9% 37.0% 40.9% 37.7% By Disease-Specific Severity Index 12.7% 11.9% 13.2% 19.4% 18.6% 20.3% 24.8% 23.9% 26.3% 33.1% 32.0% 34.2% 36.9% 36.7% 37.9% 1 or More Intermediate Complications 12.6% 11.7% 13.2% 19.4% 18.5% 20.8% 24.2% 23.9% 26.3%	Quintile 5 (High)	12.6%	11.4%	13.9%	19.9%	18.5%	21.4%	26.3%	24.8%	27.9%	33.2%	31.5%	35.0%	37.7%	35.9%	39.5%
By Morbidity Very Low 8.0% 5.6% 11.3% 23.4% 19.2% 28.1% 25.9% 21.6% 30.8% 29.9% 25.4% 34.9% 35.9% 31.1% 41.1% Low 13.2% 11.9% 14.6% 20.4% 18.8% 22.1% 25.7% 24.0% 25.7% 34.9% 32.9% 36.8% 38.9% 37.0% 40.9% High 13.3% 12.6% 14.0% 20.2% 25.7% 23.9% 26.4% 35.5% 34.2% 36.9% 39.1% 37.0% 40.9% Very High 12.7% 11.9% 12.6% 11.9% 12.4% 17.5% 19.3% 24.8% 23.9% 26.3% 33.1% 32.0% 36.7% 35.9% 38.1% 37.0% 35.9% 38.1% 37.0% 36.5% 36.7% 37.9% 36.7% 37.9% 36.7% 37.9% 36.7% 37.9% 36.7% 37.9% 36.7% 36.7% 36.7% 36.7% 36.7% 36.7% 36.7% 36																
Low 13.0% 11.3% 23.4% 19.2% 23.4% 21.5% 23.4% 21.5% 23.4% 24.9% 32.9% 36.9% 31.1% 41.1% Medium 12.1% 11.2% 13.0% 19.4% 18.8% 22.1% 23.9% 26.4% 35.5% 34.2% 36.9% 31.1% 40.9% High 13.3% 12.6% 14.0% 20.2% 19.4% 11.9% 25.4% 24.4% 26.3% 33.5% 32.5% 34.9% 32.9% 30.1% 32.6% 31.9% 31.5% 34.9% 37.9% Very High 12.7% 11.9% 13.5% 18.4% 17.5% 19.3% 23.4% 22.4% 24.3% 26.3% 33.1% 32.0% 34.2% 31.5% 35.7% 35.	By Morbidity	0.00/	F C0/	11 20/	00 40/	10.00/	20.40/	25.00/	24 00/	20.00/	20.00/	25 40/	24.00/	25.00/	24 40/	44 40/
Luw 12.2% 11.3% 14.3% 20.4% 16.2% 21.7% 24.3% 21.7% 24.3% 25.9% 36.5% 36.7% 35.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 37.0% 40.5% 20.4% 22.4% 24.4% 26.3% 33.4% 32.0% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 35.7% 37.9% 40.5% 36.5% 34.4% 33.3% 35.5% 3	Very Low	8.0%	5.0%	11.3%	23.4%	19.2%	28.1%	25.9%	21.0%	30.8%	29.9%	25.4%	34.9%	35.9%	31.1%	41.1%
High 12.1% 11.2% 10.4% 16.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 10.4% 11.2% 11.4% 10.4% 11.2% 11.4%	Low	13.2%	11.9%	14.0%	20.4%	10.0%	22.1%	25.7%	24.0%	27.0%	35.5%	34.2%	36.0%	30.9%	37.0%	40.9%
Ingrit 12.0% 12.0% 13.5% 26.2% 17.5% 21.1% 23.4% 24.5% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5% 31.5% 31.5% 31.5% 33.7% By Disease-Specific Severity Index No Complications 13.0% 12.2% 13.8% 19.9% 19.0% 20.4% 23.4% 24.5% 29.0% 28.0% 31.5% 31.7% 35.5% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 35.7% 37.9% 1 or More Intermediate Complications 12.5% 11.8% 13.3% 19.4% 18.5% 20.3% 24.2% 23.2% 25.8% 31.4% 30.4% 32.6% 32.6% 31.4% 30.4% 32.6% 36.7% 35.7% 37.9% 35.7% 37.9% 35.7% 37.9% 35.7% 37.9% 31.4% 30.4% <td>High</td> <td>13.3%</td> <td>12.6%</td> <td>14.0%</td> <td>20.2%</td> <td>10.3%</td> <td>20.0%</td> <td>25.1%</td> <td>20.0%</td> <td>26.3%</td> <td>33.5%</td> <td>32.5%</td> <td>34.5%</td> <td>35.0%</td> <td>34 9%</td> <td>37.0%</td>	High	13.3%	12.6%	14.0%	20.2%	10.3%	20.0%	25.1%	20.0%	26.3%	33.5%	32.5%	34.5%	35.0%	34 9%	37.0%
By Disease-Specific Severity Index No Complications 13.0% 12.2% 13.8% 19.9% 19.9% 25.3% 24.3% 26.3% 33.1% 32.0% 34.4% 35.5% 35.7% 35.7% 37.9% 1 or More Minor Complications 1 or More Intermediate Complications 12.4% 11.7% 13.2% 19.4% 18.6% 20.3% 24.3% 25.8% 34.4% 33.3% 35.5% 35.7% 35.7% 37.9% 1 or More Intermediate Complications 16.4% 13.2% 20.2% 22.6% 18.9% 26.8% 26.6% 22.6% 31.4% 30.4% 32.5% 32.4% 24.4% 32.8% 2 or More Major Complications 13.5% 11.0% 16.5% 16.9% 14.1% 20.1% 23.0% 31.4% 33.5% 32.4% 28.4% 24.4% 32.8% LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR 9.3% 7.8% 11.0% 14.5% 12.6% 16.6% 25.8% 23.4% 28.3% 33.5% 30.9% 36.2% 46.0% 43.2% 48.8% LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR 9.3% 7.8% 11.0% 13.5% 14.9% 12	Very High	12.7%	11.9%	13.5%	18.4%	17.5%	19.3%	23.4%	22.4%	24.5%	29.0%	28.0%	30.1%	32.6%	31.5%	33.7%
By Disease-Specific Severity Index 13.0% 12.2% 13.8% 19.9% 20.9% 25.3% 24.3% 23.0% 33.1% 34.2% 37.0% 35.5% 36.7% 37.9% 1 or More Minor Complications 12.4% 11.7% 13.2% 19.4% 18.6% 20.3% 24.8% 23.9% 25.8% 34.4% 33.3% 35.5% 35.5% 34.4% 36.6% 1 major Complication 16.4% 13.2% 20.2% 22.6% 18.9% 26.8% 26.6% 22.6% 30.9% 27.9% 23.9% 23.9% 24.8% 23.9% 24.8% 23.9% 24.8% 23.9% 24.8% 20.9% 24.9% 23.2% 25.2% 31.4% 30.4% 32.4% 24.4% 32.8% 2 or More Major Complications 13.5% 11.0% 16.5% 16.9% 14.1% 20.1% 23.9% 24.8% 24.8% 24.4% 32.8% 24.8% 24.8% 24.8% 48.8% 24.4% 32.8% 24.8% 35.5% 35.5% 36.7% 35.5% 36.7% 35.5% 36.7% 35.5% 36.7% 35.5% <	- , , , ,															
No Complications 13.0% 12.2% 13.8% 19.9% 20.9% 25.3% 24.3% 26.3% 33.1% 32.0% 34.2% 37.0% 35.9% 38.1% 1 or More Minor Complications 12.4% 11.7% 13.3% 19.4% 18.6% 20.3% 24.3% 23.9% 25.8% 34.4% 33.3% 35.5% 36.7% 35.7% 37.9% 1 Major Complication 16.4% 13.2% 20.2% 22.6% 18.9% 26.6% 22.6% 31.9% 30.4% 32.9% 32.4% 28.4% 24.4% 32.8% 2 or More Major Complications 13.5% 11.0% 16.5% 16.9% 14.1% 20.1% 23.0% 19.8% 26.5% 21.8% 18.7% 25.3% 20.8% 17.7% 24.2% By Patient Residence 11.0% 13.1% 15.0% 21.5% 20.5% 22.7% 26.5% 25.3% 27.7% 36.7% 35.5% 38.0% 39.9% 35.5% 38.0% 39.9% 35.5% 38.0% 39.9% 35.5% 31.4% 30.9% 35.5% 60.9% 43.2%	By Disease-Specific Severity Index															
1 or More Minor Complications 12.4% 11.7% 13.2% 19.4% 18.6% 20.3% 24.8% 23.9% 25.8% 34.4% 33.3% 35.5% 36.7% 35.7% 37.9% 1 or More Intermediate Complication 12.5% 11.8% 13.3% 19.4% 18.5% 20.3% 24.2% 23.2% 25.2% 31.4% 30.4% 32.5% 35.5% 34.4% 36.6% 2 or More Major Complications 13.5% 11.0% 16.5% 16.9% 14.1% 20.1% 23.0% 22.6% 30.9% 36.2% 24.4% 24.4% 32.8% By Patient Residence 11.0% 16.5% 16.9% 14.1% 20.1% 25.8% 23.4% 28.3% 33.5% 30.9% 36.2% 48.8% 44.8% 24.4% 34.8% 33.5% 30.9% 36.2% 46.0% 43.2% 48.8% 11.0% 14.5% 12.6% 16.6% 25.8% 23.4% 28.3% 33.5% 30.9% 36.2% 46.0% 43.2% 48.8% LHA 201 - Surrey 14.0% 13.1% 15.0% 21.5% 21.3% 17.9% <td>No Complications</td> <td>13.0%</td> <td>12.2%</td> <td>13.8%</td> <td>19.9%</td> <td>19.0%</td> <td>20.9%</td> <td>25.3%</td> <td>24.3%</td> <td>26.3%</td> <td>33.1%</td> <td>32.0%</td> <td>34.2%</td> <td>37.0%</td> <td>35.9%</td> <td>38.1%</td>	No Complications	13.0%	12.2%	13.8%	19.9%	19.0%	20.9%	25.3%	24.3%	26.3%	33.1%	32.0%	34.2%	37.0%	35.9%	38.1%
1 or More Intermediate Complications 12.5% 11.8% 13.3% 19.4% 18.5% 20.3% 24.2% 23.2% 25.2% 31.4% 30.4% 32.5% 35.5% 34.4% 36.5% 2 or More Major Complications 13.5% 11.0% 16.5% 16.9% 14.1% 20.1% 23.0% 22.6% 30.9% 27.9% 23.9% 32.4% 28.4% 24.4% 32.8% By Patient Residence 11.0% 16.5% 11.0% 14.5% 12.6% 16.6% 25.8% 23.4% 28.4% 30.9% 36.2% 46.0% 43.2% 48.8% LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR 9.3% 7.8% 11.0% 14.5% 12.6% 16.6% 25.8% 23.4% 28.4% 30.9% 36.2% 46.0% 43.2% 48.8% LHA 201 - Surrey 14.0% 13.1% 15.0% 21.5% 21.4% 36.8% 30.1% 30.5% 30.9% 36.2% 46.0% 43.2% 48.8% 41.1% 21.4% 36.8% 30.1% 30.5% 30.9% 35.5% 30.9% 35.5% 30.1% 30.5% 30.1%	1 or More Minor Complications	12.4%	11.7%	13.2%	19.4%	18.6%	20.3%	24.8%	23.9%	25.8%	34.4%	33.3%	35.5%	36.7%	35.7%	37.9%
1 Major Complication 16.4% 13.2% 20.2% 22.6% 18.9% 26.6% 22.6% 30.9% 27.9% 23.9% 32.4% 28.4% 24.4% 32.8% 2 or More Major Complications 13.5% 11.0% 16.5% 16.9% 14.1% 20.1% 23.0% 19.8% 26.5% 21.8% 18.7% 25.3% 20.8% 17.7% 24.2% By Patient Residence 14.4% 13.1% 11.0% 14.5% 12.6% 16.6% 25.8% 23.4% 28.4% 24.4% 32.8% 24.8% LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR 9.3% 7.8% 11.0% 14.5% 12.6% 16.6% 25.8% 23.4% 28.3% 30.9% 36.2% 46.0% 43.2% 48.8% LHA 201 - Surrey 14.0% 13.1% 15.0% 21.5% 20.5% 22.7% 26.5% 25.3% 22.7% 30.7% 35.5% 38.0% 38.0% 36.7% 47.0% 38.8% 55.4% 14.9% 18.7% 22.7% 25.3% 22.3% 22.3% 22.3% 21.3% 16.4% 22.7% 20.6% 23.4% <td>1 or More Intermediate Complications</td> <td>12.5%</td> <td>11.8%</td> <td>13.3%</td> <td>19.4%</td> <td>18.5%</td> <td>20.3%</td> <td>24.2%</td> <td>23.2%</td> <td>25.2%</td> <td>31.4%</td> <td>30.4%</td> <td>32.5%</td> <td>35.5%</td> <td>34.4%</td> <td>36.6%</td>	1 or More Intermediate Complications	12.5%	11.8%	13.3%	19.4%	18.5%	20.3%	24.2%	23.2%	25.2%	31.4%	30.4%	32.5%	35.5%	34.4%	36.6%
2 bit Note Major Complications 13.3% 11.0% 16.3% 14.1% 20.1% 19.8% 21.8% 18.7% 25.3% 20.8% 17.7% 24.2% By Patient Residence LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR 9.3% 7.8% 11.0% 14.5% 12.6% 16.6% 25.8% 23.4% 28.3% 33.5% 30.9% 36.2% 46.0% 43.2% 48.8% LHA 201 - Surrey 14.0% 13.1% 15.0% 21.5% 20.5% 25.3% 27.7% 36.7% 35.5% 38.0% 39.8% 38.5% 41.1% LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison 8.4% 4.8% 14.4% 28.5% 21.4% 36.8% 38.0% 30.1% 46.6% 49.2% 40.8% 57.7% 47.0% 38.8% 55.4% LHA 043 - Coquitiam 12.6% 15.3% 14.9% 12.8% 17.8% 20.1% 21.3% 19.1% 30.0% 33.5% 30.0% 32.5% 29.6% 34.9% 32.5% 29.9% 35.1% LHA 042 - Maple Ridge 13.8% 12.0% 15.9% 17.4% 21.9% 21.3% 19.1% <	1 Major Complication	16.4%	13.2%	20.2%	22.6%	18.9%	26.8%	26.6%	22.6%	30.9%	27.9%	23.9%	32.4%	28.4%	24.4%	32.8%
By Patient Residence 9.3% 7.8% 11.0% 14.5% 12.6% 16.6% 25.8% 23.4% 28.3% 33.5% 30.9% 36.2% 46.0% 43.2% 48.8% LHA 201 - Surrey 14.0% 13.1% 15.0% 21.5% 20.5% 22.7% 26.5% 25.3% 27.7% 36.7% 35.5% 38.0% 39.8% 38.5% 41.1% LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison 8.4% 4.8% 14.4% 28.5% 21.4% 36.8% 30.6% 30.0% 30.7% 30.0% 30.7%	2 of more major complications	13.5%	11.0%	10.5%	10.9%	14.170	20.1%	23.0%	19.0%	20.5%	21.0%	10.1%	25.5%	20.0%	17.770	24.2%
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR 9.3% 7.8% 11.0% 14.5% 12.6% 16.6% 25.8% 23.4% 28.3% 33.5% 30.9% 36.2% 46.0% 43.2% 48.8% LHA 201 - Surrey 14.0% 13.1% 15.0% 21.5% 20.5% 22.7% 26.5% 25.3% 27.7% 36.7% 35.5% 38.0% 39.8% 38.5% 41.1% LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison 8.4% 4.8% 14.4% 28.9% 11.7% 19.3% 16.4% 22.7% 26.5% 25.3% 27.7% 36.7% 35.5% 38.0% 39.8% 38.5% 41.1% LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison 12.4% 10.0% 15.3% 14.9% 12.3% 17.9% 19.3% 16.4% 22.7% 25.6% 22.3% 29.2% 33.7% 30.1% 37.5% 30.1% 37.5% 30.0% 33.5% 30.0% 33.5% 30.0% 32.5% 29.3% 37.7% 30.1% 37.5% 30.1% 37.5% 30.1% 32.5% 29.3% 37.8% 30.1% 32.5% 21.3% 19.1% 23.8% 30.0%	By Patient Residence															
LHA 201 - Surrey 14.0% 13.1% 15.0% 21.5% 20.5% 22.7% 26.5% 25.3% 27.7% 36.7% 35.5% 38.0% 39.8% 38.5% 41.1% LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison 8.4% 4.8% 14.4% 28.5% 21.4% 36.8% 38.0% 30.1% 46.6% 49.2% 40.8% 57.7% 47.0% 38.8% 55.4% LHA 075 - Mission 12.4% 10.0% 15.3% 14.9% 12.3% 17.9% 19.3% 16.4% 22.6% 21.3% 30.0% 33.6% 36.0% 34.2% 37.8% LHA 042 - Maple Ridge 13.8% 12.0% 15.9% 19.5% 17.4% 21.3% 19.8% 22.9% 31.7% 30.0% 34.2% 35.7% 36.0% 34.2% 35.7% 36.0% 34.2% 35.7% 36.0% 34.2% 29.9% 31.7% 30.0% 35.7% 36.0% 35.7% 36.0% 35.7% 36.0% 35.7% 36.0% 35.7% 36.0% 35.7% 36.0% 35.7% 36.0% 35.7% 36.0% 35.7% 36.0% 35.7%	LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	9.3%	7.8%	11.0%	14.5%	12.6%	16.6%	25.8%	23.4%	28.3%	33.5%	30.9%	36.2%	46.0%	43.2%	48.8%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison 8.4% 4.8% 14.4% 28.5% 21.4% 36.8% 38.0% 30.1% 46.6% 49.2% 40.8% 57.7% 47.0% 38.8% 55.4% LHA 075 - Mission 12.4% 10.0% 15.3% 14.9% 12.3% 17.9% 19.3% 16.4% 22.7% 25.6% 22.3% 29.2% 33.7% 30.1% 37.5% LHA 043 - Coquitlam 12.5% 11.3% 13.8% 19.2% 17.8% 20.7% 21.3% 19.8% 22.9% 31.7% 30.0% 33.5% 36.0% 34.2% 37.8% LHA 042 - Maple Ridge 13.8% 12.0% 15.9% 17.4% 21.9% 21.3% 19.1% 23.8% 22.9% 31.7% 30.0% 32.5% 29.9% 35.1% LHA 040 - New Westminster 10.8% 9.1% 12.8% 14.3% 12.6% 18.8% 16.5% 21.2% 23.9% 22.1% 27.3% 27.8% 25.3% 30.6% 36.9% 36.9% 36.6% 36.9% 36.6% 36.9% 36.9% 36.6% 36.9% 36.6% 36.9%	LHA 201 - Surrey	14.0%	13.1%	15.0%	21.5%	20.5%	22.7%	26.5%	25.3%	27.7%	36.7%	35.5%	38.0%	39.8%	38.5%	41.1%
LHA 075 - Mission 12.4% 10.0% 15.3% 14.9% 12.3% 17.9% 19.3% 16.4% 22.7% 25.6% 22.3% 29.2% 33.7% 30.1% 37.5% LHA 043 - Coquitlam 12.5% 11.3% 13.8% 19.2% 17.8% 20.7% 21.3% 19.8% 22.9% 31.7% 30.0% 33.5% 36.0% 34.2% 37.8% LHA 042 - Maple Ridge 13.8% 12.0% 15.9% 17.4% 21.9% 21.3% 19.1% 23.8% 32.2% 29.6% 34.9% 32.5% 30.6% 36.0% 33.6% 36.0% 36.0% 36.0% 36.0% 36.0% 36.0% 36.0% 36.0% 36.0% 36.6% 36.0% 36.6% 36.0% 36.0% 36.6% 36.0% 36.6% 36.	LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	8.4%	4.8%	14.4%	28.5%	21.4%	36.8%	38.0%	30.1%	46.6%	49.2%	40.8%	57.7%	47.0%	38.8%	55.4%
LHA 043 - Coquitlam 12.5% 11.3% 13.8% 19.2% 17.8% 20.7% 21.3% 19.8% 22.9% 31.7% 30.0% 33.5% 36.0% 34.2% 37.8% LHA 042 - Maple Ridge 13.8% 12.0% 15.9% 15.9% 17.4% 21.9% 21.3% 19.1% 23.8% 32.2% 29.6% 34.9% 32.5% 29.9% 35.1% LHA 041 - Burnaby 12.5% 11.5% 13.6% 18.8% 17.6% 20.1% 21.2% 21.2% 23.6% 22.1% 27.3% 27.8% 25.1% 31.6% 36.0% 36.	LHA 075 - Mission	12.4%	10.0%	15.3%	14.9%	12.3%	17.9%	19.3%	16.4%	22.7%	25.6%	22.3%	29.2%	33.7%	30.1%	37.5%
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge 13.8% 12.0% 15.9% 19.5% 17.4% 21.9% 21.3% 19.1% 23.8% 32.2% 29.6% 34.9% 32.5% 29.9% 35.1% LHA 041 - Burnaby 12.8% 11.5% 13.6% 18.8% 17.6% 20.1% 22.5% 21.2% 23.9% 28.6% 34.9% 32.5% 29.9% 35.1% LHA 040 - New Westminster 10.8% 9.1% 12.8% 14.3% 17.6% 20.1% 21.2% 21.2% 21.6% 22.1% 27.3% 27.3% 25.3% 30.6% LHA 037 - Delta 12.4% 10.9% 14.1% 18.8% 16.5% 21.2% 21.2% 31.6% 36.5% 36.5% 34.1% 38.9% LHA 035 - Langley 14.1% 14.1% 17.5% 15.9% 19.2% 22.7% 21.0% 24.3% 28.0% 26.2% 34.1% 38.9% 36.9% 34.1% 38.9% 36.9% 31.9% 24.3% 28.0% 24.3% 28.0% 24.3% 28.0% 24.3% 36.9% 34.1% 38.9% 34.1% 36.9% 3	LHA 043 - Coquitlam	12.5%	11.3%	13.8%	19.2%	17.8%	20.7%	21.3%	19.8%	22.9%	31.7%	30.0%	33.5%	36.0%	34.2%	37.8%
LHA 041 - Burnaby 12.5% 11.5% 13.6% 18.8% 17.6% 20.1% 22.5% 21.2% 29.6% 28.2% 31.1% 32.0% 30.5% 33.6% LHA 040 - New Westminster 10.8% 9.1% 12.8% 14.3% 12.3% 16.5% 21.2% 21.2% 22.1% 27.3% 27.3% 25.3% 30.6% LHA 037 - Delta 12.4% 10.9% 14.1% 21.8% 19.8% 27.7% 25.6% 30.0% 31.8% 36.5% 36.5% 34.1% 38.9% LHA 035 - Langley 14.1% 12.5% 15.8% 23.0% 21.1% 29.1% 27.7% 31.2% 30.6% 39.2% 36.5%	LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	13.8%	12.0%	15.9%	19.5%	17.4%	21.9%	21.3%	19.1%	23.8%	32.2%	29.6%	34.9%	32.5%	29.9%	35.1%
LHA 040 - New Westminster 10.8% 9.1% 12.8% 14.3% 12.3% 16.5% 18.8% 16.5% 21.2% 24.6% 22.1% 27.3% 27.8% 25.3% 30.6% LHA 037 - Delta 12.4% 10.9% 14.1% 21.8% 19.8% 23.9% 27.7% 25.6% 30.0% 34.1% 31.8% 36.5% 36.5% 34.1% 38.9% LHA 035 - Langley 14.1% 12.5% 15.8% 23.0% 21.1% 25.0% 29.1% 27.3% 35.0% 39.6% 39.2% 36.9% 41.5% LHA 034 - Abbotsford 12.7% 11.4% 14.3% 17.5% 15.9% 19.2% 22.7% 21.0% 24.3% 28.0% 26.2% 24.4% 28.1% LHA 033 - Chilliwack 10.1% 8.5% 12.0% 22.6% 32.2% 35.6% 35.0% 33.3% 38.7% 44.2% 24.5% 26.0% 26.2% 24.6% 26.5% 26.2% 26.5% 26.2% 26.5% 26.2% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5%	LHA 041 - Burnaby	12.5%	11.5%	13.6%	18.8%	17.6%	20.1%	22.5%	21.2%	23.9%	29.6%	28.2%	31.1%	32.0%	30.5%	33.6%
LHA 037 - Delta 12.4% 10.9% 14.1% 21.8% 19.8% 23.9% 27.7% 25.6% 30.0% 34.1% 31.8% 36.5% 34.1% 38.9% LHA 035 - Langley 14.1% 12.5% 15.8% 23.0% 21.1% 25.0% 29.1% 27.0% 31.2% 35.0% 39.6% 39.2% 36.9% 41.5% LHA 034 - Abbotsford 12.7% 11.4% 14.3% 17.5% 15.9% 19.2% 22.7% 21.0% 24.1% 28.0% 26.2% 24.4% 28.1% LHA 033 - Chilliwack 10.1% 8.5% 12.0% 22.6% 32.6% 35.6% 36.0% 33.3% 38.7% 44.2% LHA 032 - Linangley 24.0% 20.0% 25.6% 20.4% 20.4% 24.6% 20.6% 20.4% 20.6% 20.4% 20.6% 20.4% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.4% 21.6% 22.6% 22.6% 23.6% 20.6% 20.4% 40.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6% 20.6%	LHA 040 - New Westminster	10.8%	9.1%	12.8%	14.3%	12.3%	16.5%	18.8%	16.5%	21.2%	24.6%	22.1%	27.3%	27.8%	25.3%	30.6%
LHA 035 - Langley 14.1% 12.5% 15.8% 23.0% 21.1% 25.0% 29.1% 27.0% 31.2% 37.3% 35.0% 39.6% 39.2% 36.9% 41.5% LHA 034 - Abbotsford 12.7% 11.4% 14.3% 17.5% 15.9% 19.2% 22.7% 21.0% 24.1% 28.0% 26.2% 24.4% 28.1% LHA 033 - Chilliwack 10.1% 8.5% 12.0% 22.6% 32.6% 35.6% 36.0% 33.3% 38.7% 41.4% 38.7% 44.2% LHA 030 - Lineac 20.0% 20.0% 25.6% 26.4% 20.6%	LHA 037 - Delta	12.4%	10.9%	14.1%	21.8%	19.8%	23.9%	27.7%	25.6%	30.0%	34.1%	31.8%	36.5%	36.5%	34.1%	38.9%
LHA U34 - ADDOISTORD 12.7% 11.4% 14.3% 17.5% 15.9% 19.2% 22.7% 21.0% 24.5% 26.1% 24.3% 28.0% 26.2% 24.4% 28.1% LHA 033 - Chilliwack 10.1% 8.5% 12.0% 20.2% 18.0% 22.6% 32.6% 35.6% 36.0% 33.3% 38.7% 41.4% 38.7% 44.2% 10.0% 20.0% 25.6% 26.0% 20.0% 25.6% 26.0\% 26.0\% 2	LHA 035 - Langley	14.1%	12.5%	15.8%	23.0%	21.1%	25.0%	29.1%	27.0%	31.2%	37.3%	35.0%	39.6%	39.2%	36.9%	41.5%
LTRA US3 - CITIIIIWack 10.1% 8.5% 12.0% 20.2% 18.0% 22.5% 32.9% 30.3% 35.5% 30.0% 33.3% 38.7% 41.4% 38.7% 44.2%	LHA 034 - Abbotsford	12.7%	11.4%	14.3%	17.5%	15.9%	19.2%	22.7%	21.0%	24.5%	26.1%	24.3%	28.0%	26.2%	24.4%	28.1%
		21 0%	0.0% 16.0%	12.0%	20.2%	18.0%	22.0%	32.9%	30.3%	30.8%	36.0%	33.3%	30.1%	41.4%	38.1%	44.2% 13.5%

Lipid Test

Information on the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least one lipid test every three years is provided in table C-4. The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least one lipid test every three years increased from 77.1% in 1996/97-1998/99 to 82.2% in 1998/99-2000/01. The difference between these two

proportions is highly significant (McNemar test, Chi-square = 269, p<.001). Indeed, a significant increase was observed during each three year period (p<.001).

Table C-4 Proportion	of Ad	ults w	ith Dia	agnos	ed Ty	vpe 2	Diabe	tes	
Receiving At Le	east Or	ne Lipic	l Test	Every ⁻	Three `	Years			
	06	07 09	00	07	/00 00	/00	00	00 00	/01
	%	97 - 90	6 CI	97	90 - 99	6 CI	90 %	99 - 00/ 95%	6 CI
	70	307		70	307		70	307	001
Total Population	74.1%	73.6%	74.7%	77.4%	76.9%	78.0%	79.1%	78.6%	79.6%
By Sex									
Female	70.7%	69.9%	71.6%	74.1%	73.2%	74.9%	75.8%	75.0%	76.6%
Male	77.3%	76.5%	78.0%	80.5%	79.7%	81.2%	82.1%	81.4%	82.8%
By Age									
20-29	56.0%	51.2%	60.7%	59.0%	53.2%	64.5%	55.6%	48.4%	62.5%
30-39	69.8%	67.3%	72.1%	70.5%	67.7%	73.1%	69.6%	66.5%	72.6%
40-49	79.7%	78.3%	81.0%	81.6%	80.2%	83.0%	81.7%	80.1%	83.2%
50-59	82.4%	81.4%	83.4%	85.1%	84.1%	86.0%	86.8%	85.8%	87.7%
60-69	80.0%	79.0%	81.0%	85.3%	84.4%	86.2%	87.4%	86.5%	88.2%
70-79	64.1%	62.8%	65.5%	71.3%	70.1%	72.5%	77.7%	76.6%	78.8%
80+	32.7%	29.9%	35.6%	40.3%	37.9%	42.8%	46.6%	44.6%	48.7%
By Socio-Economic Status			/		/				/
Quintile 1 (Low)	71.0%	69.6%	72.2%	73.4%	72.2%	74.7%	75.3%	74.1%	76.5%
Quintile 2	73.2%	72.0%	74.5%	77.2%	76.1%	78.4%	78.0%	76.8%	79.1%
Quintile 3	75.2%	74.0%	76.4%	78.7%	77.5%	79.8%	81.2%	80.1%	82.3%
Quintile 4	77.0%	75.7%	78.2%	79.3%	78.1%	80.5%	80.9%	79.7%	82.0%
Quintile 5 (High)	76.5%	74.9%	78.1%	81.0%	79.5%	82.3%	82.1%	80.7%	83.5%
By Morbidity									
Verv Low	70.4%	65 4%	74 9%	72.9%	68 1%	77 3%	76 1%	71 3%	80.2%
Low	72.1%	70.3%	73.9%	75.1%	73.3%	76.9%	78.2%	76.5%	79.9%
Medium	75.0%	73.7%	76.2%	78.9%	77 7%	80.0%	80.9%	79.7%	82.0%
High	74 6%	73 7%	75.5%	78.0%	77 1%	78.9%	79.6%	78.8%	80.5%
Very High	74.5%	73.4%	75.5%	77.3%	76.3%	78.3%	78.4%	77.4%	79.4%
By Disease-Specific Severity Index									
No Complications	69.9%	68.8%	71.0%	73.2%	72.1%	74.2%	75.7%	74.7%	76.7%
1 or More Minor Complications	78.7%	77.8%	79.6%	82.0%	81.1%	82.9%	83.2%	82.4%	84.1%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	73.7%	72.7%	74.7%	76.9%	75.9%	77.9%	78.3%	77.3%	79.2%
1 Major Complication	68.6%	64.1%	72.8%	72.1%	67.7%	76.1%	75.1%	70.8%	78.9%
2 or More Major Complications	75.2%	71.5%	78.5%	78.7%	75.2%	81.8%	79.1%	75.6%	82.1%
By Patient Residence									
I HA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	68.2%	65 5%	70 7%	71.6%	69.0%	74 1%	75.8%	73 3%	78 1%
LHA 201 - Surrey	75.8%	74.6%	76.9%	78.3%	77 1%	79.4%	80.7%	79.6%	81.8%
I HA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	65.6%	57.2%	73.2%	72.1%	63.8%	70.4%	70.1%	71.5%	85.1%
LHA 075 - Mission	66.3%	62.5%	70.0%	72.5%	68.9%	75.9%	75.8%	72.3%	79.0%
	74 9%	73 3%	76.5%	78.0%	77 3%	80.4%	70.0%	78.4%	81.4%
L HA 042 - Maple Ridge	75.6%	73.1%	78.0%	78.1%	75.6%	80.4%	79.0%	76.6%	81.2%
LHA 041 - Burnaby	78.7%	77.3%	79.9%	80.6%	79.3%	81.9%	81.8%	80.5%	83.0%
LHA 040 - New Westminster	71.4%	68.6%	74 0%	75.4%	72 7%	77.8%	74.6%	71.9%	77 1%
LHA 037 - Delta	77.6%	75 5%	79.6%	80.7%	78.6%	82.6%	82.2%	80.2%	84.0%
LHA 035 - Langley	71.9%	69.8%	74 0%	75.6%	73.5%	77.5%	77 7%	75.7%	79.5%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	71.2%	69.2%	73 1%	75.2%	73.3%	77 0%	75.7%	73.8%	77 5%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	66.9%	64 1%	69.5%	72.6%	70.0%	75.1%	75.1%	72.6%	77 4%
LHA 032 - Hope	68.5%	60.6%	75.5%	79.3%	72.2%	85.0%	82.5%	75.7%	87.7%

Blood Pressure Measurements

Information on the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least four blood pressure (BP) measurements per fiscal year is provided in table C-5. The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least four BP measurements per fiscal year increased from 80.5% in 1996/97 to 85.4% in 2000/01. The difference between these two proportions is highly significant (McNemar test, Chi-square = 224, p<.001). Like the results for at least one eye exam per year, the changes over time for at least four BP measurements per year are more mixed. A significant increase in the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least four BP measurements per fiscal year was seen between 1996/97 and 1997/98 (McNemar test, Chi-square = 167, p<.001). No significant change in the proportion was observed in the following year, with another significant increase between 1998/99 to 1999/00 (McNemar test, Chi-square = 36, p<.001). In 2000/01, however, there was a significant decrease in the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received at least four BP.

Table	C-5	Propo	ortion	of Adı	ults wi	th Dia	ignos	ed Ty	pe 2 l	Diabe	tes				
	With	At Leas	st Four	Blood	Press	ure Me	easure	ments	per Ye	ear					
		1996/97			1997/98			1998/99)		1999/00)		2000/01	
	%	95%	6 CI	%	95%	6 CI	%	95%	6 CI	%	95%	% CI	%	95%	6 CI
Total Population	81.0%	80.5%	81.5%	85.2%	84.7%	85.6%	84.9%	84.4%	85.3%	86.4%	86.0%	86.9%	85.6%	85.1%	86.0%
By Sex															
Female	85.8%	85.2%	86.5%	89.3%	88.7%	89.9%	88.2%	87.6%	88.8%	89.7%	89.1%	90.2%	88.3%	87.7%	88.9%
Male	76.8%	76.1%	77.6%	81.5%	80.8%	82.2%	81.9%	81.2%	82.6%	83.6%	82.9%	84.2%	83.1%	82.4%	83.8%
By Age 20-29	71.2%	66 6%	75 3%	73 3%	68 5%	77 6%	76.2%	71 0%	80.8%	72.0%	66.0%	77 3%	70.4%	63 5%	76 4%
30-39	72.0%	69.6%	74.3%	78.9%	76.5%	81 1%	75.4%	72.8%	77 9%	76.0%	73.3%	78.6%	74.1%	71 1%	76.9%
40-49	75.4%	73.9%	76.8%	78.9%	77.4%	80.2%	78.3%	76.7%	79.7%	79.5%	77.9%	81.0%	80.2%	78.6%	81.8%
50-59	78.3%	77.1%	79.4%	82.9%	81.9%	83.9%	82.2%	81.1%	83.2%	83.4%	82.4%	84.4%	82.4%	81.3%	83.4%
60-69	83.5%	82.6%	84.4%	86.3%	85.5%	87.1%	86.3%	85.4%	87.1%	88.4%	87.6%	89.2%	86.6%	85.7%	87.4%
70-79	87.0%	86.0%	88.0%	90.6%	89.8%	91.4%	89.9%	89.1%	90.7%	90.8%	90.1%	91.6%	89.9%	89.1%	90.7%
80+	87.4%	85.2%	89.3%	92.5%	90.9%	93.8%	91.2%	89.7%	92.5%	91.4%	90.0%	92.6%	89.5%	88.2%	90.7%
By Socio-Economic Status	04 00/	02 70/	05 00/	90 10/	00 20/	00.0%	00.00/	00 00/	00.00/	00.00/	90.00/	00.7%	00.20/	00 E0/	00.20/
Quintile 1 (LOW)	04.0%	03.170	00.0%	09.1%	00.270 96.20/	90.0%	00.9%	00.0%	09.0%	09.9%	09.0% 96 10/	90.7%	09.3%	00.0%	90.2%
Quintile 2 Quintile 3	03.3% 81.3%	02.2%	04.3% 82.4%	07.1% 85.1%	00.2% 8/ 1%	86.0%	00.7 % 85 3%	00.7 % 8/ 3%	86.2%	86.3%	00.1% 85.3%	00.0% 87.3%	86.2%	00.0% 85.2%	07.4%
Quintile 3	78.4%	77 1%	79.6%	82.4%	81.3%	83.5%	81.4%	80.3%	82.5%	84.6%	83.6%	85.7%	82.8%	81.6%	83.9%
Quintile 5 (High)	75.5%	73.9%	77.1%	79.4%	77.9%	80.8%	79.6%	78.1%	81.0%	82.0%	80.6%	83.4%	81.1%	79.6%	82.5%
	10.070	. 0.070		, .		00.070	. 0.070		011070	02.070	00.070	00.170	0	10.070	02.070
By Morbidity															
Very Low	53.6%	48.3%	58.7%	56.7%	51.5%	61.8%	43.9%	38.8%	49.1%	43.0%	37.9%	48.3%	57.8%	52.6%	62.9%
Low	63.5%	61.6%	65.5%	68.1%	66.2%	70.0%	55.5%	53.5%	57.5%	59.9%	57.9%	61.9%	68.2%	66.3%	70.1%
Medium	72.5%	71.3%	73.8%	79.2%	78.0%	80.3%	76.8%	75.6%	78.0%	78.9%	77.7%	80.0%	80.2%	79.1%	81.3%
High	82.8%	81.9%	83.6%	86.8%	86.1%	87.6%	89.1%	88.4%	89.8%	90.8%	90.2%	91.4%	87.6%	86.8%	88.3%
Very High	92.2%	91.5%	92.8%	94.6%	94.0%	95.1%	97.5%	97.1%	97.8%	97.7%	97.3%	98.0%	94.4%	93.8%	94.9%
By Disease-Specific Severity Index															
No Complications	72.2%	71.1%	73.2%	76.7%	75.7%	77.6%	74.0%	73.0%	75.1%	75.7%	74.6%	76.6%	77.0%	76.0%	78.0%
1 or More Minor Complications	84.1%	83.3%	85.0%	88.8%	88.0%	89.5%	89.4%	88.7%	90.1%	91.2%	90.6%	91.9%	89.5%	88.8%	90.2%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	85.6%	84.8%	86.4%	89.2%	88.5%	89.9%	89.9%	89.2%	90.6%	91.4%	90.8%	92.1%	89.6%	88.9%	90.3%
1 Major Complication	84.5%	80.8%	87.6%	85.9%	82.3%	88.9%	90.1%	86.9%	92.5%	88.9%	85.6%	91.5%	86.1%	82.6%	89.1%
2 or More Major Complications	86.7%	83.7%	89.2%	89.7%	87.0%	91.9%	89.7%	87.0%	91.9%	88.9%	86.1%	91.1%	86.8%	83.9%	89.3%
Py Patient Pasidanaa															
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / W/P	77 1%	74 7%	70 /%	80.2%	77 0%	82 1%	82.6%	80.4%	84.6%	84.8%	82 7%	86 7%	8/ 3%	82.2%	86.2%
LHA 202 - S. Surrey	83.0%	82 9%	79.4% 84.9%	87.3%	86.4%	88.2%	87.4%	86 5%	88.3%	88.3%	87.5%	89.2%	87.8%	86.9%	88 7%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	79.4%	71 7%	85.4%	88.5%	81.8%	92.9%	86.0%	79.0%	91.0%	88.5%	81.8%	92.9%	87.3%	80.6%	91 9%
LHA 075 - Mission	80.2%	76.9%	83.2%	87.9%	85.1%	90.2%	88.3%	85.5%	90.6%	87.2%	84.3%	89.6%	90.3%	87.7%	92.4%
LHA 043 - Coguitlam	78.1%	76.5%	79.7%	83.1%	81.7%	84.5%	82.7%	81.3%	84.1%	83.8%	82.4%	85.2%	82.5%	81.0%	83.9%
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	82.4%	80.1%	84.5%	86.6%	84.5%	88.4%	84.2%	82.0%	86.2%	87.8%	85.9%	89.6%	87.9%	86.0%	89.6%
LHA 041 - Burnaby	80.2%	78.9%	81.5%	83.7%	82.5%	84.9%	83.6%	82.4%	84.8%	85.3%	84.2%	86.4%	85.4%	84.2%	86.5%
LHA 040 - New Westminster	81.0%	78.5%	83.2%	84.4%	82.1%	86.5%	85.7%	83.5%	87.7%	87.8%	85.7%	89.6%	85.0%	82.7%	87.0%
LHA 037 - Delta	80.7%	78.7%	82.5%	83.5%	81.6%	85.3%	81.5%	79.5%	83.4%	84.7%	82.8%	86.4%	83.2%	81.3%	85.0%
LHA 035 - Langley	79.7%	77.7%	81.5%	83.2%	81.4%	84.9%	82.9%	81.1%	84.6%	83.0%	81.2%	84.7%	78.1%	76.1%	80.0%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	83.4%	81.7%	84.9%	88.6%	87.2%	89.9%	87.2%	85.7%	88.6%	89.1%	87.7%	90.3%	88.2%	86.7%	89.5%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	78.5%	76.1%	80.8%	86.4%	84.3%	88.2%	85.3%	83.2%	87.2%	87.2%	85.2%	89.0%	88.5%	86.5%	90.1%
LHA 032 - Hope	80.1%	72.9%	85.8%	84.8%	78.2%	89.6%	86.0%	79.5%	90.7%	90.7%	85.0%	94.4%	89.6%	83.8%	93.5%

All Five Recommended Procedures

Information on the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received all five recommended procedures (two or more HbA1c tests, at least one eye exam, one microalbumin test and four BP measurements during each fiscal year, at least one lipid test every three years) each fiscal year is provided in table C-6. The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received all five procedures per fiscal year increased from 3.9% in 1996/97

to 10.7% in 2000/01. The difference between these two proportions is highly significant (McNemar test, Chi-square = 739, p<.001).

Between 1996/97 and 1997/98, the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received all five procedures per fiscal year increased from 3.9% to 6.1% (McNemar test, Chi-square = 116, p<.001). The following year the proportion increased to 7.0% (McNemar test, Chi-square = 16, p<.001), then 9.9% (McNemar test, Chi-square = 136, p<.001) and finally 10.7% (McNemar test, Chi-square = 7.9, p=.005). Indeed, a significant increase was observed in each year.

Table C	-6 F	ropo	rtion	of Ad	ults \	with D	iagno	sed	Туре	2 Dia	betes				
		Rece	eiving	All Fiv	e Rec	comme	ended	Servio	es						
		1996/9	7		1997/9	8		1998/9	99		1999/00	,		2000/01	
	%	95%	% CI	%	959	% CI	%	95	% CI	%	95%	, % CI	%	95%	5 CI
						a									
Total Population	3.7%	3.5%	4.0%	5.7%	5.4%	6.1%	6.6%	6.3%	7.0%	9.4%	9.0%	9.8%	10.1%	9.7%	10.5%
Eemale	3.0%	3.6%	1 3%	5.8%	5 3%	6.2%	6.7%	6.2%	7.2%	0.8%	0.2%	10.3%	10.6%	10.0%	11 2%
Male	3.6%	3.3%	3.9%	5.8%	5.4%	6.2%	6.6%	6.2%	7.1%	9.1%	8.6%	9.6%	9.7%	9.2%	10.3%
By Age	0.070	0.070	0.070	0.070	0.170	0.270	0.070	0.270	,0	0.170	0.070	0.070	0.1.70	0.270	
20-29	3.6%	2.2%	5.9%	3.9%	2.4%	6.5%	6.2%	4.0%	9.6%	8.8%	5.8%	13.1%	7.4%	4.5%	12.1%
30-39	2.9%	2.1%	3.9%	4.3%	3.3%	5.6%	5.1%	3.9%	6.5%	7.6%	6.1%	9.4%	7.6%	6.0%	9.5%
40-49	3.3%	2.7%	3.9%	5.2%	4.5%	6.0%	5.4%	4.6%	6.3%	7.4%	6.5%	8.5%	7.9%	6.9%	9.1%
50-59	4.0%	3.5%	4.5%	6.1%	5.4%	6.7%	6.9%	6.2%	7.6%	9.8%	9.0%	10.6%	9.9%	9.1%	10.8%
60-69	4.7%	4.2%	5.3%	7.0%	6.4%	7.7%	8.2%	7.5%	8.9%	11.5%	10.7%	12.3%	11.8%	11.0%	12.7%
/0-/9	3.3%	2.8%	3.8%	5.6%	5.0%	0.3%	0.8%	0.2%	7.5%	9.7%	9.0%	10.5%	11.9%	11.2%	12.8%
00+	1.0%	0.5%	1.070	1.070	1.270	2.170	2.270	1.0%	3.170	4.3%	3.4%	5.5%	4.770	3.9%	5.7%
By Socio-Economic Status															
Quintile 1 (Low)	3.5%	3.0%	4.0%	4.9%	4.3%	5.5%	5.7%	5.1%	6.4%	8.6%	7.9%	9.4%	9.4%	8.7%	10.3%
Quintile 2	3.7%	3.2%	4.2%	5.2%	4.6%	5.8%	6.7%	6.1%	7.5%	8.4%	7.7%	9.2%	9.7%	9.0%	10.6%
Quintile 3	3.8%	3.3%	4.3%	6.0%	5.4%	6.7%	6.8%	6.1%	7.5%	10.2%	9.3%	11.1%	10.8%	9.9%	11.7%
Quintile 4	4.2%	3.7%	4.9%	6.6%	5.9%	7.3%	7.1%	6.3%	7.8%	10.6%	9.7%	11.5%	10.6%	9.7%	11.5%
Quintile 5 (High)	3.8%	3.2%	4.7%	6.5%	5.7%	7.5%	7.1%	6.3%	8.1%	9.7%	8.7%	10.9%	10.5%	9.4%	11.7%
Py Morhidity															
Vervlow	0.9%	0.3%	2.5%	4.3%	2.6%	6.9%	1 4%	0.6%	3.3%	2.6%	1 4%	4 8%	7 7%	5.3%	11.0%
Low	2.9%	2.3%	3.7%	4.0%	3.5%	5.1%	3.4%	2.7%	4.2%	5.4%	4.5%	6.4%	8.1%	7.0%	9.3%
Medium	2.9%	2.5%	3.5%	5.0%	4.4%	5.6%	5.2%	4.6%	5.8%	7.7%	7.0%	8.5%	9.9%	9.1%	10.8%
High	3.8%	3.4%	4.3%	6.2%	5.7%	6.8%	7.3%	6.8%	7.9%	10.6%	10.0%	11.3%	10.3%	9.7%	11.0%
Very High	4.6%	4.1%	5.1%	6.4%	5.8%	7.0%	8.2%	7.6%	8.9%	10.9%	10.2%	11.7%	11.0%	10.3%	11.8%
By Disease Specific Severity Index															
No Complications	3.2%	2.8%	3.6%	4.5%	4 1%	5.0%	4 9%	4 4%	5.5%	7 4%	6.8%	8.0%	8.5%	7 9%	9.2%
1 or More Minor Complications	3.4%	3.0%	3.8%	5.6%	5.1%	6.2%	6.3%	5.8%	6.9%	8.7%	8.1%	9.4%	9.8%	9.2%	10.5%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	4.4%	3.9%	4.9%	6.8%	6.2%	7.4%	8.3%	7.7%	9.0%	12.2%	11.5%	13.0%	12.2%	11.5%	13.0%
1 Major Complication	5.5%	3.8%	8.1%	9.2%	6.9%	12.3%	9.2%	6.9%	12.3%	8.8%	6.5%	11.8%	9.7%	7.3%	12.9%
2 or More Major Complications	5.7%	4.1%	7.9%	6.3%	4.6%	8.5%	8.8%	6.8%	11.3%	7.6%	5.7%	10.0%	6.9%	5.2%	9.3%
Py Patient Posidence															
I HA 202 - S Surrey / WR	2.2%	1 5%	3.2%	4 1%	3.2%	54%	61%	4 9%	7.6%	9.6%	8 1%	11 4%	14 0%	12.2%	16.0%
LHA 201 - Surrey	3.8%	3.3%	4.4%	5.6%	5.0%	6.3%	6.6%	5.9%	7.3%	9.2%	8.5%	10.1%	10.8%	10.0%	11.6%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	1.5%	0.4%	5.4%	7.7%	4.2%	13.6%	12.4%	7.8%	19.2%	11.5%	7.1%	18.2%	10.4%	6.3%	16.8%
LHA 075 - Mission	3.4%	2.3%	5.2%	4.7%	3.3%	6.7%	5.7%	4.1%	7.8%	7.1%	5.3%	9.4%	7.6%	5.8%	9.9%
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	3.9%	3.2%	4.7%	6.1%	5.3%	7.1%	5.6%	4.8%	6.5%	8.7%	7.7%	9.9%	10.0%	9.0%	11.3%
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	3.4%	2.5%	4.6%	4.4%	3.4%	5.8%	3.6%	2.6%	4.8%	6.0%	4.8%	7.5%	5.6%	4.5%	7.1%
LHA 041 - Burnaby	4.4%	3.8%	5.1%	6.5%	5.8%	7.4%	7.2%	6.4%	8.1%	11.6%	10.6%	12.6%	11.3%	10.3%	12.4%
LHA 040 - New Westminster	3.0%	2.1%	4.2%	5.0%	3.9%	0.5% 6.7%	0.5%	5.2%	8.2%	9.2%	1.1%	11.1%	10.3%	8.7%	12.3%
	5.4%	∠.0% ⊿.7%	4.4% 6.0%	0.0% 7.5%	4.3% 6⊿%	0.7%	0.1%	5.0% 8 1%	7.4% 10.8%	10.3%	0.9% 10 3%	13.3%	9.7%	0.3% 10.1%	11.3% 13.0%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	3.2%	2.5%	4.0%	4.9%	4.1%	5.9%	6.0%	5.1%	7.1%	6.5%	5.6%	7.7%	6.6%	5.7%	7.8%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	2.1%	1.5%	3.1%	5.8%	4.6%	7.2%	8.8%	7.3%	10.5%	10.1%	8.5%	11.9%	10.2%	8.7%	12.1%
LHA 032 - Hope	5.5%	2.8%	10.4%	8.6%	5.1%	14.2%	8.7%	5.1%	14.3%	6.7%	3.7%	11.8%	10.4%	6.5%	16.2%

None of the Five Recommended Procedures

Information on the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received none of the five recommended each fiscal year is provided in table C-7. The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received none of the five procedures per fiscal year decreased from 3.0% in 1996/97 to 2.2% in 2000/01. The difference between these two proportions is significant (McNemar test, Chi-square = 31, p<.001).

The largest reduction in the proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes who received none of the five procedures per fiscal year occurred between 1996/97 and 1997/98 (from 3.3% to 1.8%; McNemar test, Chi-square = 75, p<.001). After that year, no significant reductions in this proportion were observed. Indeed, between 1999/00 and 2000/01, a significant *increase* in this proportion was observed (from 1.8% to 2.2%; McNemar test, Chi-square = 12, p<.001).

Table	C-7	Propo	ortion	of Ad	ults w	ith Dia	agnos	ed Ty	pe 2 l	Diabe	tes				
	R	eceivin	g None	e of the	Five	Recom	menae	ea Serv	lices						
	%	1996/97 95%	7 6 CI	%	1997/98	3 % CI	%	1998/99) % CI	%	1999/00) % CI	%	2000/01 95%	CI
	70			70	007		70			70			70	007	
Total Population By Sex	3.1%	2.9%	3.4%	1.9%	1.8%	2.1%	1.8%	1.6%	2.0%	2.0%	1.8%	2.2%	2.4%	2.2%	2.6%
Female	2.8%	2.5%	3.1%	1.6%	1.4%	1.9%	1.8%	1.5%	2.0%	1.9%	1.7%	2.2%	2.3%	2.0%	2.6%
Male	3.4%	3.1%	3.8%	2.2%	1.9%	2.5%	1.8%	1.6%	2.1%	2.0%	1.8%	2.2%	2.5%	2.2%	2.8%
By Age															
20-29	7.2%	5.1%	10.1%	5.1%	3.2%	7.9%	5.5%	3.4%	8.8%	6.7%	4.2%	10.6%	7.9%	4.9%	12.7%
30-39	5.8%	4.7%	7.2%	3.9%	3.0%	5.2%	3.7%	2.7%	5.0%	5.4%	4.1%	6.9%	4.8%	3.6%	6.4%
40-49	4.3%	3.7%	5.0%	2.2%	1.8%	2.8%	2.4%	1.9%	3.1%	3.3%	2.6%	4.0%	3.8%	3.1%	4.7%
50-59	2.9%	2.5%	3.4%	1.7%	1.4%	Z.1%	1.9%	1.5%	2.3%	1.0%	1.3%	2.0%	2.0%	2.1%	3.0%
70,70	2.2/0	2.0%	2.0%	1.4 /0	1.1/0	1.7 /0 2 10/	1.0 /0	1.20/	1.0%	1.0 /0	1 20/	1.0%	1.2/0	1.0 /0	2.20%
80+	4.3%	2.0 %	2.9%	3.1%	2.3%	4.2%	2.6%	1.2 %	3.5%	3.1%	2.4%	4.0%	3.6%	2.9%	2.5%
001	4.070	0.2 /0	0.770	0.170	2.570	4.270	2.070	1.570	0.070	0.170	2.470	4.070	0.070	2.570	4.070
Bv Socio-Economic Status															
Quintile 1 (Low)	2.9%	2.4%	3.4%	1.7%	1.4%	2.1%	1.6%	1.2%	2.0%	1.9%	1.6%	2.3%	2.2%	1.8%	2.6%
Quintile 2	3.0%	2.6%	3.5%	1.6%	1.3%	2.0%	2.0%	1.6%	2.4%	1.9%	1.5%	2.3%	2.6%	2.2%	3.1%
Quintile 3	3.2%	2.8%	3.8%	2.2%	1.8%	2.6%	1.8%	1.5%	2.2%	1.8%	1.4%	2.2%	2.1%	1.8%	2.6%
Quintile 4	3.1%	2.6%	3.7%	2.2%	1.8%	2.7%	1.9%	1.6%	2.4%	2.2%	1.8%	2.7%	2.5%	2.0%	3.0%
Quintile 5 (High)	3.7%	3.1%	4.5%	2.0%	1.6%	2.6%	1.7%	1.3%	2.3%	2.1%	1.6%	2.7%	2.7%	2.2%	3.4%
By Morbidity	0.00/	= 00/		o	0.00/	10.00/	10.000		10.00/	10 10	10.001	17 00/	0.00/	0.00/	40.000
Very Low	8.0%	5.6%	11.3%	9.4%	6.8%	12.9%	10.3%	7.5%	13.9%	13.1%	10.0%	17.0%	8.8%	6.3%	12.3%
LOW	7.4%	6.4%	8.5%	4.9%	4.1%	5.9%	6.1%	5.2%	7.2%	6.0%	5.1%	7.0%	5.9%	5.1%	7.0%
Medium	4.2%	3.7%	4.9%	2.6%	2.1%	3.0%	2.5%	2.1%	3.0%	2.4%	2.0%	2.9%	3.1%	2.6%	3.6%
High Very High	2.0%	2.4%	3.1% 1.4%	0.6%	1.3%	0.8%	0.3%	0.9%	0.5%	0.3%	0.2%	0.5%	1.9%	0.7%	2.2%
Very High	1.170	0.570	1.470	0.070	0.470	0.070	0.070	0.270	0.070	0.070	0.2 /0	0.070	0.570	0.7 70	1.170
By Disease-Specific Severity Index															
No Complications	5.5%	5.0%	6.0%	3.7%	3.3%	4.2%	3.8%	3.4%	4.3%	4.3%	3.8%	4.8%	4.4%	3.9%	4.9%
1 or More Minor Complications	2.1%	1.8%	2.5%	1.0%	0.8%	1.3%	1.0%	0.8%	1.2%	0.9%	0.7%	1.2%	1.5%	1.3%	1.8%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	2.0%	1.7%	2.4%	1.2%	1.0%	1.5%	0.7%	0.6%	1.0%	0.8%	0.6%	1.1%	1.5%	1.2%	1.8%
1 Major Complication	3.9%	2.5%	6.2%	3.2%	1.9%	5.4%	2.5%	1.4%	4.5%	2.1%	1.1%	3.9%	3.0%	1.8%	5.1%
2 or More Major Complications	1.5%	0.8%	2.9%	0.3%	0.1%	1.2%	1.0%	0.5%	2.2%	1.7%	0.9%	3.1%	1.4%	0.7%	2.6%
By Patient Residence	0.00/	0.70/	4.00/	4.00/	0.70/	4.00/	4.00/	4.40/	0.5%	0.00/	4 404	0.00/	0.00/	4 40/	0.00/
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / White Rock	3.6%	2.7%	4.8%	1.2%	0.7%	1.9%	1.6%	1.1%	2.5%	2.0%	1.4%	3.0%	2.0%	1.4%	3.0%
LHA 201 - Suffey	2.8%	2.4%	3.3%	1.7%	1.4%	Z.1%	1.0%	1.3%	Z.0%	1.8%	1.4%	Z.2%	2.5%	2.1%	2.9%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Hamson	5.1%	1.2%	7.0%	1.5%	0.4%	0.470 4.40/	1.0%	0.4%	0.0% 2.6%	1.3%	0.4%	5.4%	0.7%	1 50/	4.1%
LHA 073 - MISSION	3.6%	3.9%	1.5%	2.0 /0	1.7 /0	4.4 /0	2.1/0	1.2/0	2.0%	3.0 /0 2 1%	2.5%	2.0%	2.4 /0	2.0%	4.0 %
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	2.7%	1.9%	3.8%	2.4%	1.5%	3.0%	2.0%	1.0%	3.0%	1.8%	1.0%	2.7%	2.5%	1.0%	3.0%
I HA 041 - Burnaby	2.6%	2.2%	3.2%	1.6%	1.3%	2.1%	1.6%	1.1%	2.0%	1.5%	1.2%	2.0%	1.9%	1.5%	2.4%
LHA 040 - New Westminster	2.9%	2.0%	4.1%	2.2%	1.5%	3.3%	1.7%	1.1%	2.6%	2.2%	1.5%	3.3%	3.0%	2.2%	4,2%
LHA 037 - Delta	2.8%	2.1%	3.7%	2.0%	1.4%	2.8%	2.0%	1.4%	2.8%	2.7%	2.0%	3.6%	3.4%	2.6%	4.4%
LHA 035 - Langley	2.8%	2.1%	3.6%	2.6%	1.9%	3.4%	1.7%	1.2%	2.4%	2.2%	1.6%	3.0%	2.8%	2.1%	3.6%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	3.3%	2.6%	4.2%	2.0%	1.5%	2.7%	2.9%	2.3%	3.7%	1.8%	1.3%	2.4%	2.5%	1.9%	3.2%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	4.8%	3.7%	6.2%	1.6%	1.0%	2.5%	1.5%	1.0%	2.4%	2.0%	1.3%	2.9%	1.7%	1.1%	2.6%
LHA 032 - Hope	4.8%	2.3%	9.6%	2.6%	1.0%	6.6%	2.7%	1.0%	6.7%	1.3%	0.4%	4.7%	3.9%	1.8%	8.2%

Appendix D: Description of Individual Resource Use Variables

Acute Care Patient Days

The frequency distribution for the mean annual utilization of acute care days over the five year period is shown in Figure D-1. Of the 20,228 subjects in the study, 11,456 (56.7%) did not use any acute care days over the entire five year study period. The range was from 0 to 88.8 acute care days.



Figure D-1 Frequency Distribution for Average Annual Acute Care Inpatient Days

Information on the utilization of acute care days on a year by year basis by adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority is provided in table D-1. Mean utilization of acute care days increased from 1.25 (95% CI; 1.16, 1.35) per person in 1996/97 to 2.13 (95% CI; 1.98, 2.31) in 2000/01. During the five year period, an average of 1.62 (95% CI; 1.56, 1.69) acute care days were utilized per person per year.

			Tab	ole D-	1 Adı Utilizat	ults w ion of	vith Dia Acute	agnos Care D	ed Dia ays	abetes								
	Mean	1996/97 95%	CI	Mean	1997/98 95%	CI	Mean	1998/99 95%	6 CI	Mean	1999/00 95%	CI	Mean	2000/01 95%	% CI	Mean	All Year 95%	s 6 Cl
Total Population	1.25	1.16	1.35	1.46	1.35	1.56	1.50	1.39	1.61	1.77	1.64	1.90	2.13	1.97	2.29	1.62	1.56	1.69
By Sex																		
Female	1.42	1.25	1.58	1.57	1.41	1.73	1.55	1.39	1.71	1.94	1.74	2.14	2.37	2.10	2.63	1.77	1.66	1.87
Male	1.11	1.00	1.21	1.35	1.22	1.48	1.45	1.30	1.60	1.63	1.46	1.80	1.93	1.74	2.13	1.49	1.41	1.58
By Age																		
30-39	1.06	0.74	1.38	0.88	0.64	1.11	0.95	0.61	1.28	0.96	0.62	1.31	1.32	0.51	2.12	1.00	0.75	1.25
40-49	0.69	0.54	0.84	1.04	0.76	1.32	0.82	0.64	1.01	0.87	0.66	1.07	0.93	0.67	1.20	0.90	0.76	1.04
50-59	0.93	0.77	1.08	1.07	0.90	1.24	0.97	0.82	1.13	1.01	0.86	1.16	1.14	0.96	1.31	1.05	0.96	1.15
60-69	1.33	1.16	1.50	1.46	1.28	1.64	1.41	1.23	1.60	1.76	1.51	2.00	1.90	1.61	2.19	1.55	1.43	1.66
70-79	2.13	1.82	2.43	2.35	2.07	2.62	2.61	2.29	2.92	2.81	2.50	3.13	3.58	3.16	4.00	2.81	2.63	2.98
By Socio-Economic Status																		
Quintile 1 (Low)	1 48	1 23	1 72	1 74	1.50	1 98	1 92	1 62	2 23	2.30	1 95	2 65	2 72	2.31	3 14	2 00	1.83	2 17
Quintile 2	1.40	1.06	1 46	1.36	1 15	1.56	1 42	1 19	1.65	1 79	1.50	2.00	2.31	1.96	2 65	1.63	1 49	1 77
Quintile 3	1 19	1.00	1.38	1.34	1 10	1.58	1.30	1.10	1.50	1 79	1.50	2.00	1.97	1.60	2.37	1.38	1.46	1.50
Quintile 4	1 19	0.96	1 4 1	1.37	1 16	1.59	1 4 1	1 18	1 64	1 45	1.01	1 69	1.80	1 45	2 16	1.52	1.38	1.60
Quintile 5 (High)	1.00	0.80	1.21	1.30	1.03	1.57	1.35	1.11	1.60	1.34	1.05	1.63	1.67	1.30	2.04	1.44	1.27	1.60
By Morbidity																		
Very Low	0.29	0.12	0.46	0.12	0.03	0.21	0.02	(0.02)	0.06	0.07	(0.06)	0.20	0.19	0.06	0.33	0.14	0.08	0.19
Low	0.45	0.29	0.62	0.40	0.25	0.55	0.03	0.01	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.63	0.36	0.89	0.31	0.24	0.38
Medium	0.68	0.53	0.83	0.64	0.49	0.79	0.12	0.09	0.14	0.16	0.13	0.20	0.81	0.64	0.97	0.48	0.42	0.54
High	1.08	0.95	1.21	1.32	1.16	1.47	0.90	0.78	1.01	1.05	0.89	1.22	2.06	1.79	2.33	1.28	1.19	1.37
Very High	2.32	2.06	2.58	2.79	2.52	3.07	4.04	3.69	4.39	4.77	4.37	5.18	4.02	3.59	4.44	3.59	3.40	3.78
Pu Diagona Chaoifia Covarity Index																		
By Disease-Specific Severity Index	0.01	0.76	1.06	0.02	0.70	0.06	0.57	0.45	0.60	0.61	0.40	0.74	1 12	0.02	1 20	0.91	0.72	0.90
1 or Moro Minor Complications	1 12	0.70	1.00	1 25	1 20	1 51	1.24	1 1 2	1 51	1.26	1 10	1.52	1.12	1.51	1.00	1 20	1 20	1 49
1 or More Intermediate Complications	1.13	1 30	1.29	1.00	1.20	2.13	2.03	1.12	2.25	2 73	2 / 2	3.04	3.00	2.74	3.44	2.24	2 10	2 38
1 Major Complication	3.32	2.07	1.04	3.56	2.25	4.87	4.50	3.08	5.02	6 15	/ 30	7 02	5.03	3.50	7 35	1 50	3 70	5.40
2 or More Major Complications	4 53	2.07	6.26	5.75	4 4 1	7.37	10 74	8 13	13 34	11 43	8 4 9	14.37	9.09	5.00	12.98	8.31	6.84	9.78
		2.00	0.20	0.10		1.01		0.10	10.01		0.10		0.00	0.20	12.00	0.01	0.01	0.70
By Patient Residence																		
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	1.05	0.79	1.32	1.26	0.92	1.60	1.20	0.90	1.51	1.75	1.28	2.22	2.73	1.98	3.49	1.62	1.38	1.86
LHA 201 - Surrey	1.34	1.14	1.54	1.49	1.25	1.72	1.60	1.32	1.87	1.74	1.45	2.03	1.87	1.52	2.22	1.61	1.46	1.76
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	3.33	(0.08)	6.75	1.77	0.73	2.81	1.27	0.54	2.00	1.11	(0.15)	2.37	3.23	0.25	6.22	2.15	0.94	3.36
LHA 075 - Mission	1.40	0.85	1.96	1.99	0.94	3.05	1.62	1.09	2.14	1.48	0.88	2.09	1.66	1.05	2.27	1.69	1.29	2.08
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	1.26	0.97	1.54	1.61	1.27	1.95	1.57	1.21	1.93	1.72	1.33	2.11	2.34	1.80	2.88	1.67	1.46	1.88
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	1.15	0.82	1.48	1.34	0.96	1.72	1.85	1.39	2.30	1.67	1.23	2.12	1.92	1.34	2.51	1.59	1.35	1.83
LHA 041 - Burnaby	1.00	0.80	1.19	1.12	0.94	1.30	1.07	0.85	1.29	1.59	1.24	1.94	1.64	1.30	1.98	1.31	1.17	1.45
LHA 040 - New Westminster	2.08	1.19	2.97	2.12	1.33	2.91	2.26	1.55	2.97	2.85	2.03	3.68	2.79	2.01	3.57	2.30	1.88	2.73
LHA 037 - Delta	0.96	0.70	1.21	1.35	1.03	1.68	1.11	0.85	1.37	1.47	1.03	1.90	1.63	1.19	2.06	1.30	1.10	1.49
LHA 035 - Langley	1.44	1.07	1.81	1.25	0.99	1.50	1.62	1.27	1.97	2.01	1.50	2.52	2.66	1.90	3.42	1.81	1.27	1.97
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	1.20	0.95	1.45	1.67	1.36	1.98	1.51	1.23	1.79	1.55	1.26	1.83	2.50	2.00	2.99	1.67	1.48	1.85
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	1.08	0.84	1.33	1.53	1.14	1.92	1.47	1.10	1.85	2.34	1.75	2.92	2.58	1.89	3.27	1.82	1.54	2.10
LHA 032 - Hope	1.64	0.81	2.47	1.17	0.30	2.05	3.65	1.75	5.54	2.60	1.25	3.95	3.27	1.76	4.78	2.45	1.68	3.22

Information on the utilization of acute care costs as a binary variable is indicated on table D-2. Based on this information, adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority who are in the low adherence group are less likely to be in the high utilization of acute care costs group (17.1%; 95% CI 16.1%, 18.2%) compared to individuals in the medium or high adherence groups (20.0%; 95% CI 19.3%, 20.9% and 20.9%; 95% CI 19.8%, 21.9%).

While there is no significant difference between females and males, there appears to be a clear trend based on age, with older individuals more likely to be in the high utilization of acute care costs category than younger individuals. Similar trends are apparent for both morbidity and disease-specific severity index variables, with individuals in the lower morbidity and severity

groups less likely to be in the high utilization category than individuals in the higher morbidity and severity groups.

Table D-2 Proportion of Ac	dults with	n Diagr	losed E	Diabete	s
High Utilization of Average	e Annual	Acute C	are Doll	ars	
	Total N in Year 3	N	%	95%	CI
	i cai J	N	70	337	
Total Population	20,228	4,040	20.0%	19.5%	20.6%
By Level of Adherence					
Low	5,136	880	17.1%	16.1%	18.2%
Medium	9,448	1,894	20.0%	19.3%	20.9%
Hiigh	5,644	1,177	20.9%	19.8%	21.9%
By Sex	0.050	4 0 4 0	40 70/	40.00/	00 50/
Female	9,256	1,819	19.7%	18.9%	20.5%
By Ace (in Year 3)	10,917	2,211	20.3%	19.5%	21.0%
30-39	1 081	109	10 1%	8.6%	12.2%
40-49	2 795	279	10.1%	9.0%	11.2%
50-59	5.054	726	14.4%	13.4%	15.4%
60-69	6.205	1.274	20.5%	19.6%	21.6%
70-79	5,093	1,653	32.5%	31.2%	33.8%
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)					
Quintile 1 (Low)	4,026	899	22.3%	21.1%	23.7%
Quintile 2	4,330	880	20.3%	19.1%	21.5%
Quintile 3	4,638	844	18.2%	17.2%	19.4%
Quintile 4	4,121	801	19.4%	18.3%	20.7%
Quintile 5 (High)	2,706	515	19.0%	17.0%	20.5%
By Morbidity					
Very Low	334	8	2.4%	1.2%	4.7%
Low	2,186	89	4.1%	3.3%	5.0%
Medium	4,500	281	6.2%	5.6%	7.0%
High	7,449	1,322	17.7%	16.9%	18.6%
Very High	5,622	2,324	41.3%	40.1%	42.7%
By Disease-Specific Severity Index	0.000	005	40.00/	0.00/	40.00/
No Complications	6,300	1 201	10.0%	9.3%	10.8%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	6 280	1,291	10.0%	27 1%	19.5%
1 Major Complication	338	1,700	44.4%	39.2%	49.7%
2 or More Major Complications	284	196	69.0%	63.5%	74.2%
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)					
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	1,035	234	22.6%	20.2%	25.3%
LHA 201 - Surrey	4,861	871	17.9%	16.9%	19.0%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	123	29	23.6%	17.0%	31.8%
LHA U/5 - MISSION	560	119	21.3%	18.2%	25.0%
LHA 043 - Coquitiam	2,434	257	10.6%	17.3%	20.4%
LITA 042 - Waple Riuge LITA 041 - Burnaby	3 252	200 528	16.5%	15.3%	20.0% 17 Q%
I HA 040 - New Westminster	903	215	23.8%	21.2%	26.7%
LHA 037 - Delta	1.404	266	18.9%	16.7%	21.1%
LHA 035 - Langlev	1.564	360	23.0%	21.1%	25.2%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	1,837	421	22.9%	21.1%	25.0%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	1,065	252	23.7%	21.3%	26.4%
LHA 032 - Hope	133	43	32.3%	25.0%	40.7%

Results based on the socio-economic status (SES) of the individual are more mixed.

Adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health

Authority in the lowest socio-economic status category are more likely to be in the high utilization category than those in median and higher SES quintiles (quintiles 3, 4 and 5).

The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes in the high utilization of acute care costs category by local health area (LHA) ranges from 16.5% (95% CI; 15.3%, 17.9%) in the LHA of Burnaby to 32.3% (95% CI; 25.0%; 40.7%) in the LHA of Hope.

General Practitioner Visits

The frequency distribution for the mean annual utilization of general practitioner (GP) visits over the five year period is shown in Figure D-2. Of the 20,228 subjects in the study, 10 (0.05%) did not use any GP visits over the entire five year study period. The mean utilization was 9.78 visits per person per year (median of 8.2, range from 0 to 70.2 GP visits).





Information on the utilization of general practitioner visits on a year by year basis by adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority is provided in table D-3. Mean utilization of GP visits increased from 9.06 (95% CI; 8.95, 9.16) per person in 1996/97 to 10.11 (95% CI; 10.00, 10.23) in 2000/01. During the five year period, an average of 9.74 (95% CI; 9.65, 9.83) GP visits were utilized per person per year.

			Ta	able D Util	-3 Ad	ults w of Gen	ith Dia eral Pra	agnose actition	ed Dia er Visit	betes s								
	Mean	1996/97	201	Moon	1997/98	CI	Moon	1998/99		Moon	1999/00	4 CI	Moan	2000/01	4 CI	Moan	All Years	5 6 Cl
	Weall	337		Wear	337		Wear	337		Wear	337		Wearr	337		Wear	337	0 01
Total Population	9.06	8.95	9.16	9.84	9.73	9.94	9.63	9.53	9.73	10.06	9.96	10.17	10.11	10.00	10.23	9.74	9.65	9.83
By Sex																		
Female	10.01	9.85	10.17	10.82	10.66	10.99	10.48	10.32	10.64	10.87	10.71	11.03	10.89	10.72	11.06	10.62	10.48	10.75
Male	8.25	8.12	8.39	9.00	8.86	9.14	8.92	8.78	9.05	9.38	9.24	9.52	9.46	9.31	9.61	9.00	8.89	9.12
By Age																		
30-39	9.08	8.56	9.59	9.76	9.26	10.26	9.12	8.61	9.63	8.98	8.43	9.53	8.69	8.13	9.26	9.29	8.85	9.74
40-49	8.62	8.35	8.90	9.28	8.98	9.59	8.94	8.64	9.23	9.50	9.18	9.82	9.45	9.08	9.81	9.11	8.85	9.37
50-59	8.67	8.47	8.87	9.46	9.25	9.67	9.29	9.08	9.49	9.58	9.36	9.79	9.56	9.34	9.79	9.33	9.16	9.51
60-69	9.16	8.99	9.32	9.72	9.54	9.89	9.48	9.31	9.65	10.03	9.85	10.21	9.97	9.78	10.16	9.65	9.50	9.79
70-79	9.81	9.59	10.03	10.85	10.63	11.07	10.64	10.42	10.85	10.94	10.73	11.15	10.99	10.78	11.21	10.70	10.54	10.87
By Socio-Economic Status	40.00	40.40	40.00	44.07	44.04	44.54	44.00	40.00	44.04	44.00		44.00	44.47	44.04	44 70		40.00	44.07
Quintile 1 (Low)	10.36	10.10	10.62	11.27	11.01	11.54	11.08	10.82	11.34	11.30	11.11	11.62	11.47	11.21	11.73	11.14	10.92	11.37
Quintile 2	9.55	9.32	9.80	10.16	9.92	10.39	10.02	9.80	10.25	10.46	10.22	10.70	10.57	10.32	10.82	10.13	9.94	10.31
Quintile 3	9.05	0.03	9.27	9.72	9.50	9.94	9.52	9.31	9.73	9.93	9.71	0.50	9.95	9.72	10.10	9.02	9.44	9.00
Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High)	0.22	7.40	0.43	9.09	0.07	9.32	0.00	0.00	9.01	9.51	9.09	9.52	9.22	0.99	9.44	0.94	0.//	9.12
Quintile 5 (Figh)	7.00	7.40	7.91	0.44	0.10	0.09	0.23	7.90	0.47	0.04	0.50	0.90	0.70	0.41	0.90	0.34	0.14	0.00
By Morbidity																		
Very Low	4 4 3	4 05	4 82	4 67	4 29	5.05	3 4 3	3 17	3 69	3 39	3 12	3.66	4 57	4 20	4 93	4 10	3 87	4 33
Very Een	5.40	5.21	5 58	5.78	5.61	5.00	4 36	4 23	4 4 9	4 56	4 4 3	4 69	5.65	5.47	5.84	5 15	5.04	5.26
Medium	6.65	6.51	6.80	7 22	7 07	7.36	6.42	6.30	6.54	6 76	6.63	6.88	7.38	7 22	7.53	6.88	6 78	6.99
High	8.55	8 4 1	8 69	9.23	9.09	9.37	8.87	8 75	8 99	9.37	9.25	9 4 9	9.66	9.51	9.82	9 14	9.04	9.24
Very High	13.32	13.06	13.57	14.57	14.31	14.83	15.57	15.32	15.82	16.11	15.86	16.36	14.96	14.69	15.22	14.90	14.70	15.11
By Disease-Specific Severity Index																		
No Complications	7.27	7.11	7.42	7.80	7.64	7.96	7.20	7.05	7.34	7.57	7.42	7.72	8.03	7.87	8.20	7.57	7.45	7.70
1 or More Minor Complications	9.46	9.29	9.64	10.36	10.17	10.54	10.13	9.95	10.30	10.59	10.41	10.76	10.49	10.31	10.68	10.21	10.06	10.35
1 or More Intermediate Complications	10.19	9.99	10.38	11.08	10.87	11.28	11.19	10.99	11.39	11.62	11.41	11.83	11.49	11.28	11.70	11.11	10.95	11.28
1 Major Complication	10.38	9.26	11.51	11.41	10.41	12.41	11.52	10.58	12.46	12.59	11.59	13.58	12.43	11.27	13.60	11.67	10.81	12.52
2 or More Major Complications	12.60	11.42	13.78	13.42	12.19	14.66	15.18	13.77	16.58	15.63	14.24	17.02	14.24	12.70	15.79	14.21	13.18	15.24
Py Defient Desidence																		
	7 02	7 4 1	0 22	0 60	0 1 2	0.06	0 60	0 17	0.02	0.57	0.07	10.07	0.02	0.22	10.22	9.05	0 50	0.22
LHA 202 - S. Sulley / WR	10.10	0.05	10.42	0.00	0.13	9.00	0.00	0.17	9.03	9.07	9.07	11.20	9.00	9.32	11.33	0.90	0.00	9.32
LHA 076 - Aggesiz-Harrison	0.60	7 02	11.46	10.03	8 70	11.13	0.82	8 / 8	11 16	10.26	8.66	11.55	10.41	8 07	11.50	0.80	8.56	11.04
LHA 075 - Mission	0.10	8.57	0.81	10.15	0.73	11.47	10.32	0.40	10.07	10.20	10.00	11.00	11.02	10.28	11.00	10.56	0.00	11.04
LHA 0/3 - Coguitlam	8 16	7 90	8.42	8 08	8 70	0.26	8 65	8 38	8 01	8.85	8 50	0.10	0.00	8 73	0.28	8 74	8.52	8.96
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	9.18	8 74	9.62	0.30 0.30	9.53	10 44	9.83	0.00 Q 3Q	10.27	10.42	9.55	10.86	10.56	10.08	11.03	10.05	9.68	10.30
LHA 041 - Burnahy	8 60	8.38	8.82	9.31	9.08	9.54	9.02	8 79	9.26	9.56	9.31	9.81	9.67	9 40	9.94	9.21	9.01	9.41
LHA 040 - New Westminster	8.62	8 19	9.05	9.41	8.97	9.85	9.34	8.91	9.77	9.97	9.51	10.43	9.56	9 11	10.00	9.39	9.02	9.77
LHA 037 - Delta	9.32	8.91	9.73	9.92	9.47	10.38	9.45	9.04	9.87	9.72	9.32	10.11	10.01	9.57	10.45	9.65	9.30	10.00
LHA 035 - Langley	8.41	8.06	8.76	9.13	8.77	9.49	9.09	8.72	9.45	9.11	8.76	9.46	8.59	8.23	8.96	8.86	8.58	9.14
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	9,49	9.14	9.83	10.26	9.92	10.60	9,96	9.62	10.29	10.29	9.95	10.63	10.68	10.31	11.04	10.11	9.83	10.39
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	8.44	7.99	8.89	9.59	9.14	10.05	9.74	9.27	10.20	10.27	9.79	10.75	10.26	9.79	10.73	9.71	9.31	10.10
LHA 032 - Hope	10.35	8.92	11.77	11.05	9.46	12.65	13.06	11.08	15.04	12.59	10.98	14.21	14.47	12.33	16.61	12.32	10.88	13.75

Information on the utilization of GP costs as a binary variable is indicated on table D-4. Based on this information, adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority who are in the low adherence group are less likely to be in the high utilization of GP costs category (14.5%; 95% CI 13.6%, 15.5%) compared to individuals in the medium or high adherence groups (20.5%; 95% CI 19.7%, 21.3% and 23.9%; 95% CI 12.8%, 25.1%).

Table D-4 Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes High Utilization of Average Annual General Practitioner Dollars Total N in Year 3 Ν % 95% CI **Total Population** 20,228 4,034 19.9% 19.4% 20.5% By Level of Adherence Low 5,136 747 14.5% 13.6% 15.5% 1,937 19.7% Medium 9.448 20.5% 21.3% High 5,644 1,350 23.9% 22.8% 25.1% By Sex Female 9,256 2,198 23.7% 22.9% 24.7% 10,917 Male 1,829 16.8% 16.1% 17.5% By Age (in Year 3) 30-39 1,081 196 18.1% 16.0% 20.6% 40-49 2,795 457 16.4% 15.0% 17.8% 50-59 5,054 840 16.6% 15.7% 17.7% 60-69 6,205 1,096 17.7% 16.7% 18.6% 70-79 5,093 1,445 28.4% 27.2% 29.6% By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3) 27.4% Quintile 1 (Low) 4,026 1,104 26.1% 28.8% Quintile 2 21.1% 19.9% 22.4% 4,330 914 4,638 877 18.9% 17.8% Quintile 3 20.1% Quintile 4 680 16.5% 15.4% 4,121 17.7% 12.1% Quintile 5 (High) 361 13.3% 2,706 14.7% By Morbidity Verv Low 334 0.0% 26 Low 2,186 1.2% 0.8% 1.7% Medium 4,500 193 4.3% 3.7% 4.9% High 7,449 1,000 13.4% 12.7% 14.2% Very High 5,622 2,778 49.4% 48.1% 50.8% By Disease-Specific Severity Index No Complications 6,366 659 10.4% 9.6% 11.1% 19.2% 1 or More Minor Complications 6,951 1,397 20.1% 21.1% 1 or More Intermediate Complications 6,289 1,731 27.5% 26.5% 28.7% 1 Major Complication 338 110 32.5% 27.8% 37.7% 2 or More Major Complications 284 137 48.2% 42.7% 54.2% By Patient Residence (in Year 3) LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR 1,035 177 17.1% 14.9% 19.5% LHA 201 - Surrey 4,861 23.9% 22.7% 25 1% 1.162 LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison 123 23 18.7% 12.8% 26.5% LHA 075 - Mission 560 129 23.0% 19.9% 26.8% LHA 043 - Coquitlam 2,434 364 15.0% 13.6% 16.5% LHA 042 - Maple Ridge 1,056 22.8% 241 20.4% 25 5% LHA 041 - Burnaby 3,253 553 17.0% 15.8% 18.4% LHA 040 - New Westminster 903 183 20.3% 17.8% 23.0% LHA 037 - Delta 1,404 273 19.4% 17.5% 21.6% LHA 035 - Langley 1,564 250 16.0% 14.3% 17.9% LHA 034 - Abbotsford 1,837 414 22.5% 20.7% 24.5% LHA 033 - Chilliwack 1,065 217 20.4% 18.1% 22.9% LHA 032 - Hope 133 48 36.1% 28.4% 44.5%

Males are significantly less likely to be in the high utilization category (16.8%; 95% CI 16.1%, 17.5%) compared to females (23.7%; 95% CI 22.9%, 24.7%).

Individuals aged 70-79 (28.4%; 95% CI 27.2%, 29.6%) are more likely to be in the high

utilization category than any other age group.

There appears to be a clear trend based on socio-economic status (SES), with individuals in the low SES (quintile 1) category more likely to be in the high utilization category (27.4%; 95% CI 26.1%, 28.8%) than individuals in the high SES (quintile 5) category (13.3%; 95% CI 12.1%, 14.7%).

Similar trends are apparent for both morbidity and disease-specific severity index variables, with individuals in the lower morbidity and severity groups less likely to be in the high utilization category than individuals in the higher morbidity and severity groups.

The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes in the high utilization of GP cost category by local health area (LHA) ranges from 15.0% (95% CI; 13.6%, 16.5%) in the LHA of Coquitlam to 36.1% (95% CI; 28.4%; 44.5%) in the LHA of Hope.

Specialist Physician Visits

The frequency distribution for the mean annual utilization of specialist physician visits over the five year period is shown in Figure D-3. Of the 20,228 subjects in the study, 1,008 (4.98%) did not use any specialist physician visits over the entire five year study period. The mean utilization was 2.88 visits per person per year (median of 1.8, range from 0 to 41.6 visits).



Figure D-3 Frequency Distribution for Average Annual Specialist Physician Visits

Information on the utilization of specialist physician visits on a year by year basis by adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority is provided in table D-. Mean utilization of specialist physicians increased from 2.55 (95% CI; 2.49, 2.61) per person in 1996/97 to 3.10 (95% CI; 3.03, 3.17) in 2000/01. During the five year period, an average of 2.88 (95% CI; 2.83, 2.92) specialist physician visits were utilized per person per year.

		٦	able] U	D-5 A tilizatio	Adults	s with Specia	Diag	nose ysicia	d Diat n Visits	oetes								
	Mean	1996/97 95%	6 CI	Mean	997/98 95%	s % Cl	Mean	1998/9 95%	9 % CI	Mean	1999/00 95%) % CI	Mean	2000/01 95%	I % CI	A Mean	II Year 95%	s % Cl
Total Bopulation	2 55	2 4 9	2.61	2.87	2.81	2 04	2.85	2 70	2 92	3.00	2 93	3.06	3 10	3.03	3 17	2.88	2.83	2 92
Ry Sor	2.55	2.43	2.01	2.07	2.01	2.34	2.00	2.13	2.52	5.00	2.35	5.00	5.10	5.05	5.17	2.00	2.00	2.52
Female	2.68	2 58	2 77	2.08	2.88	3.07	2.03	2.84	3.03	3.03	2 04	3 1 2	3 11	3.00	3 21	2 04	2.88	3.01
Male	2.00	2.30	2.77	2.30	2.00	2.07	2.33	2.04	2.00	2.03	2.04	3.06	3 10	3.00	3.20	2.07	2.00	2.01
Pi Ago	2.45	2.51	2.00	2.15	2.70	2.07	2.15	2.70	2.07	2.51	2.00	5.00	5.10	3.00	5.20	2.02	2.70	2.00
20.20	2 70	2 50	2 00	2 22	2.02	2 5 1	2 1 1	2 77	2 4 4	2 10	2 04	2 5 2	2 1 2	2.76	2 40	2 00	2 00	2 21
30-39	2.19	2.00	3.00	3.22	2.93	2.01	3.11	2.11	2.44	0.10 0.75	2.04	2.04	3.12	2.70	2.49	3.09	2.00	2.21
40-49	2.30	2.21	2.01	2.73	2.00	2.91	2.74	2.00	2.91	2.75	2.00	2.94	2.70	2.00	2.97	2.70	2.00	2.04
50-59	2.47	2.35	2.00	2.00	2.07	2.93	2.70	2.02	2.09	2.90	2.03	3.10	3.05	2.90	3.21	2.01	2.71	2.90
60-69	2.54	2.43	2.64	2.81	2.71	2.92	2.84	2.73	2.95	3.05	2.94	3.17	3.11	2.98	3.24	2.86	2.78	2.94
70-79	2.73	2.59	2.86	3.03	2.89	3.17	2.98	2.86	3.10	3.06	2.94	3.17	3.30	3.17	3.43	3.01	2.93	3.10
By Socio-Economic Status																		
Ouintile 1 (Low)	2 74	2 60	2 89	3.09	2 94	3 25	3.03	2 87	3 18	3 31	3 15	3 4 7	3 39	3 23	3 56	3.06	2 94	3 17
Quintile 2	2.58	2 44	2.00	2.80	2.66	2 93	2.28	2.68	2.96	2 02	2 70	3.06	3 10	2.05	3 25	2.88	2.04	2 08
Quintile 2 Ouintile 3	2.50	2 34	2.72	2.00	2.00	2.33	2.20	2.00	2.30	3.04	2.75	3.18	3 10	2.00	3.25	2.00	2.70	2.30
Quintile 3	2.55	2.04	2.00	2.70	2.07	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.01	2.04	2.51	2.05	2 92	2.55	2.06	2.00	2.00	2.70
Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High)	2.00	2.41	2.70	2.90	2.00	2.09	2.00	2.09	2.90	2.01	2.07	2.90	2.02	2.00	2.90	2.09	2.70	2.99
Quintile 5 (Fight)	2.57	2.40	2.74	2.92	2.74	5.10	5.01	2.05	5.20	2.07	2.70	5.05	5.15	2.92	5.50	2.90	2.05	5.00
By Morbidity																		
Very Low	0.83	0.63	1.03	0.82	0.64	1.00	0.40	0.29	0.51	0.37	0.27	0.47	0.90	0.71	1.08	0.67	0.57	0.76
Low	1 11	1 02	1 21	1 16	1 07	1 26	0.68	0.62	0.75	0.71	0.65	0.77	1 29	1 18	1.39	0.99	0.94	1 04
Medium	1.57	1 48	1.66	1 71	1.63	1.80	1 17	1 12	1 23	1 29	1 22	1.35	1.80	1 71	1.90	1.51	1 46	1.56
High	2 4 3	2 34	2.52	2.67	2 57	2 76	2.48	2 40	2.56	2 59	2.51	2.67	2.98	2.87	3.09	2.63	2 57	2.69
Very High	4.14	3.99	4.30	4.78	4.61	4.94	5.57	5.40	5.74	5.85	5.68	6.02	5.12	4.95	5.30	5.09	4.98	5.21
By Disease-Specific Severity Index								4 =0		4.05	4 07							~
No Complications	2.00	1.90	2.09	2.19	2.10	2.29	1.86	1.78	1.94	1.95	1.87	2.03	2.23	2.14	2.33	2.05	1.98	2.11
1 or More Minor Complications	2.40	2.30	2.50	2.74	2.63	2.84	2.65	2.55	2.76	2.75	2.65	2.86	2.93	2.82	3.05	2.70	2.62	2.77
1 or More Intermediate Complications	3.03	2.92	3.15	3.44	3.32	3.57	3.67	3.55	3.80	3.91	3.78	4.03	3.86	3.72	4.01	3.59	3.50	3.67
1 Major Complication	4.42	3.57	5.28	4.64	3.92	5.36	5.41	4.68	6.14	5.74	5.00	6.48	5.54	4.66	6.41	5.15	4.59	5.71
2 or More Major Complications	5.60	4.68	6.52	6.62	5.63	7.62	8.76	7.51	10.02	8.93	7.83	10.03	7.03	5.98	8.07	7.39	6.67	8.11
By Patient Residence																		
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	2.49	2.24	2.73	2.95	2.66	3.23	2.67	2.43	2.91	2.94	2.71	3.16	3.30	2.95	3.65	2.89	2.70	3.08
LHA 201 - Surrey	2.82	2.67	2.96	3.03	2.88	3.17	2.98	2.84	3.12	3.17	3.03	3.32	3.22	3.08	3.37	3.04	2.94	3.15
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	1 40	0.99	1.81	1.83	1 37	2 29	2.25	1.66	2.84	2 12	1 55	2.69	2 35	1 70	2 99	1 96	1.61	2 31
I HA 075 - Mission	1.87	1 60	2 15	2 43	2 10	2 76	2.36	2 05	2.68	2 44	2 14	2 73	2.28	2 01	2.56	2.28	2 09	2 48
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	2.62	2 4 3	2.80	2.06	2 77	3 14	2.00	2.00	3 13	2 08	2.80	3 16	3 10	2.08	3.40	2.05	2.81	3.08
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	2.02	2.40	2.00	2.50	2.77	2 74	2.34	2.70	3.06	2.00	2.00	3.24	2.81	2.50	3.08	2.55	2.01	2.86
I HA 041 - Burnaby	2.63	2 49	2 78	2.95	2 79	3.12	2.92	2 76	3.08	3 15	2.98	3.32	3.17	2.99	3.35	2.00	2.85	3.09
LHA 040 - New Westminster	3.03	2 71	3 35	3.51	3 16	3.87	3.17	2.86	3 40	3 30	3.06	3 72	3.56	3 10	3 03	3.28	3.05	3 52
	2.76	2.11	2.02	3 20	3.02	3.57	3.25	2.00	3.49	3.14	2 00	3 30	3 38	3.19	3.66	3.15	2 07	3 32
	2.10	2.00	2.50	2.29	3.0Z	2.57	2.23	2.50	3.07	2.04	2.50	3.16	3.01	2.11	3.00 3.2F	2.13	2.97	2.03
LITA 033 - Latigley	2.00	2.33	2.10	2.00	2.40	2.01	2.03	2.00	3.07	2.94	2.13	J.10	3.01	2.70	J.∠D	2.00	2.02	2.97
LITA U34 - ADDOISIOIO	2.04	1.00	2.20	2.40	2.29	2.0/	2.42	2.24	2.00	2.55	2.30	2.74	2.90	2.71	3.19	2.49	2.30	2.02
	1.96	1.77	2.15	2.37	2.15	2.59	2.48	2.25	2.71	2.68	2.43	2.92	2.49	2.24	2.73	2.41	2.25	2.56
LITA U32 - Hope	1.75	1.20	2.25	1.86	1.28	2.43	2.20	1.68	2.83	2.21	1.52	2.90	2.93	2.08	3.19	2.23	1.82	2.65

Information on the utilization of specialist physician costs as a binary variable is indicated on table D-6. Based on this information, adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority who are in the low adherence group are less likely to be in the high utilization of specialist physician costs category (11.2%; 95% CI 10.4%, 12.1%) compared to individuals in the medium adherence group (18.9%; 95% CI 18.1%, 19.7%). Individuals in the medium adherence group, on the other hand, are less likely to be in the high utilization category than individuals in the high adherence group (29.8%; 95% CI 28.6%, 31.0%).

Table D-6 Proportion of A High Utilization of Average A	dults with nnual Spe	n Diagr cialist P	nosed E hysician	Diabetes Dollars	5
	Total N in Year 3	N	%	95%	, CI
Total Population By Level of Adherence	20,228	4,039	20.0%	19.5%	20.6%
Low	5,136	576	11.2%	10.4%	12.1%
Medium	9,448	1,782	18.9%	18.1%	19.7%
Hiigh	5,644	1,681	29.8%	28.6%	31.0%
By Sex					
Female	9,256	1,911	20.6%	19.9%	21.5%
Male	10,917	2,119	19.4%	18.7%	20.2%
By Age (In Year 3)	1 0 9 1	212	10.6%	17 40/	22 10/
30-39	1,081	212	19.0%	17.4%	22.1% 17.0%
40-49 50_50	2,790 5 054	965	19.4%	18.0%	20.2%
60-69	6.205	1,237	19.9%	19.0%	21.0%
70-79	5,093	1,168	22.9%	21.8%	24.1%
By Socio-Economic Status (in Year 3)					
Quintile 1 (Low)	4,026	881	21.9%	20.7%	23.2%
Quintile 2	4,330	870	20.1%	18.9%	21.3%
Quintile 3	4,638	836	18.0%	17.0%	19.2%
Quintile 4 Quintile 5 (High)	4,121 2,706	818 569	19.8% 21.0%	18.7% 19.6%	21.1% 22.6%
By Morbidity					
Very Low	334	-	0.0%		
Low	2,186	35	1.6%	1.2%	2.2%
Medium	4,500	215	4.8%	4.2%	5.4%
High	7,449	1,186	15.9%	15.1%	16.8%
Very High	5,622	2,543	45.2%	44.0%	46.6%
By Disease-Specific Severity Index	0.000	005	40.00/	40.00/	44.00/
No Complications	6,366	685	10.8%	10.0%	11.6%
1 or More Intermediate Complications	0,951 6 200	1,204	10.2%	17.3% 27.10/	19.1%
1 Major Complication	0,209 338	145	42 9%	27.170	29.3% 48.2%
2 or More Major Complications	285	173	60.7%	55.3%	66.5%
By Patient Residence (in Year 3)					
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	1,035	210	20.3%	18.0%	22.9%
LHA 201 - Surrey	4,861	1,020	21.0%	19.9%	22.2%
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	123	15	12.2%	7.5%	19.2%
LHA 075 - Mission	560	80	14.3%	11.6%	17.4%
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	2,434	471	19.4%	17.9%	21.0%
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	1,056	185	17.5%	15.4%	19.9%
LFIA 041 - BUIIIaDY LHA 040 - New Westminster	3,253 003	217	21.9%	∠0.0% 21.4%	∠3.4% 26.9%
I HA 037 - Delta	903 1 404	328	23.4%	∠ 1. 4 /0 15 1%	19.0%
LHA 035 - Langley	1 564	294	18.8%	16.9%	20.8%
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	1.837	315	17.1%	15.5%	18.9%
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	1,065	166	15.6%	13.6%	18.0%
LHA 032 - Hope	133	24	18.0%	12.4%	25.5%

While there is no significant difference between females and males, there appears to be a clear trend based on both morbidity and disease-specific severity index variables, with individuals in the lower morbidity and severity groups less likely to be in the high utilization category than individuals in the higher morbidity and severity groups.

Individuals aged 70-79 (22.9%; 95% CI 21.8%, 24.1%) are more likely to be in the high utilization category than 40-69 year olds, but not 30-39 year olds.

The results for socio-economic status (SES) are mixed. Individuals in the middle SES (quintile 3) category appear less likely to be in the high utilization category (18.0%; 95% CI 17.0%, 19.2%) than either individuals in the highest (quintile 5) or lowest (quintile 1) SES category (21.0%; 95% CI 19.6%, 22.6% and 21.9%; 95% CI 20.7%, 23.2%).

The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes in the high utilization of specialist physician cost category by local health area (LHA) ranges from 12.2% (95% CI; 7.5%, 19.2%) in the LHA of Agassiz-Harrison to 24.0% (95% CI; 21.4%; 26.9%) in the LHA of New Westminster.

Total Costs

The frequency distribution for the mean annual total costs over the five year period is shown in Figure D-4. The mean annual total costs for the 20,228 subjects in the study were \$1,762 per person per year (median of \$690, range from \$16 to \$75,622).



Figure D-4 Frequency Distribution for Average Annual Total Costs

Information on the utilization of total costs on a year by year basis by adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority is provided in table D-7. Mean utilization of total costs in constant 2000/01 fiscal year dollars increased from \$1,499 (95% CI; \$1,384, \$1,514) per person in 1996/97 to \$2,140 (95% CI; \$2,033, \$2,247) in 2000/01. During the five year period, an average of \$1,762 (95% CI; \$1,718, \$1,807) in total costs were utilized per person per year.

Table D-7 Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes																		
imean Fotal Costs (Constant 2000 \$)																		
	1996/97			1997/98		1998/99		1999/00		2000/01		All Years						
	Mean 95% CI		Mean 95% Cl		Mean 95% CI		Mean	Mean 95% CI		Mean 95% Cl		Mean 95% CI						
Total Population	\$ 1.449	1.384	1.514	\$ 1.650	1.576	1.723	\$1,709	1.632	1.787	\$ 1.863	1.786	1.940	\$2,140	2.033	2.247	\$1.762	1.718	1.807
By Sex																		
Female	1,528	1,426	1,631	1,703	1,593	1,812	1,694	1,586	1,802	1,921	1,807	2,034	2,232	2,061	2,403	1,815	1,747	1,884
Male	1,380	1,298	1,463	1,598	1,499	1,697	1,720	1,610	1,830	1,811	1,705	1,917	2,062	1,927	2,197	1,714	1,656	1,773
By Age																		
30-39	1,147	969	1,325	1,089	949	1,228	1,186	962	1,411	1,258	985	1,532	1,449	959	1,938	1,222	1,052	1,392
40-49	983	883	1,083	1,219	1,031	1,407	1,162	991	1,332	1,158	1,022	1,294	1,308	1,036	1,580	1,183	1,083	1,284
50-59	1,208	1,096	1,320	1,356	1,226	1,486	1,357	1,218	1,495	1,367	1,250	1,483	1,498	1,343	1,653	1,367	1,293	1,440
60-69	1,542	1,416	1,667	1,683	1,552	1,814	1,674	1,548	1,800	1,876	1,730	2,022	1,996	1,817	2,176	1,743	1,667	1,820
70-79	2,139	1,942	2,336	2,393	2,204	2,582	2,514	2,313	2,715	2,596	2,419	2,773	3,137	2,875	3,400	2,611	2,500	2,721
By Socio-Economic Status																		
Quintile 1 (Low)	1,600	1,450	1,751	1,861	1,697	2,025	2,039	1,822	2,257	2,256	2,053	2,459	2,568	2,304	2,833	2,039	1,924	2,155
Quintile 2	1,473	1,332	1,614	1,597	1,443	1,750	1,667	1,497	1,836	1,880	1,703	2,056	2,299	2,042	2,555	1,288	1,690	1,887
Quintile 3	1,407	1,275	1,539	1,522	1,367	1,677	1,581	1,428	1,735	1,846	1,690	2,002	2,024	1,807	2,240	1,584	1,503	1,666
Quintile 4	1,400	1,246	1,553	1,606	1,440	1,771	1,578	1,434	1,721	1,604	1,454	1,753	1,835	1,629	2,040	1,673	1,582	1,765
Quintile 5 (High)	1,263	1,112	1,415	1,559	1,354	1,763	1,644	1,461	1,827	1,587	1,408	1,765	1,844	1,575	2,112	1,645	1,533	1,757
By Morbidity																		
Very Low	479	305	652	347	257	437	146	104	187	141	98	184	446	286	607	312	259	365
Low	593	491	694	575	494	655	211	193	229	219	202	236	769	618	920	473	432	515
Medium	883	771	996	823	741	906	428	402	455	478	447	509	1,024	911	1,137	727	687	768
High	1,344	1,246	1,442	1,524	1,415	1,634	1,227	1,155	1,298	1,364	1,273	1,454	2,030	1,872	2,187	1,498	1,443	1,552
Very High	2,443	2,278	2,608	2,975	2,771	3,179	4,033	3,783	4,283	4,363	4,127	4,600	3,833	3,534	4,132	3,529	3,403	3,655
By Disease-Specific Severity Index																		
No Complications	1,063	960	1,167	1,049	958	1,141	796	728	865	825	759	891	1,252	1,141	1,364	997	949	1,046
1 or More Minor Complications	1,363	1,255	1,470	1,547	1,443	1,652	1,616	1,485	1,747	1,573	1,473	1,673	1,866	1,715	2,016	1,593	1,529	1,657
1 or More Intermediate Complications	1,748	1,628	1,867	2,174	2,001	2,347	2,274	2,121	2,426	2,717	2,537	2,896	2,951	2,728	3,174	2,373	2,279	2,466
1 Major Complication	3,052	2,179	3,925	2,989	2,259	3,719	4,558	3,267	5,849	5,519	4,247	6,792	4,982	2,932	7,033	4,220	3,537	4,903
2 or More Major Complications	3,679	2,722	4,636	4,418	3,424	5,412	8,573	6,877	10,268	8,967	7,329	10,606	7,424	4,769	10,079	6,612	5,684	7,540
By Patient Residence																		
LHA 202 - S. Surrey / WR	1,270	1,083	1,457	1,497	1,258	1,736	1,505	1,264	1,747	2,026	1,715	2,338	2,628	2,016	3,239	1,808	1,621	1,994
LHA 201 - Surrey	1,501	1,376	1,626	1,662	1,496	1,828	1,725	1,543	1,907	1,802	1,638	1,966	1,991	1,745	2,236	1,742	1,641	1,843
LHA 076 - Agassiz-Harrison	3,266	484	6,049	1,988	1,064	2,913	1,782	1,013	2,550	1,502	466	2,538	2,625	1,041	4,208	2,203	1,267	3,139
LHA 075 - Mission	1,564	1,115	2,013	2,140	1,236	3,044	1,885	1,486	2,283	1,638	1,305	1,972	1,815	1,424	2,207	1,860	1,573	2,148
LHA 043 - Coquitlam	1,465	1,259	1,672	1,639	1,440	1,837	1,744	1,465	2,022	1,742	1,520	1,964	2,161	1,829	2,494	1,745	1,608	1,883
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	1,388	1,125	1,651	1,590	1,335	1,844	2,029	1,704	2,353	1,889	1,619	2,160	2,042	1,637	2,448	1,786	1,620	1,953
LHA 041 - Burnaby	1,269	1,123	1,416	1,401	1,271	1,532	1,432	1,258	1,606	1,726	1,519	1,934	1,762	1,545	1,979	1,530	1,435	1,625
LHA 040 - New Westminster	1,919	1,446	2,392	2,074	1,571	2,577	2,133	1,744	2,521	2,312	1,879	2,746	2,574	2,064	3,084	2,133	1,883	2,382
LHA 037 - Delta	1,254	1,072	1,437	1,606	1,376	1,837	1,599	1,348	1,851	1,735	1,457	2,014	1,925	1,637	2,213	1,607	1,472	1,743
LHA 035 - Langley	1,508	1,270	1,746	1,498	1,293	1,703	1,742	1,502	1,983	2,065	1,770	2,361	2,430	2,013	2,846	1,851	1,691	2,011
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	1,498	1,284	1,711	1,887	1,646	2,127	1,742	1,528	1,957	1,843	1,618	2,069	2,508	2,172	2,844	1,884	1,745	2,022
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	1,354	1,145	1,562	1,839	1,489	2,188	1,672	1,413	1,930	2,213	1,884	2,542	2,256	1,858	2,653	1,877	1,695	2,059
LHA 032 - Hope	1,832	1,136	2,527	1,492	719	2,264	3,254	2,033	4,474	2,708	1,572	3,844	3,846	2,117	5,575	2,631	1,918	3,345

Information on the utilization of total costs as a binary variable is indicated on table D-8. Based on this information, adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes living in the geographic boundaries of the Fraser Health Authority who are in the low adherence group are less likely to be in the high utilization of total costs category (16.5%; 95% CI 15.5%, 17.6%) compared to individuals in the medium or high adherence group (20.9%; 95% CI 20.1%, 21.7 and 21.5%; 95% CI 20.5%, 22.6%, respectively).

While there is no significant difference between females and males, there appears to be a clear trend based on age, morbidity and disease-specific severity index variables, with younger individuals, those in the lower morbidity and those in the lower severity groups less likely to be in the high utilization category than individuals in the higher morbidity and severity groups.

I able D-8 Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes With Low or High Utilization of Average Annual Total Costs												
	Total N in Year 3	N	Low Uti	lization 95%	i CI	N	High Utilization 95% Cl					
Total Population By Level of Adherence	20,228	16,190	80.0%	79.4%	80.5%	4,038	20.0%	19.5%	20.6%			
Low	5,136	4,287	83.5%	82.4%	85.5%	849	16.5%	15.5%	17.6%			
Medium	9,448	7,475	79.1%	78.3%	80.0%	1,973	20.9%	20.1%	21.7%			
High	5,644	4,428	78.5%	77.4%	79.5%	1,216	21.5%	20.5%	22.6%			
By Sex												
Female	9,256	7,432	80.3%	79.5%	81.1%	1,824	19.7%	18.9%	20.5%			
Male	10,917	8,713	79.8%	79.1%	80.6%	2,204	20.2%	19.5%	21.0%			
By Age	1 001	067	00 E0/	07 50/	01 10/	111	10 50/	0.00/	10 50/			
30-39	2 705	907 2 501	09.0% 80.5%	07.3% 99.3%	91.1%	204	10.5%	0.9%	12.5%			
40-49	2,795	2,301	85.2%	84.2%	90.0 % 86.1%	294 750	14.8%	9.4 /0 13 0%	15.9%			
60-69	6 205	4 967	80.0%	79.0%	81.0%	1 238	20.0%	19.0%	21.0%			
70-79	5,093	3,451	67.8%	66.5%	69.0%	1,642	32.2%	31.0%	33.5%			
	-,	-,				.,						
By Socio-Economic Status												
Quintile 1 (Low)	4,026	3,094	76.9%	75.5%	78.1%	932	23.1%	21.9%	24.5%			
Quintile 2	4,330	3,460	79.9%	78.7%	81.1%	870	20.1%	18.9%	21.3%			
Quintile 3	4,638	3,802	82.0%	80.8%	83.1%	836	18.0%	17.0%	19.2%			
Quintile 4	4,121	3,331	80.8%	79.6%	82.0%	790	19.2%	18.0%	20.4%			
Quintile 5 (High)	2,706	2,197	81.2%	79.7%	82.6%	509	18.8%	17.4%	20.3%			
Dy Marbidity												
	334	320	08.2%	06 1%	00.2%	6	1 90/	0.9%	3 0%			
	2 186	2 1 1 3	96.2%	90.1%	99.2 /0	73	3.3%	2.7%	3.3 %			
Medium	4 500	4 252	94.5%	93.8%	95.1%	248	5.5%	4.9%	6.2%			
High	7,449	6.173	82.9%	82.0%	83.7%	1.276	17.1%	16.3%	18.0%			
Very High	5,622	3,211	57.1%	55.7%	58.3%	2,411	42.9%	41.7%	44.3%			
Dy Disease Cresifie Coverity Index												
No Complications	6 366	5 759	00.4%	90 7%	01 20/	608	0.6%	8 0%	10.3%			
1 or More Minor Complications	6 951	5,750	90.4 /0	80.3%	91.270 82.1%	1 302	9.0 % 18 7%	17.9%	10.3%			
1 or More Intermediate Complications	6 289	4 500	71.6%	70.4%	72.6%	1,302	28.4%	27.4%	29.6%			
1 Major Complication	338	189	55.9%	50.6%	61.1%	149	44.1%	38.9%	49.4%			
2 or More Major Complications	284	94	33.1%	27.9%	38.6%	190	66.9%	61.2%	72.1%			
By Patient Residence	1 0 2 5	005	77 00/	75 00/	00.00/	220	22.20/	10.00/	24.00/			
LHA 201 Surrow	1,035	2 050	01 40/	10.2%	00.2% 00.5%	230	22.2% 10.60/	19.0%	24.9% 10.7%			
LHA 201 - Sulley	4,001	3,900	78.0%	00.3% 70.0%	02.3% 84.5%	903	22.0%	17.0%	19.7%			
I HA 075 - Mission	560	441	78.8%	75.2%	81.9%	119	21.3%	18.1%	24.8%			
LHA 043 - Coguitlam	2.434	1.991	81.8%	80.2%	83.3%	443	18.2%	16.8%	19.8%			
LHA 042 - Maple Ridge	1.056	816	77.3%	74.7%	79.7%	240	22.7%	20.3%	25.4%			
LHA 041 - Burnaby	3,253	2,708	83.2%	81.9%	84.5%	545	16.8%	15.5%	18.1%			
LHA 040 - New Westminster	903	685	75.9%	73.0%	78.5%	218	24.1%	21.5%	27.0%			
LHA 037 - Delta	1,404	1,133	80.7%	78.6%	82.7%	271	19.3%	17.3%	21.5%			
LHA 035 - Langley	1,564	1,218	77.9%	75.8%	78.9%	346	22.1%	20.1%	24.2%			
LHA 034 - Abbotsford	1,837	1,425	77.6%	75.6%	79.4%	412	22.4%	20.6%	24.4%			
LHA 033 - Chilliwack	1,065	821	77.1%	74.5%	79.5%	244	22.9%	20.5%	25.5%			
LHA 032 - Hope	133	93	69.9%	61.7%	77.1%	40	30.1%	22.9%	38.3%			

Table D-8 Proportion of Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes

Individuals aged 70-79 (32.2%; 95% CI 31.0%, 33.5%), for example, are more likely to be in the high utilization category than 30-39 year olds (10.5%; 95% CI 8.9%, 12.5%).

The descriptive results for socio-economic status (SES) suggest that only individuals in the lowest SES (quintile 1) category appear more likely to be in the high utilization category (23.1%; 95% CI 21.9%, 24.5%) than individuals in any of the other four quintiles.

The proportion of adults with diagnosed type 2 diabetes in the high utilization of total cost category by local health area (LHA) ranges from 16.8% (95% CI; 15.5%, 18.1%) in the LHA of Burnaby to 30.1% (95% CI; 22.9%; 38.3%) in the LHA of Hope.

Appendix E: Calculation of Change in Acute Care, Physician and Total Costs with Improved Adherence












